

A Training and Reference Guide for Project Managers Using Standard, Professional, Server, Web Application and Project Online for Office 365

From The Author of the Critically Acclaimed Project Management Using Microsoft Project 2016 GUS CICALA

Project Management Using

"Everything from the basics to the deepest secrets of MS Project's powerful scheduling angine."

Microsoft[®] ^{scheduling engine.*} ^{And Dente 4} ^{Monobartor} ^{Monobartor</sub> ^{Monobartor} ^{Monobar}}

A Training and Reference Guide for Project Managers Using Standard, Professional, Server, Web Application and Project Online for Office 365

From The Author of the Critically Acclaimed Project Management Linking Microsoft Project 2016 GUS CICALA

[®] Project Management Using Microsoft Project 2019

A Training and Reference Guide for Project Managers Using Standard, Professional, Server, Web Application and Project Online for Office 365

by Gus Cicala





Wilmington, Delaware

Project Management Using Microsoft Project 2019

Author : Gus Cicala Content Contributor & Microsoft MVP: Jeremy Cottino Technical Content Editor: Bill Gundrum Development Editor: Jan Goodman

Copy Editor : Daniel Cicala *Product Manager* : Noreen Hackman *Cover Design* : Asha Hossain

© 2019 Project Assistants, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of the publisher, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law.

Printed in the United States of America

First Edition

ISBN-13: 978-1077679436 ISBN-10: 1077679432

Library of Congress Control Number: 2019946586

For permission requests, and any other inquiries related to Project Assistants Publishing, contact us:



Project Assistants and the Project Assistants logo are trademarks of Project Assistants, Inc. in the United States and other countries.

Microsoft, Windows, Microsoft Office, Microsoft Word, Microsoft Project, Microsoft Excel, Microsoft Outlook, Microsoft Exchange, Office 365, and the Microsoft Project product logo are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

All other brand or product names are trademarks of registered trademarks of their respective companies or organizations.

Notice

Project Assistants assumes no responsibility for any technical inaccuracies or typographical errors that may be contained herein. In no event will Project Assistants be held responsible for direct, indirect, special, incidental, consequential or any other loss or damage caused by errors, omissions, misprints or misinterpretation of the information found in this publication, even if advised of the possibility of such damages. Project Assistants expressly disclaims any and all liability to any person, in respect of anything done or omitted, and the consequences if anything done or omitted, by any such person in reliance on the contents of this publication. Information in this document is subject to change without notice. Companies, names, and data used in examples herein are fictitious, unless otherwise noted.

Dedication

To all the Zen masters of project management who strive for the promise of "Delivering the future into the present" one day at a time through your mastery of the arts and science of our profession:

May your patience with the reality of the present enable you to craft the expected project outcomes through a skillful re-synching of the revised plan with the passionless and relentless unfolding of reality.

May you always have a keen awareness and unconditional acceptance of what "is."

☐ May the winds of unfavorable variances be always at your back, propelling your project to deliver the transformational benefits for our species and the wider universe.

☐ May you be bestowed with a wealth of resilience and an abundance of composure that inspires your stakeholders to consistently accept the new realities of the present.

May you prevail despite the ongoing resistance from those who desperately grasp for the unwelcome and unexpected past to be controlled and maybe even attempt to re-write that unforgiving history to align to the ever-elusive and now long lost original baseline.



Gus Cicala April 2017

Acknowledgements [DC1]

I would like to acknowledge and thank everyone who played an important role in the development and publication of this book:

- Noreen Hackman, a true leader who aggressively attacks every challenge with gusto, for her instrumental role in unknotting the mysteries of turning a corporate training guide into a successful commercial publication
- □ Daniel Cicala, for bringing his command of the English language to tame and herd the expertise of technical people into a clear and coherent text
- □ Asha Hossain, for providing her fantastic graphical art support for the Project Assistants brand over the past 20 years, including the cover of this book
- Bill Gundrum, a powerhouse of Microsoft Project expertise and experience, who again has fine-tuned the technical content to make for a clean, accurate, and complete product

I would be remiss in not mentioning many of the past team members who were so instrumental in developing an indispensable portion of the original content that has survived through to this edition: Jan Goodman, Alex Ovecka, Fred Oettle, Denise Cicala, Ira Brown, Michael Steinberg, Graham McHardy, John Godley, Laurie Van Dusen, and Jeremy Cottino.

I am grateful and blessed for your dedication, commitment and valuable contributions to our success.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements

INTRODUCTION TO PROJECT MANAGEMENT

Introduction

<u>1.1 Using This Guide</u>

1.2 High-Level Overview of Microsoft Project 2019

Understanding Project Management Concepts

2.1 What is Project Management?

2.2 The Importance of Methodology to Project Management

2.3 Project Phases and the Project Lifecycle

2.4 Project Stakeholders and Organizational Influences

2.5 Project Processes

Introduction to Microsoft Project 2019

3.1 How Microsoft Project 2019 Handles Data

3.2 The Ribbon in Microsoft Project 2019

3.3 Navigating in Microsoft Project 2019 Views

- 3.4 Help Options in Microsoft Project 2019
- 3.5 Finding the Right Information

PROJECT DEFINITION

Understanding Project Definition

4.1 Defining Your Project and Understanding the Definition Process

4.2 Initiating a Project

4.3 Planning the Scope of a Project

4.4 Scope Definition

4.5 Scope Verification

Defining Your Project Using Microsoft Project 2019

5.1 Creating a New Project
5.2 Providing Project Information
5.3 Setting File Properties
5.4 Setting Local Calendar Information
5.5 Project Definition Review Exercise

PROJECT TASK PLANNING

Developing a Work Breakdown Structure

<u>6.1 Creating a Project Work Plan</u>
 <u>6.2 Determining Logical Relationships of Tasks in Your WBS</u>
 <u>6.3 Resource Planning and Acquisition</u>
 <u>6.4 Team Development</u>
 <u>6.5 Cost Estimating and Budgeting</u>
 <u>Building a Work Breakdown Structure with Microsoft Project 2019</u>
 7.1 Building the Work Breakdown Structure

 7.2 Modifying and Editing the WBS

 7.3 Creating Task Dependencies

 7.4 Task Types and Scheduling

 7.5 Estimating Task Size

 7.6 Manual Task Scheduling

 7.7 Task Planning Review Exercise

 Managing Project Resources and Assignments

8.1 Defining Project Resource Types with Microsoft Project 2019

8.2 Assigning Resources to Tasks

8.3 Cost Planning with Microsoft Project

8.4 Constraints

8.5 Resource and Assignment Review Exercise

Using Microsoft Project 2019 to Optimize the Plan

9.1 Identifying the Critical Path 9.2 Adding Recurring Tasks and Using Task Calendars 9.3 Managing Resource Workloads and Resolving Resource Over-allocations 9.4 Setting the Project Baseline 9.5 Communicating the Project Plan (Introduction) 9.6 Optimizing the Plan Review Exercise ENTERPRISE PROJECT MANAGEMENT **Creating Enterprise Projects** 10.1 How Microsoft Project 2019 Communicates with Project Server 2019 and Project Online 10.2 Publishing a Project to Microsoft Project Server 2019 10.3 Enterprise Resource Management 10.4 Working with Multiple Projects: Inter-Project Dependencies **10.5 Program Management Monitoring and Controlling – The Project Manager's Functions** 11.1 Project Execution – Background 11.2 Tracking with Microsoft Project 2019 **11.3 Entering Actual Progress Information Using Project Web Application for Tracking** 12.1 Publishing Project Assignments to Team Members 12.2 The Project Web App Home Page 12.3 Tracking Progress Using Project Web App **Other Features in Project Web Application** 13.1 Organizing and Viewing Information in Project Web Application

- <u>13.2 Web-based Projects</u>
- <u>13.3 Team Builder</u>
- 13.4 Resource Engagements
- 13.5 Risks, Issues, Deliverables, and Documents
- 13.6 Project Details Page

Variance Analysis, Plan Revision, and Project Communication

<u>14.1 Variance Analysis</u>
<u>14.2 Plan Revision and Scope Management</u>
14.3 Project Communication Principles

Presenting Project Information with Microsoft Project 2019

15.1 Communication Options

15.2 Using Tables, Filters, Views, and Groups in Microsoft Project 2019

15.3 Defining and Using Custom Fields

15.4 Communicating Project Information

15.5 Exporting Project Information

Concluding Remarks

Index

About the Author







part

Ι

Introduction to Project Management

- **1** Introduction
- 2 Understanding Project Management Concepts
- **3** Introduction to Microsoft Project 2019



chapter 1



Introduction

- Using This Guide
- High-Level Overview of Microsoft Project 2019



Learning Objectives for this Chapter

At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Know how to navigate this text and download the exercise files
- Describe the key components of the Microsoft Project 2019 solution

T his guide will introduce you to the project manager's perspective on the latest version of Microsoft Project, Microsoft Project 2019. This set of software tools supports the management of all projects across an organization, or enterprise project management (EPM).

EPM requires that accurate planning and scheduling information flow from the project manager to the technical experts doing the actual work of the projects, as well as the executives making resource commitments and strategic decisions for the organization. Effective EPM allows organizations to better meet portfolio commitments and achieve their goals. The process begins with the project manager, using a variety of tools described in this manual.

Project Assistants has been providing project management theory and Microsoft Project training material for our training courses since the release of Microsoft Project version 3 in 1993. Prior to the release of Microsoft Project 2013, we were surprised that we could not find a work for purchase that provided handson training exercises for Microsoft Project on the desktop as well as the enterprise features used in Microsoft Project Professional and Project Web Application. We had a responsibility to provide this content to our clients, so we decided to convert our own content into a formal, cohesive guide.

This text was created to serve as that comprehensive reference and training guide, assembling content and best practices honed over many years of Microsoft Project and general project management training.

Our debut was *Project Management Using Microsoft Project 2013*, and this is now our third edition, with improvements made along the way.

1.1 Using This Guide

Many training guides on technology are primarily manuals on features and functions of the software. The goal of this book is to show why those features and functions are important from a project management theory standpoint, and then demonstrate how to effectively leverage that value. When used cover-to-cover, this text serves as a comprehensive guide to running a project from initiation to closeout with guides along the way for how to use Microsoft Project to facilitate that. This guide can also be used as preparatory material for Microsoft Exam 74-343.

The information in this book was selected based on our 20+ years of project management and Microsoft Project consulting experience. In selecting the features and functions to be covered, we selected a middle-ofthe-road approach that deliberately glosses over simple topics that are assumed to be known by the reader. A more difficult decision was faced when determining which advanced features (such as earned value management) to cover in a book of this nature. The features chosen for coverage in this book represent the interests of most organizations with which we have interacted.

There is no need to follow the order in which the material is presented. For example, you may want to start with the overview on Navigating in Microsoft Project 2019 Views, since knowing where to find information is the foundation to unlocking the powerful potential of the tool.

If you are skipping around the book, note that the features are demonstrated in great detail the first time through to take out any guesswork, so if you get stuck, you can always refer back to the first section that covers that feature. Also, many of the exercises build on each other, so you may have to start back on earlier chapters if you'd like your exercise files to be up-to-date.

This text covers Microsoft Project 2019 Standard, Microsoft Project 2019 Professional, Microsoft Project

Server 2019, Microsoft Project Web Application 2019 (PWA) and Microsoft Project Online 2019 for Office 365. This text is presented in the context of what a project manager needs to know. As a result, features not relevant to a project manager, such as the Project Server administrator functions, are not covered. Everything in this book is usable in Microsoft Project Professional, and all but Part IV "Enterprise Project Management" applies to Microsoft Project Standard as well.

Microsoft offers an off-premises hosted version of Microsoft Project that is referred to as Microsoft Project Online. This tool is part of the Microsoft Office 365 hosted solution family of products that is intended for organizations that wish to reap the benefits of using this technology in a software-as-a-service (SaaS) environment. From the perspective of a project manager using Microsoft Project, the vast majority of the features and functions remain unchanged. When the Microsoft Project Professional and PWA features are covered, nuances related to the use of these features in Project Online will be pointed out. Similarly, there are limited differences between Project Server hosted on premises and Project Online hosted off premises, so they are also highlighted in Part IV chapters as they come up, rather than in a standalone chapter.

The exercise files use a standardized style to explain how to navigate the ribbon. The ribbon is what we call the tabulated menu bar that Microsoft has been using since the release of Microsoft Project 2010. All commands are in bold and italics, and subcategories of the ribbon are separated by colons. When it says, for example, *Task:View:Resource Usage Vie w*, that means, "Go to the Task tab in the ribbon, then under the subcategory labeled View, you will find the Resource Usage View."

Downloading Exercise Files Used in This Book

To use the exercise files in this book, you will need to download and potentially unzip them, depending on your browser and method of download.

These files are available for free on Project Assistants' website and can be re-downloaded at any time. To download them:

□ Go to our updates and materials webpage:

http://projectassistants.com/MS-Project-exercise-file-downloads

- □ Click "Register" and fill in the appropriate information.
- □ You will receive an email with a download link for the compressed exercise file.
- □ Once the file is downloaded, unzip the exercise files to a location of your choice.

Our updates and materials webpage will also host any news regarding significant corrections, updates to the text, or modifications to the supporting exercise files: <u>https://projectassistants.com/ms-project-updates/</u>

If you have any questions about downloading and using the exercise files, please contact Project Assistants at <u>info@projectassistants.com</u> .

If you are an instructor who needs access to the answer key for the end of chapter quizzes, please email your request with a copy of your proof of purchase and a copy of your teaching credentials to the author: <u>GusCicala@projectassistants.com</u>.

Note: The hands-on exercise files that you download were designed to show month-day format without the year. Before you begin, you may want to change the default date to drop the year from the display. To do so, navigate to *File: Option s*, choose *Genera l*, then choose the *Date Forma t* dropdown. Choose "1/28." If you prefer to see the year in schedule dates, you may have to widen the date columns to include the year in the display.

	project assistants
) NOTE	
	Project Assistants offers a full spectrum of Microsoft Project training solutions that can be customized to reflect your organization's unique needs. Please visit our website to learn more about our training offerings:
	http://projectassistants.com/solutions-type/training
	Additionally, we offer the ability to license a Microsoft Word version of this volume that can be modified, by you or us, for your specific training needs.
	Please contact us to learn more about our training solutions and material licensing options:
	Project Assistants, Inc.
	1.800.642.9259
	302.477.9711
	info@projectassistants.com

1.2 High-Level Overview of Microsoft Project 2019

Microsoft Project 2019 is a set of integrated software applications that together provide the tools needed for enterprise project management (EPM). The three basic components are presented in the following figure:

Figure 1.

Microsoft Project 2019 components. **NOTE** : For Office360 the server is referred to as "Project Online"



Notes:

- If you are using Microsoft Project 2019 Standard (instead of Microsoft Project 2019 Professional) this diagram does not apply, as Microsoft Project standard cannot connect to Microsoft Project Server.
- If you are using Office 365, the Microsoft Project Server/SharePoint environment is collectively referred to as Project Online.

If using Microsoft Project Server/Project Online, the EPM process begins with a project manager developing a project plan using Microsoft Project 2019 Professional. This version supports EPM by optionally connecting with Project Server 2019 when starting Microsoft Project 2019 Professional.

The project is sent to a server running Microsoft Project Server 2019, in a process called "publishing" the project. Once the project is published, it becomes available to other parts of the organization.

Assignments for team members are sent to team members who may receive an automatic email notification that they have new or changed assignments to view.

Team members can view their assignments and report progress on those tasks using a web-based tool called Microsoft Project Web App. When they update the task status, the project manager can view those updates using Web App and approve or reject them. Once approved, the information automatically updates the project plan itself, freeing the project manager to focus on the effects of those updates.

The potential weak link in any such system is, of course, the quality and usefulness of the actual project plans that are shared with the rest of the project and management teams.

As with all Microsoft applications, there are multiple ways to do many tasks. Rather than cover every possible method, we will recommend the best practice in each area and list alternatives with brief directions for their use.





chapter 2 **Understanding Project Management Concepts**

- What is Project Management?
- The Importance of Methodology
- Project Phases and the Project Lifecycle
- Project Stakeholders and Organizational Influences
- Project Processes



Learning Objectives for this Chapter

At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Define the basic definition of Project Management and how project management fits into the environment in which projects typically occur.
- Describe the common attributes of a successful project.
- Describe the most common type of projects and the typical lifecycle methodologies that are employed to deliverer project results.
- Understand the importance of the role of project stakeholders and how organizational influences impact the success or failure of projects
- Describe the five (5) major process groups that comprise the overall project management process flow

2.1 What is Project Management?

Project management is an organized set of people, processes, and procedures working together to provide on-time, on-budget delivery of stated objectives with high quality and satisfied sponsors. It achieves this while still taking into consideration that any successful team effort relies on treating people with respect.

Project management as we know it first appeared in World War II as a tool for construction and logistics. The need for enormous amounts of materiel for the invasion of Europe and the vast distances of the Pacific Ocean fostered the development of new ways of planning and scheduling military operations. These approaches were clearly successful, but required practitioners to manage enormous amounts of data—with no electronic help, no less.

After the success of these methods in the war, companies such as DuPont and Remington Arms (which was owned by DuPont) experimented with using them in the civilian sector. Since then, the tools and philosophy of project management have been widely used in both the public and private sectors of our global economy.

Reasons for adopting project management tools and techniques usually include some or all of the following:

- \Box Internal and external competition
- □ Pervasiveness of multi-discipline projects
- □ Increasingly complex projects
- □ Customer demands
- \Box Technological change

Basically, organizations see project management as a way to do things better, faster, and cheaper. It's an incredibly powerful tool—when it's used well. So how do you use it well?

The Project Management Institute (PMI) was founded in 1969 to promote professionalism in project management. They've collected and constantly updated project management best practices—what works and what doesn't—over many thousands of projects into a record called the "Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge" (PMBOK Guide). This guide has been accepted by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) as the U.S. standard for project management.

Modern project management includes adapting the general principles in the PMBOK Guide to fit an organization's specific situation. No single approach could possibly fit all industries and organizations on our diverse planet.

What Makes a Project a Project?

Textbook definitions of projects vary, but they all include the following features:

□ A project is goal-oriented, producing a unique deliverable or set of deliverables.

- □ A project consists of connected, related activities.
- □ A project has limited duration, which means projects are typified by a predefined schedule and usually tied to a specific end date.
- \Box A project has elements of uniqueness.
- □ Projects are defined by three constraints which must be managed: time, cost, and scope (work content) of the project.

The modern philosophy of project management includes:

- □ An emphasis on the organizational support needed for project management (both philosophical and systems support).
- □ The artistic and scientific aspects of management which project managers have to bring to the table.
 - Art: Team management, reward/punishment, and management style
 - Science: Scope, risk, quality, cost, and time management systems
 - Both: Communication, resource, integration, and contract management
- □ Specific knowledge, skills, tools, and techniques that are useful for managing projects.
- □ A focus on meeting the needs of the client/customer (internal and external).

What Defines a Successful Project?

A project is deemed successful when the objectives of the sponsor are met. It is important to meet with the sponsor very early in the project to understand their goals and objectives, which should be documented in a project definition document (for example: project charter or statement of work). Some characteristics of a successful project are:

□ On-time

Figure 2. The Project

Management Process

- □ On-budget
- □ High-quality
- □ Fulfilled objectives
- □ Satisfied customers
- □ Achieved outcomes

To achieve these characteristics, project management must follow a process, be supported by a methodology, and have quality assurance to continue improving the process and the methodology.

The Project Management Process

There are three major stages in the project management process, each stage including several individual processes:



□ Definition and Planning

- **Definition** Documents the overall project objectives, scope, approach, schedule, budget, resources, deliverables, and completion criteria
- **Planning and Organization** Provides the detailed roadmap that will be used to guide the project team when constructing the final deliverables

□ Control

- **Tracking** Collects information from the team to assist the project manager in assessing actual progress
- Analysis Highlights any deviations from the original plan against current progress
- **Revision** Makes any necessary plan modifications to steer the project back on course
- **Scope Management** Provides an orderly means of modifying the original project definition
- **Status Reporting and Management Reviews** Ensures that all relevant project stakeholders are kept apprised of all key project information

□ Conclusion

• **Providing Feedback/Continuous Improvement** – Instills quality in the process of project management

Though we've focused on the technical aspects of project management up to this point, the last few processes emphasize another aspect crucial to being successful: the people.

Since the project manager is responsible for client satisfaction, clearly stating expectations and constantly managing those expectations is an important skill in avoiding disappointment and dissatisfaction, from both project team members and customers.

Effective project managers are often blessed with a broad range of competencies from intellectual to interpersonal to technical and judgmental. It is this unique package of skills that provides the effective project manager with an integrated, situational approach to successful management that cannot be readily documented and shared in a text on the topic.

The Four Principles of Effective Project Managers

Effective project managers recognize four essential truths which are found in all projects. These key project principles are:

Principle 1: If you don't know where you're going, you probably won't get there.

Application: Set an effective project objective, developed with the input of the client(s) and project team members.

Principle 2: If you fail to plan, you plan to fail.

Application: Learn and use the available planning techniques developed by previous project managers and thinkers about project management.

Principle 3: If you catch problems early, they are easier to solve.

Application: Proactively look for trouble, with an eye toward managing problems, rather than being victimized by them.

Principle 4: People and politics are the biggest variables in every project.

Application: Remember to make time to focus attention on people issues, both internal to the team and external.

Effective project managers are comfortable operating in the "gray area," even if they have come from a technical environment where hard and fast answers may be considered the norm.

Project Management Tools

"A computer will not make a good manager out of a bad manager. It makes a good manager better faster and a bad manager worse faster."

Advantages and Disadvantages of Using Project Management Software Tools

One of the obvious advantages of project management tools is that computers make your project plan easy to update and the quality of the output is high, which can save you time. Computers are excellent for handling the extensive calculations required to keep a plan up to date. Their use may even be mandatory when project or resource scheduling information needs to be shared across the enterprise. You can also conveniently and dynamically select the information you want from a large amount of data.

Project management software, however, tends to be fairly complicated relative to other types of personal computer software. This reality makes for a longer learning curve for training and on-the-job experience. It is not uncommon for a project manager to need upwards of a year to become comfortable with a new tool. These complications are compounded by the fact that project management terminology is not necessarily intuitive. Whereas the terminology required to use a word processing or spreadsheet application is generally acquired in grammar and high school, many project managers need training in the fundamentals of project management theory to begin to be productive with a tool.

Another consideration is the effort it takes to load all of the information into the tool. Once the project manager makes the commitment of time, it is important to reap the return on that investment by using the tool to run the project.

Conclusion

Based upon these advantages and disadvantages, the investment required to use a tool should only be made for larger projects with higher budgets. A two-month project with 2 or 3 people assigned will not require the same rigor as a two-year project with 25 people assigned who are geographically dispersed. As in any business decision, the benefits should outweigh the cost. Based on these concepts, sound judgment is required to decide how deep to go with using a tool.

2.2 The Importance of Methodology to Project Management

A methodology is an integrated, cohesive, and well-documented set of repeatable processes that provide for quality deliverables through the consistent execution of practices that have been proven to work.

Methodologies are usually developed in organizations that are tired of "reinventing the wheel," opting instead to document successful processes and share them across the organization. Methodologies include document templates (such as sample design reports), procedures (such as detailed approaches for producing a data model), forms (such as requests for system enhancements), and work plans (such as Microsoft Project work plan templates).

An effective methodology:

- \Box Defines repeatable processes
- \Box Instills quality into service-based processes
- \Box Removes creativity from processes that should not be creative
- □ Provides a floor—not a ceiling
- \Box Organizes the project tasks for the work plan
- □ Forms the foundation for continuous improvement

Methodology is the project manager's primary means of ensuring quality in a project. It supplies the project manager and the entire project team with a "cookbook" for performing the tasks in the project plan.

Project management is consistent from project to project, but methodologies tend to vary. The project manager needs to determine if the organization already has a methodology for the specific type of project they will manage.

Many methodologies contain detailed procedures to provide a consistent means of performing a process. A

procedure for data modeling might look something like this:

Figure 3.

Data Modeling Procedures 1. Determine all business entities Detailed paragraph explaining how to determine business entities 2. Determine cardinality between entities Detailed paragraph explaining how to determine cardinality between business entities 3. Normalize the data model Detailed paragraph explaining how to normalize a data model Detailed paragraph explaining how to migrate a data model 5. Convert the normalized data model to a physical data model Detailed paragraph explaining how to canvert the normalized data model to the physical data model

2.3 **Project Phases and the Project Lifecycle**

Although earlier we referred to "the project lifecycle," there are a variety of approaches used to define a project from start to finish and to break it down into phases. In this section, we'll look at some alternate approaches to project lifecycles. For more examples and detail on this subject visit PMI.org and download a copy of the most recent PMBOK Guide.

Project Phase Deliverables

Each project phase is marked by completion of one or more *deliverable* s. A deliverable is a product, such as a feasibility study, a design, or a prototype. The deliverables, like the phases, are part of a logical, usually chronological, approach designed to ensure proper completion of the project's desired product.

The conclusion of a project phase generally includes a review of both the desired deliverables and the project performance, in order to detect and correct errors as early as possible and to decide if the project should continue into its next phase. These phase-end reviews are often called *phase exit* s, *stage gates*, or *kill point* s.

Characteristics of the Project Lifecycle

The project lifecycle defines a project from beginning to end. Of course, lifecycles vary from industry to industry and even from organization to organization. For example, when an organization identifies an opportunity that it would like to look into, it will often authorize a feasibility study to decide if it should undertake the project. The project lifecycle definition will determine whether the feasibility study is treated as the first project phase or as a separate, stand-alone project.

The project lifecycle definition will also determine which transitional actions at the end of the project are included and which are not. In this manner, the project lifecycle definition can be used to link the project to the ongoing operations of the performing organization.

The phase sequence defined by most project lifecycles generally involves some form of technology transfer or handoff, such as requirements to design, construction to operations, or design to manufacturing. Deliverables from the preceding phase are usually approved before work starts on the next phase. However, a subsequent phase is sometimes begun prior to approval of the previous phase deliverables when the risks involved are deemed acceptable. This practice of overlapping phases is often called *fast tracking*.

Project lifecycles generally define:

- □ What technical work should be done in each phase (e.g. is the work of the architect part of the definition phase or part of the execution phase).
- □ Who should be involved in each phase (e.g. concurrent engineering requires that the implementers be involved with requirements and design).

Project lifecycle descriptions may be very general or very detailed. Highly detailed descriptions may have numerous forms, charts, and checklists to provide structure and consistency. Such detailed approaches are the project management methodologies, as we discussed above.

Most project lifecycle descriptions share a number of common characteristics:

- □ Cost and staffing levels are low at the start, higher towards the end, and drop rapidly as the project draws to a conclusion.
- □ The probability of successfully completing the project is lowest, and hence risk and uncertainty are highest, at the start of the project. The probability of successful completion generally increases as the project continues.
- □ The ability of stakeholders to influence the final characteristics of the project product and the final cost of the project is highest at the start and gets progressively lower as the project continues. A major contributor to this phenomenon is that the cost of change and error correction generally increases as the project continues.

Care should be taken to distinguish the *project* lifecycle from the *product* lifecycle. For example, a project undertaken to bring a new desktop computer to market is just one phase or stage of the product lifecycle.

Although many project lifecycles have similar phase names with similar work resources required, few are identical. Most have four or five phases, but some have nine or more. Even within a single application area, there can be significant variations—one organization's software development lifecycle may have a single design phase while another's has separate phases for functional and detail design.

Sub-projects within projects may also have distinct project lifecycles. For example, an architectural firm hired to design a new office building is first involved in the owner's definition phase when doing the design, and then in the owner's implementation phase when supporting the construction effort. The architect's design project, however, will have its own series of phases from conceptual development through definition and implementation to closure. The architect may even treat designing the facility and supporting the construction as separate projects with their own distinct phases.

Representative Project Lifecycles

Figure 4.



The above illustration provides a perspective of how project management fits into the environment in which projects typically occur. The three major process areas in which projects occur are:

- □ Portfolio management
- □ Project management
- □ Project lifecycle management

Ideally, projects are planned, selected, measured and responded to through a *portfolio management* process in which the right projects are chosen against factors such as business objectives, budgets, and available resources.

Project management provides a set of *business control* processes that enable the project manager to deliver a project to completion on-time and on-budget. The project management process tends to be fairly similar in a broad variety of project types, regardless of the project lifecycle management methods that are used to deliver the project.

The deliverables of a project are conceived, designed, developed and tested through project lifecycle

management processes that typically vary widely across many different industries. These project lifecycles document the processes that ultimately become the project tasks that need to be performed to complete the project with high quality (i.e. on specification).

The following illustration shows some project lifecycles that are common in the world of project management. This illustration is provided to show how these lifecycles conceptually fit into the overall environment in which projects typically occur.



2.4 Project Stakeholders and Organizational Influences

Project stakeholders are individuals and organizations who are actively involved in the project or whose interests may be affected as a result of project execution or successful project completion. The project management team must identify the stakeholders, determine what their needs and expectations are, and then manage and influence those expectations to ensure a successful project. Stakeholder identification is often especially difficult. For example, is an assembly line worker—whose future employment depends on the outcome of a new product design project—a stakeholder?

Key stakeholders on every project include a:

- □ Project manager The individual responsible for managing the project
- □ Customer The individual or organization who will use the project product

Note: There may be multiple layers of customers. For example, the customers for a new pharmaceutical product may include the doctors who prescribe it, the patients who take it, and the insurers who pay for it.

- □ Performing organization The enterprise whose employees are most directly involved in doing the work of the project
- □ Sponsor The individual or group within the performing organization who provides the financial resources for the project

There are many other ways to define project stakeholders: internal and external; owners and funders; suppliers and contractors; team members and their families; government agencies and media outlets; and finally individual citizens, temporary or permanent lobbying organizations, and society at large. The naming of stakeholders helps the project manager and team consider which individuals and organizations may require attention. Stakeholder roles and responsibilities may overlap, as when an engineering firm provides financing for a plant it is designing.

Managing stakeholder expectations may be difficult because stakeholders often have different objectives that may come into conflict. Some examples include:

- □ The manager of a department that has requested a new management information system may desire low cost, while the System Architect may emphasize technical excellence, and then the programming contractor may be most interested in maximizing its profit.
- □ The Vice President of Research at an electronics firm may define new product success as state-of-theart technology, while the Vice President of Manufacturing may define it as world-class practices, and then the Vice President of Marketing may be primarily concerned with the number of new features.
- □ The owner of a real estate development project may be focused on timely performance, while the local governing body may desire to maximize tax revenue, an environmental group may want to minimize adverse environmental impacts, and nearby residents may hope to relocate the project.

In general, differences among stakeholders should be resolved in favor of the customer; however, this does not mean that the needs and expectations of other stakeholders can be disregarded. Finding appropriate resolutions to such differences can be one of the major challenges of project management.

Organizational Influences

Projects are typically part of a larger organization, such as a corporation or a government agency. The project will be influenced by the organization or organizations that set it up, especially by their structure.

Project-based organizations are those whose operations consist primarily of projects. These organizations fall into two categories:

- □ Organizations that primarily perform projects for others; for example architectural firms, engineering firms, consultants, construction contractors, government contractors
- □ Organizations that use *management* [DC2] *by projects* because of the nature of their business, primarily involving non-repetitive or time-limited activities.

Project-based organizations usually have management systems in place to support project management, such as financial systems designed for accounting, tracking, and reporting on multiple simultaneous projects.

Non-project-based organizations seldom have management systems designed to support project work efficiently and effectively. This can make project management more difficult, so non-project-based organizations often have sub-units that operate as project-based organizations with systems to match.

The project management team should be acutely aware of how the organization's systems affect the project. For example, if the organization rewards its functional managers for charging staff time to projects, the project management team should be careful that assigned staff members are being used effectively on the project.

2.5 Project Processes

Projects involve processes which are performed by people and generally fall into one of two major categories:

- Project management processes are concerned with describing and organizing the work of the project. The project management processes that are applicable to most projects, most of the time, are described in detail in the PMBOK Guide.
- □ Product-oriented processes are concerned with specifying and creating the project product. Productoriented processes are typically defined by the project lifecycle and vary by application area.

Project management processes and product-oriented processes overlap and interact throughout the project. The scope of the project cannot be defined in the absence of some basic understanding of how to create the product.

Process Groups

Project management processes can be organized into five groups of one or more processes each:

- □ **Initiating processes** Recognizing that a project or phase should begin and committing to do so
- D Planning processes Devising and maintaining a workable scheme to accomplish the business need

that the project was undertaken to address

- **Executing processes** Coordinating people and other resources to carry out the plan
- □ **Controlling processes** Ensuring that project objectives are met by monitoring and measuring progres and taking corrective action when necessary
- **Closing processes** Formalizing acceptance of the project or phase and bringing it to an orderly end

The process groups are linked by the results they produce; the result or outcome of one becomes an input to another. Among these process groups, the links are iterated; planning provides executing with a documented project plan early on, and then provides documented updates to the plan as the project progresses. Also, these project management process groups are not one-time events, but instead are overlapping activities that occur throughout each phase of the project.

The process group interactions also cross phases; closing one phase provides an input to initiating the next. For example, closing a design phase requires customer acceptance of the design document. Simultaneously, the design document defines the product description for the ensuing implementation phase.

The PMBOK Guide focuses on these interactions and describes each individual process in terms of its:

- □ **Inputs** Documents or documentable items that will be acted upon
- **Tools and techniques** Mechanisms applied to the inputs to create the output
- **Outputs** Documents or documentable items that are a result of the process

This process approach can be very useful to the project manager, and we encourage you to become familiar with the processes common to most projects in most areas as described in the PMBOK Guide. An understanding of these detailed processes will also be necessary if you decide to pursue the PMP certification sponsored by PMI.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

- 1. Fill in the blanks: Project management consists of an organized set of _____, ____, and _____, working together.
- 2. True or False: A single approach to project management could fit all industries and organizations.
- 3. List at least 3 features of a project (what makes a project a project):
 - 1.

 2.

 3.
- 4. What are the three constraints of a project that must be managed?
 - 1.

 2.
 - 3. _____
- 5. Describe what is meant by the art and science of project management.

- 6. Fill in the blank: A project is deemed successful when the objectives of the ______ are met.
- 7. What are at least four (4) characteristics of a successful project?
 - 1. _____
 - 2. ______
 - 4.
- 8. To achieve a successful project, project management must follow a _____, be supported by a _____, and have ______ to continue improving.
- 9. What are the three (3) major stages in the project management process?
 - 1. _____ 2. _____
 - 3. _____

10 - 17. Match the Process listed in the left column of the table below, to the correct description from the right column, by entering the letter that the process corresponds to in the blank line.

10. Definition	A. Provides an orderly means of modifying the original project definition
11. Planning and Organization	B. Makes any necessary plan modifications to steer the project back on course
12. Tracking	C. Instills quality in the process of project management
13. Analysis	D. Ensures that all relevant project stakeholders are kept apprised of all key project information
14. Revision	E. Provides the detailed roadmap that will be used to guide the project team when constructing the final deliverables
15. Scope Management	F. Collects information from the team to assist the project manager in assessing actual progress
16. Status Reporting and Management Reviews	G. Documents the overall project objectives, scope, approach schedule, budget, resources, deliverables, and completion criteria
17. Providing Feedback/Continuous Improvement	H. Highlights any deviations from the original plan against current progress

18. What are the four (4) principles of effective project managers?

- 1. _____
- 2. _____

19. Why is it important to catch problems early?

20. Fill in the blank: ______ and _____ are the biggest variables in every project. Remember to make time to focus attention on ______ issues, both internal to the team and external.

- 21. What are at least four (4) advantages of using project management software tools?
- 22. Provide an example to show when it is appropriate or cost effective to use a project management tool, versus, another example to show when it is not cost effective to use one; describe why you gave those examples.

23. What are the properties of an effective methodology:

24. What is a deliverable?

25. What two things do project lifecycles generally define?



common characteristics that most project lifecycle descriptions share?

- 27. What are the three major process areas in which projects occur?
 - 1.

 2.
 - 3.
- 28. Fill in the blank: ______ are individuals and organizations who are actively involved in the project or whose interests may be affected as a result of project execution or successful project completion.
- 29. What are the five (5) project management process groups?


chapter 3

Introduction to Microsoft Project 2019

- How Microsoft Project 2019 Handles Data
- The Ribbon in Microsoft Project 2019
- Navigating in Microsoft Project 2019 Views
- Help Options in Microsoft Project 2019
- Finding the Right Information



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Understand the basic information structure in Microsoft Project 2019
- Become familiar with the ribbon in Microsoft Project 2019
- Effectively navigate through the most common Microsoft Project 2019 Views
- Find the Help options in Microsoft Project 2019
- Know how to navigate to and change Microsoft Project options
- Develop a comprehensive approach to finding the right information in Microsoft Project 2019

3.1 How Microsoft Project 2019 Handles Data

Microsoft Project 2019 is a powerful tool that allows you to plan, track, analyze, and report on the progress of one or many related projects. In the process of doing so, however, an enormous amount of data is generated. To avoid overwhelming the user, Microsoft Project uses a clever data management approach that simplifies the project manager's job.

A project consists of activities that have a distinct beginning and end (known as tasks) and the people, equipment, and supplies used to complete those activities (known as resources).

Once you have entered the tasks and resources into a project, you will want to specify which resources will be made available to work on each task. A connection between a resource and a task is known as an assignment. Each time a resource is scheduled to work on a task, a new resource assignment is created in your project.

Figure 6.



Note: Microsoft Project also saves modified objects with the Microsoft Project plan.

Figure 7	Organizer			per Can
i iguite //	Stevil Reports Modules Tables	Fitters Calendars	Atape Pielde Groupe	
Sample			- Marcol 400 - 1	1
Organize r dialog box displaying a list of objects that are saved in Microsoft Project files	Second MITT Cateroda Descriptive Network Diagram Debail Gantt Gantt Gantt Gantt Gantt Milestone Date Rolius Milestone Date Rolius Milestone Rolius Milestone Rolius Milestone Rolius Milestone Rolius Milestone Rolius Milestone Rolius Milestone Rolius Resource Allocation Resource Rolius Resource Rolius Resource Rolius	- Con Con Rega Dete	Project2 Gards Chart Gards With Towsine Tenetics Re-	
	Vavos agailable in:		Views available in:	
	Global MPT		Projetti	+

We mentioned earlier that project managers have to manage time, cost and scope. Microsoft Project creates hidden storage areas that contain the necessary data. The Tasks area (above) contains details about each task —how long it should be (duration) and its relationship to any other tasks (dependencies). This is organized in a database format, with each row representing an individual task and each column a field associated with that task, as creating a task generates a large number of related fields. The Resources area contains details about each resource, including how much it costs to use that resource and availability data, such as how much time each person can devote to project work each day.

In theory, one could create a project schedule from the scope-related information (duration and dependency) for each task, but clearly resource availability affects when a task can be done. For that reason, connecting a task with a resource generates a resource assignment stored in the Assignment area. This combined information is used by Microsoft Project to create the actual schedule.

In addition to Tasks, Resources, and Assignments, there will be higher-level data related to the project itself, rather than its detailed components. Examples might include the geographic location of the project, the business unit that owns or requested the project, or the name of the project manager. The Project area gives us a place to store that type of data and is especially important for published projects, as we will see later.

Microsoft Project 2019 provides many different ways to enter, view, and report information about the tasks, resources, and resource assignments in a project. As with all Microsoft applications, these can be menudriven or controlled by icons on toolbars.

3.2 The Ribbon in Microsoft Project 2019

Users of older versions of Microsoft Project will notice a ribbon, as shown in the following figure (similar to other Microsoft Office products), rather than the traditional pull-down menus from 2010 and earlier. Commands are placed on the ribbon and organized in tabs – *Fil e*, *Tas k*, *Resourc e*, *Projec t*, *Vie w*, and *Forma t*. Within each tab, related commands are in groups.

Figure 8.

The Microsoft Project 2019 Ribbon

The groups and tabs on the ribbon are customizable; commands may be placed in groups and tabs as desired. To customize groups and tabs on the ribbon:

- 1 Click the *Fil e* tab and then select *Option s* (going forward we will document this functionality *File:Option s*) at the bottom of the left sidebar. The **Project Option s** dialog box will appear.
- 2 In the left sidepane of this box select *Customize Ribbo n* .

		man (more)		- 808
Figure 9. Project Option s dialog box with Customize Ribbo n selected	Gant Rain Saint Sainty Heiman Sainty	Part Control of the Office Development of th	Internet Algorithm Tell (a)	
			Support of	1000

3 Click the *Ad d* and *Remov e* buttons as required to move commands to and from various tabs in the ribbon.

You can also customize the Quick Access Toolbar at the top-left corner of your screen to include various

commands as shortcuts:

- 1 Click *File:Option s* to open the **Project Option s** dialog box.
- 2 In the left sidepane of this box, select *Quick Access Toolba r*.
- 3 Click the *Ad d* and *Remov e* buttons as required to move commands to and from the Quick Access Toolbar. In the following figure, the command "Link the Selected Tasks" has been selected for addition to the Quick Access Toolbar.



4 Click *O K* to save your change. You will now see the *Link the Selected Tasks* icon in the Quicl Access Toolbar.

Figure 11.	Fie	Task	Resource	Report	Project	View	Format	V Telime what you
Link the Selected Task		â.	X Cue	Arial	+ 10	+	****	🐨 Mark on Track 🔹
s icon	Gariti Chart -	Paste	2월 Copy * ダ Format Painter	8 1	u 🗠 -	Δ-	*	Propect Links
	View		Clybboard		Fore	- 5	Sithe	sule

You can also access the Quick Access Toolbar or ribbon customization options by right clicking a tab (*Tas k* in the following example) and then selecting the option desired to access the **Project Option s** dialog box.

Figure 12.		- NO 1 RESOURCE REPORT PROJECT VEW	GANTI OWN TOOLS FORMAT
Right clicking	E N:	Guitember Quick Access Teathurs, Show Quick Access Teathur Below the Richard	Mark un Track -
	Gantt Pasts Chort View Cliphing	Cutterrise the Eliker Colleger the Résign	P == loactivate

3.3 Navigating in Microsoft Project 2019 Views

Familiarizing Yourself with the Microsoft Project 2019 Screen

Once the desired view has been selected, finding the correct information within that view is fairly easy—that is, if you know the shortcuts and navigation tools available.

- This exercise uses the file **Navigation.mp p**. Launch Microsoft Project 2019 without connecting to Project Server and open this project from the Exercise Directory as follows:
 - 1 In the left sidebar you will see a list of recently opened projects, as shown in the following figure. Note: your screen may differ as it will reflect projects you have recently opened.

Figure 13.

Initial screen Project Get Started

> 2 Assuming **Navigation.mp p** does not appear in the list of recently opened projects, select *Compute r* and then click *Brows e* to see the **Ope** *n* dialog box. From the **Ope** *n* dialog box navigate to and select the file **Navigation.mp p** , and click **Ope n** .

Figure 14.	Carl Barrier and a start and	e nemera in a dera onderspåle der och eine det har same later Res	Minister	SUPPORT S
	Adver - Note			
Ope n dialog	Research	 Koto-Interry Incodel Second 		april: Index
box	Birther an Ortuge Birther Bir	ker H. Chendrack and Security H. Standard Security (1997) H. Sandard Security (1997) H. Sandard Security (1998) H. Sandard Security (1998	Recorder 42 Votes Cry Votes Cry Let State Cry Crysteller Crysteller Votes Crysteller	

Right arrow

Click the right arrow button at the bottom of the task list section of the screen to scroll through the columns that are hidden behind the Gantt Chart. Your screen will resemble the following as you scroll through the various columns:

Figure 15.

3

Scrolling through columns

- scroll
 - 4 The vertical line that divides the data fields on the left from the chart on the right is the *divider bar*. Place the cursor on the divider bar to see a double vertical line with horizontal arrows. Click and drag to the right to show more data fields, or to the left to show more of the Gantt Chart.
 - 5 Move your mouse over the cell just above Task ID 0. The following text box will appear to inform you of which view and table is currently applied to your project:

Figure 16. Display of Table and Table: Entry View View: Gantt Chart Right-click to select and change tables.

> 5 Click the cell above Task ID 0 to Select All. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 17.	S	elect	 0	
Select all	Contraction of the second seco	A series A seri		A set of the set of th

- Press Ctrl + End on the keyboard. Your view will jump to the last column in the task list. 7
- 8 Press *Ctrl* + *Home*. Your view will return to the first row and column of the task list:
- 9 Press *Alt* + *End* . Your view will jump to the end of the project's Gantt bars.
- Press *Alt* + *Home* . Your view will shift to the start of the project's Gantt bars. 10

You can expand and collapse tasks hierarchically using the + or - on tasks. Alternatively, you can navigate to *View:Dat a* and then select the desired outline level from the *Outlin e* dropdown list.

PROJECT VEW TADE RECORDE PORMA 102 Mercard Data Chinter . d Unage 85 Contradar -W Line The Residence Official of the - B. Carter Views The Differ Timer 1000 State Laborator Gall Meisie Plan Indensis gilles int i 6 v kaugest Project Plac iii days ine 1 1.000 1 H days Ind I 2 (0)(1) 1 days Statutes.

Select *View:Data:Outline:Outline Level 1*. This collapses the list of tasks so that your scree 11 will resemble the following:

41	Turning and a line	 1. 1. 1.	 	 1.1.1.1			A	
-21	Concession of Concession of Concession							
- 61	THE TRA DUNCT			 100				_
10.1	lives live in magnine			_	_	_		 _
14	Not the							
-	- Independ							

You may want to adjust the timescale on the right side of the Task Usage, Resource Usage, or Gantt Chart views (for example, if the default timescale is daily and you need a weekly or monthly summary). There are several ways to do this.

From *View:Zoo m* adjust the timescale by clicking on the *Zoo m* icon [] and selecting 12 **Zoom I n**, **Zoom Ou t**, or **Zoo m**. **Zoom** brings you to the **Zoo m** dialog box where you ca specify the desired Zoom level.

		VEW	te.	TAMAT						
igure 20.		illauge -	61	141-	mb	ti Hagkaght	(Ne Highlight) -	Timescale	0	27 85
	\sim	s Thead -	24	H-H	Table I	Train	(No filter) +	Days	-	and the
djusting the			-			P. Group by	(He Group) +		100	Popert Tasks
mescale	f	66.1				tists :			8, 1	highlight
	۱.) —							1.1	lines (s
	$\langle \rangle$	·							9.1	Ders.

- In the **Zoo** *m* group, the **Timescal** *e* dropdown allows you to adjust the Units (for example, from the text of tex of text of tex of text of text of tex of 13 Days to Weeks or Months), along with any other items you want to change.
- 14 The *Entire Projec t* or *Selected Task s* icons in the *Zoo m* group will resize to automatically f the entire project or any selected tasks.

F

Figure 19.

Screen after collapsing list of tasks

Figure 18.

options

Outline level

A ť

- 15 At the bottom right of the screen is a Zoom Slider that can be moved left or right to increase or decrease the Timescale.
- 16 Move your mouse over the link line between *Concept* (Task ID 1) and *Determine the layout of the site* (Task ID 14). You will be presented with a screen tip for the task dependency, which displays the type of task dependency, the names of the dependent tasks, and any lag time between the tasks.

Figure 21.	I	
		Mark avit
Screen up for	The brack and the set of the set	AT A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
task	7. Company and and the U.S. O. 1977	📰 🔤 ser for 🚽
dependency	20 Automatic State Concerning Con	Tet Un Filler Star V Lec N
	a Decimptogrammilie on Materia 20, 201	Ter III - Koper date determine seit
	37 Converting appring the second s	
	a (A-move	- and a second and a
	a analogic services states of the	and the second se
	3 P Reserve Aller Comment Contral Co. 1975	
	🔆 💷 a Consideration de Consideration 🛛 🖓 des 🛛 🖓 d	
	 From the <i>Tas k</i> tab, select Task 12, <i>V</i> <i>to Tas k</i> icon []. Selecting a task the selected task's corresponding Gan following: 	<i>Web Site Design</i> , and in the <i>Editin</i> g group, click the <i>Scr</i> and clicking the <i>Scroll to Tas</i> k button shifts the start of att bar into view. Your screen will resemble the
Figure 22.		
	The first family from the second seco	and the second sec
Scrolling	the	And I have been summer Direct State Total
to Tan k	The second	the second
button		
	18 Move your mouse over the Gantt bar fo	or the task <i>Evaluate current systems</i> (ID 2). The start date
	finish date, and duration of the task w	fill appear in a box.
	19 Locate the task <i>Define specific function</i>	onality (ID 8) and move your mouse pointer under the ID
	number until the icon changes to a do	uble-ended arrow.
	20 Hold your mouse button down and drag	g the bottom line downwards, and a dotted line will
	appear to help you determine where y	ou want to set the row height:
Figure 23.		
Drag line		
0		
	e Intranet Project Plan	
	t a Concept	
	2 Evoluate current ayatems	
	3 # Define Regularmenta	
	4 g Define uner requirements	
	E Defino content requirements	
	 Define system requirements 	
	F Define earver purter requiremente	
	E Define specific functionality	
	B Gefre risks and risk management approach	
	10 Develop project plan	
	11 Inter web development leafs	
	21 Delegas your mouse button when the de	ttad drag line is midway through the Douglan project

- 21 Release your mouse button when the dotted drag line is midway through the *Develop project plan* (ID 10) row to make the row for Task 8 double height.
- 22 Move your mouse pointer to the bar between the *Tas* k column heading and the *Duratio* n column heading until the icon changes to a double-ended arrow.
- 23 Hold the mouse button down and drag the line either left or right to adjust the column width as required, just as you did to adjust row height in the previous section.
- 24 To modify a task name, click to select the cell, and then click the same cell again to enter Edit

mode. Locate the task *Define risks and risk management approach* (ID 9). Add the words "for corporate management" and press *Ente r*. Notice that the long task name for Task 9 automatically wraps in the cell. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 24. Auto-wrapped text for Task 9

	Intranet Project Plan
	# Concept
1	Evaluate current systems.
	 Define Requirements
+	Define user requirements
+	Define content respiraments
4	Define system requirements
+	Define server owner requirements
+	Define specific functionality
1	Define risks and risk management approach for corporate management
-	Develop project plan
1	Brief web development team

25 You can add a separate data entry bar to display and edit text. To do so, go to *File:Option s* to see the **Project Option s** dialog box.

Figure 25	Providuation		1.10.100
Figure 25.	dentroil	Seneral options for working with instant	
Project	Use of	·····	
Options dialog	Schedule	Uner Brierlace autions	
box	Proofing Stek Longuage Advenced	Automatical Annual Annua Annual Annual Annua	
	Customas Rober Çalek Access Tooliter Add eng Traam Canitar	Personality year copy of Wirreal Utility	

26 In the **Project Option s** dialog box select *Displa y* and then check *Entry bar* in the *Show these elements* section. Click *O K*. The contents of the active cell will display in an entry bar below the ribbon.



27 Alternatively, you can wrap text by selecting *Format:Column s* and then using the *Column Setting s* dropdown list to select *Wrap Tex t*.

Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to modify the background of text cells, as well as the text itself.

28 Locate the task *Brief web development team* (ID 11) and select the *Task Nam e* cell. The *Tas k*

contains several buttons that allow you to make formatting changes to the selected text cells.

Click the small boxed arrow at the bottom right of the *Fon t* group to open the Fon t dialog box. Change the *Colo* r from *Automatic* to *Whit* e and the *Background Colo* r *Automatic* to *Blac k*. Select a Background Pattern that seems appropriate (solid, in the following example).

Fonti	Font style:	50m	
Artal	Regular	8	-
Arisi Rounded MT Bailarrille Old Face Boolean/ 95	A Marrow Sold Marrow Bold Marrow Bold Marrow Bold Marrow Bold		Cancel
EUnderine EStriction Color:	ivgh Sangle		
Beckground Color:	-	Aa66VyZz	
Sackground Pattern:	•		

- Click **O** *K* and the cell format is changed. 29
- 30 From the *Fil e* menu click *Clos e* , and close **Navigation.mp p** without saving your changes.

3.4 Help Options in Microsoft Project 2019

Microsoft Project 2019 offers a variety of sources for help and additional information.

Start Microsoft Project 2019 without connecting to Project Server and click the *Hel p* button [1 in the upper-right corner of your screen. This icon will appear in the same place within every screen.

Figure 28.	\bigcirc			(sectorization)		
New screen	-	New				
button circled	-	And the other Dispace.	and they are			
				9	3	æ
					3	Get Started
	-	arriver	Sector States	Rate for other	Nampao de Calendar (nota (no	
	-	Aug -	Lit	Concession of the	王前前	S MA
		Esta			MC150	

2 Microsoft Project will present a web page for **Project Hel p** dialog box similar to the following:

Figure 29.

Figure 27. Modified font background instructions

Project Hel p page

-	Nikme	at				See all include	1
1	lois	- Peakers	Twitten	-	n .		
- 24	4.0-	1.4	4.44	••	24		
			Тор	cate	egories		
			Country	ođ			
			Tothe	toor prob a	m	- 10	
			isterie i	*		~	
			tek			5.	
			4	•			
			2			1023	

- 3 Use this interface to find a link to the information you need, or enter a search term to perform a more thorough search online.
 - Close the **Project Hel p** window by clicking the X in the upper right hand corne of the dialog box.

3.5 Finding the Right Information

4

The trick to using Microsoft Project effectively is first to know what type of information you are looking for, and then to know which view you can use to display this information. A view is a set of formatting instructions that tells Microsoft Project what data to present and how to organize it into a useful format so that each view displays a unique combination of project information. Once you are in the correct view, you can modify the display to view the exact information you require, as described later.

Views in Microsoft Project 2019 can be categorized into sheet views, chart and graph views, and form views. Each of the available views will provide different presentations of project information. Unfortunately, with 27 different views to choose from, simply deciding which one to use can be a challenge.

For example, the default Gantt Chart view includes a calendar bar chart on the right side of the screen and a table of data on the left side. A table is a set of formatting instructions that specifies which fields from the data storage area should appear on the screen. The default Entry Table, for example, contains ID (the task numbers), Name (titled Task Name), Duration, Start, Finish, Predecessors, and Resource Names (who is assigned to the task).

The decision tree in the next section is intended to help guide you to the six most useful views in Microsoft Project. Microsoft Project 2019 does help by automatically opening certain views for you (for example, custom tracking views when you set up the tracking method to be used for the project), but remembering these six views will save you valuable time.

For task information, the Gantt Chart (with and without a split window) is generally most useful. For resource information, the Resource Sheet (with and without a split window) is best. For assignment information, the Task Usage and Resource Usage views are the best starting points.

Selecting a View



When selecting the best Microsoft Project view, you must first decide if you are looking for task-based or resource-based information.

- □ If you require task-based information, next decide if you are interested in information with or without resource assignments.
 - If the information you require is task-based, without resource assignments, the Gantt Chart should meet your needs (see Note 1 for additional detail).
 - If the information you require is task-based, with resource assignments spread over time, the Task Usage View should meet your needs (see Note 2 for additional detail).
 - If the information you require is task-based, with resource assignments not spread over time, the Gantt Chart with details in the lower pane (split window) should meet your needs (see Note 3 for additional detail).
- □ If you require resource-based information, next decide if you are interested in information with or without task assignments.
 - If the information you require is resource-based, without task assignments, the Resource Sheet should meet your needs (see Note 1 for additional detail).
 - If the information you require is resource-based, with task assignments spread over time, the Resource Usage View should meet your needs (see Note 2 for additional detail).
 - If the information you require is resource-based, with task assignments not spread over time, the Resource Sheet with details in the lower pane (split window) should meet your needs (see Note 3 for additional detail).

Note 1: Are you seeing the information you want to see in the Gantt Chart or Resource Sheet views?

- □ If you are not seeing the information you want on the left side of the divider of the Gantt Chart View:
 - Apply a table that contains the columns (or fields) you wish to view
 - Add columns to the existing table
 - Add columns to the existing table and then apply the table
 - Create a new table that contains the columns (or fields) you wish to view

Note 2: Are you seeing the information you want to see in the (Task or Resource) Usage view?

- □ If you are not seeing the columns you want on the left side of the divider on the (Task or Resource) Usage View, you can do one or more of the following:
 - Apply a table that contains the columns (or fields) you wish to view
 - Add columns to the existing table
 - Add columns to the existing table and then apply the table
 - Create a new table that contains the columns (or fields) you wish to view
- □ The grid on the right side of the (Task or Resource) Usage view contains time-phased information—

work details broken down on a day-by-day basis (this time phasing can be modified). If you are not seeing the columns you want to see on the right side of the divider on the Usage View:

- To change the timescale, in the *View:Zoom* section of the ribbon, use the *Zoom* dropdown arrow to *Zoom in/Zoom ou t*.
- To see a short list of display options for this grid, right-click anywhere in the grid area. When you do so, you will see the following list:

Figure 30	3-	Detail Dyles_
Figure 50.	+	Work
Time-phased		Actual Work
details list		Comulative Work
		Baseline Work
		Cost
		Actual Cent
		Show Timeline
		Show Salit

- □ If the data in the timescale (for the task, resource or assignment you wish to view) is not appearing on the screen:
 - From *Task:Editin g* click the *Scroll to Tas k* icon
 - Zoom in/Zoom Out
 - In the *Format:Zoo m* section of the ribbon, adjust the timescale
- \Box In the lower pane, if you are not seeing the fields you want to see:
 - Right-click in the lower pane and select *Predecessors & Successor s*, *Resources & Predecessor s*, *Resources & Successor s*, *Schedul e*, *Wor k*, *Cos t*, *Note s*, and/or *Object s*, as appropriate
 - From *View: (Task or Resource) View s*, use the *Other View s* dropdown list to select *More View s* and then choose the appropriate "form" view.
 - From *View:Split Vie w* use the *Detail s* dropdown list to select the appropriate view.

Note 3: Are you seeing the information you want to see in the Gantt Chart with Details or Resource Sheet with Details views?

- □ If you are not seeing the columns you want on the upper pane of the Gantt Chart View:
 - Apply a table that contains the columns (or fields) you wish to view
 - Add columns to the existing table
 - Add columns to the existing table and then apply the table
 - Create a new table that contains the columns (or fields) you wish to view
- □ If you are not seeing the fields you want to see on the lower pane:
 - Right-click in the lower pane and select $Schedul \ e$, $Wor \ k$, $Cos \ t$, $Note \ s$, and/or $Object \ s$, as appropriate
 - From *View: (Task or Resource) View s*, use the *Other View s* dropdown list to select *More View s* and then choose the appropriate "form" view.
 - From *View:Split Vie w*, use the *Detail s* dropdown list to select the appropriate view.

Evaluating the Most Useful Views

- This exercise uses the file **Navigation.mp p** . Ensure this file is open.
 - 1 When you open a Microsoft Project file, you will see the Gantt Chart view by default.

Figure 31.

Navigation.mp p – Gantt Chart view

2

		and some		400	منتبت ومقلا	Amerita in a second second
		A test test Fix, ed. Filat	As 2 digit	112	178	1-1
		d flaring?	felt days	107	2.44	Provide the second seco
		the set of the sports.	1.000	15.4	214	MODOCOMOND
	- ÷	 A first factor sector in 	54 (69)	1.69	182	
	1.8	Ex for community or is	ture.	131		i and a second sec
		to enote a new east	20.00	1.17	APR: .	pananonononon
		A MAR BUILT AND MARKED	1990	1.104	1002	penannon - in y Anto
	01	Finite courses are so and the	2.000	1.04	(14)	Scotton Adv Herican B
12	1	Cohersonally functionally	. 15e	40	24	
- 5	740	to an also discussion in agree.	1.00	130	-35	pressonant an age of the second re-
18		researched a hos	V26A	8.75	1993	SOUDOUS Vientine
10		And the state of the second	1.002	1 62	199	panis other Media allow Low
-3	10	 Web Elle Deuty 	13 days	17	64	A 12-12 TO - D- COURT I DOOL OF A
	11	Program from the star	Edas	1.1	001	

Double-click a task name to see the **Task Informatio n** dialog box, containing summar information about the selected task. The following figure shows a summary of the task information for *Define content requirements* :

Figure 32.

Define content requirements task Information

		Press 11 and	10.800
Bernard In 19		NAME OF COLUMN	
Barris Marine		Christ	
per la	- ipen in		
Chickle Server			
Choix fat			

- 3 To view task-based information with resource assignments summarized over the project lifetime, the Gantt Chart (with window split) is the most useful view. As covered earlier, Microsoft Project defaults to the *Tas k* tab and Gantt Chart view upon opening.
 - In the ribbon, the *Vie* w group (top-left of your screen) includes a Gantt Chart view icon [I Clicking on the arrow next to *Gantt Char* t displays a dropdown list of additional views .

Figure 33.

Gantt Chart dropdown



5

4

To display the assignment information for these Gantt Chart tasks, from the

Task:Propertie s group in the ribbon, click the *Details* butto n []. The Task Details For view is the default view in the lower frame.

Figure 34.
Gantt Chart
over Task

Details Form

		(and and		and a second	mail 14-	-	4.0.7	0.2.2	
1.11	100	+ Instance Project Plan		All days	931	421	-		
100	1.80	a Ceretari		41 4944	+14	318	-		_
-18	1.47	Endedito control opportu-		1.1-600	. 102	108	1.0	12	Lating growing .
18	DIG.	+ failer fragments		2.0 -0000	414				-
-16	1.4	failes can requested		1. August	546				
18	h an	Status company and		10.000	100	- 27	1.2		
- 15	NG.	3404 (January Cale (1997)		1.000	. 620				
	1.00	Light serve have descented.		1.044	748	110			
	140	In All and All Average All		1.00	28				
						110	111		
	-	bee entrances in the	- 11im	10 Carl	and 13	Amount for		-	(iii)
11	-	1.00 + 11040	11.	+	1.04244	 Presilin 	81. e.s	Distance 199	10
162	1.4	The part limit		Cel.	-1 desam	11111		Sector Sector	196
2	1	Julling Grapping	30%	3.30		1.000	8.00	3,36.07	125
8	1.1	Siere Lind.	2009	- 8.40			1616	9.06.09	
10		(Arry Pisc)	3.94	- 76/89		10.00	1940	1006/8	
- 10		Name in a state	1004	10.00	10.1	10.00	6-0	10.00(10)	

The *Vie w* tab provides many different viewing options. For example, this tab contains the Gantt Chart icon at the left in the *Task View s* group. In the *Split View s* group, selecting details includes the Task Form as the default, as well as several additional choices.

Notice that the information in the Task Form window(s) refers to an individual task in the Gantt

Chart above. This information is summarized over the life of the task.

6 Several different types of summarized information can be shown in the Task Form. To see the options, right-click in the gray area on the right side of the Task Form. A box similar to the following will appear:

Figure 35	+ Show Split
i igui e 55.	🛰 goslecutors & Soccettors
Task Form	- Bessierten & Ereichermonn
options	-2 Rennammer & Sociement
	III Schedule
	150 XIII
	and Sent
	11 Menna
	Chjects

7

To view resource-based information without assignment details, go to **Task: Vie w** and select the *Resource Shee t* view. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 26	r.	line des	ane - Papa	i ingar	Ver	interest 23	. Internetiate	a south the dec			
rigure 50.	1	22 2	A .	aP.	1 3	14	- 20	inin y Dyniara Antonio an			
Resource Sheet view	Tera. Ster	four Fra Constant Fra Historice	alar Add de Alexand t Bear	334444 	er Bales Selvè Neutha	Arrent Arrange Second Arrange	Series Const	e tron og e Orienskogsf	et :		
	×	1									
		terminer berm	* 15pt	· UHHA	Tirtes Tir	1960 * 1866 *	Dis Role Y. O.	. Foto = 248	1.10 × 1.100.00 ×	1.444	÷
		JENY HOUSY	1.000		le.	16.78	3180.26/1	20.6287	SUR POYAL	J'ANGATO	
		A	A str		4	1.04	3181 (8) 1	A1108-1	D-Rift and	C-minel	
	- 5	- Antry Point	(4590)		450	1000	\$187.542+F	Marche-	U \$5.95 Permit	Distant.	
		LINY LINAS	1420		10	1924	318387	10.00	SO IN PROVIDE	210010	

8 Double-click a Resource Name to see the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box with details about that resource.

	National University of the Second Sec	1000
Figure 37.	Invented Costs Manual Coston Heads	
Resource information for	Foundationer Break Balance Break Ba	
Jeffery Vineburg	Recting type Constitut - Type Hull	-
	Promote Academic Transmission Comparison of	ar Ane .
		Lanor

9 As covered earlier, to view resource-based information with resource assignments summarized over the project lifetime, the Resource Sheet (with window split) is the most effective view. To get to this view from the Resource Sheet view, from the *Vie* w tab select *Detail s* in the *Split Vie w* group.

The Resource Form view should be the default view in the lower frame, as shown in the following figure. Alternatively, you can select the Resource Sheet (with window split) view from the *Tas k* and *Resourc e* tabs.

Figure 38. Resource Sheet (with details selected, split screen)

	•	-		Septem.	Parties -	Ani	Ternal	्र म	Tel Hericker	provinción de	d.	
10.2.		27. 	-		A.	- 1000	n 1, i i i i		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ent aj tal a Sea Seding An Com Ser		
3	5											
request other	1.0	na in tan 195 And 195 And 195 A 195 A 195 A		ligan - NGK National National National	de ti	N A A A	· 14. •	1 763 216 	Ball Pada (* 31., 2000) 39.1 (2000) 39.1 (2000) 39.1 (2000) 39.1 (2000)	North Carlos Studio Studio States States States	Suite Activity Suite Activity Suite Activity Suite Activity Suite Activity Suite Activity	Anne Salasti Volderi Anderi Anderi
	3 3 305 34303 34303	11.1.000 11.000 14.000	6 0 6	i vili 🗍 K rigitali i k	la ligo da nume	St Que	2004 200605	81	5 d a	. 1	<u></u>	
RECORD FORM	Minist Minist Coupel Coupel Coupel Coupel Coupel Coupel Coupel			ana are no are gradiet an gradiet an gradiet an grie conta grie conta grie conta grie conta	1993 1993 (Marine 1995 (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine 1996 (Marine)) (Marine)		C permitte		50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5	102 102 28 24 104 104 104 201	10000000000000000000000000000000000000	

The preceding view provides the "big picture" about resources in the upper window (Resource Sheet), with details about their assigned tasks in the lower window (Resource Form).

10 As with the Task Form, various types of information can be presented in the Resource Form. To see the options, right-click in the gray area on the right side of the Resource Form view to see the following list of options:

Figure 39.	4	Show Split
Resource Form		Schedule
options	Θ	Work.
	-	Cost
		Notes
		Qbjects

11 To view assignment details by task, from *Task:View* select *Task Usag e*. Alternatively, you ca go to *Task Views:Views:Task Usag e*. Your screen will resemble the following:



Task Usage view

	0	Instate	/618	Alexie.	44.000	-540.00	10.00	11.516	30.08	SLOOM.	10.74	1.4.827	WHETHAY!
- 44		- (carac	Vet	100	14	1 185	-1: M	8	1001333	13913	S - SR	1.5 08	
108	+	A flore and plan	Shee		Me	- X	- 2		222012	281315		13	
		Stan Lon-	Ver		-18	80 Q4	- B		CROC	183331		-2	
3.44		4 1-120 40044	14141	TWAT?		14 14	States.	~	161181	12316	1	. V	
		to a new.	Vites				Channel and			HOURI.			
-10	+	A Los Anna C	Star						353	100.55		COLOR -	100000
	10	Serie Low-	1990						0.000	10000			
. 40	+	4 Uberer states	1000	distantial part		STOLEN I	al little		13731321	1388.61	The little	121111	
	1	2 a. 1 at .	- Mex						1212			1813.00	10 C
o te		a Times ming	YW						130.23	1000			
	26	2014-0200	1998				10 A 4		30.00	5833R	115.5	10 U.U	
1.15		a Estiden	Lines .				Zan Ma	The state	1010101	183.4	100		in the second
2006		at 7 auf die begendenten er best	See.						123333	13.12			
		staty to a	WW.				2000	1.1.1.1	50033	10000			-
		HARTY SHE HE	100	a second		10000	Contractory of		1.111	1000	1100		
1.045	+	a Self-representation and self-represent-	Sites.	- Longelle		service of		1.			A DECEMBER	10.12	1.1.1.1.10
	1.00	rise y Fault	1000					D1		12000	6.		n
		LINE CONTRACTOR	19981					10	10000	1 STATE	1		

12 The italicized names below each task represent each person's assignment to that task. If you double-click a name under a task, you will see an **Assignment Informatio n** dialog box with details about that person's assignment to the task.

Figure 41. Assignment information for Jeffrey Vineburg for the task *Evaluate current* systems

fank:	Evaluate current s	ystems						
Besource:	Jeffery Vineburg							
<u>W</u> ork:	40n 🗄		<u>U</u> nits:	100%				
Work contour:	Flat -							
Start	1/22	1.00	Booking type	Committed				
Einish:	1/26	 ↓< ↓ ↓		\$4,000.00				
Cost rate table:	A		Angement Correct					

13 The grid on the right side of the view contains time-phased information—task assignment details broken down on a day-by-day basis (this time phasing can be modified). To see a short list of display options for this grid, right-click anywhere in the grid area. When you do so, you will see the following dialog:



14 To see a complete list of fields you can modify, click *Detail Styles* ... in the box displayed above. The **Detail Style s** dialog box will appear.

Here a state	and the second second		
Unge Detail Unge Pro Avanue 1914 Attack Stat Attack Stat Attack Work ACMP ATTack Rows ATTack Rows	2000 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	New Joy Level Microsopterd Press	
Leet Anala pt Bee	uer.	dame	East.
Gell bacoground: getein ∦) 2 Steak traven	********		
			26 200

15 You can also view assignment information sorted by resource, rather than by task. For this option, from *View:Resource View s* select *Resource Usag e*. You can also access the Resource Usage view via the *Tas k* and *Resourc e* tabs. Your screen will resemble the following:

	O Hannahaw		8128	1944	2118	4044	1221	 12.20	120	1000	17441	435	1.10
Figure 44	 A performance of the second sec	1000			1.00		-			10.0	-	100	-
i igui e 44.	25-atomic correct symbols	100						1.0.0.					
Resource Usage	Cellar unt apprendix	the l											
	Deltral content depresiventy	- Parts											
view	College Laboration insurance and	No.		101				1					
	Colori secon salar regimentari	Ven.		- 80				 1					
	Colina gearily territorality	tion						1			1	1	
	Partice hand and cite inergometry boology #	dank.											

Figure 43. Detail Styles dialog box 16 As with the Task Usage view, you can double-click an italicized task name (an assignment) to view the **Assignment Informatio n** dialog box.

Display the Information You Want

Once you have selected the appropriate view for your purposes, you can adjust the view in various ways to show any specific information you need.

To see additional information (such as Cost, Summary or Tracking data) on the left side of the Task Usage or Resource Usage views, on the left side of the Gantt view, or on the Resource Sheet, you have two choices:

- 1 From *View:Dat a* click *Table s* . From the dropdown, select the appropriate table. You can also select *More Table s* to review other tables to apply to the view or to create new tables, as we'll describe shortly.
- 2 You can also insert a new data field into a table by clicking the *Add New Colum n* heading (the last column) and selecting a field from the list. A column may also be inserted by navigating to *Format:Column s* and clicking *Insert Colum n* per the following figure.

Figure 45. Inserting an	The Barry Allows: A year bins Allows: A year bins Allows: A year bins Allows: A year bins Allows: A year bins	- maile - Becater tares. W Ary Brow Con U Ary U Ary		- bi	- Not - Pressure - No	An Har State, in An Har Schman Processing of the second se
additional column		1			4	
	Testhern	v bedre v	10-11	Same .	Person Berry	
	# # Ining with reject then	të daja	142	4/25		
	* A Distant	18 steps	100	3.74	100 mm 10 mm	VĚ
	 Pusharing a seal options 	7. de ju	1001	1.74	delline Viceburg	
	 A Define Sceniscricetts 	7 S clava	198	27		
	 Dema star regard heart 	- ar,n	(\$22	62	APPLY ADDING SHOULDED	CETY FALLONIY & SVP
	 Define conderidings reader its 	7.44.0	100-	197	Attroy to take gradient care	long bad; Tim, Bird, Kales;
	 De Vaca più respierente. 	Ship	100	171	Andrew Strade og Wisself van b	tray Dr. 4
	Define server on her requirem	ers 2 Stra	(02)	1.58	Jeften Vinekung Stevel, dass	ienv Feul
) ©⊃ NOTE	When you are working in a changes made to tables and tables to be available to all project, they must be create	n enterprise environ views will apply to enterprise projects, ed as part of the ente	ment us the mod or to be erprise g	sing Mic ified pro used in dobal by	rosoft Project P oject only. For n the published ve 7 a Project Serve	rofessional, nodified or new ersion of any er administrator.

Select the column and drag to position it as desired.

Using the View Bar

A convenient shortcut for moving between views is the View Bar. To activate it, right-click at the far left in the vertical strip where the name of the current view shows, and click *View Ba r*.



You will see icons for commonly used views. Click any of these icons to quickly apply the view. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 47.

View bar



Timeline View

1

2

3

4

Microsoft Project 2019 includes a timeline view that by default is displayed above other views, showing a concise overview of the entire schedule. You can add tasks to the timeline and even print it for a clear summary report of the entire project. You can also easily paste the timeline into an e-mail or other document for an instant report.

 \Box This exercise uses the file **Timeline.mp** \mathbf{p} . Be sure this project is open before beginning.

To enable the Timeline view, from *View:Split Vie* w, select the *Timelin* e checkbox. *I* timeline bar representing the entire project will display below the ribbon, as in the following figure:



The Zoom commands found in *View:Zoo m* (for the Gantt Chart) work in conjunction with the timeline as well. To display additional tasks on the timeline, select *Evaluate current systems* and then from *Task:Propertie s* click the *Add to Timelin e* icon [$\frac{1}{2}$]. Alternatively, you can right-click on the task and from the resulting list select *Add to Timelin e*.

You can also display milestones on the timeline. Select *User interface designed* and from *Task:Propertie s* click *Add to Timelin e*. Your timeline will resemble the following:

Figure 49.

Sample timeline

By default tasks are displayed as a bar on the timeline, but they may also be displayed as a callout text box. Add the task *Evaluate current systems* to the timeline, and then right-click on this task in the timeline and select **Display as Callou t** (or from **Format:Current Selectio n** click **Display as Callou t**). Your timeline will resemble the following:

Figure 50.

Sample timeline with callout

 12	Land Area Control of C							
	1010-000 (011-000)							

- 5 Right-click the timeline bar and select *Detailed Timelin e*. This will collapse the bar's height and shrink the display, while leaving the tasks visible on the timeline.
 - Close your project without saving the changes.

Note: Microsoft project 2019 includes new features for the Timeline that make it easier to communicate project progress. Now, the tasks display their progress right on the bar. Also, you can label timeline bars to more clearly demonstrate status updates for work in progress.



Calendar View

1

6

□ This exercise uses the file **Navigation.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.

The Calendar view displays tasks in the form of a wall calendar. To access the Calendar view, from *View:Task View s* select *Calenda r*. Your screen will resemble the following:



- 2 By default, the current month appears in the view. Click the *Wee k* button at the upper left of the Calendar view to see the current week only.
- 3 Click *Custo m* and you will see the **Zoo m** dialog box. Change the number of *Week s* to "2" al click *O K*. Your screen will resemble the following figure. You can use the **Zoo m** dialog bo to control the number of weeks the Calendar view includes or to specify a date range.



How Microsoft Project 2019 Uses Data

Entering data in Microsoft Project 2019 is often just the first step. Behind the scenes, Microsoft Project works to use the data to provide meaningful information for the project manager. This exercise explores how this process works for one specific example.

This exercise uses the file **Navigation.mp p**. If this file is not already open, launch Microsoft Project 2019 without connecting to Project Server and open this project from the Exercise Directory before beginning.

- 1 By default you should be in the Gantt Chart view with the *Tas k* tab selected. Apply the Gantt Chart view if another view is displayed. From the *Propertie s* group click *Detail s* to see the Gantt Chart/Task Details Form combination described earlier.
- 2 Right-click anywhere in the Task Details Form and select *Cos t* from the menu that appears. In the upper half of the screen, select *Define user requirements* (Task ID 4) to view details about that task in the Task Form. Your screen will resemble the following.

	1		Interest Project Plan		62.5 days	1022	418	Right mouse	-	1
ce	ANNUT CO		Concept Evaluate content systems a Definal Recommendation		133 days 1 days 1.5 days	1400 1400 1400	83 108 87 2	click to select details format	F	. MEMORY .
	1.4	24			1 1000	1022	1	HIC	1	1.5
- 1	1	un.	LOP - Perge	10.	· ·	baher	Poet Units	• NCagadda	60 (S)	 ma-lan padosene fi bosan
	1404 F1994	1 1 3 4	Kanaua Nano artan Vidan Tarin Kana Yere Kau Harey Blaut	10% 10% 10%	54,000,00 14,000,00 14,000,00 14,000,00 14,000,00		100 Aut. 10.40 10.00 10.00 10.00	Noti 94,00 16,000 16,0000000000	0.00 0.00 0.00	Consent & print out Consent & print Consent & print

Note that the cost of each assignment is now displayed in the lower details pane.

- 3 Click on the upper half of the screen anywhere to activate the Gantt Chart portion. Notice that the view name on the left side of the screen changes from gray to green to indicate the active view. Click the details box in the Split view group to remove the bottom pane.
- 4 From the *Vie w* group select *Resource Shee t* to change the screen to display the Resource She view to verify the hourly cost rate for each resource. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure		Danava Sara	Tapa - Unard	T. dec. 1	Gias T	100. 7	581. Tak: T	DA SACT	Construct Acons +	Zase .	-
	. 1	AlkyViena	West	DV .		100%	\$100.000	58 909 1	50.00 Personal.	Saidad	
55.	2	Steve Laun	Wetk	51.		100%	\$100.00m	51 30 hr	\$0.00 Prorected	Standard	
Resource	3	Tany Real	West	(IP		100%	\$400.00hr	\$8,0001	SO KD Prorsted	Standard	
Sheet	1	Langy Grosse	We're	100		132/8	Stitution	58 8001	30.63 Proceed	instant.	

- 5 Click on the *Gantt Char t* icon to return to the original split Gantt view by clicking the *Details* option in the *Split view* menu group. Click on any task to see the resource cost for that task. Microsoft Project used the *Std. Rat e* value times the number of hours (work) each resource is assigned to calculate these costs.
- 6 To see the total resource cost for the project, from *View:Dat a* click the *Table s* icon, and from the dropdown list select the *Cost Tabl e*. Move the divider bar between the table and the calendar bar chart to the right until you see the *Total Cos t* column heading. Your screen will resemble the following.

Figure 56. Total resource cost for the project

		Testare	+ Cosi +	And Cal. Aresid +	Tele Crar -	Jonary 21	
	1	< Instant Project Par	90.08	Cad	5255 470.00		-
	1	a Dampi	3.8	. but	244,403,80		-
52	2.1	Public methologiters	67.02	24	34,000,00	Water and a second second	j,
12	- 82	- Coffine Requirements	90,66	Dr.f.	\$47,300,00		ľ
昂	1.	Lettre see recordinates	3, 10	- 16	\$1.0.00.	1	
志		Definition of the here party sensitive of	30.00	(2) #1	\$14,21-3.80	5	
3	R	Professiony data are desirable.	(\$5.62)		\$2,200.80	1 3	
~~	7.	Derfine mer ver devinen require mehrte	30.00	200	\$4,800,60		
	1	Lettre specific for causery	30.00		226.000	and the second sec	
		Determines and any staryment apprecial	3 - BC	1.00	204,000,000	HORDOCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	b
	18.	Enterpolation -	(8×102)		30 Januar 	Manage sheetse	
	0156	Printerson and galaxy free	E Final	dies Theat	+Sinks	querar 100	
	-+1	100 - Not in		Tel min a	ews -	5. rap 4 24 5	
1	1.4	201 101 101	110	14/11/14/51	-3 1.52	\$387 LSD *	
ŝ	1.1	Genery/ceelary Door	1.000	a.; a.s	4) S	eva succes 🔄	
5	4.4	Ster Louis Linux	3-1000	x) x,	61 3	a ua 14,000,000	
2	5.5	Oteny Real (2005)	34,000	aci (x.)	¢. 3	00,000,442 60,18	
÷	1.4	Heavilian 10%	54,000	RE 83	e	2.00 54,000.00	

Behind the scenes, Microsoft Project uses data you provide to calculate additional values that a project manager might want. This is a very useful feature, but it can be confusing to users who don't realize what is happening, as we will see later.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

- 1. Fill in the blanks: A project consists of activities that have a distinct beginning and end (known as _____) and the people, equipment, and supplies used to complete those activities (known as _____).
- 2. What is an assignment?
- 3. True or False: A connection between a resource and a task is known as a dependency.
- 4. Where can you go customize the ribbon and the Quick Access Toolbar?

5 -8. Match the keyboard shortcut listed in the left column of the table below, to the correct description from the right column by entering the letter that the shortcut corresponds to in the blank line.

5. Press Ctrl + End	A. Return to the first row and column of the task list.
6. Press Ctrl + Home	B. Shift to the start of the project's Gantt bars.
7. Press Alt + End	C. Jump to the last column in the task list.
8. Press Alt + Home	D. Jump to the end of the project's Gantt bars.

- 9. How do you open the **Project Option s** dialog box?
- 10. True or False: In Microsoft Project 2019, you can access help without connecting to Project Server.
- 11. Fill in the blank: Views in Microsoft Project 2019 can be categorized into 3 view categories: ________ views, ______ and ______ views, and _______ views.
- 12. Fill in the blank: The default ______ view includes a calendar bar chart on the right side of the screen and a table of data on the left side
- 13. What can you do if you are not seeing the columns you want on the left side of the divider on the (Task or Resource) Usage View?

14 -18. Match the view listed in the left column of the table below, to the correct usage from the right column by entering the letter that the shortcut corresponds to in the blank line.

14. Gantt Chart	A. If the information you require is task-based, with resource assignments spread over time
15. Task Usage View	B. If the information you require is resource- based, with task assignments not spread over time
16. Gantt Chart + details in the lower pane (split window)	C. If the information you require is task-based, without resource assignments
17. Resource Sheet	D. If the information you require is resource- based, without task assignments
18. Resource Sheet + details in lower pane (split window)	E. If the information you require is resource- based, with task assignments spread over time
19. Resource Usage	F. If the information you require is task-based, with resource assignments not spread over time

20. What can you do if you are not seeing the fields you want on the lower pane?

21. What can you do if you are not seeing the information you want on the left side of the divider of the Gantt Chart View?

- 22. Fill [DC3] in the blank: To view resource-based information without assignment details, go to *Task:Vie w* and select the ______ view.
- 23. How can you view resource-based information with resource assignments summarized over the project lifetime?

- 24. How do you view assignment information sorted by resource, rather than by task?
- 25. How can you insert a new data field to a view?
- 26. True or False: When you are working in an enterprise environment using Microsoft Project Professional, changes made to tables and views will apply to the modified project only.
- 27. What are some advantages of the timeline view?

28. How can you see the total resource cost for a project?







part

Π

Project Definition

- **4** Understanding Project Definition
- 5 Defining Your Project Using Microsoft Project 2019



chapter 4

- Defining Your Project and Understanding the Definition Process
- Initiating a Project
- Planning the Scope of a Project
- Scope Definition
- Scope Verification



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Understand the basic principles of the project definition
- Describe the process for initiating a project
- Define the key components of the project scope document
- Recognize the concepts of scope definition and scope verification

4.1 Defining Your Project and Understanding the Definition Process

The typical questions addressed in project definition documents are: Why are we doing this project? How many people are required and what types of skill will they need? How much will it cost? What are the deliverables? When will it be done?, and How will you do it?

Defining a Project Definition Document

Different organizations use different names for their definition documents. Some of the more common names are:

- □ Business Plan Often used to gain support and approval for internal company projects
- □ **Proposal** Used between two separate firms, such as a manufacturer and a consulting company, to sell a project to a company
- □ **Statement of Work (SOW)** The formal attachment or appendix to the standard terms and conditions of a contract that describes the detailed approach for performing the project; sometimes part of a proposal
- □ Scope of Work Another term used for a Statement of Work
- □ **Project Charter** Like a business plan, it is often used to gain support and approval for internal company projects

The Anatomy of a Definition Document

"The most important and difficult part of the project is its beginning.... If done carefully, the project has a chance of success. If done carelessly, or not at all, the project is doomed to failure."

--Wysocki, Beck and Crane Effective Project Management

In order to ensure that the project is properly defined, the project manager must meet with the key sponsor and stakeholders to develop a mutually agreed-upon definition for the project. Ideally, this step is completed before the project is funded and scheduled, but it may be necessary to fine tune it once you are sure the project is approved. As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, a thorough definition document will consider a number of key questions. To answer these questions, the document will usually consist of the following sections:

- □ **Executive Summary** A brief summary of the entire document
- **Objectives** Clear, measurable statements defining the purpose of the project
- □ **Assumptions** Documented answers to open key unknowns
- □ **Approach** A plan of action for building the deliverables
- Deliverables guidelines Outline of the project deliverables list
- □ **Business investment** Estimated project cost
- **Estimated schedule** Summary of the project work plan
- **Completion criteria** How you'll know when each major phase and the overall project are done

Defining What "Done" Means

One of the keys to avoiding scope creep is to know exactly when you're done. The definition process is the project manager's first and most critical opportunity to limit the project scope through clearly articulated exit or completion criteria for the major project deliverables and for the overall project.

The project definition document provides an opportunity for the project manager to define this completion criteria. A solid completion statement will tie the deliverables and their acceptance together in a logical way.

A sample completion statement might look like the following:

The design task will be complete when the project manager provides the Design Report, as outlined in the deliverables guideline section, and it is accepted by the project sponsor according to the acceptance procedure in Appendix C.

Statements like this should not only be included in the completion criteria section of the definition document, but also in the approach section to help clear up any doubts as to exactly what "done" means.

The most difficult part of writing a definition document is setting limits—that is, defining up front what the project does include, as well as what it does not include.

For example, a project charter that says, "The goal of this project is to network all facilities in Maryland," leaves the project manager vulnerable to the dreaded, "While you're at it, why don't you include the facilities in Virginia?" On the other hand, a project charter that says, "The goal of this project is to network all facilities in Maryland. Facilities in Virginia will be networked in a separate project during the next fiscal year," provides some defense when people ask for out-of-scope modifications.

Backing into Project End Dates

All too often, the project manager is assigned to a project *after* the project finish date, budget, and resources have been defined. If the project manager (or someone with similar skills) has not been involved in the initial definition of these important parameters, a work plan and schedule may not yet exist. The only way to achieve any degree of certainty in these figures is to lay out a schedule that demonstrates whether or not there is enough money, the right number and kind of people, and enough time to produce the expected deliverables.

Project managers affectionately call the process of forcing a project plan to fit into a pre-determined project scope, schedule, and set of resources as *backing into the schedule* [DC4]. Most project managers would prefer to build the plan before they commit to any kind of project completion date. The painfulness of this process highlights the importance of involving the project manager early in the definition of a project.

In the event that the schedule cannot support the key parameters, it is important that the project manager communicate this issue to the project sponsors as quickly as possible.

In the later modules on the subject of planning, we'll take a look at what the project manager can do to build a plan against a fixed end date, budget, and number of resources.

4.2 Initiating a Project

The PMBOK Guide identifies four processes involved in the overall project definition process: project initiation, scope planning, scope definition, and scope verification.

Initiation involves formally recognizing that a new project exists or that an existing project should continue into its next phase. In some organizations, a project is not formally initiated until after completion of a feasibility study, a preliminary plan, or some other form of analysis. Some types of projects—especially internal service projects and new product development projects—are initiated informally, and a limited amount of work may be done to get the approvals needed for formal initiation.

Inputs to Initiation

Each aspect of the initiation process has its key components, as outlined below.

Product description – The product description documents the characteristics of the product or service that the project was undertaken to create. The product description will generally have less detail in early phases and more detail in later ones as the product characteristics are progressively elaborated.

Strategic plan – Plan projects should be supportive of the performing organization's strategic goals. As such, the strategic plan of the performing organization should be considered as a factor in project selection decisions.

Project selection criteria – Project selection criteria are typically defined in terms of the product of the project and can cover the full range of possible management concerns (e.g. financial return, market share, public perceptions).

Historical information – Historical information about the results of previous project selection decisions, and previous project performance should be considered to the extent it is available. When initiation involves approval for the next phase of a project, information about the results of previous phases is often critical.

Tools and Techniques for Initiation

Project selection methods – Project selection methods generally fall into one of two broad categories:

- □ Benefit measurement methods Comparative approaches, scoring models, benefit contribution, or economic models
- □ Constrained optimization methods Mathematical models using linear, non-linear, dynamic, integer, and multi-objective programming algorithms

These methods are often referred to as *decision* [DC5] *model* s. Decision models include generalized techniques (decision trees, forced choice) as well as specialized ones (Analytic Hierarchy Process, Logical Framework Analysis).

Expert judgment – Expert judgment will often be required to assess the inputs to this process. Such expertise may be provided by any group or individual with specialized knowledge or training and is available from many sources.

Outputs from Initiation

Project charter – A project charter is a document that formally recognizes the existence of a project. It should include, either directly or by reference to other documents:

- \Box The business need that the project was undertaken to address
- □ The product description

The project charter should be issued by a manager external to the project and at a level appropriate to the needs of the project. It provides the project manager with the authority to apply organizational resources to project activities.

Identification of project manager – In general, the project manager should be identified and assigned as early in the project as is feasible. The project manager should always be assigned prior to the start of project plan execution and preferably before much project planning has been done.

Constraints – Constraints are factors that will limit the project management team's options. For example, a predefined budget is a constraint that will limit the team's options regarding scope, staffing, and schedule.

Assumptions – Assumptions are factors that, for planning purposes, will be presumed to be true, real, or certain. For example, if the date that a key person will become available is uncertain, the team may assume a specific start date. Assumptions generally involve a degree of risk.

4.3 Planning the Scope of a Project

Scope planning is the process of developing a written scope statement to serve as the basis for future project decisions. In particular, the scope statement will influence whether or not the project or phase has been completed successfully. The scope statement forms the basis for an agreement between the project team and the project customer by identifying both the project objectives and the major project deliverables. Under some circumstances, particularly if the major deliverables and project objectives have been identified, this

process may involve little more than creating the written document.

Inputs to Scope Planning

- □ Product description
- □ Project charter
- □ Constraints
- □ Assumptions

Tools and Techniques for Scope Planning

Product analysis – Product analysis involves developing a better understanding of the product of the project. It includes techniques such as systems engineering, value engineering, value analysis, function analysis, and quality function deployment.

Benefit/cost analysis – Benefit/cost analysis involves estimating tangible and intangible costs (outlays) and benefits (returns) of various project alternatives, and then using financial measures—such as return on investment or payback period—to assess the relative desirability of the identified alternatives.

Alternatives identification – This is a catchall term for any technique used to generate different approaches to the project. There are a variety of general management techniques used here, the most common of which are brainstorming and lateral thinking.

Expert judgment – Expert judgment was described in Section 4.2: Initiating a Project .

Outputs from Scope Planning

Scope statement – The scope statement provides a documented basis for making future project decisions and for confirming or developing a common understanding of project scope among the stakeholders. As the project progresses, the scope statement may need to be revised or refined to reflect changes to the scope of the project. The scope statement should include, either directly or by reference to other documents:

- □ *Project justification* The business need that the project was undertaken to address
- □ *Project product* A brief summary of the product description
- □ *Project deliverables* A list of the summary-level sub-products whose full and satisfactory delivery marks completion of the project; for example, the major deliverables for a software development project might include the working computer code, a user manual, and an interactive tutorial. When known, exclusions should be identified, but anything not explicitly included is implicitly excluded.
- *Project objectives* The quantifiable criteria that must be met for the project to be considered successful; must include at least cost, schedule, and quality measures. Project objectives should have an attribute (cost), a yardstick (U.S. dollars), and an absolute or relative value (less than 1.5 million). Un-quantified objectives (customer satisfaction) entail high risk.

Supporting detail – Supporting detail for the scope statement should be documented and organized for easy use and should always include all identified assumptions and constraints.

Scope management plan – This document describes how project scope will be managed and how scope changes will be integrated into the project. It should also include an assessment of the expected stability of the project scope—that is, how likely is it to change, how frequently, and by how much. The scope management plan should also include a clear description of how scope changes will be identified and classified. This is particularly difficult, and therefore absolutely essential, when the product characteristics are still being elaborated.

A scope management plan may be formal or informal, highly detailed or broadly framed, depending on the needs of the project. It is a part of the overall project plan.

4.4 Scope Definition

Scope definition involves subdividing the major project deliverables identified in the scope statement into smaller, more manageable components to:

 $\hfill\square$ Improve the accuracy of cost, time, and resource estimates

- Define a baseline for performance measurement and control
- □ Facilitate clear responsibility assignments

Proper scope definition is critical to project success. Poor scope definition leads to higher costs because of the inevitable changes (scope creep), which disrupt project efficiency, increase project time, and lower the productivity and morale of the project team.

Inputs to Scope Definition

Scope statement

Constraints – When a project is done under contract, the constraints defined by contractual provisions are often important considerations during scope definition.

Assumptions

Other planning outputs – The outputs of the processes in other knowledge areas should be reviewed for possible impact on project scope definition.

Historical information – Historical information about previous projects should be considered during scope definition. Information about errors and omissions on previous projects should be especially useful.

Tools and Techniques for Scope Definition

Work breakdown structure templates – A work breakdown structure (WBS) from a previous project can often be used as a template for a new project. Although each project is unique, WBSs can often be reused since most projects will resemble previous projects within a given organization with similar project lifecycles and similar deliverables required from each phase.

Decomposition – Decomposition involves subdividing the major project deliverables into smaller, more manageable components until the deliverables are defined in sufficient detail to support future project activities (planning, executing, controlling, and closing). Decomposition involves the following major steps:

- 1 *Identify the major elements of the project* In general, the major elements will be the project deliverables and project management. However, the major elements should always be defined in terms of how the project will actually be managed.
- 2 Decide if adequate cost and duration estimates can be developed at this level of detail for each element The meaning of "adequate" may change over the course of the project; decomposition of a deliverable that will be produced far in the future may not be possible. For each element, proceed to Step 4 if there is adequate detail and to Step 3 if there is not, as different elements may have differing levels of decomposition.
- 3 *Identify constituent elements of the deliverable* Constituent elements should be described in terms of tangible, verifiable results in order to facilitate performance measurements. As with the major elements, the constituent elements should be defined in terms of how the work of the project will actually be accomplished. Tangible, verifiable results can include services as well as products. For example, *status reporting* could be described as *weekly status report* s. Repeat Step 2 on each constituent element.
- 4 Verify the correctness of the decomposition :
 - □ Are the lower-level items both necessary and sufficient for completion of the item decomposed? If not, the constituent elements must be modified—added to, deleted from, or redefined.
 - □ Is each item clearly and completely defined? If not, the descriptions must be revised or expanded.
 - □ Can each item be appropriately scheduled? Budgeted? Assigned to a specific team or person who will accept responsibility for satisfactory completion of the item? If not, revisions are needed to provide adequate management control.

Outputs from Scope Definition

Work breakdown structure – A work breakdown structure (WBS) is a deliverable-oriented grouping of project elements that organizes and defines the total scope of the project; work not in the WBS is outside the

scope of the project. As with the scope statement, the WBS is often used to develop or confirm a common understanding of project scope. Each descending level represents an increasingly detailed description of the project elements.

A WBS is normally presented in chart form. However, the WBS should not be confused with the method of presentation; drawing an unstructured activity list in chart form does not make it a WBS.

Each item in the WBS is generally assigned a unique identifier. These identifiers are often known collectively as the *code* [DC6] *of account* s. The items at the lowest level of the WBS are often referred to as *work* packages[DC7]. These work packages may be further broken down in the activity definition process.

4.5 **Scope Verification**

Scope verification is the process of formalizing acceptance of the project scope by the stakeholders (sponsor, client, customer, etc.). It requires reviewing work products and results to ensure that all were completed correctly and satisfactorily. If the project is terminated early, the scope verification process should establish and document the level and extent of completion.

Scope verification differs from quality control in that it is primarily concerned with acceptance of the work results, while quality control is primarily concerned with the correctness of the work results.

Inputs to Scope Verification

Work results – Assessments such as which deliverables have been fully or partially completed and what costs have been incurred or committed; work results are an output of project plan execution.

Product Documentation – Documents produced to describe the project's products must be available for review; the terms used to describe this documentation (plans, specifications, technical documentation, drawings, etc.) vary by application area.

Tools and Techniques for Scope Verification

Inspection – Inspection includes activities such as measuring, examining, and testing undertaken to determine whether results conform to requirements. Inspections are variously called reviews, product reviews, audits, and walk-throughs.

Outputs from Scope Verification

Formal Acceptance – Documentation that the client or sponsor has accepted the product of the project or phase must be prepared and distributed.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

1 -5. Match the project definition document name listed in the left column of the table below, to the correct description from the right column by entering the letter that the name corresponds to in the blank line. NOTE: One answer applies to two of the questions.

1. Business Plan	A. Used between two separate firms, such as a manufacturer and a consulting company, to sell a project to a company
2. Proposal	
3. Statement of Work	B. Another term used for a Statement of Work
4. Scope of Work	C. Often used to gain support & approval for

	internal company projects
5. Project Charter	D. The formal attachment or appendix to the standard terms and conditions of a contract that describes the detailed approach for performing the project.

6. What sections does a project definition document usually contain?

- 7. Define the term "project objectives"
- 8. Which of the following are clear, measurable statements defining the purpose of the project?
 - A. Executive Summary
 - B. Objectives
 - C. Assumptions
 - D. None of the above
- 9. What are deliverables guidelines?
- 10. Fill is the blank: The summary of the project work plan is the ______.
- 11. Which section of the project definition document can you tell when each major phase are done?
- 12. Fill in the blank: A solid completion statement will tie the ______ and their ______ together in a logical way.
- 13. A project charter says, "The goal of this project is to network all facilities in Delaware." What is a potential issue with this charter, and how can it be improved?

14. Describe what is meant by "backing into the schedule"?

15. What are the four processes involved in the overall project definition as identified by the PMBOK Guide?

- 16. True or false: Some types of projects are initiated informally, and a limited amount of work may be done to get the approvals needed for formal initiation.
- 17. -28. Fill in the Inputs, Tools and Techniques, and Outputs for each of the phases below.

Initiation
Inputs:
Tools and Techniques:
Outputs:
Scope Planning
Inputs:
Tools and Techniques:
Outputs:
Scope Definition
Inputs:
Tools and Techniques:
Outputs:
Scope Verification
Inputs:
Tools and Techniques:
Outputs:



chapter 5 **Defining Your Project Using Microsoft Project** 2019

- Creating a New Project
- Providing Project Information
- Setting File Properties
- Setting Local Calendar Information
- Project Definition Review Exercise



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to perform the following Microsoft Project 2019 functions:

- Start a new project from scratch or from a template
- Create a new project from an Excel workbook
- Provide project information, such as project start and default scheduling constraint
- Identify and update file properties
- Set up a project calendar

P roject Definition is the process of documenting the key scope parameters of the project. Within Microsoft Project 2019, project definition involves defining details about the developing project plan, such as the start (or finish) date of the project and the available dates and times for project work.

5.1 Creating a New Project

There are several methods of creating a new project in Microsoft Project Professional:

- □ Creating a new blank project
- □ Creating a new project based on an existing project
- □ Creating a project based on an existing project template
- □ Creating a new project from an Excel workbook
- □ Creating a new project from a SharePoint tasks list

Blank Project

1

2

To create a new blank project:

Open Microsoft Project 2019 and, from the introductory screen, select **Blank Projec** t. Alternatively, if Microsoft Project is already open, from the **File** tab select **New** and then click **Blank Projec** t.

Figure 57.

Microsoft Project introductory screen (blank project circled in black)

\bigcirc			
Project	And to part the same		Star wini get the reset and of Othin
Record Methods and a stress Instrument Andrews		đ	
March August (1995) States of August (1995) March August (1995) March August (1995) August (1995) Au	Get Started	TEND	

From the *Fil e* tab, select *Option s* to see the **Project Option s** dialog box.

Figure 58.

	Project Cutlors		17040
Project Option s dialog box	Constant Deploy In which Footbas Seen Footbas Seen Footbas Constant Constan	None of options for working with Project electron options in a project (<u>Same trainer decomptions on Secondige</u>) frains of game (<u>Same trainer decomptions on Secondige</u>) of game (<u>Same trainer</u>) address one cope of Microsoft Office more (<u>Same trainer</u>) address one cope of Microsoft Office (<u>Same trainer</u>) (<u>Same trainer</u>)	

3

In the sidebar, click *Sav e* . Your screen will resemble the following:

1

Figure 59.

S	av e	tab in
Р	roject	Option
s	dialo	g

Galanti Glapho	Cutaman too project are used	
Grades.	Taxes projects	
Postay	Jacobie a des formais Project Conput 4	
iast.	Ballad Technology (Cherristanian) Becomme	pare.
Galopeipe Advanced Contrologic Robust Galo V Assess Tracker Addres Track Season	Bytele according to the general of the second	
	Taxe transform	
	Seturbacond page in all the	214A
	Galler .	
	Letter test (mil) Million	(

- 4 By default, Microsoft Project 2019 saves local project files in the *.mpp format. If you prefer a different format, click the down arrow in the first dropdown box to see other available options.
- 5 Another item you can change is where files are stored. To do so, use the *Brows e* buttor by the *Default File locatio n* field and select where you would like project files to be stored by default. For the purposes of this course, browse to your exercise directory. Click *O K*.
- 6 From the *Fil e* menu, click *Sav e* and save your project to your exercise directory as **SampleProject.mpp** [JG8].

New from Existing Project

This exercise uses the file **Navigation.mp** \mathbf{p} . You do not need to open this file prior to beginning this exercise.

At times you might want to build a project similar to a previous one, since it might be quicker to simply edit the existing project to meet your needs rather than creating a new project from scratch.

1 To do so, from the initial Microsoft Project 2019 page, click *New from existing projec t*. Alternatively, if Microsoft Project is already open, from the *Fil e* tab select *New* and then click *New from existing projec t*. Either way, you will see the **New from Existing Projec t** dialog box:

Figure 60.

New From Existing Projec t dialog box

🗊 Tana Taka yi Asan	<u></u>
😋 💭 🖉 📕 🖉 Viktoretk Project (P36) 🔸 Candos Fike 🔸 Arg	eri2018-Landou - 4 Steven Protect/2018-Departure - P
Dense - New Jakes	÷• †1 0
 Vice search Project (200) Rando can and (100 hadrang) Sock Canar Danto Tike Ranzo Tike Ranzo	DATA Ilbridry Inner In Inker T PreciDe Boxers Tarr: Clar: Cl
f a yere	 Projecte (Cropp)
	tools - Open - Unect

2 Select **Navigation.mp p** and click **Ope n** . **Navigation.mp p** will open in Microsoft Project.

E			in Cost for	3					Tropo	1749	-	
	-	Contraction of the second s	10.00					-				
1		and and a second se			1.32	21	120		-			
		The form +	all a damage		10000	-	1		1.411	**		1
		+ Instance Program Prays	di Lange				12.		_			1
	- 22	E-content or other	100.0000		100		12.4	-	_			1
	1.5	a Define Remotentierte	15.000					_				1
	12	Carling and residences	1.000	100	- 30							
	1.	Tarline collection and presidents	12004	100	- 2							
	12	Jacker and an experimental	Line	100	ide:							
	1	Daths any so on the sponteers.	2 (2+1	100	100							
	1	Ealing spanific hypothermatic	1.04	24	28							
	1	Define take and the menagement approach	4-date	101	·			_	_			•
1	14	De-Mic phant pen	1 must		100					Marine L	-	
3	10	River to be download with the of	1.000		1.00				10.00	av block	-	í,

3

I

From the *Fil e* menu click *Sav e* to see the **Save A s** dialog box, and save your project **Navigation2.mp p**. Notice the new project name at the top of your screen:

Figure 62. After changing to Navigation2.mpp

Figure 61. Navigation.mp p before saving as a new

project

		0-10-0			+		
-	tudi Asserve Napot Prijett Vew	Taimai	Q İ	neoge neoge serves	-	These Parts	
		1143994	(tel:		_		_
	hast farm			1000 x 7 8	in N	January 27	lana.
	4 targenet Project Plan	\$2.5 days	1(22	4/92	-	_	_
	# Concept	125-days	7.01	27	-		_
1	System surter: system	2.044	- 411	4.08			5-267
	e Defau Reguerminante	T.S. skyn	11.29	39			
- 4	Earthal seat reputrientents	5.090	129	307.			
	Saline oppart requirements	35.000	101	24			

4

1

Close Navigation2.mp p .

Project Templates

You can also create projects based on an existing project template:

To do so, click *File:Ne w* and select one of the existing templates :

Figure 63.

Select a template or search for online templates

٠.			half-barthase		* - * * met [1
-	New				
	instruction and		1		
1111				-	Get Started
		TUN		-Check	E M
	East			Print and	

2 If you don't see a template that meets your needs, use the search bar toward the top of the screen (circled in black in the above figure) to find additional templates online.

Excel Workbooks

1

2

3

In much the same way as the previous examples, you can also create new projects based on existing Excel task lists:

To do so, select *New from Excel workboo k* from the Microsoft Project introductory page, or access this selection from the *File:Ne w* menu.



workbook



In the **Ope n** dialog box, navigate to the Excel file which your new project is to be base on. For this example, navigate to **TaskList.xls x** and click **Ope n**. You will see the first scree of the **Import Wizar d** :

Figure 65.

Excel Import Wizard

et Ward	
	manose to the Popul Inpod Wined. No wage a advantaging maps the second table to appropriate term in Popul, and their allow protocolly or add the result. CASI, from the continues

Click *Nex t*, ensure *New Map* is selected, and click *Nex t* again. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 66.

Excel Import Wizard – Import Mode

Figure 67.

Excel Import Wizard – Map Options 4

Preserve Westor Villeg Dations		and the second
	General Transforms of solar you want to any or Second Wardpers of project information goes used to expe- test information, second to attenuation, or attenuation or increased as equivalent.	
09	(1940) (1940) (1947) (1	-

5 For this example we'll be importing only tasks, so select *Task s* in the first section and deselect *Import includes header s* in the second section. Click *Nex t* to see the **Task Mappir g** dialog:

Select *As a new projec t* and click *Nex t* again to see the following screen:

Figure 68. Excel **Import**

Wizard – Task Mapping

There are not the shared shared			
Treed)	(*)		
really or sold how prevent to	mag the data.		
Prose Burgi Puris	Ter Manual Prepai hata	Data Oper	Ξ.
1	and manual li	Det	1
			12
-			
Contract of the second	Dest fine Dests fine		
0.04 M	 AND CONTRACT AND CONTRACT 		
Desized in the Desized			
Trainin Excel			
Perange Book			
Excel Protect Project Freenet			

- 6 In the **Task Mappin g** dialog, in the **Source worksheet name** section, select **Sheet 1**.
- 7 Because you are importing a simple list of tasks, in the *Verify or edit how you want to map the dat a* section, under *To: Microsoft Project Fiel d*, use the dropdown arrow to select *Nam e*.
- 8
- Click *Finis h*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 69.

Imported project

	0	Tauk Mode +	iane Nama 🔶 👻	Distor .	 4	nth	-	Prebiecescore		T
1		南	Lask Name						-	
4		19	Planning the Move							1
π.		29	Propose move							
4		27	Determine Regurate							
2		to	Write proposal							
h		11	Administrative revie							
1		17	Proposal approved							
\overline{h}		m	Select Site							
5		h	Meet with realtor							
1		17	Review possible site							
51		AT.	Wisil sites	1						
22		A	Finalize selection							

9

Your Excel task list has now become a project. Close your new project without saving

SharePoint Tasks List

it.

In much the same way as the previous examples, you can also create new projects based on existing SharePoint tasks lists. Note: A SharePoint tasks list consists of a collection of tasks. Often SharePoint is used to create a preliminary tasks list that eventually becomes the core structure of a project.

1 To do so, select *New from SharePoint Tasks Lis t* from the Microsoft Project introductory page, or access this selection from the *File:Ne w* menu. You will see the **Import** from SharePoint Sit e dialog box:

Figure 70.	Import from SharePoint Site	-
- 8	Import from this SharePoint sta	e
Import from SharePoint Sit	SteuRL	
e dialog box	Check Address	
		+
	(i)	ancel

4

2 Enter the SharePoint site's URL, click *Check Addres s* to confirm the URL is entered accurately, and in the *Tasks Lis t* section select the name of the SharePoint tasks list you'd like to base your project upon.



Click **O** *K* . Your SharePoint tasks list has now become a project:

Close your new project without saving it.

Providing Project Information 5.2

The **Project Informatio n** dialog box is where Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to set the scheduling and

calendar methods to be used on your project. This information is necessary to allow the scheduling engine of Microsoft Project 2019 to do its job. When you create a new project from scratch, the **Project Informatio n** dialog box can be automatically activated.

- □ This exercise uses the file **SampleProject.mp p** , which you created earlier in this section. Launch Microsoft Project 2019 without connecting to Project Server, and open this project from the Exercise Directory before beginning, or open **SampleProject_Inst1.mp p** .
 - From **Project:Propertie** s, click the **Project Informatio** n icon [$|\bullet|$] to access the **Project Informatio** n dialog box for **SampleProject.mp** p.



1

Change the value entered in the *Start date* : field to today's date. The default is the date that the project is created. New tasks will use the start date specified here if no predecessors or constraints exist.

The *Schedule fro m* field indicates the scheduling method that Microsoft Project 2019 will apply to your project plan. Two options are available:

- 1 *Project Start Date* (default) This option indicates that the project is scheduled from the start date. When it is selected, the *Finish Dat e* field is automatically deactivated; you cannot enter a finish date and must instead allow Microsoft Project to calculate it.
- 2 *Project Finish Date* This option indicates that the project is scheduled from the finish date. When this option is selected, the *Start Date* field is automatically deactivated; you must allow Microsoft Project to calculate the start date. Though building a schedule back-to-front is a reasonable behavior, many people find it difficult, so the best practice may be to begin by scheduling from a start date and change to finish date scheduling later in the process.

	The recommended approach we will follow in this course is to schedule projects from a selected start date. Microsoft Project 2019 does not permit you to set both a start and finish date at the project level, but you can set a targeted finish date at the task level when you set task constraints, which is covered in a later lesson.
NOTE	If you choose to use the <i>backwards scheduling</i> technique, select Project Finish Dat e from the Schedule fro m dropdown list. Then, instead of selecting a project start date, select a project finish date from the dropdown calendar.

The *Status Dat e* field enables you to specify the date that Microsoft Project 2019 should use to perform earned value calculations, identify the complete-through date in the **Update Projec t** dialog box, and place progress lines on the Gantt Chart. If you leave the status date as "NA" (default), Microsoft Project uses the current date as the status date.

The Calendar field indicates the calendar you want to use as the base calendar for your project. The base calendar specifies when project work is possible.

There are three pre-defined calendars available in Microsoft Project 2019 when using the Computer

Profile:

Calendar	Description
Standard	The Standard calendar is the base calendar that is used as the default for project, resource, and task calendars. It reflects a traditional work schedule: Monday through Friday, 8:00 A.M. to 5:00 P.M., with an hour off for break.
24-Hours	The 24-Hours calendar does not allow for any nonworking time in the project schedule. The 24-Hours calendar is ideal for when tasks and resources are scheduled for different shifts around the clock, or when certain material resources (e.g. computer equipment, machinery) can work on tasks continuously.
Night Shift	The Night Shift calendar reflects the "graveyard shift" schedule of Monday night through Saturday morning, 11:00 P.M. to 8:00 A.M., with an hour of nonworking time for break.

When connected to Project Server, base calendars must be defined at the enterprise level (that is, in Project Server) by the Project Server administrator to maintain consistency across all enterprise projects. The Project Server administrator can define as many base calendars as needed for enterprise projects.

There is an option to allow individual projects to use their own local base calendars, rather than a consistent set of enterprise calendars, but it must be activated by the Project Server administrator.

The *Priorit y* field indicates the order in which tasks will be delayed when you level the resources across multiple projects. Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to assign a priority number between 0 and 1000 to a project. By entering "1000" in this field, you are designating the current project as having the highest priority of all of your projects. In practical terms, that means its schedule will be unaffected if you level resources across projects.

5.3 Setting File Properties

The calendar and scheduling method are properties of the project that are necessary for the scheduling engine of Microsoft Project 2019 to do its job. But you also can provide information about the project file, such as a title that can be different from the file name. This information is then available to include in the project plan itself or in headers and footers of printed information.

The **File Propertie s** dialog box contains several tabs of information:

- **General Tab** Provides information on the file that stores the project plan
- □ **Summary Tab** Provides fields to further describe the project
- □ **Statistics Tab** Provides statistics about your work on the project file
- □ **Contents Tab** Provides current project schedule statistics
- □ **Custom Tab** Provides additional properties you can add to the file

The **File Propertie s** dialog box cannot be automated like the **Project Informatio n** dialog box. Users have to remember to open it to provide or modify information about the file.

This exercise continues to use the file **SampleProject.mp p** (or **SampleProject_Inst1.mp p**).

1 Now that you have chosen start date scheduling and set the start date for your project, select *Advanced Propertie s*, which is found under *File:Inf o* : *Project Informatio n*. You will be presented with the following screen (note the *Summar y* tab is selected by default).

	Lang Pro Arrest, Pro Ar Sola	++ + · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Figure 73.		
Advanced properties	Infa	
+ Properties dialog	sarshfrawa	
box	2-52% CReater Land R. P. South Rev. P. Lost 7 Med. 2014 August March 2012	Petra
	B 	The state of the sector
	ing Counterstand	Market States
	jame	Antonia a L

Sector Sector	Contract Designed on	83 C
nie .	veroanças	
te,14		
10	Not Could	
de eyes		
4 mm		
Acres		
-		
Janni KR		

- 2 In the *Titl e* field, overwrite *SampleProject.mpp* with *Office Relocation Project*. This will appe as the Project Summary Task (Task ID 0).
- 3 In the *Autho r* and *Manage r* fields, key in your name.
- 4 In the *Compan y* field, key in the name of your company.
- 5 In the *Comment s* field, key in "This is the preliminary plan for moving the local office "

The information in the upper portion of the tab—(project) title, subject, author, (project) manager, and company name—can then be included in reports as header or footer text. The *Subject*, *Category*, and *Keywords* fields are most often used to enhance search capability. The free-form text box for additional comments will appear as a task note associated with the project summary task (title). The hyperlink base can be used to enter the file path to the directory where your project files are located, but it need not be filled in.

The *Save preview pictur e* option allows a thumbnail view of the project Gantt Chart to appear in the lower left-hand corner of selected directory views. It is generally not needed.

Your screen will resemble the following:

Marcal Tempo Hank Darish Arris Mr. Mr. Marcal States on occit Marcal States occit <t< td=""></t<>

7

6 Click OK.

Although we provided a user-friendly title for the project, making it appear in the Gantt Chart can be confusing since Microsoft Project itself does not use the term "title." To view the title of your project in the Gantt Chart:

From *File:Option s* select *Advance d* in the sidebar. Scroll down to *Display options fo this projec t* and check *Show project summary tas k*, as shown in the following figure:

Figure 75.

Showing the *Project* Summary task (Task 0)

8

9

Service	Displayor	have for this ,	acijesti 🔂 🗆	opiežajstrop	к. т.	
III aly	10.00-	17.7	7	101-111	44.	Ŧ
ochocula.	Hour	(Hr)	-1	Monte	19.00	3 2
Search as	Q8.1	dit.	-	2447	2	+
- age	- 17 4et i	services a	6.4			
Language	2.245	begiest Two A	ar, mak			
A fermine	[2]10.4-	(**)***	1.0			
diameters.	Trate of	igeles - 🔔	4	followed	No. of Marcola	a: 🚖 🔊

Click the *O K* button. The title you entered in the **File Propertie s** dialog box will be shown as Task 0 in the *Task Nam e* field. If no title is entered, the file name is used by default. You can enter your own text in the project summary task name as well, and it will change the title. Your screen will resemble the following:



Figure 77. Task note attached to the project summary task [title] Indicator [1] column. Place your mouse pointer over the *Not e* icon to read it. Your screen will resemble the following:

Along with the title, the row 0 of Task Name contains a Note icon [🦻] in the

 Task Mode - Task Name
 Notes: This is the preliminary plan for moving the Newark office'

These notes are intended as internal reminders for the project manager and are not visible by default except through Microsoft Project. They can also be read by navigating to *Task:Propertie s* and selecting the *Information* [

10 Save your project.

5.4 Setting Local Calendar Information

Calendar Options

In addition to the project calendar, Microsoft Project 2019 also has calendar options—such as default start time and hours per day—that are used to assign dates to tasks when no date or time is specified. For example, if the first task is scheduled using the project start time, the task will be scheduled to start at the default start time of 8:00 AM unless otherwise specified. If changes are made to the default calendar options, the base calendar should be updated with those changes. If the calendar options and the base calendar do not display the same basic information, tasks and resource assignments may conflict.

- □ This exercise uses the file **SampleProject.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **SampleProject_Inst2.mp p** .
 - 1 From *File:Option s* select *Schedul e* from the **Project Option s** dialog box. Your scre will resemble the following:

Figure 78. Schedul e under Project Options

herest .	The same address and the same	and the second se
Pages .		
the second s	the street with the street of	service and a service of the
-	print of the state	
	Desciption 10107 -	Proprieta de conserva la la la conserva de la conserva de la la conserva de conserva de la conserva de la conserva de la la conserva de la conserva de la conserva de la conserva la conserva de la conserva de la conserva de la conserva de la la conserva de la conserva de l
And and the second second	Secondaria di State	
	Annual Contraction of the International Contractional Contractionae Contractionae Contractionae C	
	R Reprint and an Print	68 -
	Company to many - R	In an inclusion of the party of
	Der felt unter	
	Andreast and a state of the sta	The second second second second second
	17 general market o record fails 17	If production in the second se

The *Hours per da* y, *Hours per wee* k, and *Days per mont* h values are essentially conversion factors which allow Microsoft Project to accept durations in values other than days and still create an accurate schedule.

2 Click *Cance l* .

Adding a Holiday to the Project Base Calendar

Before you begin adding tasks and resources to your project, it is important to make sure the project base calendar includes information such as company holidays and other non-working times.

When you turn your project into an enterprise project by publishing it to Project Server, you will have to use an enterprise base calendar created by the Project Server administrator. The administrator will then presumably add any company holidays to the enterprise standard calendar.

Let's say that the second Monday in your project has been declared a national holiday, Project Management Day, and everyone will be off work. To inform Microsoft Project about this non-working day, we will have to modify the standard calendar we applied to **SampleProject.mp p**.

3 From *Project:Propertie s* click the *Change Working Time* icon [

Change Working Tim e dialog box ^{bogen de Verdez}	1000
e dialog box	- 410
Range von Ariek Arieka	tar y

4

Click the appropriate date for the second Monday of your project. On the *Exception s* tab, enter "Project Management Day" in the first row and press Ta b. The following example uses March 25 as the exception.

Figure 80. New holiday added

and provide the				
garner Barner by	154min		Like	
ere Merel Colors	de de .			
	The second second		action and the	and where the
Lange and	Late Lat	213		
	Parket	N 01 3	C. and the second	
Comments.	34.5	2444	Discise 7	
A conservation of	12 13	11.16.15.16	Provide State	L couleille
a Roman da	10 12 13	3303		
All spinster	100	1 11 11 W		
AT management and	1	- AC A 98	5	
	101 1			
ALL MARKEN AND AND A				4
Low.		1000	1965	Delet-
Acta in a grant of	4	K.S.C.K		1.2
An Alicon		Research	100000	
			decoursed.	
		a constraint of the	A COMPANY	
		<u> </u>	ļ	

If Project Management Day were to be an annual holiday, the *Details*... button would allow you to set a recurrence pattern for this exception to the standard calendar. Clicking on *Details* ... leads to the following dialog box:

	Datate for Propert Managagar and Day	
Figure 81.	bet working there has there acception.	
Exception <i>Details</i>	Normanian Normanian	
	Nampe of some nerves	
	gas standichich + # brigater 1 10 accorners	
	C belar (Maj 2010)	
	E Mag Canal	3
	Con Cine	3

5 Click *Cance l* to close the **Detail s** dialog box. Then, click *O K* in the **Change Workii Tim e** dialog box. S ave [JG9] and close your project.

5.5 **Project Definition Review Exercise**

This review exercise will reinforce the project definition process covered in this chapter.

- 1 Open Microsoft Project 2019 without connecting to Project Server.
- 2 From *File:Ne w* select *Blank Projec t* .
- 3 Ensure that you are scheduling from the project start date and make the project start date "June 3."
- 4 Enter a project title of "Implement Microsoft Project 2019."
- 5 Identify yourself as the author and project manager.
- 6 Mark the following days as holidays in the standard calendar: Independence Day (July 4 of the current year), Labor Day (September 2 of the current year), Thanksgiving (November 28 and 29 of the current year), and Christmas (December 25 of the current year).
- 7 Save your project as **DefinitionReview.mp p** .



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

- 1. How can you change the default location where files are saved?
- 2. Fill in the blank: You can create new projects based on existing Excel ______ lists.
- 3. Fill in the blank: The ______ dialog box is where Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to set the scheduling and calendar methods to be used on your project.
- 4. Fill in the blank: The ______ field indicates the scheduling method that Microsoft Project 2019 will apply to your project plan.
- 5. Which of the following is NOT an option in the Schedule form field?
 - a. Project Start Date
 - b. Project Finish Date
 - c. Current Date
 - d. None of the above
- 6. What does the *Status Dat e* field enable?

- 7. What are the three pre-defined calendars available in Microsoft Project 2019 when using the Computer Profile?
- 8. How many base calendars can the Project Server administrator define?
 - a. 1
 - b. 2
 - c. 3
 - d. As many as needed for enterprise projects.
- 9. Fill in the blank: The ______ field indicates the order in which tasks will be delayed when you level the resources across multiple projects.
- 10. Before you begin adding tasks and resources to your project, it is important to make sure the project base calendar includes what information?
- 11. Fill in the blank: In order to set the project working time and non-working time you use

_____ feature.

12. What is the *Exception s* tab used for in the **Change Working Tim e** dialog box?







part

III

Project Task Planning

- **6** Developing a Work Breakdown Structure
- **7** Building a WBS with Microsoft Project 2019

- Managing Project Resources and Assignments
- Using Microsoft Project 2019 to Optimize the Plan



chapter 6

Developing a Work Breakdown Structure

- Creating a Project Work Plan
- Determining the Logical Relationship of Tasks in Your WBS
- Resource Planning and Acquisition
- Team Development
- Cost Estimating and Budgeting



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Describe the best practices for building a project schedule
- Understand the concept of using an organizing principle for developing the Work Breakdown Structure
- Describe the types of task dependencies
- Define the critical path and understand why it is important to project planning
- Understand effort versus duration
- Be familiar with the various types of resources that are typically assigned to projects, including non-human and material resources
- Define an optimized project plan
- Describe why baselines are important to project tracking
- Understand the basic principles for cost estimating and budgeting
- Become familiar with the PMBOK concepts of resource planning, staff acquisition, and team development

R eal project planning begins with a work breakdown structure (WBS), which is the formal project management term for a set of tasks that are configured into an outline structure, with phases at the highest level and detailed tasks at the lowest level. From there, the WBS can be expanded into a project schedule and used to guide resource assignments.

This chapter will discuss the process of building a complete project work plan, beginning with a list of tasks.

6.1 Creating a Project Work Plan

Project Planning Summary

Before beginning a detailed discussion of developing a project work plan, consider the following questions that form a logical summary of the process:

- □ What is the primary goal? What is the main product or outcome of this project?
- □ What are the sub-goals? What are the intermediate steps and deliverables needed to achieve the primary goal?
- □ How are we going to organize the project? Do we expect that there will be multiple remote teams with distinct deliverables that will be handed off between teams? Or will there be close knit groups collaborating on a sequence of joint deliverables?
- □ What are the detailed activities? What more detailed tasks are needed to achieve the sub-goals?
- □ In what order do the detailed activities have to be done? What is the necessary sequence of the tasks?
- □ What kind of tasks are they? What determines how much time or effort they take?
- □ What skills are needed to do the tasks? What attributes do the resources need to have? Who are the named resources who actually will perform the work?
- □ How big are the tasks? What are our estimates of how much time or effort each one takes?
- □ When will the work be done? What does the schedule look like?
- □ Who will actually do the work, and when?

Referencing the Project Definition Document to Start Your Work Plan

Much of the information from the project definition document can be used as reference to start the work

plan.

- □ Identify all project deliverables and determine how they will be documented.
- \Box Refer to your methodology.
- □ Make sure the template suits your situation.
- \Box Decide if the detail for the summary schedule is appropriate.
- Determine how the project budget was developed; validate it.

In order to build a plan, the project manager needs to know what deliverables have been designated for the project. This information can be found in the definition document created in the concept phase.

Methodologies and Planning

Many methodologies are accompanied by suggested work plans that have been built based upon successful projects that used the work plan. These work plan templates are a valuable source of information that can be used by the project manager in building the work plan.

A word of caution: Work plan templates sometimes contain hundreds, or even thousands, of pre-defined tasks. It is important that you validate these work plan templates even though it is tempting to think that a plan with that much detail already loaded must be right.

Determining How the SOW Summary Schedule was Built

If the SOW contains a summary schedule, you might assume that a detailed work plan must have been built to support the summary schedule. If one has been built, then you already have a good starting point and may only need to validate what was already created.

The same holds true for the budget. As you may recall from the definition process, the project budget should be built from the detailed work plan, which states the total resource labor hours. Again, you should already have a good starting point for the plan.

Starting a Plan with a New Task Outline

If there is no methodology and no previous work plan that has been converted to a template, you may have to start with the proverbial "blank sheet of paper." In the following sections, we will consider what processes and tools have been suggested to support this process.

Defining Activities

Activity definition involves identifying and documenting the specific activities that must be performed to produce the deliverables and sub-deliverables identified in the definition document. Ideally, the project manager will have the support of the project team throughout this process, but in many organizations the project team is not identified until activity definition is complete.

To start activity definition, the project manager should consider four major items:

Definition document – The project justification and the project objectives contained in the scope statement of the definition document are necessary inputs to the process.

Historical information – The activities required on previous similar projects can provide insight into the activities needed in this project.

Constraints – The factors that will limit the project team's options, such as a predetermined finish date or a firm budget limit, must be considered.

High-level work breakdown structure – A work breakdown structure at the phase level may be available to guide activity definition.

Creating a Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) for Deliverables

The process of building the WBS starts by clustering tasks around logical groupings, such as related activities (e.g. design, programming, testing), related geographies (e.g. East coast, Midwest, West coast sites), or functions (e.g. accounting, human resources, shipping).

In the absence of a methodology that provides a template to guide activity definition, this can be as much art as science. The templates installed with Microsoft Project 2019 can be a useful source of insight into

the options available.

A graphical representation of the WBS might look a lot like a family tree:



Once you've clustered the tasks into logical groupings, you need to decide if the WBS contains the appropriate level of detail. A plan with three phases that contain 1,000 hours each is not enough detail. However, if you loaded every step in a procedure into your work plan, this would probably be too much detail (for example a plan that contains 3,000 tasks, each documenting one hour of effort).

So what's the difference between a methodology procedure step and a task? Tasks are estimated, are scheduled, and have resources assigned. You wouldn't want to go through all that effort for a procedure step. It's not worth it. What we need are some rules of thumb for determining the right amount of detail.

Completing the WBS

The *Rule* [DC10] *of 80* is one way to test whether the WBS contains enough detail. Donald Plummer writes in <u>Productivity Management</u>, "The 80-hour rule stipulates that you break a project into tasks of 80 hours or less, each of which must result in a tangible product or deliverable."

This rule is just a guideline. You have to decide what the right level of detail is for your project. A small network upgrade project that occurs over a weekend might contain 50 tasks that each requires 30-60 minutes of effort. Early software developers used the guideline that tasks should be greater than 4 hours of effort and less than 40 hours of effort.

Another useful approach is to ask if you have enough detail to be able to manage effectively. The longer the task, the more you will have to rely on the progress reports of the resource assigned to it and the harder it will be to ask probing questions about their progress. When you think you have enough detail, you should refer to the list of deliverables to be certain that tasks exist to build each of the deliverables. This is a good preliminary test of completeness, but it is still possible to overlook some important activities.

Working with Tasks that Are Not Deliverables Related

If you look only at the list of deliverables to build the WBS, there are some tasks you may miss. These are called *scaffolding tasks* [DC11], a term from the construction management industry. The scaffolding is used to put up the building, but when the building is delivered the scaffolding is gone.

Scaffolding tasks fall into three general categories:

- 1 **Support tasks** Such as writing the program used for a one-time database conversion; the database gets converted, but the program to convert it does not get delivered; other examples include: configuring a test environment or converting database records to a new format.
- 2 **Project management tasks** Such as the processes of tracking, analysis, and scope management; such tasks *do not* produce project deliverables, but still need to be included in th plan.

3 **Administrative tasks** – Such as filing and copying; the deliverables guidelines in the SOW may not be any help in reminding you to include administrative tasks in the plan, but they are important enough to include; other examples include: printing, non-project meetings, and other non-project activities that impact the schedule.

Scaffolding tasks can take a significant amount of effort, so it is important they be uncovered through some means other than the deliverables list.

Using the Gantt Chart with the WBS

The Gantt Chart is a visible representation of the project schedule. Each task represents a row on the chart accompanied by a bar, which is drawn to represent the start and finish date of the task. The Gantt Chart provides an excellent graphical representation of the WBS.

	Sec. Sec.	and a local sector	64 T 1	La a a a a a	TINT STATES
	+ instanti statuli an	Gu 80y8	100	1921	
	4 4 Notive)		259	(1)	
- 15	 Call and the lowers 	1.465	*55.	···· passassassa	And An Antipage Street Contraction Contraction
	 A Man Base and the 	78.04	100	131	
	1 Collection could that	1644	12	13	Survey and the second state of the second state
	La se cubri, pure este	(1444	155	8.2	Sanaanaanaanaanaanaanaanaanaanaanaan
	CONTRACTOR AND A STREET	- Age	1.00	12.1	Textendence' And the New York State Company's State
	 Primi Scrute strate and internal 	100	182		include in the Victory Directory in the
	 Sylmically Sockade. 	1 the	2.1	54	 Termine Manufacture Line (1998)
	 Selve is a state of the second second. 	1444	25	4.3	powersource and a second s
	 and the state 	Aujit.	19.1	2011	A STATE OF A
	11 International Contraction	100	2.5	1214	12 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I

6.2 Determining Logical Relationships of Tasks in Your WBS

Task Dependencies

Once the WBS is built, you are ready to decide the order tasks will be performed. Some tasks depend on one or more tasks before they can start. For example, you can't put up the walls until you pour the foundation. Some tasks need to start or finish at the same time, while other tasks can't start until another one is already underway.

The predecessor and successor relationship you define provides the foundation for the critical path of your project. There are four different kinds of task dependencies:

Finish-to-Start Dependencies (FS)

must be finished before the next task, the *successor*, can start. It is the most common type of task dependency. On the Gantt Chart it is usually represented as follows:

Start-to-Start Dependencies (SS)

This relationship means that the successor task cannot start until the predecessor task starts. On the Gantt Chart it is usually represented as follows:

Finish-to-Finish Dependencies (FF)

This relationship means that the successor task cannot finish until the predecessor task finishes. On the Gantt Chart it is usually represented as follows:





Of course tasks sometimes overlap, which is called lead (or lead[DC12] time). Tasks can also be delayed (for example, to wait while concrete dries), which is called lag[DC13] (or lag time).

Activity Sequencing

The PMBOK Guide calls the process of establishing dependencies *activity* [DC14] *sequencing*. This is the process of identifying and documenting dependencies between activities to be able to develop a realistic and achievable schedule.

Sequencing can be done manually as well as with project management software. Manual methods are often used on smaller projects. Project management software is more effective when the project is longer than six weeks, requires managing multiple resources, and requires frequent repetitive reports.

There are some specific items the project manager should consider in determining these logical relationships:

Product characteristics —such as the physical layout of a plant to be constructed or subsystems on a software project—often affect activity sequencing.

Mandatory dependencies are those that are inherent in the nature of the work being performed. These dependencies often involve physical limitations (e.g. software must be written before it can be tested), but they can also be based on the logic of the tasks.

Discretionary dependencies are not required, but instead are determined by the project manager or team. Discretionary dependencies are usually based on knowledge of:

- □ Best practices within a particular application area
- □ Some aspect of the project that makes a specific sequence desirable, even though there are other approaches available. One justification might be the availability of necessary resources.

External dependencies is a relationship between project activities and non-project activities. For example, an activity in a project may depend on delivery of hardware from an external source, or environmental hearings may be required before site preparation on a construction project.

Once the logical relationships are determined, the project manager can create visual representations of the activities, including project network diagrams and Gantt Charts. Gantt Charts are most commonly used, but network diagrams are often helpful in complex projects involving relationships among sub-projects.
These visual representations are helpful in determining and using the *critical* [DC15] *path method* (CPM).

The Critical Path

The *critical path* [DC16] is the longest path through the network, based on task duration, which dictate the shortest amount of time the project can be completed.

Though the critical path had originally been used by DuPont to sequence activities in chemical plant construction, the critical path was popularized when Lockheed was building the Polaris submarine in the 1950s. Project managers noticed that some seemingly important tasks could be late without impacting the end date of the project, while other less important tasks that were late were delaying the overall project. This problem led them to rediscover DuPont's concept of the critical path.

Calculating the critical path

The critical path can be calculated using a project activity network, such as the one in the following figure:

Figure 84.



The longest path through the activity (task) network is the critical path.

Path	Length of Path	Longest?
1-3-4-6-10	9 days	No
1-2-5-7-10*	12 days	Yes*
1-8-9-10	11 days	No

These calculations can also provide you with the slack. *Slack* [DC17] is the amount of time that a task can be delayed without impacting the project end date. Tasks not on the critical path have slack, while tasks on the critical path have zero slack.

Tasks 3, 4, or 6 can be up to 3 days late without changing the critical path. These tasks each have three days of slack.

On the other hand, tasks on the 1-2-5-7-10 path are on the critical path and have zero days of slack.

- □ What would happen if Task 2 consumed 5 days instead of 3 days?
- □ What would the length of the 1-2-5-7-10 path become?
- □ In this case would the 1-2-5-7-10 path still be critical?

Another process for calculating the critical path and slack is the Program Evaluation and Review Technique (PERT[DC18]). This process evaluates probable outcome based on three scenarios: a best-case, expected-case, and worst-case scenario. The outcome in question may be the duration of a task, its start date, or its finish date.

The Critical Path As an Estimate

The critical path is an estimate because its analysis requires several assumptions, including:

□ **All tasks are known** . If you forget to add some tasks and add them later, the original critical path may change. Most project plans are missing tasks when they are initially built.

- □ All links are accurate . A complicated plan with hundreds of tasks is likely to have some incorrect task dependencies defined.
- □ All estimates are accurate . Inaccurate estimates can cause the original critical path to change.
- □ **Other non-critical paths may have small amounts of slack** . A complicated activity path can have multiple non-critical paths. A change in any one of these paths can cause the original critical path to change.

Given the amount of assumptions we rely on in our analysis, the only time you know the <u>actual</u> critical path is after the project is finished.

Despite these potential problems, the critical path method gives the project manager a good indication of where to focus attention. The most important application of CPM is to realize a late task on the critical path will cause the project end date to change.

Estimating the Duration of Activities

The PMBOK Guide covers a process called *activity duration estimating* [DC19]. This is a process of determining the number of work periods needed to complete each activity.

This estimation will often require consideration of elapsed time as well. For example, if *concrete curing* will require four days, that means it will require four work days if it begins on Monday, but only two work days if it begins on Friday.

There are several items the project manager and project team should consider in developing task estimates:

Resource availability – The duration of most activities will be influenced by the resource assignments. Two people may be able to complete an activity in half the time it would take either of them alone, while a person working half-time will generally take at least twice as much time to complete an activity as the same person working full-time.

Resource capabilities – The duration of most activities will be significantly influenced by the capabilities of the resources assigned. An experienced employee will generally complete an activity in less time than an inexperienced employee.

Historical information – Historical information can be very helpful in this estimating process. Common sources of such information include:

- □ *Project files* Previous project results may be detailed enough to provide insights into the duration of activities.
- □ *Commercial duration estimating databases* Historical information is often available commercially, which is especially useful when the activity duration is not driven by the work involved (e.g.: How long does it take concrete to cure? How long does a government agency usually take to respond to certain types of requests?).
- □ *Project team knowledge* Members of the project team may be aware of previous results or estimates.

Other tools defined by the PMBOK Guide include:

Analogous estimating – Analogous estimating, also called *top-down estimatin* g, means using the actual duration of a previous, similar activity as the basis for estimating the duration of a future activity. It is frequently used to estimate project duration when there is a limited amount of detailed information about the project, for example, when the project's in the early phases.

Analogous estimating is a form of expert judgment. This form of estimating is most reliable when (1) the previous activities are similar in fact and not just in appearance, and (2) the individuals preparing the estimates have the needed expertise.

Simulation – Simulation involves calculating multiple durations with different sets of assumptions. The most common is *Monte Carlo Analysis* in which a distribution of probable results is defined for each activity and used to calculate a distribution of probable results for the total project.

Schedule Development

Once the durations of the activities in the project have been determined, the project manager and project team can move to *schedule* [DC20] *development*. Schedule development, as defined by the PMBOK Guide, means

determining start and finish dates for project activities. If the start and finish dates of individual activities are not realistic, the project is unlikely to be finished on schedule.

As with estimating duration, there are several items the project manager and project team should consider in this process:

Resource requirements

Resource pool description – Knowing what resources will be available at what times and in what patterns is necessary for schedule development. Shared resources can be especially difficult to schedule unless their availability can be negotiated in advance.

Calendars – Project and resource calendars identify periods when work is allowed. Project calendars affect all resources; some projects will work only during normal business hours while others will work a full three shifts. Resource calendars affect a specific resource or category of resources; for example, a project team member may be on vacation or in a training program or a labor contract may limit certain workers to certain days of the week.

Constraints – There are two major categories of constraints that must be considered during schedule development:

- □ *Imposed dates* Completion of certain deliverables by a specified date may be <u>required</u> by the project sponsor, the project customer, or other external agency.
- □ *Key events or major milestones* Completion of certain deliverables by a specified date may be <u>requested</u> by the project sponsor, the project customer, or other stakeholders, and may be connected with contract payments. Once scheduled, these dates become expected and often extremely difficult to move.

Leads and lags – Any of the dependencies may require a lead or a lag to accurately define the relationship (there might be a two-week delay between ordering a piece of equipment and installing or using it).

The Importance of the Estimate

The entire project plan and schedule revolves around the estimated effort for each task. For this reason, the estimates play a key role in building a reliable schedule for the project.

The amount of effort is usually stated in hours, but minutes, days, weeks, months, or even years may be appropriate depending on the type of project. A voicemail system upgrade may be measured in minutes, due to the fact that the project team has only a small amount of time to accomplish the project objectives. A large program with a high amount of uncertainty that will span multiple years may be estimated in units of weeks or months. In all cases, the schedule will only be as reliable as the underlying estimates.

Effort versus Duration

Duration is the amount of time estimated to complete the estimated effort. The effort for a task may be estimated at 40 hours, but its duration is uncertain until you have more information. You'll need to know how many people will work on the task and the percentage of time each will devote to the task. For example, a person working 100% of an 8-hour day will require 5 days to complete the 40-hour task, while a person devoting 25% of an 8-hour day will need 20 days to complete the task.

Assign 5 people to the task working 100% of an 8-hour day and the task will be done in one day, or will it? Adding resources to a task may reduce its duration, but new considerations must be taken into account. Will the resources need to spend more time on communication and coordination than a single person working on the task does? Can the task really be split amongst multiple resources? These factors will affect both effort and duration.

Estimating Work

Work is the total amount of effort scheduled to be performed on a task by all assigned resources. Work can also be estimated in a variety of ways:

- □ **Historical** Data based on past, identical projects that sets a precedent for task duration estimates
- □ **Participative** Data based on past, similar projects that sets a precedent for task duration estimates
- □ **Intuitive** Data based on past, dissimilar projects that sets a precedent for task duration estimates
- **Unknown** Foresight without any precedent or relevant information

Determining Resource Requirements

The first challenge in resourcing a project is to decide what skills will be needed to complete it. A look at the tasks in the WBS will provide some meaningful insight into this inquiry. Once the skill types are determined, the next step is to estimate how many people with these skill types will be needed. Consider the following example:

The project is scheduled for 12 months and the estimated number of programmer hours is 4,500. Assuming each programmer can productively work 30 hours per week, how many programmers will you need?

If you divide the total effort of 4,500 hours by 30 hours, you will need 150 weeks of programmer time. If you divide the total weeks by 50 productive weeks over the 12-month project span, you'll need three programmers assuming they can all start on day one and finish on the last day of the project.

The programmers can't start until the end of the 3 rd month, and must be done by the end of the 9 th month.

Given this new factor, the work must be done in 25 weeks of duration instead of 50. Now you'll need 6 programmers.

Another variable is the actual skill level of the resources that will perform the work. Since you may not know the names of the people who will be assigned to the project, you may need to make assumptions. You might assume that all programmers will have at least five years of real programming experience with the technology that will be used in the project. Be sure to clearly document such assumptions.

Non-human and Material Resources

Not all resources are people. The project manager should keep in mind other resources that may be needed—concrete, steel, pipe, wood, glass, computers, test time, equipment, etc. Such resources can be critical factors in the project manager's ability to complete the project successfully. They should also be scheduled to the tasks that require them.

Avoiding Over-allocation with Load Leveling

Load leveling is the process of assigning resources to the plan without giving them too much work to do in any given time period. You can do 40 hours of work next week, but you can't do 40 hours of work on Monday.

A note of caution: When using automated tools, care should be taken to ensure that resources are not being given too much work in any given time period <u>while you are assigning resources to tasks</u>. If you wait until you are done assigning all of your resources to level your plan, you may be faced with a hopeless mess.

It is tempting to assume that your full-time resources will be able to devote 40 hours per week to the project. Unfortunately, this is usually not realistic. It's better to take a more conservative approach and assume that full-time people will not be able to devote more than 30 hours per week to the plan.

Another thing to keep in mind is the problem of under-allocation. Full-time resources that are only scheduled for 10 hours per week can be a problem too.

Task versus Resource Leveling

Load leveling can be done two different ways: by task or by resource. Leveling by task is what you do when you assign resources to a task and then make sure the resources are available to work on the task.

Leveling by resource means that after you create resource assignments, you look at each resource and all of the tasks assigned to each resource to see if tasks need to be rescheduled to provide for a realistic workload for each resource. However, this approach may present problems—as you reschedule tasks to more realistically allocate one resource, you may over-allocate another.

Leveling against a Fixed Project End Date

Unrealistic project plans are often built to a fixed end date coupled with insufficient resources. The best way to avoid this situation is a sound approach to resource leveling.

Optimizing the Plan

The planning steps reviewed up to this point should produce a reasonable first draft of the work plan. Planning is like writing—several drafts may be required.

Several of the steps may be repeated as the plan is optimized: resources may be added to meet the target end date; estimates may be adjusted as resource skills or roles are converted to real names; new tasks may be discovered as details are filled in; links may change to accommodate other schedule constraints; assignments may shift to load level the plan. Tools like Microsoft Project provide an automatic load-leveling capability.

All of these changes often force the project manager to iterate the steps of planning until a realistic plan is built. The work plan and schedule is not optimized until the scope, schedule, and resources have been configured to meet the project objectives!

The Baseline and Project Manager Accountability

Why Baseline the Plan?

The baseline is recorded so that the project manager has a stake in the ground against which to measure progress as the project begins. The baseline is the foundation for reporting the "plan vs. actual" that is so fundamental to gauging whether a project is or is not on course.

It is one of the final steps before the project starts.

The Case for Baselining Only the Earlier Phases

For a long, multi-phase project, there may be so much uncertainty in the later phase of the project that the baseline is only valid for the earlier parts of the schedule. For this type of project, the project manager should set the expectation that the baseline is only reliable for the parts of the plan for which there can be any reasonable level of certainty.

This is often a formal part of the organization's project methodology, usually referred to as *rolling wave planning* [DC21]. In this approach, a time period, or *planning* [DC22] *horizon*, for detailed planning is defined. For example, the organization might decide that six months is a realistic length of time for detailed planning—beyond six months, only a high-level plan would be required.

A Caution on Automated Project Management Tools

Today's powerful computers and complex software can produce some awesome outputs, especially graphics. But don't be satisfied with a plan that looks good just because it was produced by a tool. As the saying goes, "A fool with a tool is a faster fool!" If it used to take you three hours to build a plan that won't work, you can now do it in 15 minutes and print it on a color printer. Project plans produced using color Gantt Charts are still failing at an unacceptable pace.

Project management software will not make you a better planner; you still have to know how to plan to build a solid project plan.

6.3 **Resource Planning and Acquisition**

Since resources have such a profound effect on the project plan and schedule, the project manager must be aware of methods and processes relevant to resource management that are available for use.

Resource Planning

The PMBOK Guide defines a process called *resource* [DC23] *planning*, which involves determining what resources (i.e. people, equipment, and materials) should be used to perform project activities, and what amount of each resource is required by each activity. This is closely connected to cost estimating.

This process will be affected by another process defined by the PMBOK Guide called *organizational* [DC24] *planning*. Organizational planning involves identifying, documenting, and assigning project roles, responsibilities, and reporting relationships.

Organizational planning is often tightly linked with communications planning, since the project's organizational structure will have a major effect on the project's communications requirements. Clearly, the project manager cannot perform resource planning without an awareness of the organizational structure and style that will be imposed on the project and its structure.

The combination of the needs of the project manager and the organizational considerations should produce:

Role and responsibility assignments – Project roles (who does what) and responsibilities (who decides what) must be assigned to the appropriate project stakeholders. Most roles and responsibilities will be assigned to stakeholders who are actively involved in the work of the project, such as the project manager, other members of the project management team, and the individual contributors.

Staffing management plan – The staffing management plan describes when and how human resources will be brought onto and taken off the project team. The staffing plan may be formal or informal, highly detailed or broadly framed, depending on the needs of the project. It is part of the overall project plan.

Organization chart – An organization chart is a graphic display of project reporting relationships, which may be formal or informal, highly detailed or broadly framed, depending on the needs of the project.

Staff Acquisition

Another planning process defined by the PMBOK Guide is *staff acquisition* [DC25]. This is the process of assigning the required human resources to the project and getting them to work on it. The project management team has to make sure that the available resources will meet project requirements. To do this, the project manager and project team, if possible, will have to consider:

Staffing management plan – This includes the project's staffing requirements.

Staffing pool description – When the project management team is able to influence or direct resource assignments, it must consider the characteristics of the potentially available staff. Considerations include, but are not limited to:

- □ *Previous experience* Have the individuals or groups done similar or related work before? Have they done it well?
- D *Personal interests* Are the individuals or groups interested in working on this project?
- □ *Personal characteristics* Are the individuals or groups likely to work well together as a team?
- □ *Availability* Wll the most desirable individuals or groups be available in the necessary time frames?

Recruitment practices – Recruitment practices of the organizations involved in the project also constrain the staff acquisition process.

The project manager (and project team, if possible) will usually have to negotiate for human resources, either with functional managers (especially in a matrix organization) or with other project management teams in the organization that share scarce or specialized resources.

In a projectized organization, the project manager may have the responsibility of procuring resources specifically for the project. Procurement is required when the organization lacks the in-house staff needed to complete the project.

6.4 Team Development

Once the resources for the team have been identified and assigned, the next process defined by the PMBOK Guide is team development. Team development includes improving the ability of individuals to contribute to the project as well as enhancing the ability of the team to function as a unit. Individual development is a necessary requirement of any job for growth and morale, while development as a team determines the project's ability to meet its objectives.

Team development on a project is often complicated when individual team members are accountable to both a functional manager and the project manager. Effective management of this matrix relationship is a critical success factor for the project and the project manager. Team development continues throughout the project.

There are a variety of tools used for team development:

Team-building activities include management and individual actions taken to improve team performance. Activities such as establishing ground rules for dealing with conflict may improve team performance. Specific team-building activities can vary from a five-minute agenda item in a regular review meeting to a multi-day off-site meeting focused on improved interpersonal relationships among key team members.

Reward and recognition systems are formal management actions that promote or reinforce desired behavior. To be effective, such systems must make the link between performance and reward clear, explicit, and achievable.

Projects often have their own reward and recognition systems. For example, willingness to work overtime in order to meet an aggressive schedule objective <u>should</u> be rewarded or recognized; needing to work overtime as the result of poor planning <u>should not</u> be.

Reward and recognition systems must also consider cultural differences. For example, developing an appropriate team reward mechanism in a culture that prizes individualism may be very difficult.

Collocation refers to placing the project team members in the same physical location—such as a "war room"—where the team congregates or leaves work items.

Training includes all activities designed to improve the skills, knowledge, and capabilities of the project team. Training may be formal (e.g. classroom training, computer-based training) or informal (e.g. feedback from other team members).

6.5 Cost Estimating and Budgeting

Cost Estimating

The PMBOK Guide identifies two additional processes which are used in the planning process: *cost estimating* [DC26] and *cost budgeting*. Cost estimating involves developing an estimate of the costs of the resources needed to complete project activities.

Cost estimating involves an assessment of how much it will cost to provide the product or service desired. Pricing, on the other hand, is a business decision—how much the organization charge will for the product or service—that uses the cost estimate as well as other considerations.

In order to calculate project costs, the project manager will need to reference two artifacts for each resource: the work breakdown structure helps to organize the cost estimates and to ensure that all identified work has been estimated; and the unit rates should be referenced for information such as staff cost per hour and bulk material cost per cubic yard. If actual rates are not known, the rates themselves may have to be estimated.

A chart of accounts—which describes the coding structure used by the organization to report financial information in its general ledger—is often used to ensure project cost estimates are assigned to the correct accounting category.

There are two approaches commonly used for this process:

□ **Top-down estimatin g** is similar to the "analogous estimating" approach to estimating duration. As covered in Section 6.2: *Determining Logical Relationships of Tasks in Your WBS*, top-down estimating uses the actual cost of a previous, similar project as the basis for estimating the cost of the

current project. It is frequently used when there is a limited amount of detailed information about the project (e.g. in the early phases) or when the projects are essentially repetitive (e.g. building homes).

□ **Bottom-up estimating** involves estimating the cost of individual work items, then summarizing or rolling-up the individual estimates to get a project total. Bottom-up estimating is commonly used when there is little historical data or the project involves a great deal of uncertainty (e.g. research).

Cost Budgeting

Cost budgeting involves associating the overall cost estimates with individual work items to establish a cost baseline for measuring project performance. The cost estimates developed above, the WBS, and the project schedule will be used to carry out cost budgeting.

This process will result in a *cost baseline*, a time-phased forecast that will be used to measure and monitor cost performance on the project.

The cost baseline is developed by summing estimated costs by period and is usually displayed in the form of an S-curve, as illustrated in the following figure.





End of Chapter Quiz Questions

1. What is a WBS?

2. What are some of the questions that you should consider before beginning a detailed discussion of developing a project planning summary?

- 3. True or False: You can validate work plan templates by seeing that it has lots of detail.
- 4. To start activity definition, the project manager should consider what four major items?

 - 4. _____
- 5. Which of the following are examples of WBS that contain the appropriate level of detail.
- a. A plan with three phases that contain 1,000 hours each.
- b. A plan that contains 3,000 tasks, each documenting one hour of effort.
- c. None of the above.
- d. Both A and B.

- 6. What is the "Rule of 80"?
- 7. True or False: If you look only at the list of deliverables to build the WBS, there are some tasks you may miss.
- 8. Which of the following is NOT a type of scaffolding task category:
 - a. Deliverable
 - b. Support
 - c. Project management
 - d. Administrative
- 9. What are the four basic types of task dependencies?
- 10. Fill in the blank: When tasks overlap, they are said to have ______ time.
- 11. Fill in the blank: When there's a delay between dependent tasks, they have ______ time.
- 12. What is activity
 - sequencing?
- 13. What are external dependencies? Provide an example to make your point.



For questions 16–19, use the project activity network below:

15. Fill in the blanks in the table below:

PATH	LENGTH
1-3-4-6- 10	days
1-2-5-7- 10	days
1-8-9-10	days

16. Which of the above of paths are on the critical path? _____

17. What is the slack for tasks 3, 4 or 6?

- 18. The slack for tasks 1, 2, 5, 7 or 10 is:
 - a. 1 day each
 - b. 2 days each
 - c. 3 days each
 - d. None of the above
- 19. Fill in the blank: _________is a process in which a probable outcome is evaluated based on a best-case, expected-case, and worst-case scenario.
- 20. True or false: Critical path is an estimate because its analysis requires several assumptions.
- 21. Fill in the blank: The most important application of CPM is to realize a late task on the critical path will cause the project ______ to change.

- 22. What are some of the items the project manager and project team should consider in developing task estimates (list at least 3)?
 - 1. _____
 - 2. _____
 - 3. ______ 4. _____
 - 5. _____
- 23. What are some of the items the project manager and project team should consider in the schedule development process (list at least 3)?
 - 1.

 2.

 3.
 - 4.

 5.
- 24. Fill in the blank: The entire project plan and schedule revolves around the estimated ______ for each task.
- 25. Explain the difference between effort and duration.

- 26. What are some of the different ways of estimating work (list at least 3)?
 - 1.

 2.
 - 3. _____
- 27. Fill in the blank: The first challenge in resourcing a project is to decide what ______ will be needed to complete it.

- 28. What is resource leveling?
- 29. What is resource leveling by task?
- 30. What is leveling by resource? What problem can it present?
- 31. What is resource planning?

32. What three (3) things does the project manager and project team, have to consider in order to make sure that the available resources will meet project requirements?

_____, _____, &_____.

33. When is procurement required?

34. What are some ways to foster team development?

35. What are the two approaches commonly used for cost estimating?





chapter 7

Building a Work Breakdown Structure with Microsoft Project 2019

- Building the WBS
- Modifying and Editing the WBS
- Creating Task Dependencies
- Task Types and Scheduling
- Estimating Task Size
- Manual Task Scheduling
- Task Planning Review Exercise



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to use Microsoft Project to:

- Build a basic task list into a WBS using the indent and outdent functions
- Modify and edit the WBS
- Creating task dependencies (link tasks) using finish-to-start [FS], start-to-start [SS], finish-to-finish [FF], and start-to-finish [SF] link types
- Use the task inspector to identify how the scheduling engine sets task dates
- View task outline numbers
- Insert and delete tasks
- Understand scheduling
- Import tasks from Microsoft Excel and Microsoft Outlook
- Use the "split screen" (task details option)
- Use the task information dialog box
- Enter basic task estimates using the Work and Duration fields
- Use the task types: fixed unit, fixed duration, and fixed units
- Use Manual Task Scheduling

N ow that we have described the theoretical background for developing a work breakdown structure and project plan, this chapter will describe how Microsoft Project 2019 can easily be used to create a project plan. This lesson will describe the best practices that experienced project managers generally use to accomplish the desired results.

7.1 Building the Work Breakdown Structure

Determining the Primary Goal and Creating the Project Shell

The project charter is a logical starting point when developing a WBS. The charter details the project's objective(s), major constraints (such as cost or scope boundaries), the expected timescale, and the name of the person responsible for achieving each of the project's goals.

For this exercise we will use the following project charter:

"Following the recent merger of Pan-Trans and Maryland Blue Airlines, our Board of Directors has decided to hold an east coast company conference in May of next year. Robin Q. Project is charged with leading the team to arrange the venue, timing, logistics, and communications required to make this event a success."

1 Start Microsoft Project 2019, ensuring you are not connected to Project Server. If you do not see a blank project, click *Blank Projec t* or select *File:New:Blank projec t* to create one. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 86.	Little Angeler State and Angeler Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band	
New blank project	5	
	(0) The second s	i÷.
	5	

- 3 Select *File:Save A s* to save this new project as: **PanTransConference** [JG27] .mp p . We will be using this project over the course of this chapter.
- 3 Navigate to *Format:Show/Hid e* and ensure the *Project Summary Tas k* is selected. Your scree will resemble the following:

Figure 87.	1998 M	asts with the state of the stat
PanTrans Conference.mp p with summary task visible	B the second sec	- A13

4 At the bottom-left corner of the screen, you will notice that new tasks are currently set to be scheduled manually. While there are some cases where you do not want the Microsoft Project scheduling engine to perform normal calculations, you generally want the software to schedule the dates of new tasks for you. Select *Auto Scheduled - Task dates are calculated by Microsoft Project*.

Determining the Project's Sub-Goals

Developing the sub-goals of the project is also known as developing the project's initial scope. Typically this job is performed by a group that might include the project sponsor and others with expertise in the field. These people work together to outline the project's general and more detailed requirements. They will also include additional information about limitations or assumptions.

For project **PanTrans Conferenc e**, project requirements include the following:

- General planning: Board approval of plan and budget
 - Venue
 - Agenda and schedule
 - Budget
 - Communication plan
 - Personnel commitments
- □ Detailed planning
 - Venue arrangements
 - Attendance
 - Travel arrangements
 - Agenda planning and timetable
 - Meeting facilities
 - Contingency planning
 - Cost planning
 - Catering

Organizing the Project

The project processes, discussed in Chapter 2: *Understanding Project Management*, affects how the project is structured and therefore what the WBS will look like. The goal, of course, is for the structure to be sensible

and useful to the people who are managing the project or working with the WBS.

One common approach to organizing the WBS is to have a major section for each phase of the project, with the phases appearing sequentially. This is particularly valuable when there is a stage gate approval process or a portfolio management strategy with a metric for the number of projects in different phases.

Another common organizational strategy is often used for product-development projects, when components of the final product are produced simultaneously by different groups working in parallel.

On larger projects, the structure is often phase- and product-based.

For our training project, the WBS will be organized by two sequential phases:

- General planning, which is complete when the Board approves the general plan
- Detailed Planning , which is complete when the final arrangements are distributed and organization is handed over to the hospitality team
- Begin creating the WBS by entering the two project phases— *General Planning* and *Detailed Planning* —in the Task Name column of your project, as in the following figure.

Eiguno 00		0 ton	Lash Name	+: Databas	- 247 1	Cathorn I.	
riguite oo.	1.8	-	+ PanTransCanfarance	Seeks L.	1/17	8/17	
PanTrans			General planning	1dm [#]	3/17	8/12	
Conference.mp p		-	Detailed prenering	1 day?	3/12	8/12	-
project phases							

Entering Project Tasks

5

Once the overall structure of the project is determined, the next step is to perform *progressive elaboration* [DC28] of the WBS. This is the process of detailing the activities needed to deliver the required results. Depending on the scale of the project, this effort often requires several iterations with input from many subject matter experts and stakeholders. All but the smallest projects require more than two WBS levels.

In step 5 above you entered the top level tasks, or phases. Now it's time to drill down to a second (and maybe third or fourth) more detailed level of task requirements. Following are several best practices to use when determining the level of detail required for each task in your project:

- Every detailed task should belong naturally within the hierarchy. Tasks should not be isolated outside the main branches of the WBS.
- The lowest level tasks should be written in a way that the task's current status is easy to determine. Resources and supervisors should be able to clearly determine how far the task has progressed and when it is likely to be completed. On the other hand, it should not be so detailed that you are spending more time planning and tracking the activity than is warranted. These boundaries are often represented as the 8-80 [DC29] rule —that is, tasks should take not less than 8 hours of effort, nor more than 80 hours. This is a spinoff of the Rule of 80 covered under the *Entering Project Tasks* heading of Section 7.1.
- Required deliverables should be shown as resulting from specific, detailed tasks.
- When writing the task names for detailed tasks, always include a verb and an object—e.g. "Develop \square Phase 1 draft report" or "Approve budget for design work". This is not always applicable to summary tasks.
 - 6

Under *General Planning*, in the Task Name field key in the following tasks:

- Venue arrangements 0
- Attendance o
- Travel arrangements ο
- Agenda planning and timetable ο
- Meeting facilities 0
- Contingency planning ο
- Cost planning 0

- Catering 0
- Publish final detailed plan 0

Your screen will resemble the following:

			a Tat				eers. 10110
Figure 89.		1	M	, failet (ex	 T#PR514 	19 4	1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 4 4 A A A
- iguite oov		-6 T	- 19	 Fan TraneConference 	2 day?	3/17	
		1		Carani planting	"step"	\$72	ALC: 1
Sample of		1	-2	Seas tarangements	1.427	der.	500
creating a new			-	Minday	- ds/*	242	382
WBS		9	-	Travel according to an	1 dey?	5/17	200
		14		Agence planning and timetable	Selecter.	1/17	100
		1	-2	Westing fact Max	144.6	8/17	2000
	5	1.0	-	Contingency planning,	: day (8/17	200
	10	2	=	Carpbring	_dr/*	2742	400
	-	1.	15	Caparing	1 dey?	3/17	200
	5	10		Nubilish 11tal detailed plan	1.16.71	1/17	300 1
	5	198.	100				

Right now each task in the project, including the top level-project phases, appears on the same level. To identify specific tasks as sub-tasks:

7 Select the nine (9) tasks that follow *General Planning*, and from *Task:Schedul e* click th **Indent Tas k** arrow [].

Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 90.

Creating a WBS by indenting tasks to create a summary task

	0	Barder to	Look Melant	- interes	1.281
1		-	4 Pauli and anforma	Sech t	8/17
7		146.	* Seneral plenning	1442	8/17
1		-	Verse enangements	12.64	3/12
E		100	Americanon	2.00/2	3/17
$ \mathcal{K} $		-	Travel an angenerate	1.54%	5210
		π.	Agende clanning and timutable	71.92	5/17
4		*	Menting facilities	30.01	3/17
۰.		100	Contingnous planning	1 day?	2(12)
2.		12	Costplanning	1(44)?	14.10
4		-	Catering	2.603	5/12
		-	Fublish final detailed plan	2047	5/17

At this point in the WBS development process, it is common to continue to enter detailed tasks and sub-tasks for the entire project. However, for large projects or ones where the scope of later phases depends on the outcome of earlier phases, you may adopt a rolling wave approach. As covered in Section 6.2: Determining Logical Relationships in the WBS in the subsection on baselining, rolling wave planning is the approach of developing the immediate next phases in detail and only covering the later ones generally.

For this exercise, we will now add a starting task for the project, as well as additional tasks under the first two General Planning sub-tasks.

- 9 Under General Planning add a new sub-task, Hold project kick-off meeting .
- 10 Under *Venue*, include the following sub-tasks, ensuring you indent the tasks properly:
 - Decide on venue criteria 0
 - Perform brief research on possible venues ο
 - Select top three potential venues 0
 - Perform detailed research on top three potential venues 0
 - Calculate cost and other criteria scores 0
 - Select winning venue 0
- Under Agenda and schedule, include the following sub-tasks, ensuring you indent the tasks 11 properly:
 - Develop list of key agenda items o
 - Develop draft agenda around key items o
 - Prepare list of secondary agenda item candidates o
 - Estimate time required for agenda o

- Prepare list of presenters
- Develop list of entertainment events
- Develop draft agenda and schedule

Project management is essential for the successful execution of the project, and this activity needs to be accounted for in the WBS. Depending on the scale and organization of the project, project management may or may not have specific sub-tasks. Because project management generally occurs across all phases of a project, it is often identified as a set of top-level tasks or phases with the associated detailed project management activities.

12 At the beginning of your project, add a new top-level task called *Project Management*, and include the following two sub-tasks: *Project tracking* and *Issue management*.

Visit, 15

Your screen will resemble the following:

- The 1 215

Figure	91.

Sample WBS results

		 Distant.		C. L. S. P. Ser.	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	8	
		-	+ PasTransLaslerence_bett	Typh 1	3/18	8/18	1-1
	3	×1.	+ Project Management	Syster:	3/18	1/18	
	141	-	Preject tranking	3.deg?	3/18	3/18	1826
	(4)	-	toose management	3 day?	1/14	1218	100
	14	*	+ General Planeing	Set of	1/18	4/18	111
	1.1	-	Hold propert kick off monthly	3 deg?	3/18	3/18	100
	18	-	+ Yenee	d-day?	4/12	4/18	171
5		*	Decise of yellue crosca	3.44	3/14	3/18	
1	8	-	Party and brief research on possible variants	3 day?	3/18	1/18	-
2		-	Salidit tog three potential vehicles	idn?	4/18	1/18	-
٢.	1	-	Perform detailed research on top three potential versues	a day?	3/18	3/18	100
	14	-	Coloulate sent and other ortans stains	3,dep?	3/18	3/18	100
	14	-	belet/withing verse	solvy?	1/18	1218	-
	16	-	+ Agenda and schoolale	5446	1/18	4/18	177
	14	-	Develop for of key againia terms	Tries?	3/18	3/18	100
	- 14	-	Develop chaft agends around key reena	3.8497	1/14	3/18	-
		*	Wregater bid of secondary agenda time candidators	5,647	10/14	3/18	

Figure 92.

Highlighted Project Management tasks

	-8	12.	Janman	-		·	 TRANSPORT NAMES AND A DESCRIPTION OF A D
	4 C.		· Parthandpoterson	14MP	Mar Disk's	March 1838/101	
	11	10	· Project Management	head .	Binn 4/53/51	Arrest 1/18/191	171
	181	. 41	might failing	p-tart -	Addr-10(\$10(10)	Mary 8/38/14	
	-4-	-	the states of the	a said	Mich. 42 (2013)	Adams 8, 200/101	
	-1-	-	1 Caron & Phenoty	head .	Acres 4/65/11	8800 1/1A/14	PT.
	4	- 11	protection of reacting	LAWF	Anno-1288254	Min: 3(34/34	1998 :
1.0	+	100	+ freed	Lines!	Atten 4/26/11	Address April April 1	e-1
110	ALC: N	-44	Bearing of advance finding	ida?	Aug. 0.00011	August 4, 558-514	
Hł.		~	Number and to be a setting to the setting of the se	1447	Web #3531	Per-9-29-31	-
11	4		Indian's long in terms (and included and only)	1 Aug.	10000-01002-01	August 1/24/141	

Additional examples of tasks/phases without specific product-related deliverables—but that are important for successful project execution—include safety inspections and personnel management tasks.

Note: You may notice that for all the tasks you have entered, the duration appears as **1** *day* ? If you enter a task without a specific duration, and your project is set to Auto Schedule new tasks, Microsoft Project 2019 assigns an estimated one-day duration to each task. The question mark, which remains in the Duration field until you adjust these values, indicates that the value is not a careful estimate and has a great deal of uncertainty. In other words, it is a <u>guess</u>. To show that a duration is uncertain, type the question mark when you enter the duration value.

13 Select Task 30, *Contingency Planning*, and from *Task:Insert* click the *Tas k* icon. A new task l is inserted with the task name *<New Task>*. You can also use the *Insert* key on your keyboard and a blank line will be inserted above *Contingency Planning*. In the newly inserted task line, type *Arrange break-out rooms* and press *Enter*. By default, new tasks in Microsoft Project assume the same outline level as the task displayed immediately above.

Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 93.

New task added

.0	Tele Model+	hiller	the state of	- Martin		101111
a	-	 DetailedPlanks 	3 dogr	1/36	3/18.	177
8	-	Wannebergerent,	2.0kg/	200	3,18	and a second
2	-	all rake-	Juker	2.52	3/18	
0	-	By tak planning at the last	Takar	2/10.	4/18	100
10	-	Westing a sector -	Tiker	9/100	3/18	
×	-	Contragence a strong	7.4.07	9/ ¹ X	408	1 1922
6.11		5 Y 10 00000	7.6.47	2/1X	4/18	1000
B 1		Calming	14.97	P/1X	4/15	.000
• i .	-	e olish fanildetaile toino	5 dig 2	8/1×	4/12	ALC: NOT
						_
	-					

Notice that the new task Arrange break-out rooms, is treated like all other tasks for the moment.

14 To make *Arrange break-out rooms* a detailed task under *Meeting facilities*, select the new Task 30 and in *Task:Schedul e* click the *Indent Tas k* icon. Task 30 has become a subordinate tasks of the new summary task *Meeting facilities* (Task ID 30). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 94. Creating a summary task

and the second

Image: Second		D Markin	- tree -	Task Nowe	- Reeles	+ West +	Nr . P	100 3
N North Work Memory and preserves 1 2 m/2 X bits N N Proper Work All contains 3 con/2 X bits A Four Work Agenciestaming and directable 2 con/2 X bits A Four Work Agenciestaming and directable 2 con/2 X bits B Four Work Agenciestaming and directable 2 con/2 X bits B Four Work Meeting full bits 2 con/2 X bits B Four Work Accord bits 1 con/2 X bits B Four Work Couple bits bit directable 1 con/2 X bits B Four Work Couple bits bit directable 1 con/2 X bits B Four Work Couple bits bit directable 1 con/2 X bits B Four Work Couple bits bit directable 1 con/2 X bits B Four Work Couple bits bit directable 1 con/2 X bits	211	10	Fixed searching	+ twented standing	n dwy?	S& BOX		
27 Page Man. All constant 3 any? 8 has 3 F bac Man. Agendationing and dimetable 3 any? 6 has 4 F bac Man. Maintagend dimetable 3 any? 6 has 5 E bac Man. Maintagend dimetable 3 any? 6 has 6 E bac Man. A back marking and dimetable 3 any? 6 has 7 E bac Man. A back marking and dimetable 3 any? 6 has 7 E bac Man. A back marking and dimetable 3 any? 6 has 10 E bac Man. Could plan hay 3 any? 6 has 11 E bac Man. South plan has 3 any? 6 has 12 E bac Man. South plan has 1 any? 6 has 13 E bac Man. South plan has 3 any? 6 has 14 E bac Man. South plan has 1 any? 6 has	2	1.00	FatSASIR	We want a manage state of st	233/2	xbs -		303
A FL Flat work Agendaptioning and dreatable Lday/ Ohm A FL Eact work Meetingfact inter Lday/ Ohm B FL Eact work Meetingfact inter Lday/ Ohm B FL Eact work Meetingfact inter Lday/ Ohm B FL Eact work Accompe break addiments Tday/ Ohm B FL Flat work Could participant addiments Tday/ Ohm B Flat work Could participant addiments Tday/ Ohm The B Flat work Could participant addiments Tday/ Ohm The B Flat work Could participant addiments Tday/ Ohm The B Flat work Could participant addimentable Tday/ Ohm The B Flat work Could participant addimentable Tday/ Ohm Tday/	31	-	Fisch Work	401;+7.00;0	34.62	81ex		100
Interference Underforg/fail frage Jaw/? Film Image: Provide and the state of	-	ers.	Fibial Work	Agendaptenning and timetable	1000	0 hrs		100
B Factor matrixe Contractive Contrestive Contractive <thc< td=""><td>1</td><td>102</td><td>Fibed work</td><td>Vieweiting ford intere</td><td>3 d W/7</td><td>i hn</td><td></td><td>101</td></thc<>	1	102	Fibed work	Vieweiting ford intere	3 d W/7	i hn		101
III Mp Execution Outcome transformation Test Desc III Mp Four wave Californing I four I III Mp Four wave Californing I four I III Mp Four wave Californing I day/ C four III Mp Four wave Californing I day/ C four III Four wave Californing I day/ C four I	4	14	- Fixed transition	 continguous planning; 	3 day?	this		m
Four Work Could be a final for the first sector of the first	31	1.04	Auction	Avange treat autonome	12.91	Obx		
Fibed white Detering Uday/ Other I	10	15	Fload Work	Indiplanding	100,2	6hn		12 M III
II a statistic statistical data statistical statistica	44	- #	Flored where	Capaciting	d day?	ú hrs		1.100
	4.1	1	POPS MOR	Fublish final Setarled plan	259,7	shee		
								2
1								-
								- 4

The left-pointing arrow next to the *Indent Tas* k icon is the *Outdent Tas* k icon [$\frac{1}{4}$], which can be used to reverse the outlining process or to promote a task to a higher outline level.

- 15 Select the task *Arrange break-out rooms* (Task ID 30) and click the *Outdent Task* icon. Notice the task is now at the same outline level as the task above it. Delete the task *Arrange break-out room s*.
- 16 Save and close your project.

7.2 Modifying and Editing the WBS

Microsoft Project 2019 provides several different methods to modify your work breakdown structure. You can insert, move, delete and multiply the occurrences of tasks as your project plan undergoes changes. This lesson will review some of the alternate approaches available for working with project tasks.

Alternate Methods for Adding New Tasks to Your WBS

This exercise uses the file **WBSEditing.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.

- 1 Select the task *Locate new site* (Task ID 4).
- 2 Above *Locate new site*, insert *Develop preliminary design* and give it a duration of 5 days. You screen will resemble the following:

Figure 95.

Inserted task

	0.2	C. BARRIER C.	- Martine				ante
	-	r office following Propert	in seci	415	413		A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY.
		- Hanni linni	20-8ies	40.	440		
1	-	"Works proprietal"	time .	10.0	AND .		- secondary
	-	inter antistant	in the second	10.00	3/18	4	the second se
	-	Envolvy pression revealed	Trans.	100	410		· Prove a second se
		- Understanding	248.1	409	MI.	1.	here here here here here here here here
1.1	1.00	+ Plant line	(index)	-0.0	4/4		
		design (manual)	0.000	16.84		+	Ini.
		maser process	1000	4.0	4/19		and the second s
- A-		Corporate apprival	-D-Deul-F	-46.82	4/28		
1.14	120	Angelaise reachases	ingle.	10.01	ANE	+	Sector
2010		Analos Arenings	2.680	1044	Ma	14	
E 111		Solution and a first and a first and a first sector of the	2440	3433	- 6/100	122	
1. 11		(Hai hank)	1.06	14.84	A/4	11	
- 14	1.45	fallerit discinge	line.	160		38	
10		dermination of	Alas.	644	4/6	- 44	

Several cells turned blue as a result of inserting this task, and they will remain blue until the project is saved or another change is made that affects the project schedule. This feature is designed to make it easier for users to identify changes caused by modification to individual cells.

- Insert the task *Select target moving date* (duration 1 day) above *Hire mover* (Task ID 13). 3
- 4 On further thought, you have decided this doesn't make sense; the possible moving date will be produced as part of the project and doesn't need to be a separate task. Click the down arrow next to the *Und o* button [5]—located by default at the top-left corner of your screen *moving date*. At this point, the *Red o* button [c²] will become active, allowing you to chang your mind back.
- You're curious about the task *Negotiate new lease* (Task ID 10) and wonder why it's scheduled 5 to start on April 29th. The *Task* [DC30] *Inspecto* r is a good way to see the factors affecting atask's scheduling, as well as recommendations if there are conflicts with the task.

Select the task *Negotiate new lease* and from **Task:Task s** click the **Inspec t** icon [👘]. The *Task Inspecto r* sidepane will appear, similar to the following:

Figure 96.	inspector - X		1								
	They Alterate loss		4	123	takkers	1 Best	in.	1.1.1	· Falling	10.1	aprile :
Tacl drivers	and the second provide		1.1	191	+ Dillou Palenarios Project	If dear	-(*15	8,19		-	
Task unvers		1.23		1	a New The	Milan:	415	91		-	
for Task 10	August Version and	23		100	Verse Singers.	12347	4.1	A10-		and the second sec	
		- 53	÷ .	-	INDERT NO.	1.61.0	1.10	3.3		1 al real and	
	Vield/uside (- 13	1	100	Care colpre manage design	thogs	423	8.4	- 23	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	
	and the second s			1	is step with	1st	4.75	41	- 0		
	Lefe de	53	£	1	a Here's an	Shringer.	4.4	14%			
	and the second	141.13	£	-	1 MARY ADDRESS	1497	4.4	514	- X.	Bet,	
		1.	÷	-	Present association	Ister	1.20	54	- X	Lo.	
		1000	0.0	140	60.00 B . 19 . 19	11.974	4.72	628	- K.		
		14.53	8-1-1	1	No. 24 8 105 100	19-1	479	615			
		100		100	runders man men	100.00		510	1.1		

6 Click the **X** in the upper right-hand corner of the sidepane to close it and save your project .

Moving a Task in Your Task List and Cutting/Pasting a Summary Task

While you can use the cut, copy, and paste functions found in the *Task:Clipboar d* area of the ribbon to rearrange the sequence of tasks, you may find it easier to use the drag-and-drop approach. This section continues the use of **WBSEditing.mp p**. Please ensure this file is open before beginning, or open WBSEditing_Inst1.mp p .

- Click to select the entire task row of *Hire mover* (Task ID 13). When using drag-and-drop, it 1 is important to select the entire row by clicking the task number, not just the task name.
- 2 Click again and drag the row up until you see a gray line appear above *Select subcontractors* (Task ID 12). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 97. Using drag-anddrop to move a task



		2	() an inver	- 10110		nie nees i	100-00 L = V = V = V = V = L = V = V
	19	5	4 Diffee Railoons an Project	Xi desif.	015	648	1
	18	1.	* That 5m	Distance.	478	501	F
	т	5	Sand - prop and	14evi	415	34/17	and the second s
		ing .	Here are bread	×364	1.24	14	1
	+	1	te a rives for	t vek	6.75	3/4	30
		-	a chase une	. + de, 17	4/10	38	
			Particip Science	1.4m	458	104	lan,
14	1.0	-	for many red	I des	47.9	4/15	And and a second second
1	1.4	1.00	Corporate approval	2.265.0	1/44	Hav.	1
2		198	Regilder with set	t when	4,28	2016	
3	12	1	ri sal sa desenge	2.80,0	N.3	214	
7	then.	1	Select subscript actions	e e la	222	1.54	
	L. 1.	~	History and a	1 urb	5,28	194	
	HC -	1	Water dat Air pl	c\$rit .	140	- 55	
	16.	1.48	Card A North d	S days :	6.3	164	

3 Release your mouse button. *Hire mover* will replace *Select subcontractors* as Task ID 12, and Select subcontractors will become Task ID 13.

- Select the task row of summary task *Phase Two* (ID 6). 4
- From *Task:Clipboar d* click the *Cu t* [\mathbb{A} \mathbb{A} \mathbb{A} icon. The **Planning Wizar d** dialog box will 5 appear to remind you that because *Phase Two* is a summary task, deleting it will also delete all of its subtasks. (When you paste the summary task somewhere, all of its subordinate tasks will move with it). From the **Planning Wizar d** dialog box select **Cancel. Don't** *delete any tasks* . and click *O K* to close the box.
- What if you really wanted to delete a task? Select the task *Hire architect* (Task ID 3) and press 6 the **Delet** e key on your keyboard. Notice the "Smart Tag" (the large X) in the Indicator field of the following figure. This means Microsoft Project doesn't know whether you want the task name or the entire task deleted.

Figure 98.	3	-	×·		
Smart Tag options	4		0	Delete the task name.	sign
	E	ALC: NOT A	0	Defete the task.	1

7 Click the arrow by the *X* in the Indicator field to see your options. Select the default option: Delete the task nam e .

You will only clicking on the	You will only see the Smart Tag if you select the Task Name cell. If you select the entire row by
	clicking on the task ID number and then hit the ${\it Delete}$ key, Microsoft Project will assume you
NOTE	know what you're doing and delete the task without any questions. Thank goodness for $\mathit{Und}~o$ $$!

- Use the *Und o* button to restore the original task name. 8
- 9 Save and close your project.

Using the Task Summary Name field

Oftentimes, a task has so many subtasks that it gets cumbersome to scroll up and down just to see which summary task it's listed under. The Task Summary Name is a new field in Project 2019 that addresses this problem.

You can add this field by right-clicking on the top row of a column and selecting "Insert Column." This gives you a dropdown list where you can choose "Task Summary Name." The new field now says the name of the summary task for each task.

Figure 99.	Task Name 👻	Duration 👻	Start 👻	Finish 👻	Task Summary Name
Task Summary	▲ Phase 1	15 days	Thu 3/2/17	Wed 3/22/17	
Name field	Task A	5 days	Thu 3/2/17	Wed 3/8/17	Phase 1
	Task B	5 days	Thu 3/9/17	Wed 3/15/17	Phase 1
	Task C	5 days	Thu 3/16/17	Wed 3/22/17	Phase 1

Figure	99.
--------	-----

Viewing Outline Numbers

Figure Separate column task out number 1

2

When you create your schedule, Microsoft Project 2019 automatically assigns an outline number to each task, based on the outline structure. Each number indicates the task's position within the outline hierarchy. The first task in the outline is assigned the number 1. The subtask immediately below is then assigned the number 1.1; the next subtask is assigned the number 1.2; etc. Outline numbers can be useful for reporting purposes.

The outline number format is comparable to a WBS code, but outline numbers are created automatically by Microsoft Project, while the WBS code can be customized by the user. The number of digits in the code indicates the outline level; Task 1.1.1.1 is the first task in the fourth outline level, under Task 1.

This exercise uses the file **OutlineNumbers.mp p**. Be sure the project is open before continuing.

From *Format:Show/Hid e* select the *Outline Numbe r* checkbox. Outline numbers wil appear in your project plan. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 100.) internal	- Lumos -	Data		1, 0.0.2	a + 1	1 0.90125 1 0.90 T.W
		4	4 Soulissiane Systems in player stations	at days	4/18	2/K			
Outline		100	 - s aukterojectelan 	A.A. 68/8	4/18	411	-		
outilite		#	 1.1 Overte Subarment of Work 	3 days	3/18	3/20	0.4	- T	
numbers		A.U.	1.1.1 Discourse proceeding of	tiky .	4/15	2/14			
		4.0	1.1.2 Greate a survivary schedule	der	4,15	1214			
			LL SWHA SOW OF L	July	3'08	3/20	10		
		81.	5.2 Obtain approach of standard of Way	100.95	4.7	3(51			
	E	E	- L3 Create project plan	2 daşa	2/24	3/25		Ĩ.	1
	5		L'ALDo includies addition	Zukya .	3/23	5/15		-	
	2	X.	1.5.21 of and order played these	dee	41.7	8/27		100	
	5	10.1	L0.0 Aurign duration to project tasks	. dey	3/24	3/22		100	
	18	44.1	1.3.4 October in dependencies	take	3/23	3/52			53
		1	calls break approval of project also	10 00,5	40	osba			Tes,
		18.	2.5 Theil ce project plan and darin tion	Eday	2'26	3/27			inter :
		10	a 2 Selan System Summaria	2.8.1.9	420	4/91			ř
		14	All prestore part mach certain	122. 28,8	47.00	1412			
		54	2.2 Assess provessal on the Server	Scher	411		1.17		

If you prefer not to have outline numbers attached to the task names, you can insert the WBS field in the table to show the outline numbers in a separate column. To do this, right-click *Task Nam e* and select *Insert Column* ... from the menu that appears. Then, select *WB S* as the title of your column. Finally, from *Format:Show/Hid e* uncheck the *Outline Numbe r* checkbox. Your screen will resemble the following:

01.			0	-	Task dome		tier.	- 11			104-11-11 11 - M	E Form		000-0122 0 0 M 7 W
MDC		+1		ø	+ Software System Inglementation	#1 deut	3/18	7/	81	1	-			
WB2		4		1	+ Build Project Plan	Y.30 days	1/18	V	17		1	_	1.	- P ₁
showing		9		18.	· Courts Statument of Work	Sidops	1010	N	18		1	-	<u>ا ا ا</u>	
ine		1		1444	Determine present bodget	1.000	5/18	- 11	0.		1000			
inc		4		3.57	Create a summary schedule	1.8m	518	N	UI.		200			
		1		13.3	Winter SOW draft	5 Bept.	5/58	M	18		-	-		
				12.	Obtain approval of Statement of Work	0.85 \$40	3721	M	12				50.	
	141	OCT		1.1	+ Doute preject play	2 dagie	570	M	15				-	
	-31			1.11	Octine project attivities	2 4000	5/21	N	25				-	the local data
	21			1.3.2	Unit graf ander project Sooks	1.64	5/21	N	12				100	
	12	- 35		133	Accign characters to present tanks	1.60	3/23	- 31	22				100	
	α.	11		134	Create task elependencies	3.644	5/21	31	22				-	
		11		3.4	Obtain approval of project plan	0.65 (kep)	5/25	M	18					Test,
		16		1.8	Finalitie propert plan and definition	1.84	5/28	N	Ø					Tane .
		40		1	+ Befine Splan Devicement	23.15 day	1/20	4	18					1
		10		11	Delething current astronom	\$2.5 Aven	5/21	-4/	18					
		00		11.	Assess previous on the Server	5 dept	4/12	4/	19					

3

Click *Und o* several times to remove the WBS column. Save and close your project. [JG31]

Bringing in a Task List from Excel

You can import information from Microsoft Excel into any defined Microsoft Project field. Although you can enter values in some calculated fields, Microsoft Project may recalculate these values, either automatically or when you specify.

To transfer information between Microsoft Project 2019 and other programs, use the Import/Export Wizards to help you create an import map to ensure that the information is placed into the proper fields in Microsoft Project.

1 Before beginning this exercise, confirm that you are able to import tasks from Excel

124

spreadsheets that were created in an earlier version (pre-2013) of Microsoft Excel. To do so, open Microsoft Project and from *File:Option s* select *Trust Cente r*. Click the *Trust Center Settings* ... button and then click *Legacy Format s* in the sidebar.

2 Check the Allow loading files with legacy or non-default file formats. option. Your screen will resemble the following:

	That Leave -	and the second	the state
Figure 102. Trust Cente r (security) options	Tracted Publishers Tracted Publishers Aptimized Material Tallings Process Defense Process Defense	Tangang Tamawa O De mit operatives Pile with Agains on size italiak Bacharana in Project O Prinsyl when loading Pile with Tagain, on non-default Pile Tamat # Allew loading Pile with Tagain, on non-default Pile Tamata.	

- 3 Click **O K** twice to accept the new setting and close the dialog boxes.
 - Now, from File:Ne w click New from Excel workbook.
- You will be presented with the **Ope n** dialog box. Navigate to the *Exercises Director y* folder 5 on your computer (if necessary), select **Task List.xls x** , and click **Ope n** . You will be presented with the first **Import Wizar d** screen:



6 Click *Nex t*. The Wizard prompts you to select whether you want to use a *New ma p* or *Use* existing map p.

Figure 104. New or existing map prompt

4

ingen interes-been	
	Create every page on concreating page" If you have used this wave. I before you ray, have there is to see your referring on a large. In addition to mapp you was have mean, it have the proof of a solarly of addition only the control have using the create your data before herein and the control have every page to a control and before herein and the control have every page to a control and before herein and the control have every page to a control and before herein and the control have every page to a control and before herein and the data herein and the control page to be a solary based on any page to be to a to a A begins and A begi
Laria	Landen

7 Accept the default *New ma p* option and click *Nex t* to see the **Import Mod e** screen:

Figure 105. Import Mod e choices

Import Ward - Depart M	Face de pas cond la mand the fac A de reaj propet () departative alors in tre alors propet () grage the data and the alors propet
-	the fair (

NOTE

Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to append or merge Excel data to an existing project file, as well as create a new project file.

8 Ensure the default *As a new projec t* option is selected and click *Nex t* to see the *Map Option* screen.

Figure 106. Import Ma p options

 Select the types of pate pro-webt to import	
Total for (pp) of proper priority of endown pro- ter to the object of the prior of the object of the	
menant faar oppen 2 georf met een kunne henne een georet een een artest	

Each type of data (tasks, resources, assignments) imported will require a separate mapping screen to define where each Excel field corresponds to which Microsoft Project field.

9 Select *Task s* in the top section and *Import includes header s* in the bottom section, and click *Nex t* to see the **Task Mappin g** dialog box. From the *Source worksheet nam e* dropdown li select *Sheet 1* as follows:

	 Amport Wasid - Task Map
	Addat Ca
eddad Ca	Carlos and C

welly do bolk brow you we	of to each be deta		111
Talls Spin Field	The because the pertinent	Tada Vijis Vad	6
			1.
44444 Date	at Data Data See		•
	m. (notice) (honore)		
Martin Cone	m. (matter) (perfected)		
addat Con	w. (and me.) (and the)		

10 In the *To: Microsoft Project Fiel d* dropdown list, select *Name*. To see a preview of the mapping, press *Ente r* or click in the cell below the field.

They have a market of taxes.			
theet.			
Tests as with they pay want to may the	ate .		
Prim heat Pain	to Eleverative and the	240 194	18
Las Roses	Laured Patrice Middant	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1
(Tarihi Tarihi Tarihit		
Project Veams Preview Planning the blood Drownee arrows	Number Nu		

11 Click *Nex t* to see the **End of Map Definitio n** screen.

Figure 109. End of Map Definition screen

Figure 108. Selecting the project

field

Africa metanti - Distrat	Ne University and Annual State
	Congettenistene Pro Inspect Waard Daar of the Universities it seems to finant importing over data Out. Provid to complete the second sec Sector State Provid you would be to see these second of they are a data fit and again in the fittee.
100	(adda) (are form) (area

Notice this screen gives you the option to save and re-use your map.

12 Click *Finis h* . The task list from Excel will import to your new project plan. Your screen will resemble the following (only the first fifteen tasks are shown in this figure):

Figure 110. New Project file from Excel

44	(Rantologuella belicae			
10.1	Postal-New			
10	Original Property			
-0.0	- million and a local state			
14	Among and a second			
4	(Translation)			
de .	terest me			
10	taked and institut 1			
A	Thereise provides also			
de .	(wash online)			
1	Prophet adjustment			
A	this shortest			
14	the spin sector			
-	These concentrations and the second			

- 13 Save your new project plan with the default name **TaskList.mp p** .
- 14 Close your project.

Importing Outlook Tasks Dialog

To access this feature, first open a blank project. From *Task:Inser t* use the dropdown on the *Tas k* icon to select *Import Outlook Tasks....* The **Import Outlook Task s** dialog box will appear.

Figure 111. Import Outlook Task s dialog box

1		Tel lines	Dee	
11	14	Company 1- Advantagement	100	
01		Mill Tortrad, 200 a light contractal to difethion to know	38	
11		this Contract. Research port property to to have guessions encourt conterns that \$17	de.	
		Millin Farmine concentrational	18	
01		Drigenzel anal remember 2	18	
-	-	Competer - Constraints Intelligencestion	100	
0		Class E Buy to have apportunities	-786	
11		ESF Quarters Report Due	-	
	2.4	Tompson Hidge & Billion Wald	12	
11		Mile. Finance document rept	18.	
11		Disariest anal mount:	36	
01	1	Califying (Project Meunine recursionalities Inde		
		Crock 900/ ReC pollor for Reconstration contact, and to Gut of secult	78.	
		Confrient DOL avent and remented to one ranget	180	
11		bereing bedier Finiskel 02 RD A0718steger	141	
		Bfu Dettent beite migrap confecti pit bereftinaftiger fu breten	10	
12.4	_	New Workship Woulder product and the state of a state of the state of		1
		Terrer (Second		
		The second		
100		D Deter		

This box displays all your task folders from Outlook, but not tasks from public folders. The tasks are grouped by folder name and then category name.

Select tasks to import by clicking the checkbox to the left of the task name. Multiple tasks can be selected by holding down the *Control* or *Shift* key while selecting the tasks or by choosing a group of tasks (click the checkbox next to the category name). There is a *Select Al l* button as well as a *Clear Al l* button for more efficiency.

Once you've made your selections for import, click the *OK* button. The Outlook tasks will be appended into the currently open project.

7.3 Creating Task Dependencies

Setting Task Dependencies

- This exercise uses the file **TaskDependencies.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - 1 Click the *Task Nam e* column header to select all tasks in the project and then from *Task:Schedul e* click the *Link Task s* icon [____]. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 112. All tasks linked

	0 14	Catalogue o	-	144	Salath.	Company (St. ora	1.1.1	an e	i laiteacean
1		and the store of	-adroi	-461	14					
		· · Phone S int	Biler	-65	44					
1946		area reprise	TONT	100	4.5		The state of the s			
24	5	3 min/6	1000	46	431	2.6	Arrest Arrest	-	10 m	
*	-	E.c.Sap Sulla Londa (se	36.00	114	417	¢.			1	-
178		Louis acta in	Jek	1.12	42	210				610000
1.4		in Ministers		48.	51.	E33				
100		and a second second	105	4.4	4.4					
1.8		D. r. sign sars	Inci	1,24	424	7				
14	7	S. maria	Sere?	170	21					

Notice that by linking all the tasks in this way, the project's duration jumped from 36 days to 54 days. Ideally, the new project finish date would be acceptable to the client, but it's far more common for project managers to have to look for ways to speed up the schedule.

The way the tasks are linked above, all tasks in Phase One must be completed before any task in Phase Two can begin. You might decide that you could speed up the project by doing Phase One and Phase Two at the same time.

2 To do so, double-click the black line linking the bars for Phase One and Phase Two. The **Task Dependenc y** dialog box will appear.

Figure 113. Phase link



Figure 114. Unlinked phases (summary tasks) 3

Click *Delet e* to remove the link. Your screen will now resemble the following:



Another way to remove the link is to click *Phase One* and *Ctrl+Click* on *Phase Two* to select the noncontiguous tasks. Then, from *Task:Schedul e* click the *Unlink Task s* icon []].

Although you have saved some time (the project duration is now 36 days instead of 54 days), you realize this work schedule is impossible. According to this logic we can review the proposal (Task ID 7) before we're done writing it (Task ID 2). Click *Write proposal* and *Ctrl+Click* on *Review proposal* to select only those tasks, and then click the *Lini Task s* button to link them.

Your screen will resemble the following:



The process of shortening a project by doing tasks at the same time (in parallel) is called *fast-tracking* [DC32]. Fast tracking is the most common method used for shortening a project because it appears to be less expensive than the only alternative: *crashing* [DC33]. Crashing requires applying additional resources to critical path tasks to shorten individual tasks. We will present a more detailed discussion of this concept in Section 14.2: *Plan Revision and Scope Management*. Unfortunately, risk increases when tasks are done at the same time.

5 Click the *Und o* button in the upper-left corner of your screen, and save and close your project.

Note: Microsoft Project 2019's default when linking tasks is to create a finish-to-start task dependency since it is the most common type of task dependency. You can begin by selecting the preferred dependency or start with the default link and change the dependency type later. In the long run, it may be less work to link groups of tasks finish-to-start and modify the exceptions rather than establish all task dependencies individually.

Alternate Ways to Link Tasks

In this lesson we'll examine additional ways to create and modify logical task links.

This exercise uses the file **TaskDependencies.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.

Dragging the Link Line from One Task to Another

- 1 Place your mouse pointer over the Gantt bar for *Write proposal* (Task ID 2) so that the cursor turns into a four-way arrow.
- 2 Click and drag the link line to the Gantt bar of *Review proposal* (Task ID 7). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 116. Link path (linking by mouse)

0	Meale of	Tak Salar		Dente a	haveStan	n terih Disk	+ 2.00	5 5 94 1 94 1 1
	-	< Office Polocition	Faus Claich (f Ta Start Of:	•			Tock 2 Tock 7	-
	-	Write propose	i	1 days	-61	242		
-	195 C	Hire architect	5	Sawe	361	0159	22.5	
-	10	Other op prelin	VINARY CARES	Sanye	-4/11	2/17	3	1
	-	Locate new ex	*	1.44	4/33	124	1.1	1
	-	< Phase Two		didays?	4/1	64/10		11
	F 5	Restaux proport	est .	1.5.87	4/1	11		100
	-	Pre-te th prope	set.	1.287	4.5	10	2	in the second
	-	Corporate 244	learn.	5 24/82	4.0	174	4	
	-	Negation new	incre-	2445	4/13	10.00	- A	
	-	singles treat	200	2118	462	100		

3 Release your left mouse button. You have successfully linked Task 2 with Task 7 in a finishto-start fashion.

	Task dependencies rely on the order you selected. For example, if you had selected <i>Review proposal</i> (Task ID 7)
	first in the previous exercise and dragged its link line to Write proposal (Task ID 2), Review proposal would be
NOTE	shown as the predecessor of Write proposal.

Linking Tasks in a Split Screen

- 4 From *Task:Propertie s* select *Detail s* to see the Split Gantt Chart view.
- 5 Right-click in the Task Details Form (bottom pane). Click *Predecessors & Successor s* from the resulting menu. Your screen will resemble the following:



- 6 Click in the *Predecessor Nam e* field and then click the dropdown arrow to see the list of tasks in the project.
- 7 Select *Hire architect* (Task ID 3) in the Gantt Chart (top pane). Notice that its predecessor and successor are listed in the Task Details Form (lower pane). From this pane you can delete predecessor or successor tasks or add new ones.

	When working in this split view, changes made in the Task Details Form (lower pane) are not implemented until you click OK or hit <i>Enter</i> twice in succession (with no changes between	
NOTE	hits).	
		•1

8 Double-click the window divider to remove the split, or click the *Detail s* icon again.

Linking Tasks in the Entry Table

9 Move the vertical divider bar to the right until you can see the entire *Entry Tabl e*. You can assign predecessors (only) by typing the task ID number in the *Predecessor s* field for a task.

Using the Task Information Dialog Box

- 10 Double-click any task name to see the associated **Task Informatio n** dialog box, or select a task and click the *Informatio n* icon found in *Task:Propertie s*.
- 11 Select the *Predecessor s* tab to assign a predecessor or modify the type of dependency. Clic k *O K* to close the dialog box.

igure 118.	Same (Pretterror) Benarro (America) 1	ann Sume fate
ask	Same With proping	Bankon I may 111 Kitphana
nformatio n ialog	Enderseent Task Rate	Type Ling
	-	

Linking Tasks Using a Dropdown Menu

In previous versions of Microsoft Project, you had to remember the task ID each time you wanted to link it. New to Project 2019, you can select the tasks directly in the Predecessors and Successors columns.

When you select a cell in one of these columns, a dropdown arrow appears. Clicking that brings up a list of all the tasks in the same order and structure as they are in your project. From there, you can simply check the box next to the task you want to link.



- 1

Link tasks dropdown

		1.4	Task Name -	Duit = Start + Finish = Predecessors =						
¢.		-	4 Commercial Construction	344 d: Wed 4/ Mon 8/						
Ť.		-	General Conditions	17 day Wed 4/1 Thu 5/4/						
140	•		Receive notice to proceed and sign contract	3 days Wed Fri 4/12/17 4/14/17						
E	٠	-	Submit bond and Insurance documents	2 days Mon Tue 2 4/17/17 4/18/17						
4			Prepare and submit project schedule	2 days Wed Thu 4/12/17 4/13/17						
5	٠	•	Prepare and subi + schedule of valu	General Conditions						
6	٠		Obtain building permits	4. Prepare and submit project schedule 5. Prepare and submit project schedule 6. Obtain building permits 7. Submit preliminary shoe drawings						
T		-	Submit prelimins shop drawings							
8	•		Submit monthly requests for pays	O Submit monthly requests for payment Submit for curement Submit for curement						
5		-	I Long Lead Procuren	11 Submit shop drawings and order long						
10			Submit shop dra and order long le Items-steel	12 Subset shop drawings and order long 13 Subset shop drawings and order long 14 Subset shop drawings and order long						
11		-	Submit shop drav	cicha china						

Establishing Other Types of Dependencies

If a finish-to-start task dependency does not accurately reflect the relationship between two tasks, you can use the **Task Dependenc y** dialog box to select a different type. To access the **Task Dependenc y** dialog box, simply double-click the dependency link line between the tasks in the Gantt Chart.

In the following example, we have decided that in the interest of time the beginning of the task *Negotiate new* lease would allow the task Finalize drawings to begin, so we want to change the present finish-to-start dependency to a start-to-start relationship.

Double-click the link line between Negotiate new lease and Finalize drawings. In the resulting 12 dialog box, click the down arrow in the *Type*: window. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 120.	Text De	pendency				2
Task Dependency	Fram To	Negotiate new leave Finalize drawings				
dialog box	Dee	Finish-to-Start (FS)		log	0st	16
	-11-	Finish-to-Start (FS)	-		1255	
		Shart to Shart (55)		1.10	Canor	n, Sili
	_	Finish-to-Finish (FF) Start-to-Finish (SF) (Nand)				

13 From the *Type* : dropdown list, select *Start-to-Start (SS)* and click *O K*. The two tasks are no shown to start at the same time. Your screen will resemble the following:

Start-to-start		0 2		i teris	Bal.	- 88		COLUMN T	a state to
task			- OF Salvards . Parked	18 dense	74	19		10.0	
			1.01100		5	400			
dependency	- 20		3 Balances	15.05	100			and the second second	
1 5	1.1		1. 0. 40 × 60 ×	140	14	47	×		
		1.05	Source aller a studen	1994	1	411	- 80	0.0	
	- 4		1000000000	1987	1.2	4.44	- H		
		- M	All confusions	Hides' 'M KF					
	1.00	- R	 andes preval. 	100	454	45			
	200		A music consult	distant.	12	.42	- P		NO.
	2.4	1.10	a partie approval	10013	1.4	45			The second secon
	Se	-	Haud daran harr	side .	105	41.			
	91 m	1.1	Citable County	100	10.0	47.4	100		Extense
		100	A familie	1.0		41	44.5		2 m 1
	2.11	1.1	Advertises and an	14.	100	AT.	2		
	144	100	AND THE AVER			-7.	24		
	100		5 mm m	144	1.00	4.5	640		



Dependencies can also be changed in the Task Details Form (in the split window) by clicking in the Type column for a dependency. They can also be changed in the **Task Informatio n** dialog box; be sure to work with the successor task, since only the predecessor task(s) are shown in this dialog. Double-click the successor task name to open the Task Informatio n dialog easily.

Adding Lag or Lead Time to Modify Task DependenciesIn addition to establishing task dependencies, you can specify any necessary delay between tasks by inserting lag. As covered in Section 6.2: *Determining* Logical Relationships of Tasks in Your WBS, lag is a required waiting period, generally used to allow something to happen—concrete to set, paint to dry, etc. Lag time lengthens the project duration, but it is logically necessary.

We have decided we really can't start the *Finalize drawings* task until some of the *Negotiate new lease* task is complete. The negotiators feel that they will need at least three days' discussion before the second task can begin.

- Double-click the link line between Negotiate new lease and Finalize drawings, then in the 14 **Task Dependenc y** dialog box enter "*3d*" in the *La g* field.
- Click **O K** . Task 11 now starts three days after Task 10 starts. Your screen will resemble the 15 following:

Figure 122.			14 .		-	-		20-11-	2.	A121 6-11 1 1 1 4 1 1 4 1 1 1 4 1
		1		1.04 as follownion Project	12 days?	4/1	3/34			and the second se
SS dependency		8.1	-	+ Minte Cred	11-01-0	. 10	18.00	_	_	
with lag		1.1		With property	1 cight	- 10	2.00		_	
with hug			-	distant distant.	diam'r.	42	2/30			
		1	×.	Seattle a seattle deal of the same	1 days	611	140	2	_	
		8.1	-	ACTO PARONA	150	-141.	4144		_	
		- A.C.	- M.	+ Prase Law	an care of	187	104		_	
	1	10	-	Greener proposal	Tuby	195	24		_	
	- 5		15	No. of Concerned	false.	10.	4.0			
	- 8		FL	Corporate seguritur	Longer	45.	4711	and the second second	1	
	- Q.	35.	-	NUMBER OF STREET	154	who -	Ata.	1	-	And and a second se
	- 5	11	-	Final as desirings	Ir city i	510	eta .	A 117 -		And a second
		84.3	-	di na sena	155	622	2,034	1000		
		10	R .	Article in destruction and	1540	405	1110			Versen Versen
		4.5	- ML	Jama chaungs	1004	SIL	1244			
		16.	144	America received.	Sec.	242.6				

Even when tasks are linked finish-to-start, it is not always necessary for the first task to completely finish before the second task can begin. To show that two tasks can overlap, you can specify lead time after establishing a task dependency such as finish-to-start. Ultimately, lead time shortens the duration of a project.

Lead time is expressed as a negative number in the lag field.

16 Save and close your project [JG34].

Determining the Proper Order of Tasks in a Project

The order in which tasks are performed is an important piece of the logic for a project.

This exercise uses the file **PanTransConference.mp p** which you created earlier in this chapter. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **PanTransConference Inst1.mp p**.

As you can see from our previous work with this project, the starting assumption is that all the detailed tasks we have listed can be done on the same day. However, when we look at the detailed task descriptions it is clear that is not the case; some tasks depend on the outcome of another one. We can visualize a chain of activities each depending on the successful completion of the one before. The sequence is defined using dependencies which link one task as a predecessor with another that is a successor.

1 We will first identify tasks where the outcome of one task is used directly by another task. For instance, *Decide on venue criteria* and *Develop list of key agenda items* should immediately follow *Hold project kick-off meeting*. Using the methods discussed earlier in this chapter, link these tasks by establishing two finish-to-start dependencies.

Figure 123.			e. 5	de a concensione .	. Links	e laste	(Alther)	1932 (1963) 1979 (1970)
0		10.0	-	 Paral carda da serviz (1983) 	24.00	A'17 .	4143	
		14	-	a Propert Management	1000	517	¥12	
Linking tasks			-	Fajalish g	24.0	1117	8/10	- Mark
using finish to		1	-	same wange went	201.7	de	siz.	- 100 C
using minsii-to-		Τ.,	-	a far wealthin deg.	2dept	417	426	
start		- 1		fd ag shistin i g	14.10	. 2412	619	
dopondoncios		10.0		- Vielasi	201,00	elle -	6.2	1 1
dependencies	2	191		LARKE OF OF M DWM B	1.844	- 10	60	
	2	10	~	A classified to a station with respect	1.8.1	5/12	10.1	
	19	281	-	Science and a second statements	Sec. 6	1117	62.5	1000
	5	R	-	earthing casaled moanthick to too time octaine it enset	1.111	142	de	
	+	п.	5	We have a server one of the rest of the servers	4.15	417	\$17.	
		11	-	S shake a const	14.6	1.17	617	- Sum
		11.7	- -	 Ager da a stateste a 	201,11	de	6.0	
		1.1		a size my les of hay age on the on	1000	1.562	3/80	
		1.	-	Energy & Experience Insteam	14.70	.517	N12	6005
		H.	-	Require hel of second any sport darker terms should	Suge	10.7	612	- New Color

It is also possible to link several tasks at one time. Select all the Venue sub-tasks (Task ID 7 2 through Task ID 12), and from *Task:Schedul e* click the *Lin k* icon. Your screen will resemb the following:

1	/							
	80							
1	1	-						
		0 12.	Techne and the second	- Second	- 500	1.544	Statute .	real Her
		-	 Rectangle states to their. 	Turne!	1117	154		
	1	10	· Freij - Maragen en	Ligt	3/7	501	-	
	33	10	model margers	1.940	8.1		100	
			hour has a provide	Light :	6.17	8127	100	
			a Germal/Naming	Cheve	412	1418		
	18.1	-	ACCRETED ACCOUNT OF MENT	1.26/2	3.4			
		M	1 mm	D Jama	679	1011		
(E)	101	5.0	and a second second second	1.445	621	2000		- Mart
1.1	1.		Her or when the second of possible reliance	1.367	2	200	8	ROF
	36	1. C.	A realitant or capitor failer tax.	1.145	1,00	1477		line .
1	2.5	- R (contract and a second structure of the second se	1.140	400	1000		Ten .
1.53	ñé.	-	Consideration and other a functions	Light	2/21	100		Ten-
	3.7	R	A rate of con-	The?	3,27	1,12		6
	14.1	15	a approximated scheduler	count.	11.1	441		
	110	-	there is 1 of disc score or an	Linet	a. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.	1400		

In the same manner, link all the Agenda and schedule sub-tasks (Task IDs 14 to 20) 3 Note: Hold project kick-off meeting (Task ID 5) now has two successors (Task IDs 7 and 14). Tasks may also have multiple predecessors.

4 The WBS structure often becomes even more complicated. Develop list of entertainment *events* (Task ID 19) is dependent on the venues being considered, and so must be a successor to *Perform detailed research on top three potential venues* (Task ID 10). Update the project accordingly.

5 Because it is necessary for the first five *General Planning* sub-tasks (Task IDs 7, 14, 21, 22, and 23) to be completed prior to completing the final sub-task, link each of these tasks as a predecessor to *Present general plan* (Task ID 24). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 125.

Linking multiple predecessor tasks to key successor tasks

	0 h.	Tab Sam	Antes	+ states	the least	Level Stra	111111
	1.1	4 5/10/	1.0.0	44		10000	
237	1000	Accesses and a	100	16	Sec	and the second sec	
		The sense of the and to repossible sources	Logi	110	0.11	The International Contract of the In	
	100	A desting the committee that and the	1 11	5455	322	1.00	
- 16		conference duration in a success of the second s	ingt-	1.0	64-		Sec. 1
- 10	-1	Aduated and the advertised and the second	Lour	144	64		-
- 780	10	Advantage and pressing	1	1.71	5.17		Jer
+ .B	10	a signification of white data	1000		424		
2,000	1	AG4 DK1 IF STON AM126/FMD	106	46.	Het.		
3.0	1	Barrieges also generatives al services.	Issign	194	1.14		
2.6	10	"s and down tryings lith an all ry	1. 11		NT	- 1mi	
1.646	14	magen and organization gands	int	1.1	1.2		âns.
- 36	-	Contract in this man term	1500	int.	80		in .
1	-	Severaph Aufenting Manager Law, do.	Page .	1.71	6.17	-	1000
14	~	the spiral symptotic distribution	1.10	3.2	425		
100	-	8.9M	1.04	.114	\$tr	1 mm	
322	11.141.1	Do en a distanção	Int	1921	pl."	100 mm	
	100	Binn from h m	1 11	- AHT	MIC		
6	- 4	conversional star	1000	1.05	6.1	100 Mar 1	

6 Sometimes, it can be difficult to discern the many predecessors to a key successor by looking at the links in the Gantt Chart. When that happens, choose *View:Split vie w* and click on *Detail s*. Next, right-click in the lower pane of the split window to select the *Predecessors & Successor s* details. Click on Task 24, *Present general plan*, to see a list of the task's predecessors.



7 Save your project.

7.4 Task Types and Scheduling

When you assign a resource to a task in Microsoft Project 2019, there is a well-defined mathematical relationship between three fields: Work, Duration, and Units. Microsoft Project uses the following formula to calculate the values of these fields:

Work = Duration X Units

As covered in the *Schedule Development* sub-section of Chapter 6.2, *work* [DC35] is the effort that will be expended by a resource to complete the task. *Units* refers to the percentage of the resource's working time (as defined in their calendar) that will be allotted to the task. *Duration* is the number of days it will take to complete the task.

For example, if a resource is assigned 40 hours of work at 100% units, the duration of the task will be 40 hours, or 5 days. If the resource is working only 50% of their time on this task, then the duration is 80 hours, or 10 days.

As there are three variables in this equation, the simplest rendering you can produce is a solid threedimensional curve showing the relationship of the variables—not terribly useful for practical answers. By
eliminating a variable, the equation becomes simple algebra and can easily be solved for concrete values, which is much more useful to a project manager.

You can decide which value should be a constant by determining which of the three you could estimate most accurately during planning. Microsoft Project will then calculate the other two values as assignments are made. (Using the approach in this course, until an assignment is made, the only value Microsoft Project has for each task is its duration). Once an assignment is made, all three values for this formula are known, and Microsoft Project will continue to calculate the values when changes are made.

You control which value is treated as a constant and which can be re-calculated by Microsoft Project by the use of task types. To do so, a clear understanding of how this process works is necessary; otherwise, it will appear that Microsoft Project is misbehaving when it is actually working perfectly.

Microsoft Project 2019 defines three different task types:

- □ **Fixed Units** The default, unless you change Microsoft Project's options; assumes you know each resource's % availability for project work)
- **Fixed Work** The most common in a consulting environment
- **Fixed Duration** Determined by the nature of the task

The general rule is:

If one of the three values (work, duration, or units) is fixed, and you change a second value, the third will be re-calculated and changed by Microsoft Project.

This rule works predictably and is fundamental to understanding how Microsoft Project manipulates resource assignments.

For example, for a fixed units task, if you modify an assignment's work, the task duration will be recalculated. Or, if you modify the task duration on a fixed work task, the resource assignment's units will change.

The Smart Tags feature of Microsoft Project 2019 makes this process easier because Microsoft Project asks you what you have in mind when you make a change in a resource assignment, as you'll see shortly.

Determining Task Types

As we continue to develop the WBS for our project, it is important to understand the kind of things that influence the effort required to perform a task. With this information we are better able to determine the task type: fixed work, fixed duration or fixed units.

Fixed work [DC36] tasks are the most common. The size of a fixed work task is driven by how much effort is needed to complete it. Remember the school mathematics exercises: "If it takes 3 men 7 days to dig a ditch 50 feet long, how long will it take 4 men to dig a ditch 70 feet long?" This type of problem refers to a fixed work task. The assumption is that the task only progresses while resources are actively working on it.

Fixed duration [DC37] tasks are performed over a specific period of time, regardless of how hard the resources are working. Natural processes, such as growing a culture in a Petri dish, tend to be fixed duration tasks. There is likely to be involvement of resources for supervision or maintaining the environment for the culture to grow, but typically adding extra resources does not affect the speed at which the task progresses.

Fixed units refers to support tasks for which the duration is the same as the activity being supported. Fixed units tasks generally do not drive the schedule. It is typical for these tasks to have no successors. By default, Microsoft Project identifies new tasks as fixed units. You can change this by navigating to *File:Options:Schedul e* and using the *Default Task Typ e* dropdown arrow to set the desired default task type.

Figure 1.

Changing the task type

(14) Har-	1.0.00
and bert Andre An	Some words, word a skelete service of skelete
	THE REPORT OF THE PARTY OF THE

Figure 2.

Task Informatio n dialog box 1

3

4

This exercise continues to use file **PanTransConference.mpp** created earlier in this chapter. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **PanTransConference_Inst2.mp p**.

Double-click *Hold project kick-off meeting* to view the **Task Informatio n** dialog box for this task.

hereni Longenter, IPA				Persity and In-	1
W gate Introduced					
3at 412	•	(perm	128		
There is Deriv No to There					

2 In the **Task Informatio n** dialog box, select the *Advance d* tab and use the dropdown arrow in the *Task typ e* field to select *Fixed Duratio n*. Click *O K* to close the dialog box.



- Select *Project tracking* and *Issue management*, and from *Task:Propertie s* click the *Informatio n* button to view the **Multiple Task Informatio n** dialog box.
- Select the *Advance d* tab and use the dropdown arrow in the *Task typ e* field to select *Fixed Unit s*. Click *O K* to close the dialog box.

Figure 4.

Multiple Task Informatio n dialog

Share .			Zwokce .	121 Mathematica
Combien bet				
Destiny		2		
Constraint type:		• Contract and		
Tast type:	Page Units	a bitmut min		
Galatide	Presd Duradeory	- 12 Streeting	iann annas	selection .
Warman.	Press Mich			
Daniel paint man	of .			
	233			

Another method for identifying a task's type is to insert a new column (Type) in your Gantt Chart view.

5 Right click in the Duration column header and select *Insert Colum n* . In the new column, select *Typ e* . Your screen will resemble the following:

	0	Tek Kone +	Ted blaver v	Tpir a	Sume 4	Sec
Ð.,	5	-	< PanTransConference_Inst2	Fixed Duration -	9 daya?	8/18
T		10	< Project Management	Flored Damation	1 day/	2/18
2		10 A	Project tracking	Freed Units	1 day?	3/18
1		-	issue management	Fixed units	1.00/?	\$/18
4		-1	 General Planning 	Ebood Dupation	9 days?	8/18
5		-	Hold project kick-off meeting	Fised linits	1 day1	2/18
В.		10	* Weber	fixed Duration	Segula d	3/19
1		-	Decide pri venue priteria	Fixed Units	1 day?	\$715
8		-	Perform brief research on possible venues	Shord Units	1 day?	2/20
4		15	Select top three potential venues.	Fixed linits	1 dwy?	3/21
14			Perform detailed research on top three potential verses	Foxed Units	1 day?	3/23
11		100	Calculate cost and other criterio scores	Flood Units	1.059?	\$725
32		14	Select winning versue	Shord Knite	1 day/	2/26
11		10%	Agenda and schedule	Fixed Duration	7 days T	3/19

For the purpose of this exercise, use the dropdown arrows in the Type column to change the task type to *Fixed Wor k* for all remaining detailed tasks. Try changing a few task types to get a feel for how this feature works. Note: We can change the task types any time, as we progress through the planning process.

Figure 6.		0	iet Lui	- "di tara	 3.00		- 511	1.	94-14-34	
			-	 PonTransConference_het3 	Feed Daration	i daya?	3/15	1 8	1	
**	(+)	1. 1	1	 Anoject Wanegement; 	feedDursten.	1 day?	3/18	1 8	100	
Using the drop	12		-	Project tracking	burn that	Subyr.	2/18	1 1		
down to set	- 31	1 2	5	Tour name points	Feed that	Tube:	\$/10			
task type.	- 141		-	a Shearad Annuay,	Kit A state	they'	400		1	
			•	Here's a report size off or remain	Kardthall	diff	4710	11 9	1.4000	
							0.4550			

Save your project.

7.5 Estimating Task Size

6

7

1

Once you identify tasks, the next step in developing a WBS is to estimate the size, or duration, of each task. You must gather estimates for all fixed work tasks (how much resource effort is required during task performance?) and fixed duration tasks (how much time will elapse during task performance?).

- This exercise continues the use of file **PanTransConference.mpp.** Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **PanTransConference_Inst3.mp p** .
 - Right-click in the Start column header and select *Insert Colum* n . In the new column, select *Wor* k . Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 7.

Figure 5.

Display the task Type column

Inserting the Work column

to the Gantt Chart view

		3	e lastas -	100	- 2444	Nie	- 641	2 1 1 1 1	AL
	43	-	* Sector Communication	Frank Diversities	1 de pré		8/17	MSS FELLING	
		5	a fredere Strange went	fund terration	441	ster.	\$12	(_
	2	1	The advantage	Pra A h	Laborer .	81 +	617	1000	
	2	-	THE PROPERTY AND	Sec. AT 23	1.862	100	A1.5	100	
	4	1	v C = ul Ner by	And And Inc.	Yday.F	46.0.	1412		_
	40	-	He diproject fields of intractory	PAR A Mar	22/11	ALC: N	10.20	4000	
	×.	5	a Server	Card to other	Select ¹	dia.	424		
1	10	-	Donk can also have it in	Sec. Oak	Token).	81 1	6.25	Time	
21	12	2	earbrachelingestein stokeseese	val net	.367	APT -	No	Tes.	
-	2.	-	Galg to and one.	2116/2010	1.4454	11.5	N 12		
3	R	7	Ferfahrings National Strap Street print State of the	- six 2x4	2261	803	12		- Ann

2 For *Hold project kick-off meeting* (currently our only fixed duration task), enter a task duration of "0.5 days" in the Duration column.

Note: Microsoft Project 2019 will accept duration estimates in minutes (type an "m"), days (d), weeks (w), and months (mo). The default value is days, so typing "3" or "3d" will both result in a duration of 3 days. It's best to use the same setting to avoid confusion from task to task, particularly if working with multiple projects or if others are reviewing your project.

4 For each of the fixed work tasks, enter the work required in the Work column according to the following table:

Task Name	Work	
Decide on venue criteria	4 hours	
Perform brief research on possible venues	16 hours	
Select top three potential venues	4 hours	
Perform detailed research on top three potential venues	24 hours	
Calculate cost and other criteria scores	8 hours	
Select winning venue	4 hours	
Develop list of key agenda items	4 hours	
Develop draft agenda around key items	4 hours	
Prepare list of secondary agenda item candidates	16 hours	
Estimate time required for agenda	4 hours	
Prepare list of presenters	8 hours	
Develop list of entertainment events	4 hours	
Develop draft agenda and schedule	8 hours	
Budget	8 hours	
Communication plan	8 hours	
Personnel commitments	8 hours	
Present general plan	8 hours	
Venue arrangements	8 hours	
Attendance	8 hours	
Agenda planning and timetable	8 hours	
Meeting facilities	8 hours	
Contingency planning	8 hours	
Cost planning	8 hours	
Catering	8 hours	
Publish final detailed plan	8 hours	

Your screen should match the following:

Figure 8.

Entering work

at the task level

		Par-	Section .	200	- Sector	. Set		(Sault) 181-6
	沃	-	- Name of the second second	Assile die.	1 les/	10 in	1,74	
	2	1	yet de coverne treats	-ar yet	1.047	1.50	1.28	100
	1.	10	Normal to despite them.	An entre la	1.141	11.4	3,71	Are,
	14	1	LARGE SCHOOL AND A STATE OF A STATE OF A	AND YOR	L'OH!	1 94	3.22	Text,
	1		Problem for all the sense of th	n creative de	r ter	14.00	120	- Aut
	310	10	Table is a section if we are a	Frields &	1.141	5.00	1,74	har
12	2.01	-	and the second part of	-WACK	LONG?	1.98	1/27	
- 2	-38	1	and produces that there	freedownian.	Class?	1.6	478	Contraction of the second s
12	14	1	Available of the synger definers	sources the time	Line"		2.27	ime.
2	34	1	to when that age deares of by to as	Clear Sector 4	1.045	6.90	121.	Res.
1	1	~	Property in the first second as the approximation of the second s	· www.b	1.547.	12.0.	2.22	5
	2.05	1	and also an acceptanced for systems a	Sec. West	1.34	1.00	1/27	Tas-
	30	-	in type in the off the content	Contine &	1.147	5.941	17.94	la l
	3.85	-	Souther following an an descent	1 - a. 76 h.	Like?	5a.	1.21	and the second se
	- 36	1	recorders and regards and enter de-	100.004	1.1927	0.41	1.14	1
	1.11	10	A 10	1 . a. 24. 6	1.64*	Also .	1.17	10-
	22	- m	LowFar Stock 215	-weight	1.06/*	250	12.1	100 T

Note that because resources are not yet assigned to the tasks in this project, the Units value does not yet apply and Duration have not yet been calculated (*1 day* ?) for fixed work tasks.

We have yet to assign a resource to a fixed units task. In this project, we have two fixed units tasks: *Project tracking* and *Issue management* (Task IDs 2 and 3). Remember, fixed units tasks are support tasks that only affect the project schedule when there is a shortage of resources to perform these tasks. In the case of these project management tasks, they will be performed over the length of the project, and it's important that the estimated task duration is shorter than the tasks they are supporting so they are not mistaken for critical path tasks.

4 Currently the *General Planning* phase of the project has a scheduled duration of 8.5 days, so set the duration of the fixed units tasks to 8 days each.

5 Save and close your project.

7.6 Manual Task Scheduling

Microsoft Project 2010 introduced a major shift in how projects are scheduled. Since then, project managers have been able to choose to manually schedule individual (or all) tasks in a project.

When a task is manually scheduled, changes due to factors such as task dependencies (covered in Section 6.2: Determining Logical Relationship of Tasks in Your WBS) and the project calendar (covered in the *Schedule Development* sub-section of 6.2) no longer automatically adjust task dates. You can also place a manually scheduled task anywhere in your schedule, and Microsoft Project won't move it.

Project managers who prefer automatic scheduling can turn off the new manual scheduling feature for specific tasks or for the entire project. Some projects, especially complicated ones, may still require Microsoft Project's powerful scheduling engine.

Note: Except for in the following exercise, it is still recommended that you use auto-scheduling for new tasks.

Manually Scheduling New Tasks

□ This exercise uses the file **TaskScheduling.mp p** . Ensure this file is open before beginning.

- 1 To change the default manual setting for scheduling of new tasks, at the bottom-left of your screen click *New Task s* and select *Aut o Scheduled Task dates are calculated by Microsoft Projec t*. Alternatively, from *Task:Task s* use the *Mod e* dropdown to select *Autc Schedul e*. For this exercise we will continue to use manual scheduling, so ensure this setting is restored.
- 2 Insert a new task before *Review project plan with team* (Task ID 5) and call it *Edit proje plan*. As you can see at the bottom left of your screen, the default scheduling setting for new tasks is *Manually Scheduled*.

Figure 9. REW TASKS : MANUALLY SCHEDULED

3 In *Manually Schedule d* mode, tasks can be used as placeholders when schedule details

are not yet be known; in this case, text can be added to the scheduling fields. For your new task, *Edit project plan*, enter "tbd " in the Duration field. Enter "After July" in the Start field Enter "December" in the Finish field. The task will retain the text entries and Microsoft Project will not automatically schedule the task.

Figure 10.

Inserting and entering information for a manually scheduled task

ask: Rode +	Task Name +	Duration +	Jiet +	tinih -
ç.	 Software System Implementation 	102 days	6/6	10/25
4	* Build Project Plan	23 days	6/6	7/6
5	Create Statement of Work	10 days	6/6	6/19
ç.	Obtain approval of Statement of Work	I day	6/20	6/20
5	Create project plan	10 days	6/21	7/4
7	Edit project plan	708	after July	December
5	Review project plan with team	1 day	7/5	7/5

- Select *Edit project plan again* and from *Task:Task s* click the *Auto Schedul e* icon. No the task now has scheduled dates. Click *Und o* in the upper-left corner of your screen to return to the manually scheduled task.
- 5 To change the default task mode for all projects, from *File:Options* cli c *k Schedul e* and then by the *Scheduling options for this project* section, use the dropdown arrow to select *All New Project s*, as in the following figure:



6

Click *Cance l* (we do not want to save this option).

Top-Down Summary Tasks

4

At the beginning of the planning phase, project managers may only have some high-level information on key deliverables and major milestones of their projects. The project manager can use Microsoft Project 2019 to divide projects into high-level phases based on the overall timeline and budget. This means that dates for individual work items do not necessarily need to line up exactly with dates for the high-level phases.

7

Select *Edit project plan* and change the new task scheduling mode to *Auto Schedul e*. To make this task a top-down summary task, enter a new task immediately following it called *Review project plan edits*.

8 Select the new task and from *Task:Schedul e*, click the *Indent Tas k* icon. *Edit projec plan* becomes a summary task with rolled-up schedule information. This allows detailed tasks to be planned and executed within a summary task, while the summary task can represent higher-level schedule goals.

Figure 12.

Converting a new task to a summary task

tick. Wode +	Tank Name -	Deration -	mit .	each v
-	 Software System Implementation 	102 days	6/6	10/25
-1	# Build Project Plan	23 days	6/6	7/6
-	Create Statement of Work	10 days	6/6	6/19
-	Obtain approval of Statement of Work	1 day	6/20	6/20
-1	Create project plan	10 days	6/21	7/4
-	 Edit project plan 	1 day	7/5	7/5
-	Review project plan with team	1 day	7/5	7/5
-1	Obtain approval of project plan	Loay	7/0	7/6
		Note Teck Name • * Software System Implementation • • * Software System Implementation • • * Software System Implementation • • * Create Statement of Work • • * Obtain approval of Statement of Work • • * Create project plan • • * Edit project plan • • * Review project plan • • * Obtain approval of project plan • •	Note Tech Name Disconsition * Software System Implementation 102 days * Software System Implementation 102 days * Build Project Plan 23 days Create Statement of Work 10 days Obtain approval of Statement of Work 16 days Create project plan 10 days * Edit project plan 16 day Review project plan with team 16 day Cotain approval of project plan 16 day	Note Tech Name Diration Diration Output * Software System Implementation 102 days 6/6 * Build Project Plan 23 days 6/6 Create Statement of Work 10 days 6/6 Obtain approval of Statement of Work 10 days 6/6 Create project plan 10 days 6/20 Create project plan 10 days 6/21 * Edit project plan 1 day 7/5 Review project plan with team 1 day 7/5 Cotain approval of project plan 1 day 7/5

9 Save your project.

Respect Links

When you are using manual scheduling, Microsoft Project 2019 does not automatically reschedule tasks when you edit predecessor information. If you want Microsoft Project 2019 to do this, you must change the task mode to auto-scheduled or, as an alternative, from *Task:Schedul e* click the *Respect Link s* icon [⁴⁹]. This reschedules the task but keeps it manually scheduled.

Inactive Tasks

The inactive tasks functionality allows you to remove tasks from your project while maintaining a record of the tasks you've removed.

Inactivating tasks helps you to manage scope. When a project runs over budget or over schedule, you can remove tasks but give yourself an option to re-add them later as funding and time allow. You can also use the inactive tasks functionality to perform "What-If Analysis" by experimenting with different combinations of adds or cuts to your project. To inactivate a task or group of tasks:

Continuing our work with **TaskScheduling.mp p** (or open **TaskScheduling_Inst1.m**] **p**), select *Review project plan edits* (Task ID 6). Go to *Task:Schedul e* and click the *Inactive e* icon [] . Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 13.

Setting an Inactive task

0	Tras Wodu -	Task Manu -	Dundor -	Marth -	finar +
	10	Software System Implementation	102 days?	5/6	9/26
	85,	a Build Project Plan	15 days?	5/6	6/1
	-	Create Statement of Work	10 days	5/8.	5/19
	-	Obtain approval of Statement of Work	1004	5/22	5/22
	-	Create project plan.	10 cays	5/21	6/3
	-	 Editprojectplan 	0 days?	5/6	5/6
	105	Have not privated at the leader	2-days/d	8-7-8	8-TH
	1	Beview project plan with team	1600	6/5	6/6

Notice that the inactive task no longer affects the schedule, and is not able to be updated. This change also triggered a re-calculation of the summary task above (Task 5 *Edit Plan*) and its duration was set to 0 days

2

1

To reactivate this task, right-click the task and from the dropdown list click *Inactivate Tas k* to uncheck it.



3

Save and close your project [JG38].

7.7 Task Planning Review Exercise

- 1 Start a new project to begin one week from today and save the file as **MeetingTasks.mp p** in the exercise directory.
- 2 Enter "Shareholders Meeting" as the project title, "2012 Annual Report" as the subject, and your name as author and manager. Show the project title as Task 0 in the Gantt Chart view.
- 3 Enter the following tasks and durations in the task list:

Task	Duration		
Schedule conference date	1 day		
Print letter	2 days		
Book keynote speaker	2 days		
Develop letter	1 day		
Get corporate approval	1 week (estimated)		
Plan food with caterer	3 days		
Print catering menu	1 day		
Meeting occurs	milestone		

- 4 Insert a new task, *Reserve conference center*, with a duration of 2 days before Task 2 (*Print letter*).
- 5 Move Task 3 (*Print letter*) after Task 6 (*Get corporate approval*) using drag-and-drop.
- 6 Insert a new Task 1, *Meeting Details* , and make all following tasks part of this phase (i.e. indent them).
- 7 Link all tasks in the *Meeting Details* phase finish-to-start, and then change the link for *Print lette* and *Plan food with caterer* to start-to-start.
- 8 Show a delay of 2 days between *Reserve conference center* and *Book keynote speaker*. Overlap *Plan food with caterer* and *Print catering menu* by 1 day. Your screen should resemble the following:

Figure 15.

Tasks with lag

	0	Taik Mode +	TekHore	+ Dealer -	- 664)	· Faid.	425.5 1 + 1 1 14 W 1 1
1		-	* Shareholders Meeting	12 days?	3/28	4/12	
1		102	a natoring details	tr days?	418	4/12	
ð.		-1	Schedule conference bate	1.437	4/18	82.0x	1.
8		-	Ferror conference perced	2 days	2/24	3/54)	
¥.		-	Rock Stytote speaker	>days.	4/8	4/5	
9.0		-	Develop Letter	1 day	445	4/6	New York
4		-	Set corporate approval	1.44/7	-4/2	4/2	Les .
7		#12/-	Frislietter	244/8	=/20	6/11	
4		m2-	Plan load with caterer	Oden	4/10	4/12	20
4		87	Print cataring manu	1 dey	4/12	4/12	
13		100	Maeting occurs	Video	4/12	4/12	d 4/12

9 Save and close your project [JG39].



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

- 1. What 4 things does the Project Charter include?
- 2. How can you display the project summary task?
- 3. When could organizing the WBS to major sections for each phase of the project, with the phases appearing sequentially be valuable?

4. What is the next the step after the overall structure of the project is determined?

5. Describe the "8-80 rule."

6. What are some of the best practices to use when determining the level of detail required for each task in your project?

7. Why does the duration appear as "1 day?" by default when you start entering tasks in your project plan?

- 8. What is the Task Inspector?
- 9. You accidently delete a task that was not supposed to be deleted. What can you do?
- 10. What is the difference between the outline number and the WBS code?
- 11. How can you get outline numbers to appear in your project plan, attached to the task names? How can you get them to appear NOT attached to the task names?
- 12. True or False: You can import information from Microsoft Excel into any defined Microsoft Project field.
- 14. What is fast tracking? _____
- 15. What is crashing? Why is it generally a secondary option to fast-tracking?
- 16. What kind of dependency is the default when linking tasks in Microsoft Project 2019?

- 17. If you had selected *Review proposal* (Task ID 7) first in a project plan and dragged its link line to *Write proposal* (Task ID 2), which task would be shown as the predecessor?
- **18.** How can you display the Split Gantt Chart view?

23.

19. When working in Split Gantt Chart view, what do you have to do, in order to ensure that the changes made in the Task Details Form are implemented?

20. What are some of the ways that task dependencies can be changed (list at least 2 different ways)?

- 21. Task A has to start 3 days after task B starts. How can you make this happen?
- 22. Fill in the blank: Lead time is expressed as a _____ number in the lag field.
 - What is the

duration, if a resource is assigned 40 hours of work at 100% units? What happens to the duration if the resource is working only 50% of their time on this task?

24. What are the three different task types as defined by Microsoft Project 2019?

25. Fill in the blank: If one of the three values is fixed, and you change a second value, the third will be ______ by Microsoft Project.

26. In which of the following units, will Microsoft Project 2019 NOT accept duration estimates?

- a. Minutes (m)
- b. Days (d)
- c. Weeks (w)
- d. Months (mo)
- e. None of the above (It will accept all of these)

27. True or False: You can place a manually scheduled task anywhere in your schedule, and

Microsoft Project won't move it.

28. What are two ways to change the default setting for scheduling new tasks?

29. What is the benefit of using the inactive tasks feature?

30. How do you inactivate tasks?





chapter 8 Managing Project Resources and Assignments

- Defining Project Resource Types with Microsoft Project 2019
- Assigning Resources to Tasks

- Cost Planning
- Task Constraints and Scheduling
- Resource Assignment Review Exercise



Learning Objectives for this Chapter

At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Define project resource types: work, cost, and material
- Assign resources to tasks
- Use cost features to develop a project budget
- Set and modify task constraints
- Split work on a task
- Use the team planner
- Effectively define task types using fixed work, fixed units, or fixed duration
- Explain the effect of effort-driven scheduling on task assignments
- Appropriately apply the task usage or resource usage view to display assignment information
- Assign costs to tasks and apply cost rate tables
- Determine which views are most appropriate to show relevant cost information by task, resource, or assignment
- Understand and apply task constraints to develop a realistic schedule

M icrosoft Project 2019 users will most often be working in an enterprise environment connected to Project Server. In this situation, the Project Server administrator creates a resource pool and modifies it as necessary while project managers staff their projects from the resource pool. This allows the organization to track assignments for team members across all projects.

The enterprise resource pool and enterprise resource management will be addressed in a later chapter (Section 10.3: *Enterprise Resource Management*). In this chapter, we will focus on the various ways Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to assign resources to tasks, which will help you determine how long a task will take and how much the task will cost. As noted earlier, a resource can be a specific person, a generic group of people (e.g. programmer or carpenter), a piece of equipment (e.g. crane or computer), a material consumed in the course of completing the task (e.g. lumber, printer paper), or a cost associated with an individual task (or the entire project, if designated as a budget resource).

8.1 Defining Project Resource Types with Microsoft Project 2019

Up until this point we've addressed the logic of project activities: What deliverables are required? In what order must they be completed? What affects the amount of work needed to complete them? Now we must consider the type and availability of resources required to accomplish the work and how this will affect the project schedule.

Note: Creating an internal resource list is useful when resources are to be used exclusively by your project. In the case of an enterprise resource pool, resources created within an individual project are flagged as local resources.

The first step in this process is to examine the tasks identified in your WBS and determine the skills and other resources needed to accomplish each task. You want to be certain the resources on your project team have the right skills. Keep in mind that some tasks must be performed by qualified professionals and/or specialists while others can be performed by generalists with broader capabilities.

Viewing Resources in the Resource Sheet

- This exercise uses the file **ResourceAssignment.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - 1 From the *Resource:View* tab in the ribbon, use the dropdown list to select the *Resource Shee t*

view.

- 2 The first Resource Name field contains Patrick Rierdon.
- 3 Tab over to the *Typ e* dropdown list and notice the resource type options now available.

Figure 16.	Resource Name	Туре		
	Patrick Rierdon	Work		
Resource types	Software License	Material Cost		
	Travel			

Work resources are not consumed by the project, material resources are used up, and cost resources [DC40] only have costs associated with them and can be used for high-level project budgeting. Cost resources can be assigned to individual tasks (or to the project summary task, if they are flagged as budget resources).

- 4 Tab through the default Resource Sheet fields for each of the three resource types and notice the differences.
- 5 Add the following generic resources to your project by keying them into the Resource Name column in the lines following *Travel* :

Resource name	Туре	Initials
Analyst	Work	Anlst
Designer	Work	Dsgnr
Project Manager	Work	PM

Note: Generic resources are almost always replaced with named resources as the project progresses. It is reasonable to assign a generic resource at more than 100% if you expect to be assigning multiple named resources to that task later.

6 Right-click in the Resource Name column header and select *Insert Colum n* . Choose *Generi c* from the dropdown list. You will see a new column titled "Generic." Use the dropdown list in each row to identify the three new resources as generic resources (Ye s in the Generic column). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure	17.
--------	-----

.

Figure 17.		v	- Generic	Resource Name	Tipe	Moter al cabel	Inibals
8	1	1	No	Patrick Blordon	Work		PR
Adding generic	×.		No	Software License	Material	License	SW
resources	э		No	Travel	Cost		Travel
	-4	44	Yes	Analyst	Work		Anist
	5	22	Yes	Designer	Work		Osgrin
	6	44	Yes	Project Manager	Work		PM

Adding a Local Resource to Your Project

Named resources are added to the project in the same way as generic resources.

- Click the first available Resource Name field and type "Susan Smith." 7
- Press *Ta b* and notice the default values assigned to a new resource. 8

Adding a Resource through the Resource Information Dialog Box

9 Double-click on a blank row in the Resource Sheet view. The **Resource Informatio n** dialog box appears, showing the *Genera l* tab by default:

Figure 18. Resource Information dialog box

August Second		antes Intes Lote	
Santiley Lype		Terr	
rid insertions (Classic Classe
louisite from and dev In inter-	15		(investments)
	-		

Notice you can provide the same kind of information entered in the Resource Sheet view. There are also tabs for *Cost s*, *Note s*, and *Custom Field s* associated with the resource. The *Genera l* tab also contains a *Budge t* checkbox to allow you to flag a resource for high-level budgeting purposes.

Using the Resource Notes Button

In addition to the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box, there is a shortcut to provide notes on resources.

- 10 Click *Cance l* to close the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box and return to the Resource Sh view, and select *Patrick Rierdon*.
- 11 In *Resource:Propertie s* click the *Note s* icon [

Figure 19.
Resource
Information
dialog

Beneral Ziels Harter [Dation Taller]	
Residue game Fallus Radios	
(bald first best that oft)	

- 12 In the *Note s* field enter the text, "Patrick's contract calls for payment at the end of each task he is assigned to, with a minimum payment period of two weeks . "
- 13 Click *O K* . A resource note icon will appear in the Indicators field for *Patrick Rierdon* . Move your pointer over the icon to read the associated note.
- 14 Save your project [JG41].

Figure 20.

Note for *Patrick Rierdon*

	Generic	Resource Name
B	No	Patrick Rierdon
12	Notes: 'Patri payment at the is actioned	ck's contract calls for the end of each task of to, with a minimum
	The second	the state the second state and the second state of the second stat



If you create a resource note that is too lengthy to view in its entirety as a ScreenTip, you can double-click on the resource notes icon in the Indicator field to read the entire note. You can also include this note in a printed report or view.

8.2 Assigning Resources to Tasks

Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to assign resources to tasks in a variety of ways. Resource assignments clarify responsibility for doing tasks and also help you to determine how long a task will take and how much it will cost.

Microsoft Project 2019 uses two different fields to express the allocation of a work resource: maximum units and assignment units. The maximum units field represents the amount of a resource's time that is available to accomplish any project tasks during any time period. The default value is 100%, which can be thought of as one full-time equivalent of the resource for the number of project hours in a day (by default, 8).

The assignment units value indicates the allocation of a resource to a particular task assignment. A specific resource can work full-time (100%) on one task or half-time (50%) on two tasks, and so on, before Microsoft Project flags that resource as over-allocated. You can also specify assignment units for material resources to indicate the quantity of material being used for the assignment, even though there is no maximum units value available for material resources.

The following exercise demonstrates how you can assign resources in various ways and avoid some overallocations by using tools available through the **Assign Resource s** dialog box. These techniques apply whether you are working with local resources or those from the enterprise resource pool.

Assigning a Resource to a Task

- □ This exercise continues the use of **ResourceAssignment.mpp** from the previous section. If you did not worl on that exercise, you can also open **ResourceAssignment_Inst1.mp p** from your exercise directory.
 - 1 From *Task:Vie w* apply the Gantt Chart view, and in *Task:Propertie s* click *Detail s* . Select Task ID 2, *Create Statement of Work* .
 - 2 Click the first Resource Name cell in the Task Details Form (bottom pane). Type "Frank Goren". Your screen will resemble the following:



3 Click *O K* in the Task Details Form to assign Frank Goren to the task and add him to your resource sheet. Note that the Microsoft Project scheduling engine automatically calculates the assignment effort (work), based on the task duration.

You can also add a name directly to the Resource Name field in the Gantt Chart Entry Table or in the **Assign Resource s** dialog box. In these cases, just like in the preceding split screen example, the default values will be applied in the Resource Sheet until changed. Since these methods are only necessary for local resources, the Resource Sheet view is the most efficient approach to use.

Note: The above method of adding resources is dangerous as you could spell a name incorrectly and end up with two or more of the same resources on your project. It is a good practice to choose from resources, as in the following methods.

A Project Server administrator can create entries for the enterprise resource pool manually using the techniques already described, but s/he will generally use an existing resource database to populate the resource pool.

4 If necessary, from *Task:Propertie s* click the *Detail s* icon to split the window. Right-click in the gray area of the Task Details Form (lower pane) and click *Cost* from the dropdown list to

view cost information.

- 5 Select Task ID 3, *Obtain approval of Statement of Work*, in the upper pane.
- 6 In the upper section of the pane, click the *Assign Resource s* icon [and a long box.] under *Resource:Assignment s*. You will see the *Assign Resource s* dialog box.

Gantt Chart or Fask Form	Task: Obtain approval of Statement of Work (m) Resource (at options) Resources from Resource/autgemeent_last1.mpg								
Resources	Resource Name	RO	linits	Cest	1	Bistan			
dialog box	Analyst	3	1000	282.0		Contraction of the local division of the			
uning box	Designer					Example			
	Prank Goren				- 11	Filmenin - T			
	Patrick Random				- 14	- netherin			
	Project Manager		1		11	Graph			
	Software License				10				
	Sulan Smith		-			Clote			
	Traval				18	Hata			
	197	1	1		102	746			

7 Select *Patrick Rierdon* in the Assign Resource s dialog box, and then click *Assig n* . Your screen will resemble the following:



Notice in the bottom pane that Microsoft Project has automatically calculated the work at 8 hours based on the task duration of 1 day.

8 Click *Create Project Plan* (Task ID 4) and *Ctrl-click* on *Obtain approval of project plan* (Task 5) to highlight both tasks. Then, click *Patrick Rierdo n* in the Assign Resource s dialog box and click *Assig n*. Patrick Rierdon is now assigned to both tasks. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 24. Multiple task assignment

		0	1100 M. 100	(Salike of				Te-st	A-8.1	5644	.144		iя п.	16 20 (1 /)
	1741		-	20.3	a state of the	111		Rest	81 201 × 1	56.00	47933	100	-	and all the second
	1281		-	- vitte	Neportoks of erayed	pier.		1046.5	trie cu.	-117	2/28	2.4	. A	Statistical and
5	2.9		-	. R. 4	strength of the second se	4.4	-	and some		14900	1.537.41	0.5	1	5/34
3			-	- set up a	When up tomic it.	0.000	Contraction of the	S				- 20		
1	CTE.		10	5763	a fed again		Complex Designs	Man .						- 26
3			-	Page 1	digital an interest of	12.2	11							
	12		-	i in real	prime has seen		19.00				10000			
			-2	Baga	al beilicher verfen ber	1.710	Beimes	er	E	5÷	14.0	61.00		
	1.15		-	ente	renario addurationed	1.90	P. Robel Sort	10 C	100-					
		_					0.01					1000	1	
			-	2	a challent	141	Part Law				- 13 13	faire .		
	12	_			and the production	-100	100 AV 100	Mark .				30		
	24	12.	1.1.1.		A. 19.1	12	COPur Da	14			10.5			
	1	15,754	V tollas		and the second of	1.25	2013	8332			100	ANNO.		
2	6- *·		and the		144 AV.	1.3	2014		5015102		1.1			
3					10									
3		4					AND DO	A 160						
1		÷			17 C					000.000				

Just as you can assign one resource to multiple tasks, you can assign multiple resources to one task or several tasks at the same time:

9 Select the task *Create project plan* (Task ID 4). Notice that Microsoft Project has calculated work of 24 hours based on the task duration of 3 days. Note: If you use this method of assigning resources, you will only see this result if you have inserted the Work column in the

Gantt Chart or show the details of assignment information in the lower pane.

10 Assuming that Patrick needs a software license for the task, click **Software Licens e** in the Assign Resource s dialog box, and then click *Assig n*. Your screen will resemble the following:



Notice that Microsoft Project has assigned 1 software license to the task (by default) and calculated the cost as \$180. Patrick's cost was also calculated based on his work and resource standard rate (as seen in the Resource Sheet). Cost calculations will be covered in greater detail later in this section.

- Because you think Patrick will need 2 licenses, change the value in the lower pane 11 appropriately and click OK.
- 12 There will also be travel costs associated with this task. Click the *Cos t* cell for *Trave l* in the Assign Resource s dialog box. Enter "\$3,000" and click *Assig n*. Your screen will resemble the following:



Notice the recalculated cost for 2 software licenses (\$260) and the travel cost next to the Gantt bar for this task.

	When assigning material resources to a task, assign the resource first, accepting the default units value, and then modify the Units field in the Task Form (lower pane). For cost resources, type the predicted value in the Cost cell for the resource and press $Enter$. Using the $Assign$ button
NOTE	with a cost resource can lead to unexpected and undesirable results if other resources are already assigned.

13 Save your project [JG42].

Replacing Resources on Task Assignments

This exercise continues the use of **ResourceAssignment.mpp** from the previous section (or you can open **ResourceAssignment_Ins t 2** .mp p from your exercise directory).

On further consideration, you have decided that one of the assignments should be changed: Susan Smith has more time available to create the statement of work and has done several of them, so she might be a better choice for that task than Frank Goren.

1 Select *Create Statement of Work* (Task ID 2). In the **Assign Resource s** dialo g box, select *Free* Gore *n* and click **Replac** *e* .

2 In the **Replace Resourc e** dialog box, click *Susan Smit h*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 27. Replace Resource dialog box

- 1.16.10.25 Field Deniel And He Field Deniel Defini Field Point Robins Advantage and the 11.0 a alle mine des 14 842 87 1 Seathanes in a and a state Proper Fueld, and 20 60.00 一十日 LARSON Bajas 1.11 14 with the 20.00 dist 1 2 4 4 1. 1.00 174 171 20 14
- 3 In the **Replace Resourc e** dialog box, click *O K* to complete the replacement process.
- 4 Choose *View:Split vie w* to verify *Susan Smith* is assigned to Task 2.

Figure 28. Verify resource assignment replacement

Figure 29. Verifying the cost of a replaced assignment

	-	-	anastr	100	-	Tere:	10	- Local and an an array
1		1	· Gebouro Costerning Instantistics	Paral Dana 179 Au	tryals III	6.9	2/24	-1
1.1		-	a colle invigenetary	involument makes	and an	144	47	
10		-	Extension management of the radio	Contractions.	Avera .	140	502	in togethrith
÷		-	Unit is approve of seven and shown	-10110410-000	1.089	0.00	362	Differ die Menie
1		-	Manage Security FV	REPORT LATER	1-00(1	311	161	and the second se
		-	which is appropriate a balance in the	In which is a product of the	1.00	1000	1000	

5 If you wish to verify the cost of this replaced assignment, right mouse click in the lower pane and choose *Cos t* from the drop down.

 Open total
 Open total
 Open total
 Open total
 Open total

 Image: Description
 Image:

6 Save your project. [JG43]

Note: Generic resources are replaced by named resources in the exact same manner as named resources replace each other. So once you determine, for example, that John Smith is the analyst that will be assigned to this project, you would use the method just described to replace the generic resource "Analyst" with the named resource "John Smith".

Also, Microsoft Project considers the specific resources calendar of all assigned resources when scheduling a task. Because of this, you will have to look into each resource's calendar details to figure out why an assignment date might have change when replacing an assigned resource with another resource who may have a different calendar setup. That might not be a problem (e.g. in the previous example, you might remember that Susan has vacation plans that may affect the scheduling of her new assignment), but over a long project, many of these details can get lost. When you're in the middle of a

156

stakeholder review with top management and someone asks, "Why does your Gantt Chart say 10 days duration but show 15 days?" it's easy for your mind to go blank. You'd like to be able to show that the task takes 10 days of work, but there is a break in the middle.

We will see some ways to investigate these kinds of situations when we review the Task Usage and Resource Usage views. These views can show you how resource assignment work is spread over time.

Interrupting Work on a Task

□ This exercise continues the use of **ResourceAssignment.mpp** from the previous section (or you can open **ResourceAssignment_Ins t 3 .mp p** from your exercise directory).

Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to split a task to show that work has been interrupted and then resumed at a later point in a project. A task can be split more than once, and each of its splits is graphically depicted in the Gantt Chart, where the length of the interruption is shown by the width of the gap in the Gantt bar.

- 1 Verify you can see the entire Gantt bar for Task 4. If so, scroll to the right side of the Gantt Chart (the timescale) to ensure that you can see all of *Create project plan* (Task ID 4).
 - 4 From *Task:Schedul e* click the *Split Tas k* icon []. Position your mouse over the Gantt b for task *Create project plan* (ID 4), until the *Start Dat e* on the ScreenTip reads "5/25" (the date you want the split to begin) and release your mouse button to initiate the task split function. The ScreenTip will resemble the following:

Figure 3	0
----------	---

Split task ScreenTip

).		0		Lang maters			(and participants)	+++	de la composición de la compos	6,65,900	0.0
	5 W		-	 Software Servers in Implementation 	Fixed Duranic		offeringer	100 C	-		
	1		-	a hile high stifts.	for the dist.	and the second				1.00	1.0
	24		-	STAFFE USER THE YEAR A SHA	ioduum or		See.		a second second	1000	
	1 A 1		-	At the general of Sales and Ware	The diversion	-					
2 2	1.00		-	share pipeling at	DIANCE	211.0	125.1	140	1		100

5 Now, place your mouse over the right side of the split task. Continue to hold down the left mouse button and drag your pointer to the right. The dates in the ScreenTip will change to show the start and finish dates for the delayed segment of the task.

Figure 31.	
------------	--

ScreenTip while dragging split task

Tesiz:	Work.	Californ	1861	43 40 14 41 25 18 31 1
Fixed ()	£77 h	68 daws	5/R	
Task 1	191	INGS		5/38
Task I	Terri			6,9

6 When the start and finish dates on the ScreenTip read 5/28 to 6/4, release the mouse. The task will be split into two segments. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 32.

Successful split task (delays remainder of task segment that was split)

-								
	25	Servers concerns and an and a server		dana.		See.		
	-	- Taffmare Byten Instancements	STT ins	10 sheet	118	6/28		
	-	a Build Proport State	10170	(index)	1.44	000		_
	-	private Materiant of twosy.	-54.501	1144	34	2027	Fran India.	
	-	CODer-apprend of Raf ackanoof groat	100	1.01	100	MH-	The sector form	
0	45	Constitution of the consti	d Im-	Distants .	1000	401	Local Distances in the	
67	÷.	Children approximate of a stagent place	Arters .	8 shape	4.0	100		-

Notice that the task duration field in the Entry Table remains unchanged because no work is done during the gap in the task. This can be verified by displaying the Task Usage view.

Removing a Task Split

- 7 Move your mouse pointer over the right-hand portion of the split Gantt bar for the task *Create project plan* (task ID 4) until the cursor changes into a four-way arrow.
- 8 Left-click the right-hand segment of the Gantt bar and drag it back towards the left half of the bar. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 33. Removing task split

	0	Chel Research Control of Controls	18.800			1.41	1.7.7.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1	11441
1	1	· Latte art Deater in star arteria	0.000	(Second)		1418		
4	100	the distance of the	Mile.	110.00	1.1		1.1	1 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
	1	Constate an establish	of the s	. 4	De5	217		S. 1
- 4	100	A terminized of Yalaments, Asia	320	Iste	Dev.	Pr 11		-
14.1	100	Mark for the dat	1.000	100,0	100	1.1	1 m	

- 9 Release the left mouse button when the two halves of the bar touch. The segments of the Gantt bar are reunited, and work on the task is no longer split.
- 10 Save and close your project [JG44].

Team Planner

The Team Planner view allows you to easily see what tasks are assigned to resources. Using the Team Planner view, a simple dragging motion also allows you to change existing assignments to over-allocated resources or assign currently unassigned tasks to available resources.

□ This exercise uses the file **TeamPlanner.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.

1 From *Resource:Vie w* click *Team Planne r*. You will see a timeline with tasks displayed. Resources and the tasks to which they are assigned are displayed on the top portion of the screen, and unassigned tasks are displayed in the bottom portion.



- 2 Hovering over a task bar displays information about the task. The task can be rescheduled simply by dragging the task on the timeline. The task can also be assigned to a different resource by dragging to the desired resource's "swim lane."
- 3 To see the effects of rescheduling and reassigning tasks, click the *Gantt Char t* icon in *Task:Vi w* .
- 4 The Team Planner function has several limitations. There are more effective ways to identify and resolve resource over-allocations that will be covered later in this section
- 5 Save and close your project [JG45].

Modifying Assignments When Work Is the Basis for Your Schedule

This exercise uses the file **TaskTypes.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.

If your resource demand and project budget are based on labor (work) estimates, then fixed work is the recommended task type. Organizations that focus on forecasting the work to be done (and on using statements of work to define charges for that work) usually use fixed work as the default task type. By entering work estimates for each task, they can evaluate resource allocation for the project. When work is fixed, Microsoft Project won't change the work estimate, but you can modify the specific work value for a task.

1 Split the window in the Gantt Chart view and select the task *Locate new site* (ID 4). Be sure the *Resource s* and *Predecessor s* option is showing in the Task Form view (lower pane). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 35. Fixed work task with split screen

	6	344	Links Kind apply has \$70	cent: 101	in the other states which	×4		1
IL AG			Different August 1 Defense D	23	書記	ris distriction (monore city takes) (con- city of the con-	Super States States States	Li e des bibles de las
1	-	0	14194-	Series	al lina	· house	1.1733	
U			+ 254 Tesh Taper	1500 eley 3	in wa			
3	1		* 38364L	1464	tao wilan		_	
-7	1		Well-serve and	Here A	WI. 507.			Internet and a strength of the local division of the local divisio
-	-8.0		1878 81197307	1494 1	59			Las Tony Jalle Partitiventa
з	-4.		Water profes	3.94 37	10. 10.			December of the owner of the
	- 11	-	a Merce 2	Michael V	M #12		1	F
	- 1.		PRAISIN proposal	344 3	tas piez			Acces
	41						10422	
		1.00		Lines and	Dama a tank	Contract I I and		
	-		1 Aug 197		Barthal .	-	100	
	1		A PARTY AND A PART	And and a state of the local division of the local division of the local division of the local division of the	Con lines a feat		99	
	100	Add to the second se	Colline - Bills Pick	Bis Fadau	120.790.10	174	÷.	
Webs rank	Å		11				í	

3 Note the fields that have arrow pointers to follow how the information changes in this exercise. What is the duration of the task?

What is Mike's work assignment?

Mike has other obligations during this time, and he can only devote six hours each day to the task (75% of his time). Change the units for Mike Goren's assignment to "75%" and click *OK* in the Task Form window. What is the revised duration for this task?

Did the work change?

3 Return Mike's assignment units value to "100%" and click OK. Now increase the task duration to "2w" and click OK.

Did Mike's units change?

Did the work change?

If not, why not? (HINT: Should a fixed work task change its work?)

- 4 Click in the Resource Name column directly under *Mike Goren* and use the pull-down menu to add *Bernie Frazer* to the task. What are you actually changing when you add a resource?
- 5 Click *O K* . What happens to the task?

Since work is fixed, when you change units, Microsoft Project recalculates duration. This is why the *Effort drive n* option (above *Task Typ e*) is grayed out—fixed work tasks must become shorter when resources are added.

Microsoft Project will not change the work value on a fixed work task, but you can. What happens if you do? Mike and Bernie have now estimated that they will need 40 hours each to complete the task.

6 Change the Work value to "80h" for both Mike and Bernie. Microsoft Project could keep the equation in balance either by assuming each would work 16 hours per day (200% units) or by allowing the task to take twice as long. What actually happens to the task assignment when you click *O K* ? Change the Work value for Mike and Bernie back to "40h".

As a general rule, the Units value is preserved when possible, so the task became twice as long (back to one week duration).

	When working in the Task Form or Task Details Form half of a split view, changes are not	
	effective until you click O K or press <i>E mer</i> twice. Users occasionally get trustrated because they	Í
NOTE	press <i>Enter</i> and nothing happens!	

Modifying Assignments When Task Duration Is the Basis for Your Schedule

In some situations the length of the task is known or, more commonly, the estimated work must be completed within a specific time period. For example, if you are renting a piece of equipment for a few

days, then the resources using that equipment must complete the work during that time. If the work estimates increase, then the percentage of their time a resource is assigned to the task would increase. In this situation, a task type of fixed duration would fit the expected behavior of the schedule.

7 Select the task *Move into new location* (ID 16). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 36. Fixed duration task with split view

-		1.40	e het semilitorine						1
			Ind Serie			a pest		a a state	and a strength
	14	§	Work interform found on	bays-	29	2,28			
EANS:	1	-	 Enders Alexapterion Association 	Michael S. La Maya	1010	42			
-	17	-	Contracting of ages 1	10 a	240	1.4			
77		10	Service where man 2	165	940	NE			
	40	-		222		15		2 H	
	14-1		entransment part in [1]	Howard		a, contain 1	Fam.		
	40	10	10 mage 102		ube:	And Design of	-	100	
WILLION.		11111111	Antipation and a second and as second and a			44 3		ŭ.	

8 The actual office relocation must occur over two days. On further consideration, you have decided the work estimates need to be increased.

What is the units value for the resources?

Increase the work effort for each resource from "8" hours to "12" hours and click OK.

What is the revised units value for the resources?

Did the duration change?

If not, why not? (HINT: Should a fixed duration task change its duration?)

9 A few resources have volunteered to be fully available both days. Increase the units to "100%" for Bernie Frazer, Lee Tang and Julie Pawlkowski .

What is the revised work effort for these resources?

Did the duration change?

10 Return all the *Wor k* estimates to "8 hour s " and all *Unit s* to "50%" and click *O K* to go ł where we started.

Fixed duration means Microsoft Project won't change the duration value for the task—but it doesn't mean you can't change it. Assume you were able to get the moving equipment rental extended for a third day. How would that affect the assignments?

- 11 Increase the duration of Task 16 to "3 days." What changes in the lower pane?
- 12 Reset the duration to "2 days" to return to the original values.
- 13 Save your project.

The Effect of Effort-Driven Scheduling

In addition to defining the task type, Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to define the scheduling type appropriate for each task—effort-driven or not effort-driven.

An effort-driven task goes faster with more resources. For example, if Steve is assigned full time to a task with 40 hours of work and you assign Mary to the same task, Mary will pick up 20 of Steve's hours if the task is effort-driven, leaving the total work for the task at 40 hours. The duration of the task, however, will decrease by half since two people doing 20 hours of work at the same time can finish the task in half the time.

There are situations, of course, where assigning another person will not shorten the duration of the task. If the people involved have different skill sets, for example, the work is more likely to double than to be split between them.

The scheduling type becomes important mainly when adding or removing resources on a task. The first task assignment simply defines the starting point (work, units and duration) for Microsoft Project and usually

behaves simply. Later changes can cause frustration because the scheduling engine in Microsoft Project operates five different ways, depending on whether the task is fixed work, fixed duration effort-driven, fixed duration not effort-driven, fixed units effort-driven, or fixed units not effort-driven. All fixed work tasks behave as effort-driven tasks.

□ This exercise continues the use of the file **TaskTypes.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **TaskTypes_Inst1.mp p** .

- 1 For the fixed duration task *Move into new location* (ID 16), clear the check box next to *Effort drive n* . (Navigate to *View:Split view:Detail s* to see the *Task Typ e* option in the lower Tas Form pane).
- 2 Click to create a name cell directly under *George Brody* and type in "April Faraday." Since duration is fixed and you are adding units, you might think that Microsoft Project will recalculate the work. Is that what happens when you click *O K* ? (See the next figure for help to this quesiton)
- 3 Click on *April Faraday* in the lower Task Form and use the *Delete* key to remove her from the task. Click **O K** to get back to where we started with this task.
- 4 Switch *Effort drive n* on by checking the box next to it, and add April Faraday back to the task again. This time her name will be on the pick-list of names. Consider what's happening—duration is fixed, and you are adding units, but effort-driven means more people get the work done faster. Click *O K* to see how Microsoft Project deals with this apparent contradiction. Your screen will resemble the following:



5 Save your project [JG46].

This is one of the few occasions when Microsoft Project recalculates two of the three values (work, units, and duration) rather than just one.

Modifying Assignments When Assignment Units Is Set

Another way to think about the three task types is to associate fixed work with a situation where you know (or must forecast) the amount of work to be done. This is typically done when the client is paying for hours of work done on the task, not the duration (length) of the task. Fixed duration tends to be a characteristic of the task itself—certain things take a specific amount of time, no more and no less. Fixed units applies to

Figure 37.

Fixed duration task, with 2 different effort-driven scenarios situations where the project manager knows how much of each resource he or she "owns" for the project, regardless of work or duration for any specific task. Microsoft selected fixed units as the default task type because that is the most common situation in project management.

The assignment units field, simply labeled *Unit s* in the Task Form, determines what percentage of a resource's available working time will be dedicated to the specific task. As demonstrated in the preceding exercises, if you change the duration on a fixed work task or change the work on a fixed duration task, Project recalculates the assignment units.

Unless the (Assignment) Units value is changed when making an assignment, Microsoft Project uses the Max. Units value, which we saw in the Resource Sheet view (by default, 100%).

If using fixed work or fixed duration as the default task type, you would change to fixed units for those tasks in which a change to the duration or work should not modify the assignment units. One example would be a situation when a task spans the duration of the project and the resource will be working an established percentage of its time on that task.

- □ This exercise continues the use of the file **TaskTypes.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **TaskTypes_In s t 2 .mp p**.
 - 1 Select the task *Write proposal* (ID 2). Choose *View:Split Vie w* then *Detail s* . Your screen will resemble the following:

12		and halons							
		test house 11	laine a	1.00	in the second second	de al	Manifelli -	NACCES	
		· GM Task Types	3081 699	10.0	5/30				
ed.	1.1	+ Manual S	d days	14/20	3/38			17445010	7
-	1.1	With promoti	Tidays	8/36	8/34			Barnie Frant	
-8	1	anne anchrosot	1.09yt	A/M	Bilt -		distanti i set	long hele Participation	
-11		Langio mue alte	Tel	16/00	3/28		1.00		Mile Brone, Brinis Fear
3	1.	+ Made 3	States.	1/26	401				-
		Prevent proprovi	2894	1/29	A180				Trougs basege bases to
		Epopulation appreciati	Trieys	3/81	3/80				4 109
		Segularia nencificana	# rispi-	8/93	40				Sec.
						HECC-			
	-	manager land	10.00	(Post of	in Construction	L. Barren	- test	1	
	1	100		+	Ingine Peel (18)		a in li	1	
	TW	Theorem and the	1.1.1.1	100	And a second sec	the state	140	5	
	17	Barry Face and an	1.01	-	Depend from			8	

- 2 Note that the task duration spans the entire project duration and that 100% of Bernie Frazer time is allocated to the task.
- 3 What is Bernie Frazer's work effort?

Figure 38. Fixed units task with details

Assume that a scope change request increases the project length by 5 days and increases the task duration to "10 days."

What is Bernie's revised work effort? (Did it increase?)

Why didn't the assignment units change? (HINT: Should a fixed units task change its units?)

4 Decrease the task duration to "2 days" and look at the assignment units and assignment work values. You should see the work increase and the units stay constant

Microsoft Project selected effort-driven as the default scheduling type, since project managers most often assign additional resources to a task to get it done sooner. Let's examine the effect of effort-driven scheduling on a fixed units task.

- 5 For *Resolve project issues* (Task 2), deselect *Effort drive n* in the lower pane (Task Form).
- 6 Assign April Faraday to work on the task with Bernie Fraser. What happens to the work, units, and duration values for the task?
- 7 Remove April Faraday from the task, select *Effort drive n* in the lower pane (Task Form), and reassign April Faraday to the task. Click *O K* . What happens to the work, units, and duration values for the task this time?

Using Smart Tags to Simplify Making Changes

Smart Tags alert you to possible options when you make changes in a file.

8 Remove the window split (deselect *Detail s*) and select *Write Proposal* (Task ID 2). Increase i duration to "20 days" and press *Enter*. A Smart Tag indicator with a yellow caution icon will appear in the corner of the Duration field for *Write proposal*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 39.	Turk Name :	- Durstern - Surt - Fintat
-	A GM Task Types	1052 days 3/19 5/10
Smart Tag) * Phase 1	20 days. 2/20 4/34
alert	/ Write proposal	4 50 mays 1 2/20 4/14

- 9 When you hover your cursor over the Smart Tag, you will see the following Smart Tag alert message: *Click to set the reason for the duration change so that the task can be properly scheduled.*
- 10 Click on the Smart Tag alert to see the following scheduling choices:

Elauna 40		Trikhann.	- 22	Ibuilers			
Scheduling		4 GM Task Types		1032 day 3/10			
Scheduling	1	+ Ptere 1		30 clays 3/20			
options for Smart Alerts	2	White proposal	1 -	22 ckas = 5/ 81			
	724	revealed the curst on of the task. Do you want to					
	3 ter	we walk his resp the bounces onces work periday	(init)	the ware			
	D Dean	D Depression the hearth recourses were period to Junital buildespithe come product of wark					

It is not uncommon to increase the duration of a task and prefer the second option to keep work constant even though it is a fixed unit task.

If you're not sure which option to select, split the screen (i.e. **Detail s**) as we did earlier and review the new calculations that resulted from your duration input of "20 days."

11 Save and close your project [JG47].

Viewing Your Resource Assignments

Microsoft Project 2019 gives the project manager several different options to look at resource assignments in a project. The two most useful assignment views are the Task Usage view (which lists tasks and the resources assigned to each one), and the reverse: the Resource Usage view (which lists resources and their assigned tasks).

The Task Usage View

1

Figure Task U This exercise uses the file **AssignmentUsage.mp p** . Be sure this file is open before beginning.

- If the Task Usage is not already displayed, from *View:Task View s* click the *Task Usag e* icon to apply the Task Usage view to the project **.**
- 2 Adjust the Task Name column to accommodate the task name text (if necessary) by dragging the right border of the column to the right. Alternatively, you can double-click the right border of the column title box.
- 3 Select the resource *Bernie Frazer* under the task *Write Proposal* (ID 2), and in *Task:Edit g* click the *Scroll to Tas k* icon [].
- 4 Bernie's planned work for the task is shown, as in the following figure. Notice these values are calculated from the work, duration, and units relationship previously discussed. The Task Usage view shows resource assignments listed by task in the same order as in the Gantt Chart view.

41			Content of	The second second second	3. Mar 1	Seren .	Water and Barry						
41.		100	-	< Office Retroation Project	1.189.8 http:	Birth	and the second s	129	10.	381	100	240	10.
			.46	- March	5880	-		144		- 141	-	440	1000
sage view			-	4 Millionapped	-4111	diam'r			- 100	- 10	- 10	-	1.00
		10.1	H	BOYTE NUMP	-410	depit 1		64	- 84	- 61	- 10		- (9)
			1	+ metashatari	(C)=1	-			-				
				ran Temp		August .		- 64	- 84				
				And in the set is a set of		and i			- 60				
	1.19		10	 Applie the idea 	4711	bin :				- 81	- 10		100
	- 20			WAR Server	- 10 Au	diam'r.				- 14	- 10	- m.	100
	400		*	A Phone A	and the second second	and 1							
	- 20		-	4. Percent proposit	-871	page 1							
				delana Araiter	1000-0	0000							

5 Double-click Bernie's name to see the **Assignment Information** dialog box. This dialog shows Bernie's specific assignment data for the Write Proposal task. Notice that Bernie's Units value is 75%, which explains the 6 hours per day calculated in the Task Usage view.

Figure 42.	Tere 4 June	al Ible [- Mar			
Assignment	100	Wernen							
Informatio n	3	Pas hum	Pas has						
dialog box	40.4	0		94	344	+			
	Web rolling	- 14							
	(Ast:	8490		fan miss	Own-Int				
	Jear	322		Age:	10.00				
	Circling alder			5144 H (104)	13	-			
	Stelling and	*		2, 14 4, 1 14 4	Г.,				

The Resource Usage View

- 6 From *Task:Vie w* select *Resource Usag e* .
- 7 Locate resource number 1, Bernie Frazer, and select the task Write proposal.
- 8 From *Task:Editin g* click the *Scroll to Tas k* icon to view the work assigned to Bernie on this task on the week of March. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 43. Resource Usage view

	.0	General Martin In	Part of Million	cene.		11.7	0.40	101	1111	4 I A I	1.0	14.50	41.1	2011	
	1	a progent	1.6-	n.w.						1000		11000		200	
		serve waarings is	100	6.91								_			
- 08	1	a annie cesso	orke.	8.985		- 14	16	- 18			- 18 C	H	341	- 4	1.0
	100	100000	+ 47	6.563	: 24	- 28	164 Calk	048	1000	_	- 58	1.0	1.5.8	201	
	1	AM 1007,000,000 M		6.54	C 11								1.0	1.14	
		officiality.	124	6.95										- 1	
3		Aug. das in vers	and the second s	140	6										1
1.1		10000 1000000	10.00	5.95											
		*24 5-3597-0050	2.47	N.W.)											
0.00		Ada Avaiga	Kar	540										-	

- 9 In the preceding figure, Bernie is shown as having 14 hours of work to do on the Wednesday of the week of March 26, so he is marked as over-allocated on that date (boldface red). We will delve deeper into the value of using the Resource Usage view to identify and resolve resource over-allocations later in this section.
- 10 Save and close your project [JG48].

8.3 **Cost Planning with Microsoft Project**

Microsoft Project calculates basic cost at the assignment level. These calculations are then rolled up to the task level:

- Assignment Work X Resource Cost Rate* = Assignment Cost
- Task Cost = Assignment Cost** (summary of all assignments) + Fixed Cost***

* See step two of the following exercise to learn how to view this information

** Summary of all assignments

*** Task-level field

Determining Costs in Microsoft Project

This exercise uses the file **ResourceCost.mp p** . Be sure this file is open before beginning.

- 1 Apply the Resource Sheet view to your project.
- 2 From *View:Dat a* click *Table s* and select *Cos t* to apply the cost table to the Resource Sheet view. Note you can now see the total cost for each resource.

Figure 44. Resource Sheet view with Cost Table applied

		Researce Name *	Cast +	Baseline +	Variation -	Astual Cost =	Remaining *
	1	John Tierney	\$12,000.00	50.00	\$12,009.00	\$0,00	\$12,000.00
	-2	Rebecca Burns	\$10,820.00	\$0.00	\$10,320.00	\$0.00	\$10,320.00
	1	Bernie Frazer	\$16,800.00	\$0.00	\$16,800.00	\$0.00	\$16,800.00
	4	George Brody	\$26,880.00	\$0.00	\$26,880.00	\$0.00	\$25,880.00
	1	David Crawford	\$13,900.00	\$0.00	\$13,900.00	\$0.00	\$13,900.00
	1	Joan Higgins	\$15,240,00	\$0.00	\$15,240.00	\$0.00	\$15,240,00
	1	Mike Goren	\$6,020.00	\$0.00	\$6,020.00	\$0.00	\$6,020.00
EET.	1	tulie Pawikowski	\$7,520.00	\$0.00	\$7,520.00	\$0.00	\$7,570.00
SHI	.9	Ted Haley	\$1,200.00	\$0.00	\$1,200.00	\$0.00	\$1,200.00
DURCE	10	Mary Remington	\$8,400.00	\$0.00	\$8,400.00	\$0.00	\$8,400.00
RES							

- 3 From *Resource:Propertie s* click *Detail s* . You will see a split screen with the Resource Sheet view on the top and the Resource Form on the bottom.
- 4 Right-click in the lower pane and select *Cos t* from the dropdown list.
- 5 In the upper pane, select *John Tierney*. Note that John Tierney's Cost in the upper pane (\$12,000) equals the sum of the Cost of the individual assignments in the lower pane.

1.1964

Figure 45. John Tierney's cost details

an fair - 20 Mars	1.000 m 1.0000 m 1.000 0000	ne i - mi	9	A Second 1	The second secon	Ser.
5 M						
(Distance has	- B CR - 1780	1 1 1 man 1 25	a los 4 formes 4	And Income 14		
No let a	A 162,00% 20	Sec. 27. 20.000, 22	NO 22002	a -		
Salarsan Bu	41 \$28,850.35	N. 10. 6.0'11. 30	50.00 \$10,000.00	8		
i benicises	01 States 30	9.10 States	-500e 500,000 a			
1 cerprov	de Sistemation	\$1.00 \$25,000,00	\$ 28 S.S. 80.000.0	e		
1 10000	fand (11,400.09)	40.00 BL0,400.00	K 28 SLACOR	4		
a brand digder	SIGM W	40.00 . 515,000.00	0.00 S-5, MO.W	N		
and the second	1 XX3241	APPROX PROPERTY OF	PLOT A DECKLO	10		
Free rest. do. d.	100.0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Tel Incom		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
1540		26101 20794	199		- IIII - Longaine	
F2 GR, Schole	101.0 X.00	4 mm.			A state and	
PERSONAL STREET	ACRESS TRANS	4 50.0				
	12111101				3941	
framework at	desir for control whet	100% O 0	axi ax	8.20 3-306.20	Section 2 and 2 and 2	
minimiter 1	Product systems at statutions	manders 54	10 Y 10 10	1000		
from eller +	Drack yound user	1209 210	0.00 80.00	BAD 0100100		
TRACKSPE 1	Course description in the Section	x (20%) (A	60 (A)	- MAC - STRAK		
Rence alles	of which ensure that	3279	0.2 Ø.2	第六 20月天		
Texes man (14	Freide Bernarte 1849 an de	10 10011 18.4	BADO BADO	BAD() IX 60620		

田田 [and and a line an

- 6 In the upper pane, right-click on *Bernie Frazer*, and from the dropdown list, select *Informatio n*. You will see the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box for Bernie Frazer.
- 7 In some cases, a resource may have different costs depending on the roles and tasks they are performing. Microsoft Project provides the capability to use different resource rates for different roles and assignments. In the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box, select the *Cost s* tab. You will see that in cost rate table A (which is where Microsoft Project puts resource assignments by default), Bernie's Standard Rate is \$70/hour, as follows:

Figure 46. Resource	Fernance Information General Costs Netro Costs = Munice	-
Informatio n dialog box; <i>Cost</i> <i>s</i> tab for Bernie Frazer	Econard Verw Series Processing Sector intertaints Provide relations for excession of our context conductor by 2000, type 3000, t	
	BAR	Care-

8 On the second line of the cost rate table, enter an Effective Date of "10/1," and a new Standard Rate of "\$80". This rate will be used for any task assigned after the new rate effective as of 10/1. Your screen will resemble the following:



9

- Click **O K** to accept the change and close the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box.
- Ensuring Bernie Frazer is selected in the upper pane, double-click Task ID 2 (*Create* 10 Statement of Work) in the lower pane to see the Task Informatio n dialog for this task. Note Bernie's work on this task: 10 days = 80 hours.

Figure 48.	Technic Inc. Office Developed December 2010	I San Li Sueer Paul		
Task Informatio	Fille: Carl orthers of your		2000 1200 D	Humos
n dialog box for	nesere or seems: X1 2			
C reate Statement of	Service street of gravity concare all also services		T rages	
Work	9-4 Am	- 2.49 14		
	n an			
	200			La ar

11 Click **O K** to close the **Task Informatio n** dialog box. As you can see in the following figure, the total cost of Bernie's work on this task is \$5,600 (Bernie's rate of \$70/hour X 80 hours).

Fig	ur	e	49.
_			

Bernie's cost at the assignment level, as shown on the Resource Form on the lower pane.

Sec. 10	mis în	Ċ.H	2	and see	4 0		10%	1005	then a sec		Red	110
Com 1931 s.t.e Cut gos	570.0 10.0	27	Hereit (3	0.09 Namini	Ţ	Coop Pront: Dece cop	Mar	ikat		Ŧ		
Espirit	- 3	It.	Dischiefe.		_	140ES	12	1242	140494-000	info chit	SHE LOST	
Resource Co	ant d	2	Choite Statement :	rf Work		100%	10	\$5,600.00	\$3.00	20.00	\$5,600.03	
(evanie)	n) -	۰.	Children approval a	Name	CW0	diak.	15	V-M-D1	Saint	42-201	1444.0	
RepourseCo	ant i	4	Create project plan	C 182		13035	1	\$5,696,09	\$2.05	20.00	\$5,600.69	
Isometi	N . 1	۹.	filden appered e	Appropriate		0.595	1	11,135,51	33004	57.30	32,12994	
RecourseCo	at 1	2	Access adots theirs	tion -		1000		\$1,120.00	\$3.00	32,50	\$1,120000	
trouve).	N 1	0	Company with	Interprise.		11005	10	51,320.00	33.004	57.30	\$1,120,00	
Recourse Co	1 20	2	Complete archited	110 0101		100%	12	\$750.00	\$5.05	20.30	\$300.00	
Resource)	ni I	4	Send stations and	ket .		110085	- 36	\$1,120.00	33.001	57.50	91,120,03	

12 In the lower pane, double-click Task 14 (Send out prep packet) to view the Task **Informatio n** for this task. Note the task is scheduled to begin on 10/10, after the 10/1 hourly rate increase, and it's expected to take 2 days (16 hours).

Figure 50. **Task Informatio** n dialog box for

166

Send out prep	ab design		E.
packet	ativitie (Swimmers) Bransmin advant	ed Site Antonitestal	
	gene bestauperpool		peter in Property
	Environment in 1955 – ÷ Novidenskolm in namety Johan sa 19 Ang Salah sa		nap <u>w</u>]⊟ ™ana
	jas 180	+ jax (*)	
	Eliters of Ender Eliter to Eliter		
	J		ar lateria

13 Click **O K** to close the dialog box. Look in the lower pane and note Bernie's total cost for Task 14 is \$1,280 (16 hours X \$80 = \$1,280).

Figure 51	Same Level Ster (vide 1	He	0.6 y 38.5 [1]	Beinn	1	Mexi	
Bernie's total assignment cost for Task 14	Signate Doorn Scrate 200 Points v	taria Saria Saria	Sankof		2		
1058 14	Field M Exclusion Increased all > State Value and of West Resource Corr > Other in particular different of West Resource Corr > Other in particular Resource Corr >> Other in particular	1949) 3464 9-2003 3464 2005 2464 2005 2464	Cult Yuka Gu Sibilo Yuka Gu Yuka Gu Sibilo Sibilo Sibilo Sibilo Sibilo Sibilo Sibilo		RC Coll 90.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0	Res. Co. 5.465.50 202.50 5.455.50 51.27.50 51.27.50 51.27.50 51.27.50	ů.

14

Save your project. [JG49]

Alternate Cost Rate Tables

Each resource can have up to five (5) separate resource rates, labeled A, B, C, D, and E. As mentioned above, when you assign a resource to a task, Microsoft Project will, by default, assign the resource rate using the value(s) in cost rate table A. This information is typically entered on the Resource Sheet in the column called "Standard Rate."

Additional rates can be assigned to a resource using cost rate tables B, C, or D at the assignment level of detail. The following exercise will show you how to use rates from tables other than cost table A.

- This exercise continues the use of **ResourceCost.mp p** from the preceding section. Alternatively, you can open **ResourceCost_Inst1.mp p** from your exercise file. Ensure you're looking at a split view with the Resource Sheet in the upper pane and the Resource Form in the lower pane with cost details (you can refer to Steps 1 - 4 in the preceding exercise for help with this).
 - In the upper pane, right-click on *Joan Higgins* and select *Informatio n* to open the **Resou** 1 **Informatio n** dialog box.
 - 2 Select the *Cost s* tab and note that Joan's hourly cost is \$60/hour in cost rate table A.

T'	Recourse information	
Figure 52.	Server Com Anne (Codue Inter	
Cost rate table	Terrorise (been interneting and the second in the second internet interneting and the second interneting and the second internet interneting and the second internet ng and the second internet internet interneting and the second internet interneting and the second internet internet internet interneting and the second internet internet interneting and the second internet interneting and the second interneting and the second internet interneting and the second internet interneting and the second internet interneting and the second internet interneting and the second interneting a	
	The star factor of the construct factor of the constru	
	Des prost franke o Des Des Des Const	-

- 3 In Joan's **Resource Informatio n** dialog box, select tab *B* (where cost rate table B is displayed) and enter a Standard Rate of "\$90/hour." Click **O K** to save this change, and close the dialog box.
- Change the upper pane view to Task Usage (right-click on *Resource Shee t* on the left sid 4 of the upper pane and select *Task Usag e*).
- From *View:Dat a* click the *Table s* icon, and from the dropdown list, select *Cos t* to 5 apply the Cost Table to this view.
- In the upper pane, scroll to Task 8, Determine current architecture . Note that the Total 6 Cost for Joan's work on this task is \$3,000 (50 hours X \$60/hour).
- 7 R ight-click on *Joan Hiagins* under Task 8 to display the **Assignment Informatio n** dialog box. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 53. Assignment Informatio n dialog box for Joan Higgins' assignment to Determine current architecture

		0	Sed. Name	Lob Series			State on China	- 2111	0.01	W.1			
	180		1	+ Ordentane rant	er antiteta	16.	Justice States	A WORK				1.4551	1.
1.00				druge this	4		.08040	More				10	
1				Stavid Drave	See .		.00104	- Work				81	
3				Alleri Happers	600 <u> </u>		and state ?	S was	1			an-	
100				Antia dover			Ballgroot blue		-		_		INCOME.
	198	۰.	*	и дарнох рассеная	d on the terms	6	Correct Table	al mean l					
	117			Starter Mark	<u> </u>		(im)	Data		h de C			
							(mone)	iner them	H C				
	-	1.54	3-00-0 See	et an Martine [(entit	ine 17.884	in Highert & a	2004	40m		per.		1000	1.1
	144	.43	4	 Max. 	34.9		mon perfect	That .					
	1.00	-	1012101	E	1. (meth.) []	146	1040	9.15		· annear		Cardy	·
-		100	and the second second		20076	11 100.000	pen.	147		1.1.1		10.089-04	
X	1	1	ringgens. I Lauren		20010	10,000-00 10,000-00	CORT HAT TAKEN	4		-			
1	1	1	Perlimente		20016	14.000.001							
	L	L									6		(1.500B))

- 8 In the **Assignment Informatio n** dialog box, change **Cost rate tabl e** from "A" to "B." This directs Microsoft Project to calculate Joan Higgins' cost for this task based on the information in cost rate table B. Click **O** *K* to close the dialog box.
 - Note that switching the cost rate table changed Joan Higgins' Total Cost for that task from \$3,000 (see Step 6) to \$4,500 (50 hours X \$90/hour).

Figure 54.	1		-	(Incall)										
Changed cost for			0	Month 1	TekNate a				Web a Davi	10.2	110		-	1.1
Joan's work on		1.2	۰.	-	+ Deterio	vine current	HOSE BODY	18	206 htt 12 da	(K. 19	off.			
Determine	- 22			George Bros					96-hrs	- 18	oð j			
Determine	1000		_		. Det	sid únnefo	r:		30 M/c		infi:		_	_
current			_		MO	e Magaina			008.0	1. W	VIN .	_		
architecture	3				84.0	of GOVER			Just genrand little					
		14		-	4 60000	e Penaliticas procision n	at the serve	er .	dress 33.55	(a) #18	-1			
						1.01		+ 14 + 11 10	10.1					
		91			Smarrat	-1	-							
		1244	a Osternet prest armitichen guistice 12 das [2] (2) (blet als						(514)	981	÷		. 9	(61
		Bat	. 80	4	(+1)	Fangle 1	18	+	Wook (Swithout)	The .			*	
				and a bain			1.001	11.0	. Det	0.01				and the second
	- 52		744	içe trody			Large	21,661.00	1948	101			÷.,	
	AMON POINT		3 David David 8 Scott Higgs 7 Mittal Scott 9 Scott Frank		Tanti 16 1 1		1894 1894 1895	11, 981, 99 14, 991, 89 11, 981, 89 14, 981, 89	tait-stytake					
	1	ľ	9 Julio Paulipinet) 33					stim #						

Save your project. [JG50]

Adding Fixed Cost to a Task

As a reminder:

10

9

- Assignment Work X Resource Cost Rate = Assignment Cost
- Task Cost = Assignment Cost + Fixed Cost
 - This exercise continues the use of the file **ResourceCost.mp p** from the preceding section. Alternatively, you can open **ResourceCost_Ins t 2 .mp p** .
 - 1 If your screen is still split, remove the split either by double-clicking the line between

the panes or by deselecting the **Detail s** checkbox under **View: Split Vie w**.

Apply the Gantt Chart view to the project. Then go to *View:Data:Table s*, and choose *Cos t* from the dropdown list to apply the Cost Table to this view. Note the Total Cost for Task 18, Send out draft and review with key sponsors, is \$9,120, per the following figure:

		and sense	Calcores, mainter		on they	ana la	NAME OF A	see as		F F F V T V T F F
		a set of regenerate	3.16	1.14	Se	51.00.00	5 8M-1	-	60.000	A COMPANY AND A STREET AND A STREET
ith		Cash Brown with h	10.00	Ed	Aug. 800.00	11-006-00	38.000-00	8,0	E. 300 K	
with	0.0	and a problem of the same process	3.00	1.50	SADE.	120.00	1. 9951	10.00	Wheel-	
	1.1	 Color protect plan. 	N.66.	Del	CARDINE ST	31/1646	5	(6.44	63.00-2	
		We considerate day	6.05	E st	23000	100.0	20.000-00	8.0	3.72%	
	11	the Argentish second an once	20.0 (0)	1.98	2,0010	2.00	 Set 	Ce and	SH	
		. I far in reifert uner	N.68	- Cel	CPUDD-S*	- 91,004.00	5.686-11	04.40	SAMOY	
	100	- On the designer	6.00	End	10,000.00	111-000.00	110,00	3.9	325490-00	CONTROL OF THE OWNER
	2.0	Contra percision	2.14	1.98	54, 53.0	2,000	1, 410	9.00	-58.000	defines on a figure
	(2.00	Codation bill cherry.	10.00	1.1	6 180.00	21.856.00	6.6	Auto	6.355.27	H
	4	Code Sector	10.05	1.1	20.000	11-00.00		9.00	3770	na legar
	0.044	Company and a company and	5.00	194	91, 2111	20.000	1.5 4.11	Contract Contract	51.711	increase in a constraint in course a const
	1.76	A distribution while a space	15.8	Fal	A 2.2	11.8064	1.121.00	- Nation	Ø.25.2	10
		· Exten mer Austral die Alexandre under	6.01	had	1042.2 12	100.000	2.200	900	-326-C	

In the Fixed Cost column for Task 18, enter "\$2,000." Note the Total Cost for this 3 task is now \$11,120.

		hicker.	T Remission T	P	we have +	-	Acies + in	14	
Figure 56.	14	 conduct setsion 	şa.a	and	SAMOR	jaranacara.	19.0.4.0	34.00	(Analasian)
Fixed Cost	.49	Sealest arg pake	S1 W	Pal	\$4,141.10	\$2,535,010	10.331.53	57.01	\$2,181,011
impact on total	. 78	Conduct pre-interviews	\$2.00	End	52,520,00	\$1,500.00	\$23.00	\$2.00	\$1,520,00
Cost	. 10	(210 B at 0400 D)	81.8	1625	34.94.5-0	\$-1044	\$12.8	31.01	\$47844
Cost	1.2	Pressing dis Analysis and	\$2.30	6-1	\$3,123.00	\$7,530,00	51 412 00	50.00	\$2,120.00
		sand out draft and review to this key aportonic	A. 10. 16	£ nd	Statistics.	Signatura	A Section	14.87	\$11.1.2.10

Save your project [JG51].

2

4

1

2

Displaying Cost over Time, by Task (Or Phase)

- This exercise continues the use of **ResourceCost.mp p** from the preceding section. Alternatively, you can open **ResourceCost_Ins t 3 .mp p** .
 - From *Task:Vie w* click the arrow by the *Gantt Char t* icon, and from the dropdown lis select Task Usag e .
 - Right-click on the right side of the vertical view divider (i.e. in the time scale data area). From the dropdown list, select *Cos t* and deselect *Wor k* (*Wor k* is selected by default) to view cost details on this side of the view. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 57. Task Usage view

Figure 55. Gantt Chart Cost Table applied

with Cost Table applied, showing Cost details

		Deck-man	Q764-14	24.2	Se 2	246		100			1.00	 	
		· California Courses in Change Carelon	54.61	-	111103-00	14.4	 C11536 	8.3508	\$ 211.04	8.518		1.218	6,21136
	15	Field Provide a	10.20	-	HLING-SC	Sec	3,111.08	3.000	3,110,00	3,210		TAX 8	3.710
		Contraction of the second second second	511	110	SUMACE	128.	- S. S. (B)	A 4 18	A 1178	1.01.00		C. C. (4, 18)	N 16.18
		24-5° 4. 10			NWEX	Sec.	112.00	2.17.06	0.001	2,22.00		E 02.00	1 2 4 60
		- 00002 72 -			10.000	1.44	141118	24 24 8	2,548,380				
		de Shar			MA022	4.d	10100	2010-001	271.00	42/12/05		2010-00	37.000
	10	V E-MART SQUARE M MARTINE METERS		1040	A WHI	128.							
5		APPER OF			100 2	4.1							
					Gene	12.00							
14		As Sheet			.10.2 12	16.4							
92		A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC	1301	1.00	30,2114	328.							
		10-5 Dar 10			M402	6.1							
		Canadro - Ma			4.675.1	1206.0							
		La Deate			MARC	6.5							

3 By default you will see a daily view of your project's time-scaled data, by days. To change the timescale, choose *View:Zoo m* and click on the dropdown under *Timescal e* to change **Day s** to **Week s**, **Month s**, etc.

Figure 58.
The Timescale
setting drop
down

1	and domain regard facial and	Character Contracted percentation	
	Contactor and Co	 A notice with the part of a part of a sector /li>	an - Ar-Fini-H Cosed Topia
**	Der e Natur Signifierer	Tos - To	<i>a</i>
4	 Software System Implementation BalkProjectPlan Generative Statement of Ware 	\$0.60 encod 20(100.00 Corr Mr (2000) Second 20(100.00 <	2.12 00.0 0.02 00.0
	izita Remer Manual Partici	5400000 Jan 5400.00 5-00 51-5445 541 864.0 500.00 5-0	0.00 540 UHB

5

Select the *Month s* setting. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 59.		(Texture)	(ml	14.20		15.1	1.000	1	che:	100	201
Quarterly	100	- United and Automatics and an an automatical	50.00	1111		111	1 10050	05071738	(22.76407	CV.071	NRY
timescale on the		e par di Bagasi Pira	lotes	davis.	1.000	Kori .	2.30	abovent			
top tion and		114. 12 day = 1 1/11	55.00	N 12	11.08475	2.11	ACCSIN	教授编			
top tiel allu		11/1 UN10			4.95	1.115	2,500	. Anne			
monthly on the		01402 /015			1 384.0	Lorg.	\$1,2000				
bottom tior of		Sec. do Baylow			17,482.00	1.11	21.0340	1,0131			
	- 4	a difference provider the score of whether	55000	(m)	(1.5% m)	1.111		101234			
timescale	2	3273 WENE			STOLL	Kost-		10000			
	2	Ideas Fam.			542,00	6.03		3143.000			
	* .	mat face			946.65	(into		164138	17		
	6 1	+ China Sideo Ser	2000	ure C	0.2000	LOD		1.22.4.11 M			

- Perhaps you would like to see a more high-level view of your project. Choose *Select Al I* above the ID column and left of the Task name header. All tasks should become highlighted From *View:Dat a* click *Outlin e*, and from the dropdown list select *Level 1*. This will display the highest level phases of the WBS.
- You are now presented a summary of total cost by phase of the left of the vertical divider and cost by phase by month on the right side of the vertical divider.

Figure 60.	Inthere	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		ALC: N	24
Cost by phase by	* A below as spaces in doministration	A de valued of Lancelo (con	LOOK OF SULLAND	LOCAL IN CONTROL	51.104
we wh	a fail that will a	Shift D. CSLAW, YO, You	3188-55 YELSON		
month	 Jeffra seasan , winer sera 	second and Statements in sec-	CL.1000	SOLUTION	
	 Car devictments r 	MARY IN THE PARTY IN THE TAXAGE IN ENTING IN TAXAGE IN TAXAGE IN TAXAGE INTENTING IN TAXAGE IN TAXAGE INTENTING INTENTIN		LIGHC //	
	2 Second State of a parent	Sher IN LOW WY AND		5 ANY 10 11 100	Y1.225a

9 Save your project. [JG52]

Displaying Cost over Time, by Resource

- This exercise continues the use of the file **ResourceCost.mp p** from the preceding section. Alternatively, you can open **ResourceCost_Ins t 4** .mp p .
 - Apply the Resource Usage view to your project (from *Resource:Vie w* click the dropdown arrow and select **Resource Usag e**).
 - 2 Use the method we covered in the preceding exercise (right-clicking in the *Timescale Dat a* area) to apply the *Cost Tabl e* to the left side of this view, and show *Cos t* details on th right; remove *Wor k* details.
 - 3 Change the timescale to show a quarterly view, by months, as we covered in the preceding exercise (*View:Zoom:Timescale:Month s*). [DC53]
 - 4 Select all resources by clicking on the little square that is above the ID column and left of the Resource Name header. This will highlight all tasks. From *View:Dat a* click the *Outlin e* icon and from the dropdown list select *Hid e Subtask s* . Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 61.		0	See 1 1	60 -	AUXING	AGO)	14.	141	No. part -	1.00	1000	20	~
			F & using its	1.4		1.66							
			a later Territy .	1411	2	mi				20200006	300019	-5.WOW-	\$2.WC30
View of	- C.A.;		> neoecostume	6.72 (0)	() () () () () () () () () ()	34				19.20.10	10.31, 21	Silv.m.	12.45, 22
D			> to a with an	300 kg		54				36.00.00	512.8Y 38	5.3453	
Resource	1	٠	 Cooperativy 	in the	(78					529000.001	Six House	20.00.00
Usage	1.1		 Beeld Construction 	THE DO		140					10.200-22	10,000,000	GA8 /8
. 1	21.00	٠	in the set of the set of the	2545		and a					56,401.50	51/41/34	(2.4Y) Ye
summarized	-40 A	٠	F M Re worker	10.00		35					a.M. 18	Secon	
by resource	1.0		P. B. Br. New Yorkell,	- 194		542					57,347 10	1011.36	
by resource,	3.14		Lincolas valo	e						0.,000 mc			
by month	2 M.		F Mary Report	1.2 10	6	tel.							1686.70
	3		101202000000000000000000000000000000000		1	and a							
	A					35							

5

Click the arrow to the left of *David Crawford* to see which assignments make up his total cost by month.

Figure 62. Total cost for David Crawford per month, per assignment

7

8

1

170
	Receivers: +	on f	e nicia	100	NUMBER OF STREET	36	
	+ David Crawlard	\$13,909,90	Cut	53.600.00	57.503.00	\$3,400.30	\$100.00
	When a summarized dealers	0,45.35	15-4	10.430.010	\$21.8		
	Arrest processes on the arrest	51 506,50	Cost	\$1.000.00	3536001		
	Danalso aana daarsaya	10.24	D.4	9439-113	0.000		
	Sets out prop prover	2605.50	Lat		5300.00		
	Tanka, prostantan	10 2142	0.4		Sector		
	canduar sensor	26,5,50	Lot		Saun		
8	Press, and Scherosen!	0,410 51	0.1		52,413,701		
R.	sens are draft and review was separated as	14, 45, 20	1.241		12, N.U.B.		
8	feedborden's Stand screek incape	52, 475, 52	1.0		5403.00	\$7, 315, 50	
	LEX THE DEPARTMENT OF CONTRACTOR STRATEMENT	10.004	1.240			57.4.8.	
8	Canks, in American Sciences	5805.91	C.I.			5408.50	
e	a recultive for conversion and	14.00%	1210				90.00

6

Save and close your project. [JG54]

8.4 Constraints

Microsoft Project 2019 provides tools you can use to influence when project tasks occur. These tools provide the flexibility to adjust the project schedule more efficiently, which is required to support oftenchanging business requirements. This lesson will demonstrate how to apply constraints that limit the flexibility of task scheduling. It will also demonstrate how to set deadline dates that warn you when the project schedule has slipped to an unacceptable degree.

If you follow the logic of this course in developing a project plan, the only date you will have entered at this point is the project start date. If you want to change the project start date or switch to project finish date scheduling, this is the best time to do so. Your entire project schedule, based on durations and dependencies, will simply move across the Gantt Chart calendar presentation without change. Constraints limit your ability to relocate the project plan in time because they "lock" tasks to dates.

Applying Constraints to Tasks in a Project Scheduled from the Project Start Date

Based on the project start date, task durations, and task dependencies, Microsoft Project determines the start and finish dates for each task in the plan.

But some tasks in your plan may be tied to specific dates. For example, if the delivery of a piece of hardware or some other product from an outside company occurs on a specific date, any work using that equipment must consider the delivery date. Similarly, a new employee can't begin work on project tasks until they actually join the company. You can indicate these schedule-related situations by applying a constraint to the task.

Task constraints are used when you want to make sure that a task starts or finishes on, by, or no earlier than a particular date. By default, Microsoft Project 2019 schedules all tasks to start as soon as possible (when scheduling from a project start date). You can select specific limits on any task you feel needs a different schedule constraint.

In general, schedule flexibility is the project manager's friend because external events will impact the schedule once a project starts. Task constraints are defined as flexible (soft constraints) or inflexible (hard constraints). Microsoft Project is designed to use a flexible constraint when it has a choice. The flexibility of the constraint varies depending on whether you are scheduling your project from a start date or from a finish date.

An example of a flexible constraint when you are scheduling from a start date is the Start No Earlier Than (SNET) constraint. The task cannot start earlier than the constraint date but, based on the scheduling of the predecessor tasks, it could start later.

While constraints are required for some tasks, it is common for new Microsoft Project users to inadvertently set constraints when they don't mean to. For example, if you set a start date for a task, you are applying a SNET constraint.

Microsoft Project 2019 will not automatically apply an inflexible constraint to a task. The practical result of an inflexible constraint is to override the logical relationships you established between tasks. If the Planning Wizard message options are left turned on, Microsoft Project will warn you that applying an inflexible constraint could cause a scheduling conflict. In some situations this is helpful because Microsoft Project will alert you before a constrained task is automatically re-scheduled. The following table displays the behavior of a constraint when you are scheduling from a start date.

Constraint	Туре	Constraint behavior when you are scheduling from a project start date
As Soon As Possible (ASAP)	Flexible	Default constraint for a new task if no dates are entered; starts on day one of the project if there are no predecessors; if a task does have predecessors, the dependency will drive when the task can start
As Late As Possible (ALAP)	Flexible	Always finishes the task on the project finish date; rarely used
Finish No Earlier Than (FNET)	Flexible	Finishes the task on or after the date that you entered; if the task has no predecessor, the task will finish on the date you selected. The finish date can be driven to a later date based on the predecessor(s). FNET is the default constraint type assigned by Microsoft Project when you select a finish date for a task. Microsoft Project applies this flexible constraint so that it preserves the ability of the scheduling engine to automatically schedule the task finish to a later date.
Start No Earlier Than (SNET)	Flexible	Starts the task on or after the date that you entered; if the task has no predecessor, the task will start on the date you selected. The start date can be driven to a later date based on the predecessor(s). SNET is the default constraint type assigned by Microsoft Project when you select a start date for a task. Microsoft Project applies this flexible constraint so that it preserves the ability of the scheduling engine to automatically schedule the task start to a later date.
Finish No Later Than (FNLT)	Inflexible	Finishes the task on or before the date that you entered; if a task does have predecessors, the dependency will drive when the task can start unless the predecessor attempts to move the task beyond the planning constraint date. In this situation, you will be alerted to a scheduling conflict if the Planning Wizard is activated.
Start No Later Than (SNLT)	Inflexible	Starts on day one of the project if there are no predecessors; if a task does have predecessors, the dependency will drive when the task can start unless the predecessor attempts to move the task beyond the planning constraint date. In this situation, you will be alerted to a scheduling conflict if the Planning Wizard is activated.
Must Finish On (MFO)	Inflexible	Task cannot finish any earlier or later than the indicated date; if the task has a predecessor, the predecessor cannot indicate the finish date of the task. Instead, the Planning Wizard will alert you of a scheduling conflict.
Must Start On (MSO)	Inflexible	Task cannot start any earlier or later than the indicated date; if the task has a predecessor, the predecessor cannot indicate the start date of the task. Instead, the Planning Wizard will alert you of a scheduling conflict.

Entering Task Constraints

The default constraint for new tasks will be set according to the *Schedule from* option selected in the **Project Informatio n** dialog box as shown in the following figure.



If you choose to schedule from the *Project Start Date*, the default constraint for new tasks will be *as soon as possibl e*. If you choose to schedule from the *Project Finish Dat e*, the default constraint for new tasks will be *as late as possibl e*.

Once these constraints are set (according to the defaults described above), you can change them to suit how

you wish certain tasks to behave as the Microsoft Project scheduling algorithms automatically update the schedule, which occurs each time a schedule is changed. Microsoft Project will also set some constraints automatically, based on user input.

If you enter a start or finish date into Microsoft Project, there's a good chance that you are also setting a soft constraint (SNET or FNET), as follows:

- □ If you schedule from the *Project Start Dat e* and you enter a task start date, Microsoft Projec will change your constraint from ASAP to SNET (i.e. a "soft" constraint from scheduled start).
- □ If you schedule from the *Project Start Dat e* and you enter a task finish date, Microsoft Project will change your constraint from ASAP to FNET (i.e. a "soft" constraint from scheduled finish).

Once these constraints are set, the operation of Microsoft Project's scheduling algorithms may confuse you if you do not know that these constraints have been set. Because many Microsoft Project users don't notice or understand why this scheduling behavior is happening, the constraint field in Microsoft Project is widely misunderstood and often avoided because of fear of unpredictable behavior.

The hard constraints— *Start No Later Tha n*, *Finish No Later Tha n*, *Must Start O n* and *Must Finish O n*—can only be set by the end user[DC55]. Hard constraints cause even more unpredictable behavior when set, which is why Microsoft Project does not automatically set these constraints for you.

The best way to handle task constraints' effects (or non-effects) on task scheduling behavior is to take the time to familiarize yourself with this feature of Microsoft Project.

Setting Task Constraints

In this exercise, the team assigned to create a project plan has to wait until all the management review comments have been received; if they start the task before the comments are in, they will undoubtedly have to throw out any completed work and repeat it. In a case like this, starting early will actually waste effort, not save time, so we want to make sure the task information in the plan reflects this practical constraint.

This exercise uses the file **Projec t S** cheduling.mp **p** . Be sure this file is open before beginning.

1 Go to the task *Create project plan* (ID 4) and enter a Start date of "10/26." You should be prompted with a dialog box that with an option to *Move the task, keep the lin k*. The Planning Wizard presents this question because you are moving a linked task to a later date. The Microsoft Project scheduling engine had set the finish date set to 11/6 based on the default constraint of "As early as possible" and the end of its predecessor task.

Figure 64.	Planning Wirard
Planning Wizard constraint warning	You moved ' Create project plan' away from ' Obtain approval of Statement of Work' and the two tasks are linked. As a result, the link between the two tasks will not drive the start of the later bask.
	You can:
	 Move the task ("Greate project plan") to start on Thu Oct 26, '17 and remove the link. Move the task ("Greate project plan") to start on Thu Oct 26, '17 and keep the link.
	Cancel. Don't move the task and keep the link.
	Don't tell me about this again.

- 2 Click **O K** .
- 3 Notice the icon that appears in the Indicator field for Task 4—a calendar icon with a blue square [I]]. Hover your mouse pointer over it to read the note.

Figure 65.

Constraint

indicator
message

4	 -	Create pro	piect plan	
5	 This task has	a 'Start No Earlier	ect plan with team	
6	I han' constr	aint on 10/26.	val of project plan	

- 4 Double-click the task *Create project plan* (ID 4). You will be presented with the **Task Informa n** dialog box.
- 5 Click the *Advance d* tab.
- 4 You will see that Microsoft Project automatically set the *Constraint typ e* to *Start No Earlier Tha n* . Also, the *Constrain t dat e* was automatically set to 10/2 6 . Your dialog box will resemble the following:

Figure 66.	Sector Sectors	ant several to a second	HITSE	ursected.		-
Viewing SNET	ge - Kearpa				5+ 6+ [114.).	÷ Eposta
constraint in Task	Solar	10		•		
Informatio n	Sector App	Statistical and		vision of	35.28	-
	24.00	Tare: Mail	-	2 danam		
	Caferinen Statute	1074 13	\$	- presidente a	N 3471 - 446 MID 117	- 2007
	an an grant and Linear an	al in Cone on				
	400				01	(eset

7 Look at the Gantt Chart to see what appears to be a lag between Tasks 3 & 4. The gap between these tasks are a result of the SNET constraint you set by entering a different start date than what the scheduling had calculated.

Overriding a Task Dependency with a Hard Constraint

- 8 Double-click the task *Conduct session* (ID 16). You will be presented with the **Task Informati n** dialog box.
- 9 Click the *Advance d* tab.
- 10 From the *Constraint typ e* dropdown list, select *Finish No Later Tha n*.
- 11 From the *Constraint dat e* dropdown calendar, select *December 1 2* of next year. You have indicated that the task *Conduct session* must finish on or before December 12.
- 12 Click **O K** . You will see the **Planning Wizar d** dialog box:

Figure 67	Plenning Wizard					
Planning Wizar d alert	You set a Finish No Later Than constraint on the task " Conduct session . This could result in a scheduling conflict either now or later because this task has at least one other task limited to it. You can					
	Genoti, the constraint will be set on. Cond Continue, this would the conflict by using a Earlier Than constraint indeed. Continue: A Finish No Later Than constraint Ot Cancel De Cancel De Cancel	ted settern) Tretch No It will be set.				

- 13 Microsoft Project is alerting you to a potential scheduling conflict that has occurred because *Conduct session* is linked to another task. Click the *Continue*. *A Finish No Later Than constraint will be se t* option button.
- 14 Click **O** *K* . Notice the new icon in the Indicator column for *Conduct session* —a small calendar with one red square []. This icon indicates the task constraint is inflexible.
- 15 Increase the duration of *Conduct pre-interviews* (ID 15) from 6 days to 10 days. Allow the schedule conflict and click **O K** . What happens to the link between *Conduct pre-interviews* and *Conduct session* ?

Figure 68. Schedule conflict caused by an inflexible constraint

0	ALL CAR	10-01	-		Same in	I FY TH THILLY THE
1	15	a Termine Isalas Jerendens	of days	1.746	124	1.2
8	-	Complete and store	AL OF	12,58	27/05	termination of the second seco
190	15	CONCRETE INTERN	2480	14/20	24112	HALFFORT
	S	Ny achillence.	21.95	12/12	10.014	
3	-	ster 3 out draft and review with resident same	Actes	12.12	Tofad .	1 contract of the second se

- 16 Notice the schedule conflict in the visual overlap (inside the rectangle) between *Conduct preinterviews* and *Conduct session*.
- 17 Save your project [JG56].

Setting and Clearing Constraints Using a Split Window

1

- This exercise continues the use of **ProjectScheduling.mp p** . Ensure this file is open before beginning, or open **ProjectScheduling_Inst1.mp p** .
 - Select *Create Statement of Work* (ID 2). From *Task:Propertie s* click the *Detail s* icon Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 69.

Gantt Chart and Task Details Form

		0	200	nane			-	-	940	Contraction (- 41	10.00	CHARTS.	aut any	CHARTER OF
			-	< Software	i System Implomentatio	14 C		102 days	10/22	0/12		-			
2	1		-	- build in	vaject Plan			23 days	10/32	11/21		-	_		
В		141	-	C10	in Statement of Motor			an new .	49/32	11/4			-	9,	
5	- 8-	9	-	(02)	ain approval of Statement	of Were	1.1	1.844	11/5	31/5	- 4			4	
	1		-	CHU	res project plan			10 (7691	11/6	10/39	1			-	
Ē.			-	Fav	low project plan with four			1.814	15/30	11/30	- 4				- F.
	1		-	.024	are approved of project pla	19		1.884	11/94	41/31	- 1				1
	1		-m	Fina	itise project plan and defin	eletete .		Oillayn	11/01	15/31	4				6,44/0
	1		-	a franka	+ Fourthe			1910	44.753	3948		200			-
					1	-	-			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		-			
	-	1.00			Distant in set			Constant of		- Merman					
	100			-	Thema	171									
	210	1 E			Plant liters Cit.	10	116.5	P41 - 194	No viere	T					
	Pro-	60H	4	*)	An Damy in Paratha	1	1425.7	14							
	*	yan.	1000	(1) prov	Fasch for Datie: Prair Fasch His Lafer Trans		N Cost	ohite Ph	10						
	16		ana bisasi.		Mul Arigh Ex	_	*****	-libie		fare	-	4			
					Stat No Salter Pear Stat No Salter Pear	1.1						11.			

- 2 From the *Constrain t* dropdown list in the bottom half of your screen, select *Must Finish O n* for Task 2 and click *O K*. The button face will change from *O K* to *Previou s*. If you do not assign a constraint date, Microsoft Project uses the already calculated date.
- 3 In the top pane, select the task *Create project plan* (ID 4). Recall that we assigned a SNET constraint to it, but then decided it really was unnecessary.
- 4 To remove the constraint, if it is not already removed, select *As Soon As Possibl e* from the *Constrain t* dropdown list in the bottom pane. Click *O K*.
- 5 Double-click the window split bar to remove the split.

Clearing Constraints for Multiple Tasks

- 6 Make sure you are in the Gantt Chart view.
- 7 Select the *Task Nam e* column by clicking the column header.
- 8 From *Task:Propertie s* click the *Informatio n* button. You will be presented with the followin dialog box:

Figure 70. Multiple Task Information dialog box

Salard Incoment Paralege Apartor	And Links Triber	-	
B-s		Distan.	te Materia
Street, in store () gan, any Street, and		Wyata	12)
Dates			
Sec.	- (5000-		
Chipmy on Deservice			
If Plats Kar			
M Rollar			

- 9 Click the *Advance d* tab (if necessary).
- 10 Select *As Soon As Possibl e* from the *Constraint typ e* dropdown list.
- 11 Click **O** *K* . Notice that any remaining task constraints have been cleared.
- 12 Save your project [JG57].

Deadline Dates

From time to time you may want to track a deadline for an individual task without restricting the schedule with a constraint. Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to establish a deadline date for a task and shows an indicator if the task finishes after its deadline as the project file is updated.

□ This exercise continues the use of **ProjectScheduling.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **ProjectScheduling_Inst2.mp p**.

- 1 Confirm that you are in the *Tas k* tab and Gantt Chart view.
- 2 Double-click the task *Finalize project plan and definition* (ID 7). You will be presented with the **Task Informatio n** dialog box.
- 3 Click the *Advance d* tab.
- 4 From the *Deadlin e* dropdown calendar select *11/1 0*.
- 5 Click **O** *K* . A deadline of 11/10 is set for *Finalize project plan and definition* , and a green arrow appears beyond the Gantt bar for the task.
- 6 For the task *Create project plan* (ID 4), increase the duration from 5 to 15 days. Since the finish date for *Finalize project plan and definition* now extends past the deadline date, an icon appears in the Indicator column alerting you to this information and the deadline arrow in the Gantt Chart graphic moves left of the milestone diamond.

Figure 71.		ė	-	The Distance	· Deside a				0.02 (10.00
			-	- Settucere Systems implementation	ILI days	20/9	8/12		
	1		*	< Raiki Project Plan	20 skyp	is/w	13/35		
Deadline	- 26		*	Criside Statement all More.	10 days	10/10	50738		1
alert icon in			-	Oktars appraval of Matement of Mork.	1 deg	10/25	sejini -	1	
the Indiantar	1.4.7			crieste propett plan	13-Jays	lat/au	11/10		B1 .
the indicator	1.11		-	Revenue project plan with town	Tille	11/14	13/14		5.
column			*	Clintaria apparated of propertiplical	1.04	21(15	AQUA.		1
	¥	+	-	talal as project plan and defectore	a days	11/15	11/11		11/15
	8- A		•	+ Central briston	23 slays	84/16	23/15		
	8 - P		•	mapping drift document	10.days	12/18	64/1		-
	8.0		*	theiner preparation prater	1.044	14/4	sajar.		
	2.1		-	the range depart many A	A disease	Arren .	11111		

An Alternative to Deadline Dates

While deadline dates can be useful, the little red diamond you receive as a warning is easily overlooked, especially if the task is off the screen. There is another more effective way to accomplish the same thing.

- 7 Scroll to the task you are concerned about: Task 33 (*Circulate for comments*). Click in the next empty *Task Nam e* cell, and add a new task: *Target finish date* with a duration of 0 days. Recall that a duration of 0 makes a task a milestone.
- 8 Link Task 33 finish-to-start with the new milestone Task 34, which will be the trigger for our alert mechanism.
- 9 Assign a *Must Finish O n* constraint to the new milestone task, accepting the default constrain

date of 3/4/14.

- 10 Press *F* **5** to see the **Go To** dialog box.
- 11 Enter "0" in the *I D* field and click *O K* to return to Task ID 0. Notice that the task we are interested in, Task 33, is off the screen. Increase the duration of Task 2, *Create Statement of Work*, to 11 days. What is the result?

Figure 72.	Planning Wicard
Planning Wizar d alert	This action will cause a tobedusing conflict. Tark 30 of ProjectScheduling, britt appr has a task constraint or its knicel to a tar that cannot more, and as a -exatt the constraint or the link cannot be a
	Thu can B Cannot. And the scheduling conflict. Continue. Allow the scheduling conflict. Dec Cannot. Belo Point tell ese about this again

The Planning Wizard message not only tells you that something is happening, it tells you specifically where to look: "...Task 33 of" Select *Continue*. *Allow the scheduling conflict*. to allow the change, then *F* **5** until Task 33 is displayed to see the effect.

12 Save and close your project [JG58].

8.5 Resource and Assignment Review Exercise

If you are not working in the enterprise environment, connected to Project Server, this exercise will review how you will handle exercises manually. If you will be working in the enterprise environment, these functions will be performed by the Project Server administrator unless your project uses local resources.

- This exercise uses **MeetingTasks.mp p** which you created at the end of the previous chapter. If you did not do that exercise, you can use **MeetingTasks_Inst 1**. Ensure the appropriate file is open before beginning.
 - 1 Switch to the Resource Sheet view and enter the following names and resource information:

Name	Initials	Group	Max. Units
Vice President	VP	Management	100%
Office Manager	OM	Management	100%
Administrative Assistant	AA	Office Staff	200%
Intern	IN	Office Staff	100%

2

Assign the resources to tasks as listed below, keeping task durations unchanged:

Task	Resource(s)
Schedule conference date	Vice President, Office Manager
Reserve conference center	Intern
Book keynote speaker	Office Manager
Develop letter	Administrative Assistant, Intern
Get corporate approval	Vice President
Plan food with caterer	Administrative Assistant
Print catering menu	Intern

3

Enter the following cost information on the resource sheet:

Resource	Standard rate	Overtime rate
Vice President	\$75,000/year	
Office Manager	\$45,000/year	
Administrative Assistant	\$25/hour	\$37.50/hour
Intern	\$15/hour	\$22.50/hour

4 Effective April 1, the intern resource will have a pay increase of 4.9% for both standard and overtime rates. Prepare your project plan to account for this increase. Hint: see the *Cost s* tab in the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box for steps 4 and 5

- 5 What is the total forecast cost for your project [DC59]?
- 6 Save and close your project.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

- 1. What are the three resource types? _____, ____, & _____.
- 2. Which type of resource is not consumed by the project? ______
- 3. What's an example of a case when it is reasonable to assign a generic resource at more than 100% [DC60]?

4. How do you change a resource to generic from the Resource Sheet?

- 5. What does checking the *Budge t* checkbox from the **Resource Informatio n** dialog (*Genera l* t allow you to do?
- 6. What's the danger of adding a name directly to the Resource Name field in the Gantt Chart Entry Table or in the **Assign Resource s** dialog box?

7. One of your resources has just informed you he will be on vacation a week when you have him/her scheduled to work on a task. How would you update his calendar to reflect the fact that s/he will not be available?

8. What does the Team Planner view allow you to see and how does it work?

- 9. What is the recommended task type, if your resource demand and project budget are based on labor estimates? ______
- 10. What organizations most commonly use fixed work as the default task type and why?

- 11. True or False: When work is fixed, Microsoft Project won't change the work estimate, and you cannot modify the specific work value for a task.
- 12. You are renting a piece of equipment for a few days, and therefore the resources using that equipment must complete the work during that time. What task type would be the best one to use in this scenario?
- 13. If you assign two resources to an effort-driven task, what happens to the duration? What if it is not an effort-driven task?
- 14. True or False: All fixed work tasks behave as effort-driven tasks.
- 15. The default task type selected by Microsoft is:
 - a. Fixed work
 - b. Fixed duration
 - c. Fixed units
 - d. None of the above
- 16. What do Smart Tags do?

17. Which view lists tasks and the resources assigned to each one? ______

- 18. Fill in the blank: Microsoft Project calculates basic cost calculations at the ______ level.
- 19. What formula does Microsoft Project follow to calculate assignment cost?

20. What formula does Microsoft Project follow to calculate task cost?

21. Is it possible for a resource to have different costs depending on the roles and/or tasks they are performing in Microsoft Project? If so, how?

22. Up to how many separate rates can each resource have?

23. How can you apply the Cost Table to a view?

24. How can you display a high-level outline of your plan?

- 25. Microsoft Project determines the start and finish dates for each task in the plan based on which of the following?
 - a. Project start date
 - b. Task durations
 - c. Task dependencies
 - d. All of the above

26. Which of the following constraints are inflexible?

- a. As Late As Possible
- b. Finish No Earlier Than
- c. Start No Later Than
- d. Start No Earlier Than
- 27. Which constraint type starts on day one of the project if there are no predecessors? Is this flexible or inflexible? ______; ______;
- 28. With which constraint type, can tasks not finish any earlier or later than the indicated date? Is this flexible or inflexible? _____; _____;
- 29. How do you set the constraint type and date of a task?

30. True or false: A hard constraint will override a task dependency.

31. Explain an alternative to deadline dates that provides more dramatic alerts.



chapter 9 Using Microsoft Project 2019 to Optimize the Plan

■ Identifying the Critical Path

- Adding Recurring Tasks and Using Task Calendars
- Managing Resource Workloads and Resolving Resource Over-Allocations
- Setting the Project Baseline
- Communicating the Project Plan (Introduction)
- Optimizing the Plan Review Exercise



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Understand and identify the project's critical path
- Use the appropriate views to analyze the critical path
- Set up recurring tasks
- Define and use task calendars
- Review resource workloads and resolve resource over-allocations
- View, set, and clear the project baseline and know how to set multiple baselines (interim plans)
- Take a picture of the project Gantt Chart

Completing the Plan

The planning steps covered up to this point will help you produce a reasonable first draft of the project plan, but it's generally necessary to refine the plan before the project actually begins. Several of the steps may be repeated as the plan is optimized—resources may be added to meet the target end date, estimates may be adjusted as resource skills or roles are converted to real names, new tasks may be discovered as details are filled in, links may change to accommodate other schedule constraints, and assignments may shift to load level the plan. Each of these changes can force the project manager to repeat the steps of planning until a realistic plan is built—a process so common that PMI refers to this progressive elaboration as a fundamental defining characteristic of a project.

The work plan and schedule are not optimized until the scope, schedule, and resources have been configured to meet the project objectives.

9.1 Identifying the Critical Path

Network Diagram

1

The critical path is defined as the series of tasks that must be completed on schedule in order for a project to finish on schedule. Each task on the critical path is called a critical task. Tasks that are on the critical path have the minimum level of slack (usually 0 days). In other words, the task can be delayed for 0 days before it will delay the finish date of the project.

In the following exercise, we will explore how we can modify the Gantt Chart view to see which tasks are on the critical path in a project.

This exercise uses the file **CriticalPath.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.

Go to *File:Option s* to view the **Project Option s** dialog, and then click *Advance d* in sidebar. Scroll to the bottom and note the *Tasks are critical if slack is less than or equal t o* option. Ensure this is set to 0 days and click O K.

Figure 73.

The **Project Option s** dialog box

× 1	Mast Hanna .
Ithat	
H-	2 Interview of the same is interview. 2 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview. 3 Interview of the same is interview.
	Construction of the second secon

2 As explained in Note 3 of the Selecting a View heading of Section 3.5, apply the Schedu *e* table to see the total slack for the tasks in this project. To do so, from *View:Dat a* click the *Table s* dropdown list and select *Schedul e*. Note that the last column shows the total slack for each task.

Figure	74
Figure	/4

Total slack calculation that defines the critical path

3

4

	11100	C Damoret C. C. anere				100 A	100	÷	- 4	1.4	14	1	1.0	158	- 44	ച്
3	-	4 million (1991) - 1	.00	4.95	107	- 101	2 dece	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
10	100	· Transfer	1.00	10.4	111	2 - AM	1.100	100.00		_		-				
	-	Sector and	1 E -		- 13		140	1440	10000	Sec.	1.1					
140	-	A College Reput	1.00	29	1/24		44.9	16.0	8-1	-	-					
4	-	2.32 M.S.	1.4	10	154		4.0	(Dat	1. 3	110101-1	citer re	in Alice	100.00	and should be	George -	
	-	because 1	2.98		1.80	3.10	1. Are	1756ga		In the second	1.12.47	ANY NEWSREE	1.400	10.77	and on	(read)
ж	1	26 featured	2	101	212	CF	144	2444		100 100	1000	(i) and a	dias, for	0.000		
1	100	a bistory	14	80.			10.00	8.0		La Ma	-	all the owner	Sa + Int			
	×.	Transformer and	- A	. e	10				1		Sec. 1	A PROPERTY.	1251-014	and the second		
1	195	The states	- 14	1.2			1.000	- Mage			1000	10000	5 m.	Law May	-	
**	10	Directory.	110	21	214	18	16.4	2444				12.00	1.00			
11	-	111.00	200	(7.3	211	78		C. C. Barr	1			1.1	200 A 100	distants	÷	
1	10	A MEL MINUT	20	141		-	1.72	89734				-			_	
	-	· Deuter Der	280	578	- 794	1.8	6. 6.80	18.64						-		
11	100	Summit as	18	308	214	1.0	14.0	1 mars				100	COLUMN 1	10.000	10.00	-

From *View:Dat a* select *Critica l* from the *Filte r* dropdown list. Only critical tasks in your project will now appear. Note: Look at the ID numbers of these tasks to see that not all tasks are displayed.

Figure 75.	1.00	-	Charles - Charles -	loga + A Neu - Xa Y	P. T	Ulightight Titightight Titightight Croup by:	yna (Eghlight) - Threana as - S Geislan - Yilbeyn - S Tankran
Identifying the critical path			NEE AND ENGLISH ANAL			200	OHMy Gris cal Chief a
using the <i>Critica</i>	3	c	Criver:			int in	Say Prillattanes alter timbr
<i>l</i> filter			Test flats -	Sur	Think .	linck - litte	Variod - Hoga menany Via a mana Maria
		t	+ Concept	122	214	Coses	Let with ver Let Train Address
		i.	4 Define Renalizmenta	13	37	0 dars	Daibla A-r-Rej
		*	Collection and and an experimental and and an experimental an experimental an experimental an experimental		35	6.5m3	Advertiela. Cerente des
		*	Za vite je djel ple Orat van des terratinen	212	315	E laye	CircEarge.
	1 HAN	41	a Mel Ellerforman A Desitas daer interface	218	544	Pringer Opport	ueta Tania Viletta en es
	inne-	1	Selamon de Spacia Dinaste Secondos de Secoldos	2.15	12	E lays é dans	Servers (1989) Tax Farge
		11 45	A Startishing Street Start A Senter Server Selar A Set Server Selar				Trace Web Bernsteil Sciences uning Secure.
		41 75	Cesage actives permesper Today for highlight page of the failure	25 38	32	e aga é laya	W Institut
		44	+ Develop Server Support intragrantian	10	312	Q 2498	

The Network Diagram view displays a node for tasks, along with schedule information and connecting arrows to show the relationship and sequence of activities. To see this view,

from *View:Task View s* click the *Network Diagram* icon [🖪]. Your screen will resemble th following:

Figure 76.

Network Diagram view



5 Critical tasks can also be identified in the Gantt Chart. Reapply the Gantt Chart view, remove the *Critica l* filter (so you again see all tasks in the project), and from *Format:Bar Style s* select the *Critical Task s* checkbox.

Your screen will resemble the following:

tted with			and the second second			- Thirty I The T		12-3			1.10	111.04				1.0	-
rs in the	10	S.	A Card Negatives														
Chart			A STATE	1.22		22 2	241	1.1	1.6	1	2000		1.2	100		1.1	2.5
Gildit		-	La service d'Artise II in	1000			1.00		_	1		-		100	-		
		-	AT ANY ALL AND A REAL		110	410	10.000		_	_	_				f		_
		1	Reduction of Internation		1.00	1.00	14.0	- Marry	and and and								
		-5	A Before before second a		1.0		luciante.	- L	C	-					E		
		-0	Service and approximate	-	1.14	- 14	1000	100		i Vice		Designation of	Paril Sec	. there	- C		
		4	Salary del representa	-	1.00	- 20	21.00	1 here	o and		NY, 5 1973	ALC: NO.	AND DOT	(Table 1)	B. 8000	(water)	
		10	A STA LUBLE ME SHARE		1.10	8.7	11.07.45		Addres \$ 1	Annual s	dares level	darpha	100	1.1	1.00		
		17	Define an an other state that its		1.36	1.00	11444	100	america.	ANN.Y	Nietonia	berg meet					
	6	16	By Birright Merclandshifty	-	10			_	The industry formating, formations, formy from								
	- 50	14	End-a share and the reasoners agreed		1.04		1000			Tanks,	Ada / A	iries.1	ext loss	Acres 1	£		
	80	10	Technologiad atte		1.12	20	tine				1047	Sec. as			C		
	80	31	Blad untrative Associates		1.46	1.00	1944				1	vellers V	(internal	Beve Las	÷		
	20	n,	e fiele die Design		1.00	1.58	-Jura					_			-	_	_
		36	· MageBacrosten		+ %		nospic.					_			-		
		34	Sectore in Australia State		1.6	128	10.0							1 M	h i Pesti	free a Di a	-
		34	Department a deated a		117	10	1.144							1. 200	100,000	N Sec. 1	WAY 1
		75	lande daar in anjande kaansander				11.0718							- 74	in the s	(Institute)	the days
		0	the har has dely el		10	30	- Admin								1.1	1	
		1	a session and there		10	1.00	10494								1.0	-	-
		+1	Second actuals are specification		14		28494									1000	See.
		.17	The second second second		. 14		20.64								P	2.0.4	white
			and the second second second				in terms									in the second	1000

- 6 Scroll through the tasks in the plan to see which tasks appear with red Gantt bars, indicating they are on the critical path. What is the current estimated finish date for the project?
- 7 Uncheck the Critical Tasks checkbox. Note the total slack for Tasks 5, 6, and 7. Recall that the total slack can be seen by applying the schedule table to the Gantt Chart.
- 8 Link Task 4 to Task 5. (Task 4 should be the predecessor). Note the change to the total slack for Task 5.
- 9 Link Task 5 to Task 6. (Task 5 should be the predecessor). Note the change to the total slack for Task 6.
- 10 Link Task 5 to Task 7. (Task 5 should be the predecessor). Note the change to the total slack for Task 7.
- 11 Save and close your project [JG61].

The critical path is constantly calculated by Microsoft Project and can change as tasks are modified or updated. The Tracking Gantt Chart includes the critical path by default. See the Viewing Baseline Information heading of Section 9.4 to learn more.

9.2 **Adding Recurring Tasks and Using Task** Calendars

A recurring task is one that occurs more than once in a project on some kind of regular schedule, for example a bimonthly status meeting, a weekly on-site visit, or a monthly report. Once the initial project schedule has been

developed, you may want to add these types of tasks to your plan. Microsoft Project 2019 helps you to define and create several tasks with one dialog box for when you want to create a recurring event.

- □ This exercise uses the file **RecurringTask.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - 1 Confirm that you are in the *Tas k* tab with the Gantt Chart view.
 - 2 Select *Build Project Plan* (Task ID 1), and from *Task:Inser t* use the *Tas k* dropdown list select *Recurring Task.* You will be presented with the **Recurring Task Informatio n** dialog box.

191
ursu .
PP-1277

- 3 In the *Task Nam e* field, type "Status meeting."
- 4 In the *Duratio n* field, enter "1h."
- 5 In the *Recurrence patter n* section, confirm the (default) *Weekl y* option is selected.
- 6 In the *Recurrence patter n* section, select the *Monda y* checkbox.
- 7 Do not change the *Range of recurrenc e* dates. (By default, it's set from the current project start date to project finish date).
- 8 From the *Calenda r* dropdown list, select *Standar d*. This tells Microsoft Project to schedule the meetings according to the working dates in that calendar (the project calendar for this exercise).
- 9 Click the checkbox for *Scheduling ignores resource calendar s* . This selection will maintain the status meeting schedule without checking against every resource calendar.
- 10 Click the **O** *K* button. Your screen will resemble the following:

1000 ÷ 1 ÷, 1:5 10.10 8.14 9/ 11/1 11.13 10 11.5 N.L 0.2 ie: 122 14

11

12

Place your mouse pointer over the new icons in the *Informatio n* column to see their meaning.

Ensure the summary task *Status meeting* is still selected. From *Resource:Assignment s* clic *Assign Resource s* to open the **Assign Resource s** dialog box. Assign *Bernie Fraze r*, *Davi Crawfor d*, *George Brod y*, and *Joan Higgin s* to the summary task. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 80. Recurring task assignments

Figure 79.

task

New recurring

Figure 78. Recurring Ta Informatio n

			- Included	1.1					**					
	10	. 5	a sufficient of the construction	#***#	a feet	10/100	1000		111					
	11	1.44	with a new large	23. Filen	ALX:	2611			(4) (1) (1) (1)					
		11, 11	Ville stimil	1.15	Bert	en c	ar the calory and a standard and the standard states							
	1.	10.5	and an and sharing a .	124 3	4.1	76.4		In other	and with a subset of the	and services	Sec. 1			
	9.5	SE, 11	Faunt aritmat	10	211	211	1 1	and the state instantial of the pair of						
	11	100 14	- territorio angle	1.44	24	33.			sof antically as	Bellinin. B	Color Bally			
		24, 12	Board codeg 2	200	A11	P11		- to be a to be descended on the Bar						
		Marris.	and stranger	1.24	the state	1.001			I made that the	in a set of the	the second state of			
	10	24 10	A. a.s. Weg7	1.4	643	3+4		2.2			100			
10	5	Value Canbra A	5.90 3	25.6.	1308	Col. Base								
20		26 N.	A straight ring to	29	10.9	10.54		and the second						
2	111	HE: 11	From: cross20	4.5	129-10	22.8								
務会	11.7	10.00	seed to see and 1	impering ; is provide	when the set. Note									
4	×	20, 11	From richgill	1.54	40	12,425	1.00	1.44	 Second and a second seco					
	40.5	16.1	mannay .	1.44	1.4	2.14	31.00	San Inc.	24.00		L and			
	105	24 1	A. an older	3.4	6474	2.675	-10000		10.1		Column			
	11.2	1. 1	of the state of th	5.54	194.	2.54	-100.00		12 22		1.000			
	H.	199.5	and an integration	2.58	201	2710					Local.			
	4.1	- 1	The second floor	22.00	Bill	BK.	All and the				Property and			
	44.	14	man search market while	32.94	Sec.		10.0	8* P.80			-however,			
		-	We as as a basis of the	1.1	M2	244	-14.0				I mail			
	12.1	1 -	and her search	100.0		30	100	100			1.			
	18.	5	Skill approximite and object plan.	Luis.	A.2.	66.3C	there .	Minute						
		-	in all has per and in a new plantation	1.1.1	1.	2.	1.464.90	200122-00-00 F	0000000000000					

13

In the **Assign Resource s** dialog box, click *Clos e* . Click the arrow next to the *Status meeting* summary task to see the summary recurring task.

Figure 81.	
Summary task for	
weekly recurring	

E:	10	1.165	· Notices of the second second	- a hater		(14.558) #C				1.1.1	1.1
Figure 81.	1.4.6	100	· Beff anne Bjels in bright mer terben	E sept	1.12	12120	1 1				E
Summary task for	1.01		States and set	a liste	1'3'	1.01				1.0.1.1.	1.1
Summary task for			de dimensions	Sectory a	1.00		-				
weekly recurring	-16		Send 2 are stal Web	15.00	120	54		Main In 14	The state of the second	Bernet a s (W)	A
status meetings	16	1	Summers of Vision and Vel	(has	12	10	101	June Mary	Constructions of	seen.	

Notice that the resources are assigned to all the individual meetings, even though you assigned them to the summary task. Separate resource assignments can also be made to individual recurring tasks, but assigning a core team to the summary task is a quick way to populate the recurring tasks with resources. Recurring tasks are the only summary tasks that show this behavior.

It is always possible to assign resources to summary tasks, but ordinarily this is not recommended since the resources are not automatically assigned to the subtasks under the summary task.

Click the arrow next to the Status meeting summary task to hide the individual meetings, and say 14 your project [JG62].

Adding Occurrences to a Recurring Task and Adding Resource Assignments to Them

This section continues the use of **RecurringTask.mp p** . Ensure this file is open before beginning, or open **RecurringTask_Inst1.mp p** .

As your project progresses, you may encounter a situation that extends the project end date. In those situations, any recurring tasks that have been used to schedule status reporting, actuals tracking, or team meetings will need additional occurrences added to ensure that they remain active until your project's new finish date.

You have just been told that your project will be extended by four weeks because the client has increased the scope of work. The recurring task *Status Meeting* (ID 1) was set up to run to the original finish date of the project so now needs to be extended.

- Double-click *Status meeting* (Task ID 1) to view the **Recurring Task Informatio n** dialo 1 box.
- 2 Select the box for *End after...occurrence s* . Increase the occurrences from "16" to "21" and click OK.
- Click the arrow to the side of *Status meeting* to see all of the status meetings, including the 3 four new ones.

Remember that you still need to assign resources to the new meetings. Chances are you will want to assign the same resources to the new tasks as were assigned to the original ones. There are two easy ways to accomplish this:

- Highlight each of the new occurrences, and use the **Resource Assignment** dialog box to assign the resources to the new tasks.
- Use the *Fill Handl e* to copy the *Resource Name s* column for the new occurrences. We will use this approach in this lesson.

	4	From <i>View:Task View s</i> ensure the Gantt Chart view is selected, and from <i>View:Dat a</i> us the <i>Tabl e</i> dropdown list to confirm the <i>Entry Tabl e</i> is applied. Expand the <i>Status Meeting</i> summary task by clicking the arrow next to the summary task name. Then, scroll to the last column of the <i>Entry Tabl e</i> called <i>Resource Name s</i> , and click the <i>Resource Name s</i> column header and drag its column to the left until it is next to the <i>Task Nam e</i> column.
	5	Using your mouse pointer, click in the cell of the <i>Resource Name s</i> column for the last occurrence that had resources assigned (adjacent to <i>Status meeting 16</i>). Then, use the <i>Fill Handl e</i> (the small black square in the lower right-hand corner of the cell) to drag the column down, highlighting all cells for new recurring tasks with no resources assigned.
Figure 82.	\bigcirc	tatus meeting 16 Bernie Frazer, David Crawford, George Brody 🖌
Fill Handle		The resource assignments will be copied to the new tasks, and your screen will resemble the following:
Figure 83.	Status meet Status meet	ng 16 Bernie Frazer, David Crawford, George Brody 👻 ng 12 Bernie Frazer, David Crawford, George Brody
New task assignments	Status meeti Status meeti Status meeti Status meeti	ng 18 Bernie Frazer, David Crawford, George Brody ng 19 Bernie Frazer, David Crawford, George Brody ng 20 Bernie Frazer, David Crawford, George Brody ng 21 Bernie Frazer, David Crawford, George Brody
	You may that were	have noticed one other result of adding these tasks: the critical path went away! All the tasks red have turned blue, meaning they are non-critical. It's not unusual for Microsoft Project

users to complain, "My project has no critical path," but there is always a critical path somewhere.
Use the *Go to selected tas k* button (or scroll) to view the Gantt Chart bar for *Status Meeting 21*. Notice anything different about it?

Microsoft Project uses durations and dependencies to calculate the project schedule, but it also uses dependencies to identify paths in a project. All unlinked tasks are considered to be separate, stand-alone paths, and as far as Microsoft Project can tell, *Status Meeting 21* is the only thing controlling the end date of the project. If you remove the four new status meetings by resetting the number of occurrences to 16, the original critical path will reappear.

What can be learned from this? Don't underestimate the importance of logical links between tasks, and make sure there are no unlinked tasks after the finish date of the *real* tasks in the project.

Save and close your project [JG63]

7

9.3 Managing Resource Workloads and Resolving Resource Over-allocations

Resources are the people, equipment, and materials (and sometimes money) essential to the completion of tasks. Resource assignment allows you to indicate which people and/or things are necessary for which tasks. Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to create a project schedule with or without assigning resources to individual tasks, but assigning resources is a critical feature for enterprise project management.

It's a good idea to check availability before assigning people to tasks, but in the process of assigning people to project tasks, it is easy to assign them to more hours than they have available on a given day—this is known as *over- allocation* [DC64]. It's especially easy to over-allocate people when they are working on multiple projects with multiple project managers who may not be aware of each other's plans. This is one of the valuable features of the resource pool approach discussed in Section 10.3: *Enterprise Resource Management*.

What can an individual project manager do about over-allocations within his or her own project?

Viewing Resource Workloads and Task Assignments

Microsoft Project 2019 doesn't stop you from over-allocating a resource, but it does enable you to identify

over-allocations and under-allocations. When a resource is over-allocated, Resource views display the resource name in bold, red text with a Leveling indicator []. Microsoft Project considers a resource overallocated if that resource is assigned to more than 8 hours of work on any given day in the project (assuming 100% maximum units and 8 hours per working day).

- □ This exercise uses the file **ResourceWorkload.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning. Note: This exercise uses basic navigational concepts outlined in Section 3.3: Navigating in Microsoft Project Views.
 - 1 From *Task:Vie w* select the Resource Usage view. Your screen will resemble the following (you may need to click the first task below John Tierney and click the Scroll to Tas **k** icon to get this exact view):

	Present Rays -	-	ine							10.00			
	- temperat	110	(where the	100									
1000	a jaka Taonar	140114	plants.		111		- 10	101	1.000		 - 10	- 10	
	 KOMELENIANDA MARK 	31.54	10.00				- 10.	100	. 70		 10	10	
	Other started statement of plan.	2.044	work.										
	Divide preprint prime	4114	prints.										
	chemic approval of preparation.	MAG	-										
	rend and grigt parties	38.84	-										
	Pergina makahunuh segara sungai	8144	mark.										
£	Developing of the state of the state of the state	- third	and a										
2100	or Texteenand Rule and	632/64	-			- 44	- 64	-					
	private programmer of stress	10.51	and the second				- 11	-					
8	Other approach of the least of their	854	"which										
er	Tabality antique prime	41.04	'yearshi										
	Other sectoral of montpley	Aller	1000										
	resolution and the second seco	4154	week.										
	restart equipment at the	April 1	-										

- 2 Select the resource *George Brod* y (ID 4). Note that his name is displayed in bold, red text to indicate his over-allocation. Move your mouse pointer over the icon in George Brody's Indicators column to read the over-allocation message.
- 3 From *View:Split View* click *Detail s*, and from the dropdown list select *More Views*... In the **More View s** dialog box, select *Resource Allocatio n* and click *Appl y*. You may also want to zoom out to a weekly or monthly view (*View:Zoom:Timescal e* drop down)
- All of George Brody's task assignments will appear in the bottom pane, the Leveling 4 Gantt view. Select George's name in the upper pane, and in *Task:Editin g* click *Scroll to Tas* **k** to see George's first set of tasks.

			ė į	-	Acres .		len.n	100	1.40	-	-		-	-		100	and in		 120	
Figure 85.	1.10	614	1	A	a analy		100.00	10004		10		580	-		1.000				 	
8	1677				thereas paid provided at		(Beller)	1008												
	- 22				steelunesenset all the service		(inter-	10101		1.10										
Deserves	- 21				Comparing two Autigodius & design			(seals												
Resource				. 10	one and prophytelikes			1997				100								
Allocation	201			- 6	analog pri-orgin steam		Phi	1908												
Allocation				- 11	makad menyati		1000	(Mark				- 181								
view				_, P	converte farming		48911	1000												
VICW		<u>,</u>		. 5	total debinations will be as	-	400	1990.00						411						
			0		-	Ļ		[-						-				 -	-
	3.0	80 8	1.2	£.	Colorence (count) (with the st	100	11 deepy					- Being	e branda dh	e4415ad	ford Sens P	10000.0	dia baie	Gluite Pre		
		101		6	Anaportokings (Princement	i aya	1491			B	reat for	to Banki I	-	ant Pilest	n Mie b	and halfs	Continue	-		
	100	10		τ.	Complete and the basis	104	Line .		1.24	Accise \$1	with the later	Carlos and	(Bartile A	ent, but	ii Godhir	United	65 ,446.7	tiges :		
	5.0	634		6	party and prop publical	184	total						ent Beats	Daniel Do	aginal Res	nit From	e Jahre Ti			
	2.1	10		٤.	Carolial per commerce	- lanc	i dagi 👘						pi Prady j	havid fille	and sheet	Inggina				
		6.14		6	-tonelub second	Int	1 they					1.0	ange fires	Desta	insteri.3	-1. Mar	-			

Notice that on the week of 9/24 George is scheduled to do 72 hours' work—flagged as an overallocation—and the week of 10/8 is not much better.

- With *George Brod y* selected in the top pane, click the *Next Overallocatio n* button [(found in *Resource:Leve l*). This button will move you down the resource list and across the timescale into the future to help you locate individual over-allocations.
- Again, select *George Brod* y and click *Scroll to Tas k* to return to the week of 9/24 6 (current year). Inspection of the bottom frame reveals the problem. As you can see, George has two tasks scheduled simultaneously on that week, one at 32 hours and another at 40 hours.

Figure 86.

Figure 84. Resource Usage view

George's overallocation on 9/24

5

		0				and a	22	Dote:	340	14.24	Secon	lik S
		1.	-	ge study	-taylor	i.	www.	140	2.00	an	.500	
SALE			5	Selection and contents' and inflactions In Selection of the Selection		38 A.1	;	Work .	81. 52	-405 375	401	\$1
11,42788			5	Complete aren tactave draft And out even provet		Sh: MAS	;	Work Work	8+			125
25			5	innahalpha mininana		sh.	2	Wwit				51
2			1	la ductor and la constantia de la constante de		MAS	•	Wark				387
			1	hebbe disfi docencer		46 h.	1	Work				- 21
	41	4.7.	3	iend out that's and renieve with her and	cours	43 A.		Work (- Ya		5	
		0	net Mode	Hara	Lie- Dal	Dawres			-412	-644	Cdase:	189
H.	N	+	-	least nine ownerst architecture	14	() tays			-			Scory
3	4		-5	Attent properties on the renter	8/1	Febra 2			-	6	saige Brad	Divid C
15	12	+	195	Complete architecture creft.	873	1 clay			- 5	inarge Br	ody Julie P	TARCOLL
-	32	÷	105	Sand out prep packet.	10	21090						Cec
-	- 35,	٠	145	Conductoria interviews	400	I the						. Seo.
	.35	٠	м <u>с</u> ,	Conductionation	10	2 (4.95						
	3/		-	suppore digit incurrent	240	rein a						. No.

The Leveling Gantt in the bottom pane displays all the tasks the selected resource in the top pane is assigned to. All tasks are displayed with blue Gantt bars, and a task's slack is represented as a thin line to the right of the task bar. If you click on a different resource in the upper pane, all of the tasks assigned to that resource will be displayed in the bottom pane.

7 Save your project [JG65].

Resolving Resource Over-allocations

Microsoft Project 2019 provides an automatic resource leveling function that can help deal with these problems.

However, this function may not entirely resolve the over-allocations in your project and may lead to schedule changes you do not want. This tool is very powerful but quite often misunderstood. It is not a magic button; automatic leveling can only resolve resource over-allocations by delaying tasks in the plan until a resource is no longer over-allocated. For example, if a resource is scheduled to work on two tasks today for a total of 16 hours, the automatic leveling function would delay the second task until tomorrow to resolve the over-allocation. That is not always realistic.

Note: Resource leveling can also accelerate scheduled work if resources have early availability.

□ This exercise, which explores Microsoft Project's leveling function, continues use of the file **ResourceWorkload.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **ResourceWorkload_Inst1.mp p**.

- 1 What is the current finish date for this project? (See the finish date of the project summary task, Task 0)
- 2 From *Resource:Leve l* click the *Leveling Option s* icon []. You will be presented with the **Resource Levelin g** dialog box.

Figure 87. Resource Leveling dialog box

Leveling calci	shelters						
Sutomatic	6		@ Mareco	in)(
Look for great	allocations	in a	Week by W	Veek ·	•	barit	
Oear level	ing values b	efore	leveling				
Leveling rang	of for Recou	naiW	ark'				
🖷 Level griti	e project						
C Legel	Bam	8,123					
	Io	12/7]		
Resolving on	maliacations	-					
Leveling orde	r:	Stan	dand				
E Level only	within available	IDIE 2	808				
W Leveling c	an adjust (se	fieldu	al anophene	nte on a ta	ab		
T Leveling a	an create spi	its in	emaining	100 K			
E Level rena	unces with th	w pro	posed boo	ing type			
(1) Land make	usily schedu	led to	140				

Although the leveling function in Microsoft Project can be set to *Automati c*, the result is that Microsoft Project continuously re-calculates and reschedules every task every time a resource becomes over-allocated by any amount of time! Using the default *Manua l* setting allows you to control when and how Microsoft Project applies the leveling calculations.

Note that the leveling options enable you to resolve over-allocations by evaluating a specified time period. The time periods that Microsoft Project can evaluate are:

- \Box Minute by Minute
- $\Box \qquad \text{Hour by Hour}$
- □ Day by Day
- □ Week by Week
- \Box Month by Month

By specifying a block of time in which to look for over-allocations, Project evaluates the selected block of time *before* it performs leveling calculations. Resources are considered over-allocated and will be leveled if the total assigned work exceeds the total work hours for the selected block of time.

For example, if a resource has two 8-hour tasks scheduled to begin at 8:00 AM on the same day, and you choose to look for over-allocations on a day-by-day basis, one task will be delayed until the next day so that there is no over-allocation on the first day. If, however, you choose to look for over-allocations on a week-by-week basis, the scheduled tasks will not be affected because they do not exceed the amount of work the resource can perform in a week (typically 40 hours, as set in *File:Options:Schedul e*).

- 3 In the **Resource Levelin g** dialog box, accept the option to look for resource overallocations on a *Day by Da y* basis. Note that the *Level only within available slac k* box is no checked by default, so Microsoft Project is set up to level critical tasks as well. Now click the *Level Al l* button.
- 4 Did the leveling resolve the resource over-allocations? What is the new estimated project finish date?
- 5 From *Resource:Leve l* click *Clear levelin g*.
- 6 Once again, from *Resource:Level* select *Leveling Option s* , but this time select *Level only within available slac k* in the **Resource Leveling** dialog box before clicking *Level Al l* When you receive the alert shown in the following figure, it is generally best to stop leveling, resolve the issue, and then level again. For our exercise, however, click *Skip Al l* .

	Hinnardt Project
Figure 88.	There are not to reach any " fact have
Resource leveling alert	Characteristic sectory and any construction that any sectory and they do Characteristic sectory and they for their distribution of the sectory and they do Characteristics
	and and the second seco

7 Did the leveling resolve the resource over-allocations? What is the project finish date? The resource leveling function is often used as a negotiating tool. You can present both options for a management decision—"With the resource currently assigned I can complete the project by this date: , while with additional resources, I can complete it on this date: _____." For example, when you leveled without changing the finish date (*Level only within available slac k*), George Brody's overallocation couldn't be completely fixed. If you scroll through the view, you'll see that from October 3-9 George is still over-allocated. The Leveling Gantt shows why; George has two tasks that can't be moved: Determine current architecture and Assess processes on the server because Determine current *architecture* is a critical task. It's much more convincing to be able to say—and show—"I need someone who could replace George on Assess processes on the server beginning October 3."

As it happens, Ted Haley is available and has the skills necessary for this task.

8 Clicking Level All will also level all resources without opening the Resource Option s dialog box (by using the current Leveling options that are already preset). To level a specific resource, from *Resource:Leve l* click the *Level Resourc e* icon. Then, from the Level Resource e dialog box, select the desired resource and click *Level No w*.

Figure 89	Level Resources						
Using the Level	Level Crithergane It Selected Resources						
Resource s	RecourreWorkload_Init1						
lialog to level George Brody's assignments	Bernie Frager David Crawford	1					
	Jean Hispins John Tierney Julie Powikowski Mary Ramington Mike Goren Rebecco Burns						

- 9 Once you review your results, click *Clear Levelin g*.
- 10 Now display the Resource Usage view in full screen mode (i.e. remove the lower pane view). Click to select the assignment Assess processes on the server under George Brody and drag it downward until it moves to *Ted Haley*. You will need to collapse the assignments for *David* Crawford, Joan Higgins, Mike Goren, and Julie Pawlkowski so you can see Ted Haley's assignments. During the move, your screen will resemble the following.

Figure 90. Collapsing assignments

	12						Country of			
	.0	Reporter Name	Work Intil Base	Cross.	O FIRST	9.16		318	-1011	1000
1.4		- Genege Brody	28170	winter [797	4.00	. 411	1997	- 487	
-		Electronic claright and denied	Marries.	mork	- 34	44	401	- A8		
		Complete acchinecture AVAT	# riss	mon.	. 81					
		Send out president	Mine .	100.0				100		
		Caration president and	dias.	100-0						
		Candial areapt	Abitus.	Muh-				340		
		Prepare chieft decument	AF/NO .	(Hock				- 10	-41	
ţ		Rend out shigh und invite with key gammers	Alter	iters.						
2		Hinados washtronal velench scope	22100	and a						
Ē		Communicate seconds to neverality attendent	Bites .	Anter the						
£		Descention of a country frame administra	#199	Det						
20.5		Enculary for permanents	8144	8444						
100		to shave franchest	2/8 Park	Work	385	1.50	. 25	484	- 46	
1.04		A Read Plagters	dillers.	Herb	385	1.00		\$25	- 10	
1.1		/ Mile Service	Million .	(minute)	385	-	- 14			
1.14		 Juliu Paulineutri 	meters.	104.6	189	1.000	- 31			
- 14		+ Tel Huley	847-91	(See	2441	- 10				
		during produces on the onlyw	40/14	1000	- 84	120				
		Access printer handware	dillers'	inst						

Save your project. [JG66] 11

It is not uncommon for automatic leveling to fail to resolve all resource over-allocations or results in unacceptable schedule changes. In these cases, you will need to resolve the resource conflicts manually so that you can dictate where and how adjustments are made. We will review a technique that we call "task leveling" later in this section.

The following techniques can be used to resolve resource over-allocations:

Increase the maximum units of the resource

- □ Reschedule the task that has created the over-allocation
- \Box Add overtime
- □ Adjust task dependencies or constraints
- □ Remove the resource if it isn't mandatory to the task
- □ Replace the over-allocated resource with an under-allocated resource
- □ Make calendar adjustments to extend the working days and hours for the project or resource
- Decrease the amount of work assigned to the resource.

Of course some of these options are more practical than others. The two most commonly used methods are rescheduling the work and replacing the resource. Of these, at this point in the course, Microsoft Project can realistically only use one: reschedule the task that has created the over-allocation.

All other options require human judgment and communication and negotiation. Microsoft Project's real value is in allowing the project manager to easily find where schedule impossibilities exist.

If Microsoft Project gave us the ability to view allocations across all projects the resource was assigned to, it could help eliminate the multiple scheduling problems that lead to many over-allocations. Fortunately, Microsoft Project does provide us with that capability, as we'll see shortly.

Task Leveling versus Resource Leveling

· Seigie view

Combination view

When building your project plan and assigning resources to it, one way to avoid resource over-allocation is to ensure that resources are available as they are assigned to a task. This technique is referred to as task leveling.

In this exercise we will build a view that allows you to see resource allocation to a task in relationship to all other tasks to which that resource is assigned.

□ This exercise continues use of the file **ResourceWorkload.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **ResourceWorkload_Ins t 2 .mp p**.

From *View:Resource View s* click the *Other View s* dropdown list and select *More Vi s* . In the **More View s** dialog box, click *Ne w* . You will see the **Define New Vie w** dialog box.

Figure 91. Define New Vie w dialog box

2

1

Figure 92. View Definitio n dialog box

(jet)	OK Cancel	
for the	Select the <i>Combination</i> e project.	<i>t vie w</i> option and click <i>O K</i> to see the View Definitio n dialog
vie	w Definition in "Resource/Workload	Tant.
Marke.	View 1	

Define New View

VIEW	elementaria interiore inte	THE SCALE OF WEST REPORT	a mart
Marke	View 1		
Views display	et.		
Binaty View:			÷
Details Pane:	1		*
Shew in p	emu		
1jeip		DK DK	Cantal

3

Type "My Task Leveling" in the *Nam e* field. From the *Primary Vie w* dropdown, sele *Task Usag e*. From the *Details Pan e* dropdown, select *Resource Usag e*. Ensure the *Show in men u* option is selected and click *O K*. When the **More View s** dialog again appears, clice *Appl y*. Your new view will appear on the screen.

Figure 93.

My Task Leveling view

		in.	Tax Dente		-	me.		1					-			
- 4		100	· Safesure System Inglamentation		Links but	mah 1	and the second		100	10	200	1.00			100	100
1		- 10	e Malia Projectifian		and the	and a	-		100	-	- 200	- 40			-	- 14
11.14	-	-	in the distribution of the second		TRUNC.	(which)			197		- 100	1.100		. 175	1671	10.
100			uniter fide-way		(8144)	WITH:			- 851	- 10	10			100	1.852	- 641
100			Reference April 1		Alter	'yearshi			10	- 10	-					
2			denia/base		16.65	and a			- 16-	100	100				- 10	- 10
		-	· Other approach of the present of Mar	e	(serio)	which										
			unite Percent		641	muth.										
			and the second s			-										
	10	1				144	4.12	11		÷.		141	-1.	-		-
1.114		1000-to	and the second	detter		mark.			-181	141	100	1.000		1.00	- 101	- 18-
	1	CONST	Cladenand of Austi	Wite a		wheth			10.	10.	100			- 46	- 181	10
		1000	internet of Chinesens of Alasti-	- 6444		-										
201		0.000	property day	10001		and i										
800		Citize	internet of provinces	June 1		mint.										
850		- Sector	ad you provide	1000		and a										
		Create	a contribution of and also ranges	. April 19		1000										
		10000	CONTRACT OF A CO	1001		and a										

- In the upper pane, select the task *Determine current architecture* (Task 8).
- In the upper pane, under *Determine current architecture*, select *George Brody*. Note that all tasks to which George is assigned are displayed in the lower pane.
- 6 In the upper pane, click on *David Crawford*. Note that all tasks to which David is assigned are displayed in the lower pane.
- 7 Click on *Joan Higgins*. Note that all tasks to which Joan is assigned are displayed in the lower pane.
- 8 Click on *Mike Goren*. Note that all tasks to which Mike is assigned are displayed in the lower pane.
- 9 Save and close your project [JG67].

Note: This view can be used to identify resource over-allocations within a single task as well as across all other tasks. In order to resolve over-allocations you can use the resource assignment techniques outlined earlier in this section to manually adjust resource assignments.

9.4 Setting the Project Baseline

4

5

The project baseline represents your expectations for the project. When you track actual project progress, you can use the baseline to compare your original plan for the project with the actual results—which tasks started earlier or later than planned, exceeded their original budget, took longer than planned, and so on. You may be able to use this information to prevent problems on future projects and make better time and budget estimates.

After you finish building your plan, but before you begin to execute it, you are ready to set a baseline. After you save a baseline plan and begin updating your schedule, you may want to periodically save an interim plan, a snapshot of the evolving project plan at a time of your choice. For example, on a project lasting longer than a year, you might decide to save an interim plan on a quarterly basis, either for your own information or for reporting purposes. You can save up to ten (10) interim plans for each schedule. Since interim plans contain start and finish dates only, they help you to compare changes in the scheduled dates of tasks, useful for analyzing the accuracy of your scheduling estimates and for determining when your schedule began to get off track.

Baselining, therefore, refers to the concept of capturing the original estimate for your project. Before a project is baselined, you have what's known as the *current estimate* [DC68] for work, cost, start, finish, and duration. But the baseline values for these fields remains blank until you ask Microsoft Project to capture a baseline, as noted in the following figure:

Figure 94.	Current Estimate	Field Content	Baseline (original estimate)	Field Content
baselining	Work	8h	Baseline Work	Üh
	Cost	\$800	Baseline Cost	S0
	Start	11/5	Baseline Start	NA
	Finish	11/9	Baseline Finish	NA
	Duration	5d	Baseline Duration	Od

Once you capture a baseline for your project, the current estimate values for work, cost, start, finish, and duration are copied into the baseline fields as displayed in the following figure. In this way, you're able to use Microsoft Project to set a foundation for comparing work, cost, start, finish, and duration values to the baseline as your project progresses.

Figure 95.	Current Estimate	Fie		Baseline (original estimat	Field (e) Content
baselining	Work	8h	-	Baseline Work	
	Cost	\$800	-	Baseline Cost	\$800
	Start	11/5	1	Baseline Start	11/5
	Finish	11/9	-	Baseline Finish	11/9
	Duration	5d	-	Baseline Duration	

Applying the Baseline Table

This exercise uses the file SetBaseline.mp p . Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to view baseline data by applying the Baseline Table.

- 1 From *View:Dat a* use the *Table s* dropdown arrow to select *More Table s*.
- 2 From the **More Table s** dialog, click *Baselin e* and then *Appl y*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 96.			Ter Mara	inter .	Anderse .	Survey and	Encie Mer =	with the
0		1	< Software System Insplanentation	D days	NA	NA.	0 hrs	\$6.00
D 11 11		1	+ Gulf # Fraject Finn	Oday	NA NA	NA	Ohn	50.00
Baseline table		1	Databased Sciences Wark	titie	144	140	1.0.0	31.1-1
applied prior to		1	Cotein sportwai of Statement of Work.	0 days	545	M	Otta	2.0
setting the			Destroyers dy ka	dik e		N4.	1111	37.1-1
initial baseline		1	Citizen approval of project plan) days	1 /6		Obig	(0.5)
illitiai basellile		10	Professional states of a contract of the second sec	2040		- A4	.0tr.	57.03
	1	1	 undus varies avvice ment 	u days		-740	u bar	30.01
	12	41	Determine current and factors	0 de p	144	344	0.01	50.00
	2	э.	An experimentation the country.	140	144	. No	a the	9.11
	志	14	Autor printer bothvers	0 days	344	NA	011	30.00
	3	4	Distance of web web yours	dik e	344	744	Dir.	9.11
		0	complete architecture draft	Jdays	- Mi	710	0.00	2.63
		4	4 Outrad Scotte	diday			Obr,	50.00
		14	sending reporter	1 day	100		Likie	11.11
		41.	Conduct pre-Interviews	0 de p	94	14A	0112	50.00
		16	Discipul Covers	dike	144	- 146	101	11.1
		11	Fragers dreft docaviert	0 days	N 244	1945	0 tra	20.00
		15	Realistical automass with hey spectrum.	116 0	2	5	D.b.r	9.14

Ν

Note: The baseline fields for the project plan displayed in the preceding figure reflect the uninitiated values that we would expect to see when a project has not yet been baselined.

Setting the Project Baseline

3

From *Project:Schedul e* click the *Set Baselin e* icon [] and choose *Set Baseline*.... You will be presented with the following dialog box:

Figure 97.

Set Baseline dialog box

_	Set Baseline	
# Set ber	and the second se	
100	Baisine u	
O Set ent	rrim glan	1
SHH.	Scheduled Det/Posin -	
Into	Start/Presh1	
C Sel	live project ected janks	
Ro	iff up baselines To g2 formitary fails Cron solitaries into solicited scannary back) 	
ţielo	Set as (price)	

4

Figure 98.

Results of setting a new baseline

Figure 99. Project Statistics for SetBaseline.mpp 2

		Sad See	A111 W	Incording to		Labert's	Recorded to
	.9.	4 Software System implementation	77 days	8/22	12/9	ent 158,1 8	\$182,090.00
	11	 auktorejectoria 	states	5 <i>51</i> 7	450	1. 1033	Second
	- F-	Displace Station with or Work	15 dk (5	6-22	20	4 355 **	\$35,000.00
	-A.1	often approval of statement of work	1204	45	· • • •		\$4/506
	-	Designation	15 days	86	XC	340 ms	\$34,080.07
	10	obtion approval of project plan	(4)	4/20	4/10		SA/BING
		Trailing and put of arrend definition.	Juko	5/30	X2	t (15	\$0.00
E.	1	 vefice systeme wirecovert 	zzdap	41	11.9		jeveve
₹.	42	Tolorate available defined	12.04 (2	38	3/2	206.85	\$23,580.08
2	1	Assess processes on the server	+ days	N/20	- 45	1.6.12	31,000,000
5	-14	A conseptition management	2000	13/1	100	54 15	\$5,400.00
θ.	1	CAN YET DOE WITH LITED MICH	2.440	245	14.92	1. 11	\$1,000.00
	144	Sand Street Berlaundant	5.63	13/7	101	28.85	\$4,589.00
	18.	< conduct section	au days	146	34/40	4.01.512	144/BAR
	169	Send out pare made:	2.6.0	1910	102	6 (Mais)	15,400,00
	18	CONCLUT (19-117-117-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-1	1 day	145	14,95		\$2/2000
	64	Construction solution	204	10/00	13/1	28.95	44,500.00
	17	Arepare creft document	5 days	- U/M	43/2	211 313	AP1/0000
	14	Sector disturbury softling press.	Sele of	11/22	13,55	144.85	\$14,450,00

selected, and click **O K** . Your screen will resemble the following:

Note that the baseline values have been updated to reflect the values of the current estimated fields.

Ensure that both the default *Set Baselin e* button and the default *Entire projec t* options a

5 Save your project. [JG69]

Viewing Baseline Information

By default, Microsoft Project does not include the baseline data in the Gantt Chart view. However, you do have several options to view and use baseline information.

This exercise continues to use the file **SetBaseline.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **SetBaseline_Inst1.mp p** .

Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to view a statistical summary of your project, including baseline data, through the **Project Informatio n** dialog box.

- 1 From *Project:Propertie s* click the *Project Informatio n* icon to access the **Project Informatio n** dialog box.
 - Click the *Statistic s* button. You will be presented with the following dialog:

	- Set		1.1		ingest:
Cartant.		000000	6.52		12,4
34.5 7.5			5.52 1		12.8
Adau			206.4		Né
ALLSAD.			10.1		18
Sector 1 State	Paration		Wan		tos:
STOCK.		.od		10:01	538,000000
SYPRE .		int		1,8:18	518 (1804)
S/DAC		5d		28.5	\$240
Fir maining		hTT		1,9218	\$ 92,000,00
Percent or any its	к				
Grann Ph	Wat In				Constant Constant

3 Click *Clos e*.

199

Another common method of looking at baseline data for the schedule is to apply the Variance Table to your project.

- Make sure you are in the Gantt Chart view. From *View:Dat a* click the *Table s* icon. 4
- 5 From the list of available tables, select *Varianc e*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 1	00.
----------	-----

Variance Table applied, showing the schedule baseline dates

		Test .	2 neo mina 1	(* 1941) - 14	ina s	minuter +	*******	and the second	
	+	-	- Software System implementation	8/2	2 12/	6/22	12/6	E days	0 days
	1	-	+ Baliki Project Han	6,0	2 .962	e. datas	9620	0 days	Edays
	-1	1	Oracle Statement of Work	80	2 B/	4: 0.23	3/4	0 diago	1 day
		-	Other approval of Matemant of Mole	- 94	5 85	.8/5	85	0.8993	Estay
		-	Creater project plan	-9	6 92		925	O days	8 carys
		1	Obtain approval of project plant	10/2	s 90	908	9/20	Ordites	1-days
	4	10	Final an project plan and definition	8/3	K 92	908	926	O dayte	(rday)
1	1.87	-	4 Define System Environment		6 19/	1 8/6	19/3	30 days	Eday
81		-	Determine convert with Autors		8 92	- W	921	O (User	(Fday)
2	+	-	Assess process on the sense	- 80	4	6. 9/24	9580	Ordean	8-days
8.	10	-	Assess prover hardwate	10	5 88/	12 18/3	18/3	0.days	Edays
9	- 44	-	Communicate with integrator	30	2. 18/	20/3	10/4	O days	Edge
	44.	-	Compliate articlecture draft.	30	7. 387	1 10/7	38/7	O days	8 days

Note that variance values (start variance and finish variance) are set to zero immediately after setting the baseline. We will cover this topic in greater detail in Section 14.1: Variance Analysis .

By default, the Gantt Chart provides a visual display of planned tasks and their assigned resources. The Tracking Gantt displays baseline data along with the current plan and actual results.

From *View:Task Views* click the *Gantt Char t* icon dropdown and select *Tracking* 6 *Gant t* . Your screen will resemble the following:

T'		And an and a second states.	all successive lines	with a deal	annes.	A = 5 = 1 + 1 + 0 + 0 + 1	A A A T A T A A A A
Figure 101.	1.041	- Information Statem implementation	17 Aug	9(11	1019		
Tracking Cantt		+ build traine that	10.64	400	4/09	*	• •
Tracking Ganti		Devile Recempent of Plant	51.0pp	899	-4/4	the second se	
view with a	1.0	When appendix Strength (1903	1.09	- 26	32	1	
wookly timescale	1.0	THE PROPERTY .	10.000	35	54.8	1	
weekiy timescale	100	Think apparently priped plan	100	6000	100		. m.
	10	Instances per play and infinites	100ct	916	908		6.m
	100	- Reflere Sprine Fightment	Diep	- 14	847	÷	
	1.050	Substrates runging with balance	(Crian	- 9/9			and the second se
	4.00	Access photosystem de Texasient	5/60		200		Louise and an
		Andreas printed Sainkington	1044	801.	105		Ter.m.
		Linemanipate soft uning size	Jake.		30/6		And the
	11	Exceptions and the market shaft	100	4477	44/17		3.00
		2-210Mad Section	01 0 kg	80/01	1.10101		-
	. AL.	Managed an Advanced	2080	81/8	19/11		60.m
	- 16	Constant peri-minimati	1.04	45/5			24
	140	10-mod calculat	2.98(4)	- 18hut	+4/44		Tan try
	1411	Phases Mult Resumpt	N HILL	torion-	the second second		and the second se

The gray bars represent the baseline plan, while the red and blue bars represent the critical and noncritical tasks in the *current* plan. As the plan evolves during the project, the red and blue bars will move; the gray bars will remain unchanged.

Save your projec [JG70] t.

Multiple Baselines

7

Microsoft Project 2019 includes a multiple baseline feature, which allows you to save all baseline fields up to a total of eleven (11) times for each project. The **Save Baselin e** dialog box has a dropdown list for each of the eleven baselines, and the Clear Baselin e dialog box has the same dropdown list. When a baseline is saved, a date stamp is also stored with the baseline and is displayed in the dialog box for future reference.

Following is the **Save Baselin e** dialog showing the date stamp for the initial baseline:

Figure 102. Date-stamped baseline with ten additional baselines

20. 000	Carlos .	-			- 11
	Bateline (lar	traved	on 2/26)		
Set rete	Baseline data	1000	an 2/241		
	Baceline 1				
Autor	Baseline 2				
(im)	Gateline 3				
at	Baseline 4				
S Fet	Baceline 5				
-	Baserelle 6				
0.544	Cateline C				
Re	Baseline D				
19	Bacelute 10				
1.2	and the second second				
	Euro Junior	VI INFE	IRMUTED.	ummary ta	awill.
				Contraction Pro-	Sec. 18

As in previous versions of Microsoft Project, summary task baseline data is, by default, not updated when you choose to save a new baseline for selected subtasks. Versions since 2016 also give the option to rollup subtask baseline updates to summary tasks when saving a baseline for selected tasks. These options are shown in the following figure:

Figure 103	3d Beckso	85
Pollup	States an	
hasalines	Excelor (red several an A/26)	-
Dasennes	To Sel where a key	
options	Name And Address of Ad	
	Disc Vallande	+
	eks © hann provi 18 Sendert prov ⊠ Taginour seybara ⊠ japa turbaki nina providat suvery dat	94
	Sub an Bele	AR
	Lena Lena	10

These multiple baseline fields also let you choose which baseline you want to use in earned value calculations. The selection is made in *File:Options:Advance d* under *Earned Value options for this projec t*. The *Baseline for Earned Value calculatio n* option in this section allows you to choose which baseline should be used in calculations.

Capturing Interim Plans

This exercise continues to use the file **SetBaseline.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **SetBaseline_Ins t 2**.mp p.

- 1 From *Project:Schedul e* click the *Set Baselin e* icon and select *Set Baseline*.... You will presented with the **Set Baselin e** dialog box.
- 2
- Select the *Set interim pla n* option button. Your dialog box will resemble the following:

Figure 104. Set interim pla *n* option selected

	5	et llaseine	
) Şet bas	aline		
	Barakte it	att saved on Size.	834/18 -
Set into	ren giari		
Soak	Scheduled	Start/Finish	
intor	Start1/Fire	uh1	
O Self	re project octed jasks if up basetin To git com Commonity	es nary taolo nais inter naived nat	namay takin Set a gebait
Help		OE	Cancel

- 3 Accept the default *Entire projec t* option and click **O K**. The *Star t* and *Finis h* values f the current plan tasks will be copied into the *Start 1* and *Finish 1* fields. Your interim plan is set. These fields can be used as the parameters for a new bar with a different appearance if you want to show the snapshot on the Gantt Chart for reporting purposes. We will describe how to do this in Section 15.1: Communication Options.
- 4 Open the **Set Baselin e** dialog box again and click the dropdown arrow on the *Cop y* selector. Your dialog box will resemble the following:



These options allow you to move one baseline to another or convert a baseline to an interim plan. Baselines contain a complete set of project data fields, including start and finish, duration, work, and cost. Interim plans, on the other hand, contain only start and finish dates for the tasks in the plan.

Also, selected tasks can be saved into a specified baseline. This technique can be used to support rolling wave planning, where detailed plans are constructed only for a limited timespan.

5 Click *Cance l* to close the **Set Baselin e** dialog box.

Clearing a Baseline

6

From *Project:Schedul e* click the *Set Baselin e* icon and choose *Clear Baselin e*. You w be presented with the following dialog box:

Figure 106.	Christeler		Jan E Ban
-	& gerbareine pan	Ease ine (ant saved on 2/26)	
Clear	2 Osterion and	31.00.8 m. 0	1
Baseline dialog box	Per 🕂 Egdre project	C Selected jacks	cand

7

Accept the default *Clear baseline pla n* option button selection.

8 Accept the default *Entire projec t* option button selection.

		Johne .	dalart en	An Inches L. Kingle		a facili
	14	 Software System Implementation 	0 days	86	144	0 hrs
	1	a Balld Pogest San	14.0	544	54	1.85
	1	Linear to memory, strengt	a dept	NG	56	1. 319
	1	Optich approval of Statement of Wheth	1.8,9	- 146	14	115
	1	CINITE STOPPED alloci	a days	. MA	66	1 1 1 K
		Obtain approval of project plan.	1 days	44	84	6 12
	3./	A solve project place and define as	24.0	NG.	5.6	0.9X
10	- fil	 Define System Dreisonment 	1 days	565	56	6.93
₽.	4	Determinant and distant	2.6 .	944	54	I tes
2	- 1	Append processes on the perver	1 days	86	54	1 112
ξ.	44	device production for above or	140	34	5.4	Disk.
ο.	11	Communicate with Integration	a days	Wi .	n6	1.92
	14	Traighte autoine mult	1.6.0	144	8.4	E a y
	18	4 contactive sets to	a daşt	No	00	1.9.9
	44	Send on Levery particular	T-keys	-144	64	1 15
	10	conduct pro- many weeks	a days	945	20	12 1010
	164	Constant second of	1 Age	244	54	1 10
	17	repare daily dooment	149	.945	1.4.	E 315
	18	Send out that and nuclear with key appropria	1 days	544	84	1 12

Click **O** *K* . Your baseline is cleared.

10 Save and close your project [JG71].

Protect-Saved Baselines

9

Figure 107.

Cleared

baseline

In Microsoft Project 2019, Project Server administrators have the option to lockdown a user's ability to save baselines. Once an agreed-upon baseline has been reached, an organization can prevent a project manager from changing that baseline. This feature is invoked and controlled via the Global Permissions setting for each group (or in the security template for each group). Note: Global permission settings are controlled through Project Web App by a Project Server administrator.

\$2.00 fa.co

SLA

9.5 Communicating the Project Plan (Introduction)

Because communication management is a critical part of the project management process, Microsoft Project 2019 includes a variety of tools to support communication with internal and external clients. This section documents a method of sharing a project plan with team members or clients who do not have Microsoft Project.

Taking a Picture of Your Gantt Chart

One way to use the communication power of the Gantt Chart view is to photograph it and send the picture as part of another document (e.g. e-mail, webpage, PowerPoint).

- This exercise uses the file **Communication.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - 1 From *Task:Clipboar d* click the *Cop y* dropdown and select *Copy Pictur e*. You will be presented with the **Copy Pictur e** dialog box. This tool allows you to make a copy of the task or resource information that is currently visible (without the ribbon or any surrounding control). This copy can then be pasted or inserted into another application.



- 2 The *Render image: For scree n* option copies the Microsoft Project view as an image with a resolution best for viewing on a screen, such as in PowerPoint. *Render image: For printe r* copies in a resolution best for printing. *Render image: To GIF image fil e* saves the image as a separate picture file, which can be manipulated in a variety of ways or e-mailed as an attachment.
- 3 In the *Render imag e* area of the dialog box, click *For printe r*.
- 4 In the *Cop y* area of the dialog box, check *Selected row s* .
- 5 In the *Timescal e* area of the dialog box, select *As shown on scree n* .
- 6 Click *OK*. Except for a brief appearance of the hourglass icon, nothing appears to happen.
- 7 Launch Microsoft Word and open a blank document. In the new Word document that appears, select *Edit:Past e* (or use "Ctrl-V"). A picture of your Gantt Chart will be inserted into your Word document.
- 8 Exit Word, discarding the new document. Save and close your project.

9.6 [JG72] Optimizing the Plan Review Exercise

- 1 Open the file **PlanOptimization.mp p** .
- 2 Display critical path information using the Gantt Chart.
- 3 Apply the Resource Allocation view.
- 4 Select *Julie Pawlkowski* . In which month is Julie over-allocated? [DC73]
- 5 What is the current finish date for the project?
- 6 Try to resource level *Julie Pawlkowski* within the available slack.
- 7 Did this resolve the over-allocation for Julie?
- 8 What about the other resources?
- 9 Did the project finish date change?
- 9 Apply the Gantt Chart view.
- 10 Insert a weekly task, *Review plan and make adjustments*, to occur every Thursday with a duration of one hour, starting after the Task 6 milestone and repeating to the end of the project.
- 11 Set and display a baseline for the project.
- 12 Save and close your project.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

- Fill in the blank: The work plan and schedule are not optimized until the _____, ____, & _____, have been configured to meet the project objectives.
- 2. What is the critical path and what are critical tasks?

- 3. Which of the following does the Network Diagram view display?
- a. Tasks
- b. Schedule information
- c. Connecting arrows displaying relationship and sequence of activities.
- d. All of the above
 - 4. How do you create a recurring task?

5. Is it possible to assign resources to summary tasks? Is it recommended?

- 6. What is over-allocation?
- 7. True or False: Microsoft Project 2019 stops you from over-allocating a resource.
- 8. When does Microsoft Project 2019 consider a resource over-allocated?

9. What does the Leveling Gantt view display?

10. How does the automatic resource leveling function provided by Microsoft Project 2019 help deal with resource allocation problems?

- 11. Fill in the blank: Resources are considered over-allocated and will be leveled if the total assigned work exceeds the total ______ for the selected block of time.
- 12. What can you do if automatic leveling cannot resolve the over-allocation or if it results in unacceptable schedule changes?
- 13. What are some techniques that can be used to resolve resource over-allocations manually (select 5)?
 - Increase the maximum units of the resource
 - Reschedule the task that has created the over-allocation
 - Add overtime
 - Adjust task dependencies or constraints
 - Remove the resource if it isn't mandatory to the task
 - Replace the over-allocated resource with an under-allocated resource
 - Make calendar adjustments to extend the working days and hours for the project or resource
 - Decrease the amount of work assigned to the resource
- 14. What is task leveling?

15. How do you create a new Resource view?
16. What is the project baseline and what can it be used for?

- 17. When should you baseline?
- 18. Up to how many interim plans can you save? _____
- 19. Fill in the blank: Baselining refers to the concept of capturing the ______ estimate for your project.
- 20. How do you apply the Baseline Table in Microsoft Project 2019?
- 21. How do you set the project baseline?

- 22. How can you see a statistical summary of your project information?
- 23. Which view displays baseline data along with the current plan and actual results?
- 24. How many baselines can be saved using the multiple baseline feature?
- 25. How can you choose which baseline you want to use in earned value calculations?

26. How do you capture an interim plan?

27. What is the difference between baselines and interim plans?

28. What is an example where saving selected tasks into a specified baseline can be useful?

29. How do you clear a baseline ?

30. What does the

Render Image functionality do and what are the different rendering options [DC74]?







part

IV

Enterprise Project Management

- Creating Enterprise Projects
- Monitoring and Controlling
- Using Project Web Application for Tracking
- Other Features in Project Web Application
- Variance Analysis, Plan Revision, and Project Communication
- Presenting Project Information with Project 2019 [DC75]



chapter 10

Creating Enterprise Projects

- How Microsoft Project 2019 Communicates with Project Server 2019 and Project Online
- Publishing a Project to Microsoft Project Server 2019
- Enterprise Resource Management
- Inter-Project Dependencies
- Program Management
- Managing Multiple Projects Review Exercise



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Understand how Microsoft Project Professional communicates with Project Server
- Save and publish an enterprise project to Microsoft Project Server
- Build a project team using enterprise resources
- Open an enterprise project in Read and Write file access modes
- Use Project Web App (PWA) to publish a project
- Create a new project from a Project Server template
- Safely save and close an enterprise project
- Save an offline copy of an enterprise project and check it back into Microsoft Project Server
- Define and view inter-project dependencies
- Use multiple projects to define a program (master schedule)

E verything we have discussed so far was focused on an individual project manager preparing an individual project plan at her or his desktop. Of course in most organizations there are multiple project managers managing multiple projects using shared resources. In this chapter, we will explore the Microsoft Project 2019 features designed for managing multiple projects using a common set of resources belonging to the entire organization. To do so, we will have to first describe how Microsoft Project 2019 interacts with Project Server 2019, which provides the needed enterprise project management features.

10.1 How Microsoft Project 2019 Communicates with Project Server 2019 and Project Online

A note on terminology: Since Project Server 2019 and Project Online are largely interchangeable, this section (and this book as a whole) does not make many direct references to Project Online. If you are using Microsoft Project Professional connected to the Microsoft Office 365 hosted environment, you can replace all references to Project Server 2019 with the term "Project Online."

Microsoft Project 2019 Professional works with Project Server 2019 to provide tools to manage resources and analyze organization-wide project performance. This is referred to as enterprise project management (EPM), since projects on the server belong to the entire organization, not a single project manager.

Microsoft Project Professional supports collaboration and reporting with the option to use the web-based application Project Web App, which allows users to view information and report progress using a web-browser rather than working through Microsoft Project itself.

Earlier in the course we described the high-level architecture of the entire system; now we'll focus on important details of how Microsoft Project and Project Server work together. Project Web App will be covered later, in Chapters 12 and 13.

When Microsoft Project 2019 first connects with Project Server 2019, any formatting elements (views, tables, filters, etc. shown in the organizer) not in the Global.mpt are automatically downloaded from the server to the local computer. Microsoft Project 2019 is a "thick client"—that is, all the information needed to create project views is held locally. Data moves back and forth from Microsoft Project to Project Server when you are working, and much of this is buffered so that your work is not slowed down during this movement.

There are significant differences between projects created and stored locally and projects that have been published to Project Server, as summarized in the following figure.



A project created and stored locally is simply referred to as "a project"; once published, it is referred to as "an [JG76] enterprise project" to reflect the fact that it is part of a group of projects belonging to the entire organization. Local projects use the formatting instructions contained in the Global.mpt, while Project Server stores additional formatting elements in the Enterprise Global. These elements are automatically downloaded as described above.

Local projects require some form of manual resource entry since each project usually has its own unique resources; enterprise projects can take advantage of the enterprise resource pool in Project Server, which allows resource tracking and analysis across multiple projects.

Local projects are stored as .mpp files by default; the project data sent to Project Server is stored in a SQL database, which allows the use of Microsoft's proprietary Multidimensional Online Analytical Processing (MOLAP) tools to combine and manipulate data from all projects in Project Server. It's interesting to note that there are up to five (5) versions of the project data stored on the server in different SQL Server tables:

- □ **Working** (or Draft) This is the first and minimum version of the project data. It is what is created and updated every time you save an enterprise project.
- □ **Published** This is the version that is created and updated every time you publish a project. You will notice that when you publish a project, you will be prompted to save it first. This is to ensure that the published version is never more advanced (more recently updated) than the working version.
- □ **Reporting** The SQL Server data model for the working and published versions is very complicated and not suitable for reporting or general data retrieval, so the Reporting version uses a much more straightforward data model that is more easily understood. It is updated automatically every time the published version is updated.
- □ **MOLAP** (or OLAP) This is described above. It contains a de-normalized version of all published project data that is recreated in batch mode as specified by the administrator.
- □ **Archived** This contains a saved version of the published project data from which a project can be restored. This is a way of erasing a project from the list of displayed projects without completely losing the data in case it needs to be restored.

This chapter will focus on creating and staffing enterprise projects. The analytical tools will be covered separately.

10.2 Publishing a Project to Microsoft Project Server 2019

As we covered earlier, a Microsoft Project file that has been created locally is not an enterprise project. The enterprise designation is restricted to the set of projects that have been published to Project Server. Executives and resource managers can use these to track resource and financial management issues related to projects organization-wide. In the Microsoft Project 2019 environment, projects must be enterprise projects for collaboration with the team or analysis of the portfolio of projects.

There are four different ways to generate enterprise projects: creating a new project on the server, creating a

new project from a server-based template, saving an existing project to Project Server, and using the Import Project Wizard.

Setting Up Access to Project Server from Project Professional

To connect to Project Server for the first time, you will need to set up an account to log into Project Server from Microsoft Project Professional.

From *File:Inf o* click the dropdown arrow by the *Manage Account s* icon and click Configure Account s .

Figure 110.

1

Configuring access to Project Server from Microsoft Project Professional



- If you are logged into a Windows Server Domain, your screen will resemble the figure above, and you will be presented with a dropdown menu option to *Configure Account s* or *Work Offlin e* . Select *Configure Account s* to access the **Project Web App Account s** dialog box.
- If you are not logged into a Windows Server Domain, you must click the *Manage Account s* icon to see the **Project Web Ap p** Account s dialog box, as in the following figure:



Figure 112.

Account **Propertie** s dialog box

Click Ad d	to see the Account Propertie s	dialog box.
------------	---------------------------------------	-------------

Account Properties	1000
Account Name	
Officiality for Propert 2010	
Project Server URL:	
rittp://openjectalisistantst.ahoepoint.o	on/second/detuil
/ Set as gefoult account	
-	Citatin
OK.	Conset

3

In the Account Properties dialog box, enter an Account Nam e, such as "Office 365 for Project 2019".

- 4 In the **Account Propertie s** dialog, enter a Project Server or Office 365 URL. Note: you may need to contact your Project Server or Office 365 administrator for this information.
- 5 Select the *Set as default accoun t* option if you want Microsoft Project to automatically log in to the server each time you start Microsoft Project.
- 6 Click *O K* to close the **Account Propertie s** dialog box and *O K* again to add the new Project Server account.
- 7 Now, when you login to Microsoft Project Server, your new Project Server account will appear as an option in the *Profil e* dropdown list. All you will have to do is select this option and click *O K* to connect to Project Server. Note: If you'd like to work offline (not connected to Project Server), click the *Work Offlin e* button.

Figure 113.

launching Microsoft Project Professional

Creating a New Enterprise Project

When you are working online, it is best to save new projects to Project Server.

-

- Launch Microsoft Project 2019 and connect to a valid Project Server account before beginning this exercise.
 - 1 From the introductory screen, click *Blank projec t* to create a new project plan. The new projec will open in the Gantt Chart view with the Timeline displayed above. Your screen will resemble the following :

Figure
114.
New
Project
With
Gantt
Chart
and
Timeline
view

	-	4	Ass laken	2 deal le livit e la		her.
		P Tol Lee	 a . mar	2 - 1 0 1 + 1	()	$ \frac{\omega_{n+1}}{\omega_{n+1}} \omega_{n+1} + \varepsilon + \frac{\omega_{n+1}}{\omega_{n+1}} \omega_{n+1} + \varepsilon = 0 $
	-					
9	ł					

2 From *Project:Propertie s* click the *Project Informatio n* icon to see the **Project Informatio n** dialog box for this new project. Note that this is where you would enter values for enterprise custom fields. Set a new project start date and click *O K* to return to the project.

Figure 115.

Project Information dialog showing the configured enterprise custom fields

PROPERTY AND INCOME.	tou our Marketti.				100.0
No. gen	101		Lanear lane	245	
technikan	144		shinakin	10	
Ashealed Ines	Project Start Cate	•	2.411.0	Starzaro	1.7
113	rec segin at occur at possible.		Bert,	20 1	
Parganetasta	(1443).			N20 28	
Department					
Curren Field	Beur	1444			G
Column Gra	177	12100	ei)		
putter jebe		1.			
1:04:34	*1	110,00	n		-
14	uput the count			ouritmaticootentes.	
Wab 19es		10			
AND PERSONNELS	11.4	50			
Ostal links		+-			
Section .		ince	10		1.0
Seriesar					14
(Territoria)	(
203	2010/04				Callocal

3

From the *Fil e* tab, click *Sav e* and, in the resulting screen, click the *Sav e* button under the *Project Web Ap p* icon:

Figure 116.	©		Pajali – Paja
Sav e button after clicking	110	Save As	
Save in the Fil	New Open	Project Web App	및는 Project Web App
	Sax Say (c	다. 006:005 ke Project 2015	

4

You will now see the **Save to Project Web Ap p** dialog box.

Figure 117.	Security 21	aper Web Ann			20
5	gare.			 	
Save to Project	Dep-	hujed		 Grunder	Stendard .
Web Ap p	Digators Quite a f	nt: Kdi	5.5		
dialog box	Outer Orficiat	Field Henes Collegary		Value Decares	
	Line State	Satat		 Recuert	3
	Net Press	ntva		 ÷	
	Dirser Dieser	otr		 	
	100000			50	- Secolaria Gend

5 Give the project a descriptive name (notice you have another opportunity to select or change values for any enterprise custom fields) and click *Sav e* to save the project.

After the project is saved to the server, you will see the project name at the top of your screen as usual.

Figure 118.

Project name

-	_		_									
章日	1-1	1.4				Chief	CHLIT 100	0	mailte	hap-half-spid. Prop	(Performed	ξ.
HIT .	Tate	RENDARCE	101101	PROFECT	2	VW F	TAMNS					
雄	3		1	0.		EN.	13	R	曲	Non-a Date (2018) El lipidate Propert	NHC	
- damped	Star-	whereafter	Public	Pressile Incastrias	7	Working Terror	Front	handru-	Pagat	Tate	Sectory.	

6 From the *Fil e* tab, click *Ope n* and then click the *Project Web App* icon []. Finally, click *Brows e* to see the list of enterprise projects on Project Server, including your new project (as shown in the following figure). Notice that your project is flagged as *Workin g*, rather than *Publishe d*.

Figure 119.

Open dialog box

20		Open		1
🛞 🕘 = 🕈 🕌 k B	nterprise Projects	v 6	Search Enterprise Pr	ojecti 🖌
				11 4
📜 Recent places 🧖	Name	Cach	t Statut	Last Access Tir
Cocuments Music Pictures Videos	Stoo me the list of all pro SempleFriterpriceProject	geds Checi	bed Chat	
Homegroup Computer Los (C) Set for (\10.216.1.20	< Mode () Read/Write ■ ®	sad Only Store @	Working	ed
Filer	uns	~	Projects	,
				1-2-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1

The *Workin g* option allows you to put projects on the server without sending any information to Project Web App, where it becomes available to team members and executives; however, Project Server administrators can see the file and open it in Read-Only mode. Some project managers prefer not to post a project in this blank state, and so they use the Save As method (described in the following section) after completing the project task list.

You can now begin creating a task list and converting your WBS to a schedule as you did before. When you save changes, the server-based project will be updated but will remain a working draft.

Click *Cance l* to close the **Ope n** dialog box and close your newly created file. You wi be prompted to check your file in.

Figure 120.	13	м	icrosoft Pro
Project check in prompt	0	tou have proje Do you want t	ect SampleEnt 5 check it in?
		Yes	No

7

8

Click *Ye s* to check your file in prior to closing it.

Creating a New Project with the Save As Method

eRosen mecked out

Central.

ert.

If a local project is opened and changed, the *Sav e* command keeps those changes in the .mpp file. Similarly, if a server-based project is changed, those changes are saved to the Server database automatically. To move from a local copy to Project Server, the *Save A s* command is used.

- This exercise uses the file **SaveAsDemo.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning and ensure you are connected to Project Server.
 - 1 From the *Fil e* tab click *Save A s* and then click the *Project Web Ap p* icon to open the Save to **Project Web** *Ap* **p** dialog box.

Figure 121. Save to Project Web App dialog box

Sens to Proj	iour Web Asp		1
Bers:	1		
MPRY	Post:	- Calendari standard	
Degation and Option field	1 -		
Ciston Fi	HERRY	lone	14
Ecourie S Topenie Re	(paraa) Ke		
Health Ind	12		
In Hallow Con	elegely.		
Die Cycle S	Raiso		
Market She	as	P	
		Jose Stream Dive	Gind

- 2 Name your project **Demo_MM-D D** , where "MM" is the current 2-digit month and "DD" is the 2-digit day of your birthday.
- 3 Click *Sav e* . If your project contains resources, Project Server will check them against the data in the enterprise resource pool when you use the *Save A s* method. If it finds a match, you wil see a message similar to the following:

Figure 122. Prompt when there is a resource match

		Marin	Himpeld.	10
The loss mount also family in One tests want and family of the tests when any other of test that family the tests of the Sector and the start is part of		nanin, Marin, Marin, Santa Marin, Santa Marin, Santa A	ne ne ver, ord fre	rana ani ka na palatine Dapupat ariat and
	E. 41	-	-	1.1997

The *Renam e* option allows you to keep the resource with your local project but requires that you give the resource a unique name, different from the resource in the enterprise pool. The *Ye s* option replaces the local resource with the enterprise version, but only the associated resource information changes—not the name.

Project Server also checks the scheduling of tasks and resources to make sure there is no conflicting data. If there is, you will see an alert.

4 Click **Yes to All** . Another dialog box will warn you that an enterprise standard calenda will be applied, which may change the schedule dates of your project (but not the duration):

Figure 123.	Microsoft Project
Calendar warning	Enterprise standard calendars are needed. Enterprise standard calendars are required to: Build a foom for a non-enterprise project Sale a non-enterprise project into the senser Import resources to the enterprise
	This may result in changes to schedule dates. Do you want to continue?

5

Click *Ye s* to allow the enterprise standard calendar to be applied.

New calendars can be created in Project Server by a Project Server administrator, so you may be able to match the calendar you have used in developing the project with one on the server, and the dates will be the same. Projects can use local calendars, but this option must be set by the Project Server administrator; by default, enterprise standard calendars are required.

6 The saving process will take a minute or two, depending on the speed of your connection with the server and the server's current workload. Once done saving, a progress message will appear at the bottom of the screen.

Figure 124. Status of Save process message

Access prime fusification 2 days Communicate with 2 days integrator Intelligence

When the process is complete, your project will be renamed **SaveAsDemo[XXX]** .[JG77]

Creating a New Project in Project Web App

Another method for creating enterprise projects is launched from Project Web App. We'll discuss navigating in this tool more thoroughly in Chapters 12 and 13.

In order to access Project Web App you will need the URL to enter into Internet Explorer. Your Project Server administrator can provide this information to you. Again, this will all be covered in much greater detail in the chapters dedicated to Project Web App.

For now, open Project Web App. You will see your home page.

1 From your Project Web App home page, click the *Project s* link in the sidebar or the *Project s* tile to navigate to the Project Center. From *Projects:Projec t* click the *Ne w* icon and then clice *Enterprise Project* from the dropdown list, which includes any available enterprise project templates.



Figure 126.

2 You will see a Project Details page, similar to the following:

New project information entry screen in	Project Request Information	
PWA	Name *	1
	Description	
	Tus ress Derrer	1
	Bright Stops	
	Turinees based Description Occurrent to too too too Isonato capetad for the Isonato	8
	Total Search 1	1

Create a new project

- 3 Enter the following information:
- □ *Nam e* : "SharePointMigration" Note: If you are in a group training session, add the month and day of your birthday to the end of the project name.
- □ **Start Dat e** : "4/17"

4

Click the *Sav e* button in the upper-left corner of your screen to save the project.

In the Project Schedule page that appears, you will enter new task information by clicking in the *Task Nam e* field. Note that when you first click in this field, an expanded Project Web App Task toolbar appears at the top of the screen.

			1.110	-	11 I.										
Figure 127.	C Rome	1		N		13	2.7	1.2	3	10	九	-0 T	Tall Latrage	Ð,	9
Expanded	(ideas)	1	Page		10.02	Station 1	11411 10	-	in	1.212		Frank	- Mar (1991)	Ŧ.	2
toolbar with <i>Tas</i>															
k tab selected															

Note that the Project Web App ribbon is similar in concept to the ribbon in Microsoft Project Professional. By default, the *Tas k* tab is selected. You may select other tabs on the ribbon such as **Projec** t , **Pag** e and **Option** s .

In the Project Web App section of this book, we will continue to use the same navigation convention for referencing commands as we did in the Microsoft Project Professional section of this book. For example, to close this project, select the *Projec t* tab and, in the *Projec t* group within that tab, click the *Clos e* icon.

Enter the task information specified in the following table. Note that the default fields in Project Web App are the same default fields you find in Microsoft Project Professional: Task Name, Duration, Start, Finish, etc.:

Task Name	Duration	Start	Finish
Design	1m	4/17	5/16
Build	1m	5/17	6/16
Test	2m	6/17	8/16
Deploy	2w	8/17	9/1

Save the project. Your screen will resemble the following:

- Drag your mouse to select all four tasks, and from *Task:Schedul e* click the *Link the* Selected Task s icon in the Project Web App ribbon toolbar. This will establish finish-to-start dependencies among the project tasks.
- Annu Barry and residential 2019 and the field \$2012019 Versue Sci. A 10 8 - 81 - 61 in the set the second secon 1.10

×

ċκ

From *Project:Projec t* click *Clos e*. You will see the *Clos e* dialog box for your proje

Close - SharePointMigration Clos e dialog Check in box for Do you want to check your project in? SharePoint Check it in O Keep it checked out Migration Cancel

> Ensure *Check it in* is selected and click *O K*. You will now see your Project Center view, and 10 the new project will be listed in the project list and will be available to be opened in Microsoft Project Professional.

Figure 130.

Project Professional

5

6

7

8

9

Figure 128.

Entering task details

Figure 129.

view of project created in	ц. 4	1		arigini Lua ha	19 - 1.4	225	-) militarian Dina meningkan	. Den Sel - De Arte	adriva and	1. A. A. A.	199	
Project Web App in read-	P as	1 1	日本 日本 日本 日本	diX.pm + #		7.	an lige articles	Base prome Science Prometer Channel & Science Rec	101 * 244 1 + 714* 4	i Jami' 17 Jani'dan 17 Jani'dan 19 Jani'dan	Tr. die Sank	amp)	New Sec.
only mode	0	PZ S	245	u des inn spr	all anno		Our Da						
	(a) - (a)	(anna)	Ser	Tark a F Q K	5 4 5 5 5	Ther 1517 1517 1517 1517	400 400 400 400 400	e danas e a	1221	577 ar a 1	27	"	21) is a -

Creating a New Project from a Template

Microsoft Project also allows you to create enterprise projects from templates, including templates stored on Project Server. For this exercise, ensure you have Microsoft Project open and you are connected to a valid Project Server account.

From the initial Microsoft Project screen, or from *File:Ne w*, you will see several project 1 templates, as well as an option to search online for additional templates.

Figure 131.

<

Project Server templates options, including online search (circled)

New				
Santa alla secon Ingeniana da Interna Interna dalaria	men being these	,		
THE P	(ER)		NAME OF	and a second
1. P. Marine	Balland	Conception of the local division of the loca	Toronto Visitation	had a first the
The	E			
dependences is in fact,	the large like	and support of the state	Schene Henrick	1.8.2.2.2.

2 Click the *Commercial Constructio n* template to see more detail about that template :

Figure 132. Selecting the Commercial Constructio n template



3 Enter a *Start Dat e* of "4/18" for your project, and click *Creat e*. Your project will resemble the following:



Figure 133. New project created from project template

- 4 From *File:Save A s* click the *Project Web Ap p* icon, and then enter your project name in the **Save to Project Web Ap p** dialog box.
- 5 Click *Sav e* to save your project to Project Server. Close your project.

Creating a New Project Template

Creation of enterprise templates is often the responsibility of administrators or the Project Management Office. If you have permission to create an enterprise project template, open or create a project using the Save A s method (see Section 5.1: Creating a New Project), with one difference: when saving the file, select *Templat e* instead of *Projec t* in the Save to Project Serve r dialog box.

- Ensuring you are connected to a valid Project Server account, click *Blank projec t* under 1 File:Ne w .
- 2 From *File:Save A s* click the *Project Web Ap p* icon and *Save* to access the **Save to Project W Ap p** dialog box. Enter the template name (for this exercise, type "SoftwareImplementationTemplate") and change the *Typ e* from *Projec t* to *Templat e*. You not need to provide values for custom fields, even if they are flagged as required fields, since a template will be used to create new projects with different values. Your screen will resemble the following:

gure 134.	-					_
ve to Project	Benel	Softwareteptemental	ior/anglata			
Web An n	304	Terescolate -		Cabercilat:	Utaendarii	
to App	D-gartment		+			
llog box	Curton fields					
	Custam Piels	d Talma		Value		
	Propert Health	ts .				
				-		

Click *Sav e* . You will see the *Save As Templat e* dialog box. You will be asked if you want to 3 discard data that may not be useful in the new projects you will create. Select the data you don't want and *Sav e* and check the template in.



If your organization has a few major project types, perhaps for different project lifecycle models, and the content of different projects is likely to be different, you will probably check all five boxes on the Save As Template dialog box, since you will not want new projects pre-populated with any of the baseline, actuals, costs, etc. On the other hand, if you have a well-structured program where subprojects are going to be repeated for a number of different deployments, you may want to use the same set of resource rates and fixed costs as you set up in each sub-project. In this case, you would leave those particular data options unchecked.

If you need to change a template, start as though you are going to use it to create a new project. Make changes to the WBS, update task estimates, etc. Save the template using the same name as the original one, again ensuring the *Typ e* selected is *Templat e* . This action will effectively update the existing template and any future projects created from the template will use the new information. Of course,

Figure 135. Save template options

any projects created from an earlier version of the template will not be affected by these changes.

Publishing a Project to Project Server 2019

Figure 136.

Publis h icon

The four methods described previously save new projects in Project Server, but this only creates a working copy, which is not visible to Project Web App users, including team members and executives. To make project plans and assignments visible, a project must be published.

□ This exercise uses the file **Demo_[MM-DD].mp p**, created earlier in this chapter. Ensure this project is open before beginning, and also ensure the project is checked out (you cannot publish Read-Only files). If you did not perform the previous exercises, you can open and check out **Demo_02-06.mp p**.

Note: It is not possible to publish a project until you have first saved it to Project Server. We have already saved this project to Project Server.

1 From *File:Inf o* click the *Publis h* icon [], as in the following figure:

Land X. Spielericke Sugar 1 -Info Carner, HEadle Section 10 Alaba Thomas 1 de cher -04 HUNDE 2 Desper-August " rists A 1 155 Coppension TEAT" Bins . Sec. to react a feature Organiza Cippa Terrelata 59 an eren har strand

- 2 An alert may appear, reminding you that the project must be saved; click *Ye s* to continue.
 - A dialog box similar to the following will appear, prompting you to create a Project Site for this project:

Figure 137. New SharePoint site for published project	Put in hight Dere Nyt - Sy Silver - Steller Physical - Steller - Steller Steller - Steller - Steller - Steller	ELW 4. ang at the second strategiest to develop the Market of the second strategiest of the s	- + [Ten (J ¹) (A
	C. The and the de and	The second se	4,1218
	Dor I month's so	National and a	Bales Louis

3

By default, Windows SharePoint Services creates a unique project site for each published project. This dialog box shows the default settings and gives you an opportunity to change the server used and to make the workspace a sub-workspace of a different project. This workspace provides a "virtual warroom" for the project, a place where a variety of information and tools can be shared with the team.

The project SharePoint site also provides pages for risks, issues, deliverables and document management. We will explore these functions later in this book.

4 Click *Publis h* . You will see a description of the status of the publishing job at the bottom of the screen. When the *Publish completed successfull y* message appears on the lower status ba in Microsoft Project Professional, the project plan is visible in Project Web App to team members and others with appropriate security permissions.

Safely Exiting Microsoft Project 2019 When Connected to Project Server

It is tempting to simply use *File:Exi t* to guit Microsoft Project at the end of a session, but this is not an effective method. Enterprise projects must be checked in individually before you exit Microsoft Project; otherwise, they will be "stranded," or flagged as checked out to you. When you try to open the project again, vou will be told vou must open it read-only because it's still checked out! This isn't a disaster—vou can check in your stranded project through Project Web App—but it is irritating.

To avoid this frustration, click *File:Clos e* for each open project whenever you are closing an enterprise project. If there are no unsaved changes, you will see an alert similar to the following:

Figure 138.
Project
check in
query

	M	icrosoft Proj	ect.	2
?	You have p Do you wa	insject SaveAsD int to check it is	emoJBG checke n?	d out.

2 Click **Ye** *s* to check in and close the project. If there *are* unsaved changes, you will see the expanded query shown below. Click **O K** to save and close the project.

Figure 139	Close
Save and check in query	Project: SaveAcDemoi#G Save Dianges Do you wont save your changes? # SaveNo. discard changes
	Check in Os you want to check your project in? Check it in O Keep it checked out OK Cancel

But what if you don't want to check the project in? The project closes and you can open it again in read/write mode; anyone else with permission to view the project can open it read-only, not read/write.

Note that when you start Microsoft Project, a blank project (usually **Project 1**) is automatically created. If vou are working with other projects, you probably will not be interested in saving the blank **Project 1**. In this case, when you see the previous **Clos e** dialog box, select **Discard Change s**.

After closing all projects, you can safely exit Microsoft Project.

Working with Published Projects off the Network

There are times when you will want to work with published files but won't be connected to the network. Since the *Save as File* button appears in the **Save to Project Web Ap p** dialog box, it can be tempting to save a published project locally, but this is not an effective way to work with published projects. Use this method only to save a working draft or archived copy locally, unconnected to the project still on the Project Server.

Working Away From the Network

A useful feature in Microsoft Project 2019 is locally caching a copy of the project which you are working on. In addition to making the process of working off the network nearly foolproof, it also allows for a speedier interaction with Project Server. After the original copy of the project (data) is downloaded and cached, changes only need to be communicated between the server and the client.

1 While connected to Project Server, open **SaveAsDemo[XXX**] created earlier in this chapter (Section 10.2: Create a New Project with the Save As Method). Alternatively, you can open and check out **SaveAsDemoJBG.mp p** . Note that once the project opens, you will see a warning above the timeline that indicates the file is currently in read-only mode:

Figure 140.

9 1 2 4		Contraction of the	ere for følgeslar i føst Døg	d Proper Protestant
ITTA VILLAN SUBACE	Report Arent Meal	level 18 totte	entering and back	
The Indiana Capital	·· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	eourallage - Eller-	🚽 Do Aviori - Tre	ocele. 4. Zoom -
Howie -		counciliant + 14 out we	ThatRol - 17.0	aya 🔹 🖷 🖾 Siraka Project
Last stige - St Obertines	Renter Size 12	Herview Environ	T Labras +	The late of some
Live.	Area at Ve		Har	

- 2 In order to work with the file, you will need to check it out. To do so, click the *Check Ou t* button, circled in the preceding figure.
 - From the *Fil e* menu, click *Clos e* . You will see the Clos *e* dialog box.



3

- 4 Ensure the *Keep it checked ou t* option button is selected in the **Clos e** dialog box, and click **O K** to close the project.
- 5 When you are ready to work on your project again, launch Microsoft Project and, in the **Logi n** dialog box, select the appropriate Project Server *Profil e* and click the *Work Offlin e* button.

Figure 142. Login to Server to work offline

Rea only mod



6 Click *Open Other Project s* (or *File:Ope n* if you already have a different project opened) at the bottom of the left sidebar. Under the Project Web App heading, click your Project Server Profile name and then click *Brows e*. You will see the project you recently closed (in a checked-out status): **Demo_[MM-D D] .mp p**.

Figure 143. List of projects in your cache

Pite Gelia Sa katabian kemanan	Argent.			-lai tester	e a de la de	6
£	in the second			0-0-02	11	•
 Second Transact	 b. a a) Description a) Construction b) Construction b) Construction c) Construction <lic) construction<<="" td=""><td>de la francé.</td><td>United Add.</td><td>Reg Mar and Destination of the D</td><td>1</td><td></td></lic)>	de la francé.	United Add.	Reg Mar and Destination of the D	1	
gi contan Inter a		0.017.00		- construct	(Can J	4

Note that the list of projects you see is what is stored on your local machine and not what is stored on Project Server. Those projects are stored in the local cache on your machine. Some of the projects are identified as *Checked Ou t*. These are projects that you chose not to check in when you closed them during your recent session. The projects that do not appear as checked out are ones you have opened recently and for which you selected the *Check I n* option when you closed them.

7 Select your *Checked Ou t* project (**SaveAsDemo[XXX].mp p**) and open it. Edit the project in some way and again close the project while leaving it checked out. When you reconnect to Project Server and open the project, the data will synchronize automatically. Remember that there is another copy of the project in the database on Project Server. Normally you will update projects while offline. When you connect to the Server and check

the project in, the versions between your local cache and the server are synchronized.

8 Now suppose that while you have the project checked out, the Project Server administrator forces a check in of this project to Project Server. The project is now checked in and available to be modified by anyone with proper permissions. Your local machine has the project checked out to you and awaiting check in. What happens when you connect your local machine to Project Server? The Project Server version wins!

Checking In Projects That Have Been Saved Offline

Once you are again connected to the network and able to access Project Server, you can check the projects in that you had checked out while you were working offline.

One method to do this is by opening Microsoft Project Professional in Work Offline mode (see the preceding sub-section, Working Away from the Network).

Click **Open Other Project s**. Click the **Project Web Ap p** icon and **Brows e**. As befor 1 you will see the projects that are checked out (as represented in your local cache).

	Caro		
	Anangerist Projects.	+ E hadden	geschenne 🖈
			33 .0
Theory and the	flare	Earth Melia	Last Assess Trees
	Elevelaterado	Dreshed Gale	\$111111442191
Country Marco Marco Vision Vision		(Sector	P CIT ALL PR
al lineare			
Congrege	4		
el hermania Se Congolar El Stato Na hermania sub	a Alem - face fire - # face Dep	the distance ()	Tutina
e∰ hinningerup IN Contepader IS 00002 Ng Netrotocological Ng	a) Alten Staarlinge op Baarlinge Norma	An Allong () 	full-hat

Select and open one of the checked out projects.

At the bottom left of your screen you will see a *Connectio* n icon [M]. Click it and select the *Connect to Serve r* option as in the following figure:

Figure 145.		Cor	nnection
Connectio n		۲	Connect to Server
icon	\cap		Active Cache Status
	\bigcirc	\$	S NEW TASKS : AI

2

3

р

Figure 144.

Projects that a checked out

Now click *File:Clos e*, and you will be prompted to check your project in.

Figure 146	Our all
1 igure 140.	Browle Sough Descente Concernant
Project check in prompt	Sale Linger Daga and it scorping damper Store - Elit glocal damps
	Cher Lin Da ya zwani tu disk pro posali ki Okobi ki i filo kuji U destal kuji Okobi ki i filo kuji U destal kuji Okobi ki i filo kuji U destal kuji

4

5

Click *Ye s* and your project will once again be checked in.

Managing the Local Project Cache

Managing the local project cache is typically handled by the Project Server administrator, but there are some basic features that project managers need to understand. Individual project managers can control aspects of the caching process using a functionality found in *File:Options:Sav e*. This submenu includes buttons to allow you to view the status of the local project cache as well as change the settings and clean up the cache.

You can view and change the size limit for the cache (although most users will simply let Microsoft Project determine the needed size) and the location where the cache is stored in the *Cach e* section of the **Project Option s** dialog box, as shown below.

Figure 147	France Voticina	
Figure 147. Cache options	Carrent Fra (a) Sales Ale Peoring Manual La crace Filman Outcoleses Tealbar Antical Trace Details	Interview true projection const. Annumpule Sec drawth true projection const. Description Advance every [25] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []
		Of Land

Clicking the *View Cache Statu s* button opens the **Active Cache Statu s** window shown in the following figure. The *Statu s* tab lists all the projects with copies cached locally, the most recent action taken with that project, the date of that action, and whether or not the action succeeded. For unsuccessful actions, the *Error s* tab provides more detail about what happened, which may be useful to the Project Server administrator in helping to correct any problems.

igure 140.	Polici (Ameri)				
ache <i>Statu s</i> b	Proper Laner General Common Construction (Common 2014)	Salara San Dramon Hayad	2000 20037110030 20037120030	Mature Societation Societation	

The *Clean Up Cach e* button provides details on the cache usage and contents, and it allows you to delete local copies of server-based projects. This button does not affect the project on the server.

Deleting local copies of projects that are no longer needed can save cache space, but this tool can also be used to deal with projects that appear to be checked out but are not listed in the force check in page in Project Web App. Deleting the project from the cache in this situation usually deletes it from the server as well, so you may need to save the project under a different name before clearing it from the cache.

A typical **Clean Up Cach e** window is shown in the following figure:

Figure 149. Cache settings controls

or ly line		ana ana ana an
whendly sectored and pro-	ne felied as and Carderely related program as a manufacture	- detected your flow on
atofe al.		
2.0484		4.0 99
No inut-to- Calado de Statut de de dui o	÷	1 M 100/ 100/
Addsor of Pages		1.1
at the dense	and a second	1.4
1 BID IN	Cherry on Stelling Appendix	
Real House		
Idelan a selection	provant ball	
	Benare the Locar	
		1223-2712

10.3 Enterprise Resource Management

The enterprise resource pool provides a single place to list all resources that may be available for assignment on projects. Microsoft Project opens enterprise resources when the user opens an enterprise project or checks out one or more enterprise resources.

Projects do not display the entire content of the Enterprise Resource Pool; only resources selected for your project are listed on your Resource Sheet. If additional enterprise resources need to be added, the project manager can use the team builder tool.

But what if an organization wants a functional manager to make the actual assignment to the project team? Project Web App also contains a "build team" function which allows a line manager to designate members of a project team. If the organization chooses to use this approach, project managers will need generic resources as placeholders until the functional manager assigns a specific person to the project team.

Classifying Resources

Classification of resources has become much more sophisticated since the early days of Microsoft Project. Following is a summary of resource classification terminology currently in use:

- □ **Resource Type** Identifies the kind of activity that is planned or tracked using this resource; options are as follows:
 - □ Work Resource assignments have estimated (and actual) work (typically hours of effort) at a specified cost per time period. Units refer to the proportion of time that the resource is assigned to this task.
 - □ Material Resource assignments have estimated (and actual) units of consumption at a specified cost per unit (e.g. cubic yards of concrete at \$200 per cu yard). Units refer to the number of specified items for the task. There is no work (effort) associated with material resources although under some conditions, the units amount is copied into the work field.
 - □ Cost Resource assignments have estimated (and actual) cost amounts for this resource (e.g. consulting fees). There are no units or work associated with cost resources.
- □ **Generic** This is a Yes/No flag that can be associated with any resource type. A resource flagged as Generic behaves just as the basic resource as far as estimating and scheduling is concerned. However, generic resources are essentially placeholders and so are incapable of carrying out actual work, being consumed as materials, or being charged as costs. Before undertaking an actual task, any assigned generic resources should be replaced with equivalent named resources.
- □ **Local** This is a Yes/No flag set automatically depending on the source of the resource information. If the resource is derived from the enterprise resource pool, it is an enterprise resource. If it was entered

by the project manager in a project, it is a local resource.

Budget – This is a Yes/No flag associated with any resource type. A resource flagged as Budget can be assigned only at the project summary level. The purpose of this type of resource is to provide a way of recording a high-level (budget) estimate for the project. The same basic resource types can be applied to budget resources, and you may use a combination of budget resources on a single project to model the various aspects of the project budget. For example, you may have different cost budget resources for capital versus expense and different ones for different general ledger accounts. You may also have different work budget resources for hours of effort by different categories of worker.

Budget resource information is normally applied by using a resource custom field that allows the budget resource information and the "real" resource information to be grouped together in a report. This allows the budget, baseline, actual to date and estimate to completion figures to be seen in the same report.

Using Team Builder

Managers use Team Builder to select resources from the enterprise resource pool before or after a project task plan is built. It can also be used to substitute resources currently assigned in a project plan. You must be connected to Project Server to view enterprise resources. By default, Project Server security allows project managers to view resources and build teams, but the Project Server administrator can change default permissions.

This exercise uses the file **SampleProject.mp p**, the office relocation project we built in the first part of the course. Open this project, or if that file isn't up-to-date with its last associated exercise, you can open **SampleProject_Inst3.mp p** .

- 1 Save your project to Project Server as SampleProject _ [MM-D D] , [JG78] where "MM-DD" represents your month and day of your birthday.
- From **Resource:Inser** *t* click the **Add Resource** *s* icon [, and from the dropdown 2 list select **Build Team from Enterpris e**.

	Relations for the gold spect (instance)	-
Figure 150.	Tile, minute manufa	
Build Tea m	Integrities: Infection Party +	
dialog box	(in) Exclude the contrast	
	Other service exceptions Other servi	
	Land the second s	ALEY
	Trans by	
	10 Streams Resource 201 States And + And + And - Read States - And	-
	and increased	
	Lines for	
	lim farms	
	Dire Company	
	Sey Meets	
	Le Xarian	
	Barrest Gameray - 1988	
	Res 2 Mit	
	Brancharton and	
	Exclusive and Facebook	
	45 Research States	
	Tataon have	_
	Company of the second sec	and a
	teaching the second sec	Contraction in the

You can use filtering and grouping (discussed in Section 15.2: Using Tables, Filters, Views, and Groups in Microsoft Project 2019) to define selection criteria, or you can use the entire list of resources. Enterprise resources are listed in the left side of the dialog box, and generic resources are identified with a blue "head" icon.

Note: In the **Build Tea m** dialog box, clicking the plus sign next to *Customize filters (optional)* will open a new section of the **Build Tea m** dialog box that will allow you to filter resources from the overall resource pool. For example, in the following figure the field name is *RBS* (Resource Breakdown Structure), which can be used to select resources from a specific part of the organization, such as a department. In this case, we are filtering for resources from the accounting department.



3 Select the enterprise resources you wish to add to your team, and click *Ad d* to build the project team as in the following example:

Figure 152. Project team under construction

National State National	Like Tear the SatapleProject Sindharapa			
tasing kan	Microlega - manage			
Subscription back with a set of the set of	fact of Man	•		
Preserve at solution; Other reserve	🕽 Sarstaget des taple ar j			
Other water with a field down if field Other water with a field, down if field Other water with a field down if field Other water Oth	Incoment whether			
Mare water with a data distance in a state of the sta	Sthere and a lot of the Country of the	1838	1.2 mm	
Providence of the set of the	The second second second second	A TOTAL DATE		
Gran se Construction of formation and the second of the s		11.11		1.000
GRAD ME	ADVITZORD ND- MI			- AL 01
Grad an Grad and Construction for the number Construction Constructi				
Open Set Open Set (a) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b	4245510			
Description descent for for with the withe with the withe with the with the withe with the with the with t	COCT 20	1000 C		
Proc Cort 1 (2) (2)	🚯 🛛 L der ginder Kellen Land Kollen.	2000 a	B EQUITABLE LINE	Exercise Week
A contract of the second	Press - Ger 1	and the second second	15 Ten ales	Panalise (M
Control of Contr	16 Imm. 21	- Design	E PE SPACE	N. beiles 4.5
Nog na way Conjunt and point (not in the second s	Evente Ane		61281	C1*1#901 70#
Device States 7.1, max Book States 1.1, max	Cuptour		Con the state of	Constant (St
Market Market Market Market Market Market Market Market	Participation of the second se	24.465		
Taken Terretal	and the second s			
Candia geo Candia geo Candia geo	law laca			
Cand A. S. H.	Braditers .			
bird st	Last to get			
Carlo and Carlo	NHT ST	- Viant-	-3.	
Citr Mars	Cign John	bitde		
	104-29-47	AND ALC: NO. 010		
	110211			1 and 1 and
19291	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A			Carers

4

Click *O K* when you are finished. You will find the selected resources listed in the Resource Sheet view for your project. Switch to the Resource Sheet view.

		0	G-Incelline .	tin al	tient - also it is a	+ the + where !	- 10	taliant Distant las	i
3.	1.3	82	orwinger 1	Wark		nes prambe	\$1.1.4/10	plus remained standard	
	- 4		Field Searcy	Wark	30 C	300% \$100.00/hr	20.03/1	\$0.00 Pronated Standard	
C1	1		die Cash	West		time Kara and a	or state.	Stot Person Stanker	
Sneet	-4		Taley scentisce	W21K	12 112	second ashr	\$14.4	proclammed standard	

Figure 153.

Resource Sheet view with added resources

5 Save your project. [JG79]

Additional Team Builder Functionality

You can also use Team Builder to remove resources from the project team or to replace one resource with another. Just as before, replace basically changes the resource name and calendar. Team Builder has some other valuable tools:

- **Booking** allows you to add resources to the project team while a project is under developmer and has not yet been approved. By flagging the resource as Proposed, you can reserve the resource's time and make task assignments without sending the assignments to them. If the project is a real one, simply leave the booking value as the default Committed, and assignments can be published to Project Web App.
- Show resource availability lists the hours of work during a date range. By default, the date range is the project start and end dates. To use this feature, check *Show resource availabilit* y, set the dates (if you don't want the default values), set a minimum availability (optional), and decide whether or not you want to include proposed bookings. Click *Appl y* to see the resources that have time available.
- □ **Match** allows you to find resources with the same skill profile as a project resource. This only applies if the Server administrator has defined a skill setting for resources.

- □ **Details** opens the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box for a selected resource in either pane c the Build Team box.
- □ **Graphs** opens a window with a choice of time-phased graphs for selected resources. This can help you identify specifically when a resource is available, since overall availability numbers may not provide the information you need. You can view remaining availability, work, and assignment work graphs for selected resources.

If you need to add local resources to your project team (e.g. for external contractors or materials), always do this by entering their details into the Resource Sheet.

Generic Resources

Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to define generic resources. This is useful when you know the skillset or job title needed for task assignment. Generic resources are often used as placeholders until named individuals can be assigned to specific tasks to replace the generic ones. They are handled much like named work resources, except you cannot create a Microsoft Project Server account or send them assignments via Microsoft Project Server. These resources are often used in project templates or in project planning to support resource planning.

Generic resources can be enterprise resources (that is, they are available for assignment in other projects) or local ones. Generic and local resources are flagged in the **Build Team from Enterpris e** dialog box as shown in the following figure:

	Build State for Concentration (Concentration)	
Figure 154.	And a subsection of the subsec	
Generic and	and the second design of the s	
Local resource	California	
flags	The second	
	1 months and a second s	
	New	- I man I am I
	the second secon	TTRANSFORMERS.
	The second secon	Delater in
	Research Control Statements	Dance to
	Hard State	
	And Designed	
	Malane () Provide ()	
	A least least	
(Call lies

The Project Server administrator defines whether enterprise resources are generic or not. Another method to determine if a resource is generic is to double-click on a resource in the Resource Sheet to open the **Resource Informatio n** dialog box.

					COLUMN A	10,000	THE REAL PROPERTY AND IN CONTRACT OF CONTRACT.		-
Figure 155.		General Zhree	iano	Committee	4				
Resource Informatio n dialog box (with the Generic box circled in black)		Annual room	3+ (1) (1)	rigrae construct deserver to Nor	1975	· · ·	tenian Group Trate Sector Sector Sector Sector	Free West 2 Decem - Rodget States Change Washing Date -	10 1 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
		1	-		1	12			
	\bigcirc	the					-Denn	UII Canse	1

10.4 Working with Multiple Projects: Inter-Project Dependencies

Showing an Inter-Project Dependency

If there are logical relationships between tasks in different projects, they can be modeled by creating an inter-project dependency. Consider the scenario where there is a program to install widgets at two sites and completion requires integration testing once the installation at both sites is complete. We have three projects:

- □ *Consolidated Widgets*, which is the overall program plan in which the initial design and final integration testing is managed. This is managed by the program manager who has overall responsibility for the program.
- □ *Widget Installation Site 1*, which is the project plan in which the widgets at one site are acquired and installed. This is managed by the Site 1 manager who has overall responsibility for Site 1 only.
- □ *Widget Installation Site 2*, which is the project plan in which the widgets at the other site are acquired and installed. This is managed by the Site 2 manager who has overall responsibility for Site 2 only.

The site installation projects cannot start until the design task in the Consolidated Widgets plan is complete. The integration testing cannot start until both site installations are complete. If all these tasks were in a single project, it would be a simple matter to create dependencies between them. However, because we have different managers for the three projects, they are managed separately. This exercise shows how to build dependencies between tasks in different projects.

- Open Microsoft Project Professional (without connecting to Project Server). This exercise uses the files ConsolidatedWidgets.mp p , WidgetInstallatio n _ Site1.mp p and WidgetInstallatio n _ Site2.mp p . Be sure all of these projects are open before beginning.
 - 1 From *View:Windo w* click the *New Windo w* icon []. You will see a **New Windo w** dialo box similar to the following with a list of all open project files:

Figure 156.	New Window	×
	Projects	
New Window dialog	WidgetInstalletion_Stat	
	yree Entronee	- arcel

2 Select *Gantt Char t* from the *Vie w* dropdown list. Then, select *ConsolidatedWidget s* and *WidgetInstallation_Site 1* and click *O K*. Both projects will now be displayed in a single window:

Figure 157	0	factors	In.w	10.		a state a state of the state of
Figure 157.	- 8	 Centrality days An Apple (2000) 	H App		20.72	
		1 MM (11/10)	10.0010	1.000	1984	4
		farwing des	144.	346	194.6	
All three	(1) #1	Per view, vites	dian.	1203	00	Versely Ve
All ullee	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	White section of an approximately	10.00	10.00	1.2.4	2 mmmm
Projects	1 N N	heart all a class and	44.9	447	144	
110jeeto	A	Sec. de.	1.64	22.48	24.00	the second se
shown in new	2.6	and logit would be able to present	1.50	10.5	10/10	4
	A 100	Same quale dillets	144	24		(B)
window	5 A R	Take subjects in all sures	3.bur	1901	1.000	
	2 1 1	Press Press (Press	199	100	1.0	200
	2 4 K	Left cultur hercula geo-	24.00	5.80	1248	ADDRESS OF A
	200 8	Into any part of	Sidey .	2,0034		lines
	504 H	and managers adversion and	100	1.00	1.41	and the second
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	· A den veskelse hard NAM	Hine	2.8	414	E1
		Note - Control (Markey /	2.84	1000	100	the second secon
	21 X	Content of they what we adverged	1.44	(Date)	100	Tense,
	1.1	Conto nicesta	24.	1.00	24	200
		Tealer of any of Sector No. 1993.	18.6.4	1000	1000	The second se
	3. A.	ALL TANKITS	is that	10.14	1.0	Terrare Contraction of the second sec
	1.1	Full blast he will dow	14	2.5	245	the second se
				-		



The alphabetic order of the projects in the **New Windo** w dialog box determines their order in the new window. This is not a problem as long as you remember to create the task

NOTE

3

6

links correctly—that is, the order in which tasks are selected determines the predecessor (link from) and successor (link to) relationship in Microsoft Project.

From *Task:Schedul e* click the *Link Task s* icon to create a finish-to-start dependency from *Plan Installation at Site 1* to *Order Widgets for installation*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure	1	1							
158.		1							
P (100								
External		1							
link	· ·	1							
bottwoon	1	1							
Detween		/							
two		.0	122	- Tailler Ca	lune .		12.044	14	AND A DECEMBER OF A DECEMBER O
separate			-	< Congrittant	man	1971	1917	- 11	
projects			-	bevelop-decapt for transiting product	2464	10/9	10010		Alternative and a second secon
projects				Processing and the second second	1840	10/36	100.00	1	and the second s
			-	Pari misfalor et Dir 2	Adapt	10(3)	3031	Ŧ	Stanooutra
				integrate life 1 and 3 spendium.	didays .	40.01	303	- 4	
			×.	Close and project.	168	12/3	344	1.8	
		-43		- Widget rootaflation - Site 3	38 days	14/34	11.79	- 1	
			-	todar sciligers for inclulution	144	212.64	1404	1.04	lan
				Conference and by of deliver and not general	Tables	14497	1696		interested -
	1.1		*	Bacche willpits	1.041	10/21	14/14	- 1	in the second
	18.00		-	conferminanting of protons of langests	1889	1871	10/2	- 14	
	E.P		•	hukal sogatu	1040	14/1		- 4	
	- E .:		-	Twit undert extenderion	2.080	33,78	100		
		-10		+ Walget Installation - 34s 2	18 days	10/9	30/80	2.11	A
		8.0	-	Order wateru für extartance	194	30/9	14/2	16.1	
			-	List for rought y of patrianal integra-	1484	20/11	3434	- 4	Tenco.
			10	- Baurten unigete	1.64	10/10	34(1)	- 4	lan, -
			-	Early and yold as an af an gris	14en	14/38	10(5)	. 4	Terrane and the second s
			*	brital wrights	1 steps	\$9/34	14534		the second se
			-	Tata weight insidiation	10401	404024	10.00		Lenner

- 4 Close the temporary project that was used for creating the link between the tasks without saving it. It is not necessary to save this untitled project since we only used it as a temporary device to link the tasks in different projects.
- 5 From *View: Windo w* click the *New Windo w* icon, and this time select only WidgetInstallation_Site1.mp p . Notice that the task *Plan installation at Site 1* has been inserted as an external task in this project.

Figure 159.											
External task:		4		lane.	in the second			10,000,000,000,000,000,000,000,000,000,	1.00.0	1000 B	a + 2 +
	100	1	National Inc.	Long-	42.6	124.		And Person in Concession, Name	and the second se	1	
Plan installation			Difference also relation	5.Jer	15.54	10.52	- 24				
<i></i>	1	-	are surpular, etc. have a surpre-	144	1.50	10,200	- 11		Transm		
at Site 1	0.4		Loss.conlight.	144	1031	4750	_			and the second sec	
	5.6	100	The sequery card when the	7.764	11.2	10.0				Arton	
		×.	a deter	aday	0,5	2023				1	10.0-
	1.00	.	Date on the fields	Tiles.	11.7	11.9					-

Now, switch to **ConsolidatedWidgets.mp p** and notice it now contains the external task, as shown in the following figure:

Jour outornal			10-	1			- 100 - 1	A THE CARD A CAR
vew external	2	1.1	10.00	an adjustication	r den	3.00	10/2	P
ack. Order	-		~	Service surgers to be utility as the	Asia.	-51	16.15	Performance and a second se
ask. Oruer		1.1	-	ent die stelle die st	1100	23-1.	83.0	
idaets for	14.2	0.00	1	and analysis also have been	105	FAR	165	five five
lugets for	(N)	1.0	-5	2.5 Tail Sty viewability?	1. Sec. 1.	18410	16.34	A
nstallation			-	thep are involution of a model of a	10.00	18.14	157	The second se
	-		St. /	And a second sec	1000	11.40	0.5	

7 Save **ConsolidatedWidgets.mp p** [JG80] and **WidgetInstallatio n _ Site1.mpp** [JG81].

Note: When you save a project plan with external links, those links to other projects are stored within the project that is linked to it. If the project is not save to Project Server, those links are tracked through the physical file location. Prior to the release of Project Server, the tracking of these links could be challenging if the location or name of the files changed.

When using Project Server, you have the added advantage that Project Server keeps track of the project location, the project name, and the tasks that are linked between projects. This process occurs when you save and publish your project.

- 8 Close the new project that you created to establish the link between these two projects, without saving it. Again, it is not necessary to save this untitled project since we only used it to link the tasks in different projects.
- 9 If you wish to keep the master project that you created in the New Window, you can save the

file to maintain pointers to the physical locations of the inserted projects. This new file acts like a program plan comprised of subprojects. Try saving the new project and name it **MasterWidgetPlan.mpp** to any location like any other Microsoft Project file.

You also have to save each of the sub-project plans if you want the external links and any other changes to be preserved. You will be prompted to give you the opportunity to save each file.

igure 161.	[1] J. S. Marial A. S. Marial Constant Strength and M. S. Barawalin, Physical Internet Phys.	Part Street Burn The Landar P
	Coputer and Annual	e- •
Saving the Master Widget Plan and the Pub-projects	Produce Even into Produce Produce	Annysky, bokn *
	in Hale tales	1-4
	9 Save and close each project.	

Links from one project to another must be made to tasks in the projects, not to the project summary tasks. If links are made to a project's project summary task (title), the linked task will not appear in the isolated project. After all, it would have to be Task -1, since the project summary task is Task 0.

The Impact of Changes on Linked Projects

Creating these links between projects shows that changes in one project can impact another. In the widget example, assume that the installation at Site 1 did not go according to plan.

- 1 This exercise continues the use of **WidgetInstallation_Site1.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, open **WidgetInstallation_Site1_Inst2.mp p** from your exercise file. Change the duration of *Install Widgets* from "3 days" to "7 days." Save and close this project [JG82]
- 2 Re-open the version of **ConsolidatedWidgets.mp p** used in the previous exercise or open **ConsolidatedWidgets_Inst2.mp p** from your exercise directory. As the project opens, a dialog box similar to the following will open:



The preceding dialog box shows the impact of changes to an external predecessor of a task in this project. If

NOTE

you highlight the name of the predecessor task, you will see the name of the predecessor project at the bottom of the screen. The detail against the predecessor task shows how the task has changed. In this case, the impact on the successor task (*Order widgets for installation*) is that the finish date would be delayed to 11/7.

As a project manager, you now have several options:

- □ **Accept** This accepts the change to your project caused by the change to the predecessor project.
- □ **Delete Link** This removes the dependency on the predecessor task in the other project. In this case, the schedule will ignore any changes to the predecessor task, and different task drivers may apply.
- □ **Close** This is used to postpone accepting the change for now. You will see the same dialog and prompt every time you open the project until you accept the change or delete the link.
- □ **All** This selects all the external links, so that accepting or deleting links will apply to all of them. You may consider this option when you have several external predecessor tasks to your project.
- Click *Clos e* to close the dialog box, and then close your project without saving changes.

Creating a Consolidated Project

Another way to show inter-project dependencies is to create a consolidated project file—also known as a program file or a master file—to contain a group of related projects. This allows the program manager to observe the plan and progress of all his or her projects in one view without having to create the window every time. Individual project managers can continue to plan and update their projects separately.

If the only goal is to define dependencies between projects, the preceding method works fine; if you want a continually-updating single project window that contains multiple projects, consolidating projects is the better option.

Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to create and publish consolidated projects to Project Server. When you create a consolidated project, Microsoft Project stores links to the projects that have been inserted. When you open a consolidated project, Microsoft Project brings in the information of each of the inserted projects into a consolidated virtual workspace.

Any changes you make to the information in the consolidated workspace can be saved. When you save this information, the changed information still resides within each of the inserted projects.

When you close the consolidated project, you will be prompted to decide whether or not you wish to save the changes. Once the consolidated project is closed, the only information that physically resides within the consolidated project are the links to the inserted projects.

- For this exercise, open Microsoft Project and connect to Project Server. Open a new blank project.
 - 1 Set the start date for your new project to be **4/1 6**.
 - 2 From *File:Inf o* use the *Project Informatio n* dropdown to select *Advanced Properties.* In the *e* field enter "AllConsolidatedWidgets." Show the title (project summary task) in your new project.
 - 3 From *Project:Inser t* click the *Subprojec t* icon [], and select **Widget1.mp p** from your exercise directory. Click *Inser t*. Widget1 is now displayed as a single row in the **AllConsolidatedWidget s** project.
 - 4 Select the next blank task row in **AllConsolidatedWidget s** and insert the **Widget2.mp p** file into the consolidated project.
 - 5 Finally, select the next blank task row in the **AllConsolidatedWidget s** project, and insert the **Widget3.mp p** file into the consolidated project.
 - 6 Click the arrow [] to the left of the **Widget 1** project summary task to display the subtasks for the inserted project. Repeat for **Widget 2** and **Widget 3**. Your screen will resemble the following:

All Consolidated Widgets

		0	la.	Indiana	· Server		.1.2.	1 1 1 1 1 H H Z I I H S I I 1 I I H F Z I
	1.4	1	~	a different der pro-	en deys	34		
	1.9	P.	1	4 May #2	to dear	14	21.0	1
	- 10	1	-	Everyor Windge . 1	2.44	P	8.00	2
	1		- T.	F Ballybay	1.446	161	4,79	
	10		-	All Adverts 1	1.98	446	0,54	Termin Control of Cont
	- 64		ing .	A way also Vec, etc.	1.45	dia	22.1	
	-	2	12	· Alle gen0	all days	44	0.5	
- 26	10		1	a margin ny tripper o	- and (*)		2/4	
18			-	6.01590002	1.05	25%	20125	
			-	5.176,42	1.45	136.08	18.27	Long-
- 12			-	An approx Way, 47	A lat	1873	100	
- 10	1.3	(1)	-	4 6 m 1 m 10	to day.	84	21.0	
	- 4		-	Everyor Worldge - K	1.4%	P.	8.28	
	177		R	P de Mey 15	1.41	181	6,79	
	1.18		-	All Surgers	1100		- m/def	Sec. 1
			10	In any site Very ed.2."	144	See.	22.7	

7 Save the new project in your exercise directory as **AllConsolidatedWidget s . mpp.** [JG83]

There are two important features at the bottom of the **I** nser t **Projec** t window, which appeared when you clicked *File:Insert:Subprojec* t . The first is that by default, *Link to projec* t is selected, which means the inserted projects and the consolidated project will change together in real time. For example, if the manager of **Widget 1** makes a change in the plan or updates the project, the change will appear in **AllConsolidatedWidget s** . If you don't want this behavior, clear the *Link to projec* t check box. The insertion, then, is essentially a cut-and-paste of the project's tasks.

This may seem to be desirable behavior, but communication flows in both directions, meaning the program manager can change any of the widget projects from the consolidated project. Imagine a project manager's frustration if someone else is changing his or her project, especially if this isn't known in advance!

Hence, the second important feature at the bottom of the window: the *Inser t* button has a dropdown menu with both *Inser t* and *Insert Read-Onl y* as choices. *Insert Read-Onl y* makes the communication one-way —the project managers can modify the Widget projects, but the program manager can't. These issues are matters of management policy and preference, but the options exist in Microsoft Project to support either approach.

Figure 164.	Queur bijad	HO
8	C.C. La subgrowing	+ + and a second a p
Insert		T 9
Projec t options	Husset Reject Teachtr Teach	The Scher Mark Courts of South y
	Richard	- Unset high this has to
		with Build Set

Publishing a Consolidated [JG84] Project to Project Server

1

This exercise continues to use **AllConsolidatedWidgets.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, open **AllConsolidatedWidgets_Inst1.mp p** from your exercise directory.

From the *Fil e* tab, click *Save A s* to see the following screen:

Figure 165. Save As screen



On the right side of this screen, click the *Sav e* icon to see the **Save to Project Web Aj p** dialog box:

Figure 166. Save to Project Web Ap p dialog box 2

Sance Doe Project v Oxtendar Standard v Degativent lesas Custom Field Name Value A		Saw	to Project Web App	*
bjoe Projett v Otendar Trandant v Degastisent v Gutten Telda Curtee Field Name Value	NAME	1		
Degativent v Gutan Teldic Curton Field Name Value Project Healthy	bpe	Project	v Geender Standard	¥
guitani fasidi Custoni Field Name Project Health	begatisent	*		
Custom Field Name Value Project Healthy	anton beter			
Project Healthy	Cuttors Field	d Name	Value	
	Project Healt	n .		_

3 In the *Nam e* field, enter "AllConsolidatedWidgets" and click *Sav e*. You should see the warning shown in the following figure. Note: You will only see this warning the first time you try to save this project.

Figure 167. Warning when saving consolidated projects for first time

	Wicrosoft Project	10
8	weitigen is soch prigelt dener mellen an anteren ungergett. The meller priged articles are to see tracted too estate to a four adgright. Plans and all the adjoints to the ones, have then melle priged, and have see the melle pricer to the recev	01106

Just as with external links (as we learned in the previous section), when you save a master project with inserted projects, the links to those inserted projects are stored within the project that is linked to it. If the inserted projects are not saved to Project Server, those projects are tracked through the physical file location. Prior to the release of Project Server, the tracking of these projects could be challenging if the location or name of the files changed.

When using Project Server, you have the added advantage that Project Server keeps track of the project location and the project name. This process occurs when you save and publish your project.

So, if you want to create a master project on Project Server, the individual projects must be saved to the server first. You can then save the master project to Project Server.

4 Save each of the three inserted projects to Project Server by using the same method we used in steps 2 and 3.

Now, when a project manager opens one of the subprojects and makes a change, the master project is automatically updated.

5 From the *Fil e* menu, click *Clos e* to close the consolidated project and to check it in. You will be prompted to save changes in the subprojects, as shown in the following figure. Clicking *Ye s* means the subprojects will remain checked out (stranded), so it is very importar that anyone using the master file clicks *N o* or *No to Al l*, unless the subprojects are meant tc be opened in read-only.

Figure 168.

Save published	Microsoft Project										
prompt		Want to s	veyour changes to v	Wegenit							
	E	YRS	Tes to All	He	No to All	Cancel					

10.5 **Program Management**

A group of related projects is called a program. Program managers generally like to be able to see what is going on in all their projects, but they don't generally manage the projects themselves. Before Project 2016 there were work-arounds that allowed program managers to view current statuses, but they were limited by the fact that master (consolidated) projects tended to be unstable if saved to Project Server. Microsoft Project 2019 offers two different approaches to program management, depending on whether the program manager uses Microsoft Project.

Master Projects

> As described earlier in this chapter, Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to create a master project and save it to Project Server 2019. Program managers can view the master project to see a cross-section of all their projects. Just as with earlier versions of Microsoft Project, an alternative approach is to open all the projects in the program and combine them in the same window (using the *Window:New Windo w* command) without saving the master project.

As individual project managers change and update their projects, the master project is updated as well. Reports of various kinds can be prepared from the individual projects or the master program file.

Program Viewing within the Project Center

Another alternative for those interested in a small set of projects is to use Project Web App. Managers who do not wish to use Microsoft Project can still view a subset of the complete portfolio.

The Project Center page in Project Web App lists all the projects the user is allowed to view. These projects can be grouped by any field included in the Project Center view, including a program defining field. If the program manager does not want to use Microsoft Project, this is the easiest way to view related projects sideby-side. In the following example, projects show key performance indicators (KPIs) that display project heath.



If the program manager works with Microsoft Project, the manager can highlight several projects and open the related projects together in Microsoft Project all at once by clicking the *Ope n* button.

All related projects appear in a single window in Microsoft Project as a temporary master project. This master project can be saved to Project Server or used for viewing and communication and then discarded.

Microsoft Project 2019 and Project Server 2019 include a number of tools to help managers work with a
subset of projects. But what about senior managers and executives who need information about all the projects in the enterprise? This is where portfolio management comes in, which is outside the purview of this guide.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

1. What is enterprise project management?

2. What is Project Web App and what does it allow users to do?

3. Where is project data sent on Project Server and why is that significant?

4. What are the five versions of project data?

_____, _____, _____, & _____.

- 5. Which of these is updated automatically every time the published version of project data is updated?
 - 1. Archived
 - 2. OLAP
 - 3. Reporting
 - 4. All of the above
- 6. What are the four different ways to generate enterprise projects?

 - 3. _____
 - 4. _____

- 7. What is the first thing you will need in order to connect to Project Server for the first time?
- 8. True or False: When you are working online, it is best to save new projects locally.
- 9. What is the difference between the *Workin g* option and the *Publishe d* option in the **Ope n** dialog?

- 10. True or False: Projects can use local calendars, but this option must be set by the Project Server administrator.
- 11. What is the easiest and fastest way to establish finish-to-start dependencies among consecutive project tasks in Project Web App?
- 12. How do you change a template?

13. When you try to open one of your projects again, you are told that you must open it read-only because it's still checked out, even though you used *File:Exi t* to quit Microsoft Project at the end of your previous session. Why is this and what do you need to do differently next time?

14. What are some of the advantages of the "local caching the copy of the project" feature of Microsoft Project 2019?

- 15. Suppose that while you have a particular project checked out, the Project Server administrator forces a check in of this project to Project Server. Your local machine has the same project checked out to you and awaiting check in. What happens when you connect your local machine to Project Server?
- 16. What are some of the aspects of the local caching process that project managers can control?
- 17. Where can you change the size limit and location for the local cache?
- 18. True or false: Only resources selected for your project are listed on your Resource Sheet in a project.
- 19. Which tool can the project manager use if additional enterprise resources need to be added?
- 20. What does the "Show resource availability" feature of the Team Builder do?
- 21. How can you tell if a resource is generic?

22. Can you link from one project to the project summary tasks of another project? Why or why not?

23. When is consolidating projects a good option?

24. How do you insert a subproject into a master project?

25. Fill in the blank: A group of related projects is called a ______.

chapter 11

Monitoring and Controlling – The Project Manager's Functions

- Project Execution Background
- Tracking with Microsoft Project 2019
- Entering Actual Progress Information



Learning Objectives for this Chapter

At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Understand the theory of project execution
- Define the basic information that is utilized to track project progress
- Understand how Microsoft Project calculation options affect tracking of actuals and how Microsoft Project calculates actual work and remaining work
- Use basic features of tracking schedule, work, and cost in Microsoft Project Professional (or Standard)
- Explain the difference between tracking actual progress using %complete versus actual work

T he project manager's primary functions change once a project has been planned and work is ready to start. Though planning remains necessary throughout project execution to deal with inevitable changes, the most important activities become monitoring project progress and controlling future events by revising the plan to keep the project on course.

11.1 Project Execution – Background

What is Project Control?

All too often, the plan is set aside in favor of "getting some real work done." Effective project control requires that the project manager spend time managing the project using the plan as a road map for the trip. With this map, s/he always knows where the overall project stands during the execution phase. Without a standard for comparison, a project manager cannot understand the meaning of the actuals collected and cannot have any control over the project's future direction.

The baseline plan is the key. A project manager who is actively managing the plan will always know where the project stands in relation to the baseline. In this chapter, we will begin to take a more in-depth look at what it means to be *in control*.



Progress Tracking

A very important part of the monitoring activity is tracking—that is, the process of collecting progress information from the project team and entering it into the work plan. The information that is gathered should be accurate and should come from all project resources on a regular basis.

Tracking is often referred to as *collecting* [DC85] *actuals*.

Tracking progress provides the first opportunity for the project manager to validate the estimated work effort for the planned tasks. Work is critical because costs connect to the amount of work done, not the time spent doing the work. As a result of tracking, the project manager can continue to keep the team accountable for the quantity and quality of the project work performed. After all, if the team knows that you intend to measure their progress against their estimates, they will provide the most accurate estimates they can and be committed to them.

Some team members may not be comfortable with tracking at first. They may think it's bad enough you coerced an estimate out of them during planning, and now you're asking them on a regular basis how they're doing. The project manager has to be sensitive to concerns the team may have about the motivation for tracking.

Many organizations are not culturally prepared for the requirements posed by the project manager who wants to track. Since the project manager is often not the line manager for all of the resources, resistance to the idea of tracking may present a problem. The project manager has to consider how realistic it is to institute a tracking process in an organization that is not ready for it.

The Hawthorne Time and Motion Studies – Bell Labs (1950s)

The Hawthorne Time and Motion Studies were conducted to see what makes people productive. The environment was changed to make it bright, cheery, and comfortable. The workers were productive under these conditions. When the environment was made dark, dreary, and uncomfortable, again the workers were productive under these new conditions.

This puzzled the researchers. The unexpected conclusion was that the workers knew that the researchers were watching them, and that's what was making them productive. The theory that came out of this was if you want people to work hard, you have to watch them. This is sometimes referred to as "Theory X."

This tends to have a negative connotation, but it need not be. In reality, people do what they believe to be valued and important. If no one else cares about a plan or schedule or task accomplishment, why should the worker care? And so, tracking does not have to be intrusive or de-motivating; it can be a way of saying "What you are doing is important and matters to me and the organization."

The Seven Levels of Tracking – A Model

- □ **Level 0** : No actuals are tracked
- □ **Level 1** : Key % complete, make it up
- Level 2 : Key % complete, collect from team
- □ **Level 3** : Key actual hours, make them up (weekly)
- □ **Level 4** : Key actual hours, collect from team (weekly)
- □ **Level 5** : Key actual hours, collect from team (daily)
- □ **Level 6** : Real-time data collection
- □ **Level 7** : Theory X (Big Brother, constant vigil)

Note: Anything beyond Level 4 is likely overkill.

Choosing the Right Approach

- □ Level 0 is a total lack of control. If there is no progress information collected, the plan is all-but deadon-arrival.
- □ Level 1 is sometimes used in organizations that resist the collection of progress data. It's better than level 0 because at least something is being tracked, even though it may have only a casual connection with reality.
- □ Level 2 is similar to Level 1 except the project manager now collects the percent complete data from the team. Getting the information from the people doing the work gets closer to reality, but the only numbers people automatically agree on are 0 and 100%. The Level 2 approach usually leads to a large number of tasks that are *almost done*, between 90% and 99% complete.
- □ Level 3 is getting closer to an ideal approach. Using hours instead of % complete provides better, more objective information about how time is being used and about the costs of the project. This process is usually used by a project manager that sees the need for actuals in an organization that is not culturally

prepared for it. In this case, guessing the actual work is still better than levels 0, 1, or 2, although combining this method with Level 2 may provide a good cross-check to help validate the data.

- □ Level 4 provides the project manager with a valuable amount of progress data on a regular basis. We will assume this method in our discussions of tracking with Microsoft Project.
- □ Level 5 is used on shorter projects or in environments where tight budgets or the high cost of resources warrants the use of a more frequent progress check.
- □ Level 6 is becoming more popular as personal computers permeate the work place. There are already tools that automatically log user activity. The problem, of course, is interpreting the meaning of the keystrokes; for example, does sending an e-mail contribute to project progress? Maybe.
- □ Level 7 goes beyond Level 6 to use even more of today's technologies for presence detection and other forms of real-time monitoring that can enable the tracking of project-based activities.

On most projects, a weekly tracking process that collects actual hours is a good goal (Level 4). If this cannot be achieved, something that is better than nothing should be implemented.

Of course, the frequency of tracking depends on the project duration, among other considerations. Tracking a one-week project weekly is clearly useless; it does no good to know the project is falling behind when it is already supposed to be over.

Level 1 and Level 2 tracking are often used because percent complete is fairly easy for the project manager to use with Microsoft Project, and the manager avoids having to get estimated hours or actual hours from the team. There is often latent paranoia in organizations that makes people nervous when someone starts collecting actual hours worked, which is what usually gives rise to the tracking resistance.

Unfortunately, there is at least one major drawback to percent complete tracking: it is almost impossible to measure variances in duration, as shown in the following figure:



What Will You Ask For When You Track?

If you agree that Level 4 Tracking is desirable and possible in your organization, then the question becomes, "What exactly do I need to track?" The following list of project values and characteristics corresponds to the standards of a Level 4 Tracking procedure.

The project manager using Level 4 tracking needs the following information from the team each week:

- Period reported (such as week-ending date) The tracking data has more meaning if you can tie it to a specific period of time. This will allow the project manager to ask questions like "How many hours were performed in February of last year?"
- □ **Actual task start date** This information is important during the analysis process to gauge if the project is progressing as planned.
- □ Actual hours worked this period The term *actuals* usually refers to this figure. This number is one c the keys to determining if the original (baseline) estimates are still valid. Note: Hours are not always the appropriate measure of time; smaller projects may use minutes and larger projects may use days, weeks, or even months.
- □ Actual costs incurred this period, if any If team members report non-human costs, such as

equipment and travel, this information should also be collected.

- □ **Estimate to complete (Remaining Work)** This important field asks the team member to re-estimate the task based on the work performed so far. The project manager needs to be clear about how and when it's okay to modify the baseline work estimate.
- □ **Estimated or Actual Finish** If the resource has not completed the work for the task, they should indicate if the original estimated finish date is still valid. If the task is estimated to finish later than originally expected, a new task finish date should be provided. If no work remains for the assignment, the actual finish date should be reported.
- **Task-related issues** Any issues encountered while performing the task should be reported.
- □ **Reasons for exceeding estimates** If the total actual work plus the estimated hours to complete exceed the original estimate, the reasons for the increase should be reported to help the project manager determine if these reasons will impact other tasks as well.

The real issue, of course, isn't what you should collect and track but how you can do so. Team members often resist filling out paper forms to report the needed data, and most project managers don't have the time to collect and enter actuals data manually. The latter is often the real reason actuals aren't tracked. Most project managers don't consider "data entry clerk" as part of their job description, especially if they recognize the importance of the controlling part of project execution.

In a sense, where your project *is* doesn't matter, except as an indicator of where it's going. If it's not going where you want it to (behind schedule, over budget, etc.), you have to take action to change the future direction of the project, since you can't change the past.

Fortunately, Microsoft recognizes the problems of actuals collection and inclusion, and there are a number of solutions at your disposal, depending on the support infrastructure in place.

Most users of Microsoft Project 2019 will use Project Web Application to collect actuals for tracking. Project Web App represents an automated approach to Level 4 tracking, which frees the project manager to focus on the results, rather than on entering the data into the project plan. The project manager has more time available for the human interaction and follow-up necessary to deal with unexpected results and issues. However, there will be situations where the project manager will not be able to use Project Web App and will be forced to fall back on other tools to collect the necessary information.

11.2 Tracking with Microsoft Project 2019

In this section we will focus on how you can use Microsoft Project for the successful execution of your project through good tracking techniques. Tracking is the first step toward ensuring that you're always ready to answer two questions:

- □ Is the project currently on-time and on-budget?
- Based on current progress, can you readily forecast that the project is still expected to finish on-time and on-budget?

Once you have built an optimized work plan, load-leveled it, and captured the baseline, you should be ready to start using your work plan to run the project.

Tracking Options in Microsoft Project 2019

1

In this section we will explore the options in Microsoft Project 2019 related to tracking and learn how they impact your project.

- This exercise uses the file **TrackingOptions.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - Click *File:Option s* to access the **Project Option s** dialog box, and click *Schedul e* in left sidebar. Scroll to the *Scheduling options for this projec t* section. Your dialog box will resemble the following:

Figure 172.

Scheduling options

Acar Option		12 5
General	Scheduling options for this project.	Bi Malintatabake -
0.19.29	Kachaka ana an	As to Selve due at the
5cf pol.8	date at a bid set of a label star.	Payert Bud Des 🐨
Lookg.	Digator intertected in	Devit -
Sciec.	Morg element r	fourt -
Logage:	Default to align:	recipile da
advant.	Device tasks are altert simple (1)	🗵 Table of Balance Fonds that sends on Fosta (*
California Billion	1 A statest monitori or monitoritatis	Commission and a second
1104-1407-241-1	Monte pressoon	52. Non-selectation basis, have constrained durations
Grob faces Taulas	Mushala entry black to iss	dan 🔰 Koop kalan melanskin kog kajalan danging bi
(idd-les.	(11) 10	Admitted y Scholuk Frees
Tract Cectel	Schedule Alexis Options 🛛 😭 Doord	en Shain -
	Manufactor a net al sustainage	
	L156 and an administry supervises.	

The *Split in-progress task s* option allows rescheduling of remaining duration and work when a task slips. It is selected by default, but ensure this option is selected so that you can enter the date you stopped work on a task and the date you resumed work on it when you update task-tracking information. Microsoft Project will reschedule the remaining duration and work. This is a local setting saved with the active project.

If this option is not selected, the *Reschedule Remaining Wor k* tool has no impact; Microsoft Project will simply not reschedule work and will give you no warning. When the option is selected, rescheduling remaining work will create a split in the task.

If the checkbox is cleared, you cannot edit the *Stop* and *Resum* e fields when you update task-tracking information. NOTE 2 Scroll to *Calculation options for this projec t*. Your dialog box will resemble the following: Calculation options for this project: 20 Data Cantor Kelocation -D Updating Task status updates readures status 2 Inserted projects are galaufated like summary tasks 2 Actual costs are algorys valculated by Project [1] Editorite Indial annual conit will be germanize the station shife

Default fixed cost promati Promated *

Figure 173. Calculation

options

The *Updating task status updates resource statu s* option allows Microsoft Project to automatically calculate the actual and remaining work and cost for resources assigned to a task as you enter percent complete information for the task in your schedule. When you select this checkbox, Microsoft Project recalculates the actual work and actual cost whenever you enter information into the Percent Complet e, Actual Duratio n, or Remaining Duratio n fields.

If you don't select this checkbox, you must enter values in the Actual Wor k field for resources in order to have an accurate picture of the actual work and actual cost. For this reason, project managers often select (or neglect to deselect) this option, which leads to major unforeseen problems, as we'll describe later. Ensure this box is not selected! This is a local setting saved with the active project, so it's important to check any project file you receive to make sure this option is not selected.

When the *Edits to total task % complete will be spread to the status dat e* option is checked, changes to the **%** *Complet e* field will affect where the status date symbols appear on the calendar bar chart. Increases in % *Complete* will move the status date symbols. When this option is cleared, changes in the % *Complet e* field can cause progress bars (the black bars inside the blue and red Gantt bars) to extend through the status date.

Generally, if you choose to use status dates and progress lines, you will want to check this option so the status date and the progress bar will match. It can be misleading to have the progress bar extend past the status date, since that implies future work is completed already.

The *Actual costs are always calculated by Projec t* option allows Microsoft Project to calculate actual

costs automatically, which means you cannot enter actual costs until the task is 100 percent complete. In practical terms, entering an actual cost value tells Microsoft Project the task is done! If you want to enter or import actual cost values, clear the checkbox to turn off all calculations of actual costs by Microsoft Project. This is a user preference option—that is, you'll have to decide if the ability to enter actual costs data during a task is important to your project.



Turning this setting on will erase any user-entered or imported actual cost values.

The *Edits to total actual cost will be spread to the status dat e* option becomes live when you deselect the *Actual costs are always calculated by Projec t* option. This functions like the total task % *Complet e* option; the question is whether you want cost data to match status dates or not. If you want actual cost information to match the end of the actual duration of the task rather than the status date, clear the checkbox.

The *Default fixed costs accrual*: box is used to specify how Microsoft Project sets fixed cost when they accrue for new tasks. The options are at the start of a task, prorated through the task as resources are used, or accrued (charged to your project) at the end of a task. This only affects the spend-out curve or cash flow calculations for the project, not the overall project cost.

3 Click *O K* to close the **Project Option s** dialog box.

Track Progress: Tracking Dates versus Tracking Work

There are two different ways to track progress with Microsoft Project 2019:

- □ By percent complete
- By using actual work and remaining work to derive the percent complete for the tasks in your project

When tracking using the **%** *Complet e* field, Microsoft Project will calculate actual work and remaining work based on the **%** *Complet e* you enter. Remember the scheduling option *Updating task status updates resource statu s* ? Note: If you are entering actual work and remaining work in Microsoft Project, it is important to understand how this feature can interfere with previously updated data in your plan.

Whenever you enter actual information into Microsoft Project, the scheduling engine will automatically set the actual start and/or actual finish dates. It is important to know how to view, validate, and potentially modify the assumptions made by the scheduling engine.

In Microsoft Project 2019,

Work = Actual Work + Remaining Work

If you let Microsoft Project automatically calculate these fields for you based on **% Complet e**, the *Wor k* field will *always* equal the Baseline Work field since a task cannot be completed at 110% or 90% of the original Work value. Consequently, when Work = Baseline Work, then Work Variance = 0.

A work variance of zero means that your actual progress always appears to match your original work estimates—perhaps a nice thought, but real life projects usually don't work out this way. In fact, using **%** *Complet e* as the tracking tool eliminates all five types of variance calculated by Microsoft Project!

We can use Microsoft Project 2019 to tell us when our current task progress (i.e. work) is different from our original work estimate (i.e. baseline work). The key to making this happen is either enter a resource's actual work and remaining work directly in the project (and *not* use % Complete tracking) or collect a resource's actual work using Web App and use that to automatically update the project plan (as described in Section 12.3: *Tracking Progress Using Project Web App*).

11.3 Entering Actual Progress Information

When tracking information is not obtained through Project Web App, Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to enter five different types of actual task information: actual start and finish dates, % complete, actual and remaining duration, actual and remaining work, and actual and remaining costs. As we covered earlier, these are interrelated, and Microsoft Project will use whatever actual values you provide to calculate the others.

Actual task data can be entered through the **Update Task s** dialog box—using the *Trackin g* function on the ribbon—or entered directly into the Tracking Table. Using the Gantt Chart view with the *Detail s* option selected, actual work and actual cost can be entered in the Task Form (lower) pane. In this section, we'll look at these options and how they work.

Using the Update Tasks Dialog Box

The quickest and easiest way to track manually is to use the *Update Task s* command. The simple rule is change whatever doesn't match the plan.

Tracking with Update Tasks

- This exercise uses the file **Trackin g O ptions.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - 1 Switch to the Tracking Gantt view.
 - 2 Select the task *Create Statement of Work* (ID 2).
 - 3 From *Task:Schedul e* use the *Mark on Trac k* dropdown to select *Update Task s* . You will be presented with the **Update Task s** dialog box.

Figure 174. Update Tasks dialog box



Notice that the planned (current) start, finish, and duration for the task are listed but grayed out so they cannot be changed. Only the actual values can be modified.

4 Change the *% Complet e* value to 7 5 and click *O K*. Notice that the progress bar is displayed.

Figure 175. Tracking Gantt bars after updating % complete

	-	- Mineral	a meret			15 / / / / ·	 10000-300 	10 1
.0.	-	 Software System (against statute) 	Life days	6424	2'3	-		-
1	× .	a fail Mitta (a 1 Paint	IT bry-	1,012	Parts	-	Solo Sector	
1011	-	When a practicity and of works	1. 201	147.4	542	-	Bernie Darre	
1.1	15	Address to the State of the b	1 le	4744	1014		By Association Company	
	100	chears project plan	av 2815	1.2.	1,412		-	

5 Double-click Task ID 3, *Obtain approval of Statement of Work* . The **Task Informatio n** dialo box will open.

Figure 176.

Task information for Task 3

General Predecessors Resources Advanced No	tes Uuston	7 leick	
Name: Obtain approval of Statement of Work Personi complete: US () Schedule Mode () Manually Scheduled @ Auto Scheduled Detes			Quation: 1 day 2 Estimate Promise 500 1 Entertaine
Ştarti 9/14	• Einish:	9,34	•
Display on Emeline Mide Bar Roffue			
Help			UE Cancel

6 Set *Percent complet e* in the **Task Informatio n** dialog box to **25** and click **OK** . Notice tha completed task bar for this task once again matches the baseline bar.

Using % complete can be a simple way to track task progress.

The **Task Informatio n** displays % complete on the *Genera l* tab. The **Update Task s** is a good alternative to enter % complete in **Task Information.** Other useful methods include inserting the *% Complet e* field into their Gantt Chart or applying the Tracking Table in the Gannt Chart view.

7 Choose *Task:Tabl e* dropdown, then *Trackin g*. Notice that this includes many key tracking related fields, including %Complete.

Figure 177.	📑 Tables 🕶	E [No Group]	-							
Applying the	Custom									
Tracking Table	00-My	Baseline								
	00-My	Variance								
	Work	Nork and Cost Over Time (Task Usage)								
	Built-In									
	Cost									
	✓ <u>Entry</u>									
	<u>H</u> yper	link								
	Sched	Schedule								
	ng									

.

- 8 Update Task 5, *Review project plan with team*, to show it went according to the revised plan. You can update Task 6 if you wish, but since it is a milestone, it has no work or duration attached to it. Updating the task will flag it as complete and show the schedule variance between the baseline plan and reality.
- 9 Select Task 8, *Define System Environment*. To get the project back on schedule, you got the resource assigned to Task 8 to agree to complete the task in three days rather than four.
- 10 Open the **Update Task s** dialog box and enter an *Actual dur* : of "3d" and a *Remaining dur* : of "0d." Click *O K* . Your screen will resemble the following: (You may want to zoom in to see the bars more clearly.)

Figure 178.

Tracking by actual and remaining duration

Fig

Trac date Trac

	follow-	3.92 -	1015.0	eren - #	에 구전	Sec. 10. 10.	11	14.0	201 201
÷	- The loopeniest planeed defailing	2010	296-km	1.95	57.8%	126.65	-		
	terfine when the photon.	aches.	34.89	1.70	10 515	6.7.9	_		his Andered
6	follower another define	151a	70.8-	2 av	Eas.	The back of			-

This view was created by applying the Work Table to display the results of the Actual Work and Remaining Work fields.

Open **Update Task s** for Task 8 once again. As shown in the following figure, Microsoft 11 Project has now populated all the other fields — *Actual Star t* and *Finis h* and *% Complet e* —based on the actual and remaining duration values you provided.

Figure 179.	Update To	aki							1
0	Name:	lefine Syste	m Environmen	t i			Duration	: ad	
Completed J pdate Tasks 10x	S Complete: 1005 😳 Artual dur:			44	(interest	Bernar	uning dur: Od		14
	Start	10/16			Start	10/10	5		
	Enish	10/19			Finish	10/15	1		
	Beip		E	Not		-	к	Can	cel.

Notice that the current finish (planned finish) date is now the same as the actual finish: October 21. This illustrates an important principle familiar to every experienced project manager: reality always wins. If there is a difference, actual dates override planned dates.

This approach will accurately provide schedule variance information, but if resources have to work extra hours to get a task completed faster you will have to enter modified planned and actual work somewhere else to get work and cost variance information.

Another approach to using **Update Task s** is to enter the actual start and actual finish dates. If a task has an actual finish date, what is its % complete?

Verify that you have applied the Tracking Table (*View:Table:Trackin g*). Select Task 9, 12 Determine current architecture . Enter an Actual Start date of "10/23" and an Actual Finis date of "10/25." Click **O** *K* . Your screen will resemble the following:

ıre 180.		Task Norm	+ Act. Start +	Act. Finite -	S Came. +	derts M i	lai,	114	$\left\ {{_{k}}} \right\ _{a}^{k}$	iches. At	N w	
	2	* Finalize project plan and definition	10/18	NA.	26%	<u> </u>	-	-	1	-	-	
king actual		Define System Environment	10/36	10/19	100%	_	-	- N	Ic Powk	Non		
s via the	.9	Determine current architecture	20/23	20/25	100%					<u> </u>	_	
king Table	111	Assess processes on the Server	-86	NA	0%							

In general, when following the **Update Task s** tracking method, you only have to enter two values. The exception is a task that is not complete and did not start on schedule, as in our final example:

Select Task 10, Assess processes on the Server and open Update Task s . The resource workin 13 on Task 10, Julie Pawlkowski, agreed to start on October 24 to help get the project back on schedule; it's now late afternoon on October 25, and you are updating the plan for a management review Monday morning. You just called Julie and she said she did in fact start on October 24, so she has completed 2 days' work. Not only that, she thinks it will only take 9 more days to finish the task, not the 10 she originally forecasted. In the **Update Task s** dialog box, enter an *Actual Star t* date of "10/25" an *Actual dur* : of "2d", and a *Remaining dur* : of "9d." Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 181.

Using Update Task s for a task in progress

update rasks				No.
Name: Assess process	es on the Seri	rer	Duration 12	đ
lis≤omplete 0% ‡	Actual dun 0	d. 📮	Benaining dun 12d	H
Actual		Current		
SPECIAL PROPERTY.		Stat	10/27	
Start: NA				
Start: NA.		The state of	44.45	

14 Click **O** *K* to update the task data. What does the Gantt Chart view tell you about the project schedule?

Figure 182.			+	AL 1946 -	5. 1944 -	804° 4 12 1	$ \begin{array}{c} \label{eq:constraint} & \begin{tabular}{c} $
0	16	4 Produce project planant definition	31/0	NA	2.5	-	
Captt Chart	4	10- Inter-Section Research and	34/16	11/14	12/5	sed.	
Galitt Chart	2	One share taken in order share	721.0	1955	12/2	-	Mary Bandington
view of Assess	0.0	Answer processes on the server	316.5	hia hia	10		a second data
process on the							

Server

15 Save your project. [JG86]

Ways to Track Other Than Using Update Tasks

Update Task s is the quickest and easiest way to track progress if you cannot use Project Web App, but there are several other ways, many of which can be more accurate. Choose the one that works best for you, keeping in mind that **Update Task s** has limitations when it comes to work and cost variances.

Enter an Actual Finish Date for Tasks in the Tracking Table

Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to enter task finish dates directly into your work plan. Paying attention to the finish dates of project tasks will help to:

- Better forecast the scheduling of future tasks
- Coordinate the work of resources who may have to adjust their schedules to match the changing project schedule
- This exercise continues the use of **TrackingOptions.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **TrackingOptions_Inst1.mp p**
 - Make sure you are in the Tracking Gantt view. 1
 - 2 From *View:Dat a* click the *Table s* dropdown and select *Trackin g*.
 - Select the task Assess processes on the Server (ID 10). Notice the Act. Star t value of 10/25 3 based on the update we performed.
 - 4 In the *Act. Finis h* field, select or type "11/7"
 - 5 Select the task Assess printer hardware (ID 11). Enter an Act. Finis h of "11/17." Note that Microsoft Project automatically set the actual start date by copying the value in the current planned start date and sets the task to be complete (100%). In other words, it adds another day to the task duration. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 183. HAR MADE 35 11/011/1/ = 100% Assessponder hardward Tracking actual finish (Tracking Table) 6 Save your project. [JG87]

Other Tracking Table Options

Scroll through the Tracking Table (or switch to the Task Sheet view and Tracking table) to see

the following fields:

□ You can enter actual and remaining durations in the Tracking Table.

If you know the amount of time that a task has been in progress, and the task is progressing as planned, you can enter the actual duration for the task in the Tracking Table as well. When you specify the actual duration for a task, Microsoft Project 2019 calculates the percentage of completion and remaining duration according to the following formulas:

Percent Complete = Actual Duration / Duration

and

Remaining Duration = Duration - Actual Duration

- □ You can enter actual work in the Tracking Table. If you want to be able to see remaining work, it's best to apply the Work Table instead, since it contains the most common work-related fields.
- □ When you specify the actual work for a task, Microsoft Project 2019 calculates the % complete and remaining work according to the following formulas:

Percent Complete = Actual Work ÷ Work and Remaining Work = Work - Actual Work

Entering Actual Work in a Form and Usage View

Forms enable you to enter and display detailed information about one task or resource at a time, unlike typical views where you can enter and display information on multiple tasks or resources. Seeing information in a form view can make it easier to track progress details about a task or resource.

You can use the form by itself, but it is most useful when displayed in the bottom pane of a combination view. This way, the form provides additional information about the task or resource selected in the top pane.

This exercise continues the use of **TrackingOptions.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning, or open **TrackingOptions_Ins t 2**.mp p.

- 1 Confirm that you are in the Tracking Gantt view with the Tracking Table applied (if not, from *Task:Vie w* select *Tracking Gant t* and from *View:Table s* select *Trackin g*).
- 2 From View:Split View select Details .
- 3 Right-click anywhere in the Task Form (bottom pane) and select *Wor k* .
- 4 In the Tracking Gantt view, select the task *Communicate with integrator* (ID 12). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 184.

Task Form with Work details in a combination view

					- 1			2007	× 11	
-1		14	-	197.1			30.00	-		
3	steep wards and the	~	100	1.07			· · · · ·			
14	Sc.a.lak	He .	(de	69			-	100		
1.5	Service Laws Souther.	144	. Now	181				Tax is in some	- Y	1. Carlos
1	LANT IN SIX SHATTANDS	104	100	0.063					-	1000
10	And the scheme of	144		. 17						-
- 11	Processing Street and	- 14/	100	- C3						and the second second
	L. ALTRADUCTORY CONT			141	File and			-		
÷		Apress 14	20.00.000	10.00		A				
12.	18	 	that its	1.11	inger-	A 12				
Simil	AVAILABLE INTERNATION	and served	100.000	in march	- Walar					
1	te, Kalen	ſ	**		ľ	.etc.				
				4. C						

5 Mary has reported that she has performed 8 hours of work on the task so far. Enter the actual work for her assignment in the bottom pane. The recalculated values for remaining work will appear in the Rem. Work (i.e. remaining work) field. Remember to click *O K* when you make changes in the bottom pane. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 185.

I

Actual and remaining

Work in a form view

		Tank Marrie				a Trist - 6		10001200 21 5	i
-	100	Communitate with integrate	r.	1	11/20	MA.	525	1000	
5	142.1	 Complete architecture draft 			MA	NA.	0%		
8	1.0	Conduct Settion			NG	645	0%		
	345	Send dut prep packet			NA.	64	0%	1	
2	5.6	Conduct pre-interviews			- 34	545	0%		
12	-34	Conduct sension			NA.	NA.	0%		
	210	#repore #reft document			MA	644	0%		
	1						14	1410	
	Berr	Community with integration	tice Tiley	-9-1	(end down 1	Benchiste	aa-a 🔽 p	pevices is	et.
	signi	ILW • Frigr	tion		• interv	pai Picod Uni	h	Sugare E	5 3
	11	developed the ave	Accessible.	1.2.2.781	0.06.00	A Hareker His	1	all Franklink	1.4
	5	Noty For ington	196%	102	31	101	LCA	-Sh	1.3
Intel Scient							1	1	

The Task Usage view displays project tasks with their assigned resources grouped below them, while the Resource Usage view displays project resources with their task assignments underneath them. You can use the usage views to enter actual work information.

- 6 Remove the split from your view (double-click the split line or uncheck the *Detail s* box) and switch to the Task Usage view. Adjust the screen so you can see Tasks 14 and 15 and the associated names. Right-click inside the calendar grid on the right side and add *Actual Wor k* to it.
- 7 Under the task *Conduct Session* (Task ID 14), select the resource assignment *Mike Goren*.
- 8 From *View:Zoo m* click the *Selected Task s* icon []. Microsoft Project will take you to the week during which work on the task is scheduled to begin. Your screen will resemble the following:

186.		And in	Test Pare	 thet	.mest	in a	See.				(10000000)		
	64	*	* Conditat Second	40 fen 3 dept	12/22	11/38	Art.W	-	1				-
sage		-	Mar Carps	40.4cs	12.02	11/38	Apt.W	1.1					
0			and the second second				Were:	P1.	81	81.		P1	

Task Usage view (showing planned work)

Figure

9 In the *Act. Work* . field, enter the actual work for the task. Assume Mike worked according to schedule and did 8 hours' work each day. Your screen will resemble the figure below. Note: Your timescale may look different. The look of your timeline can be adjusted by right-clicking in the top part of the calendar and changing settings with the *Timescal e* command.

Figure	187.

Task Usage view (actual work)

	0	all bear.	which whether	Aber	Sec. 1	Pinn	3 4					
•	4 4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	 Park of whether 	6.4.2.4.	11/22	17,990	241.00		. 24	10	1224	.16	
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	0000-0000-0	and the second second			Shore.	10	. 64	45		12	- 21
	1.2	2280 vent (+/ 1/1	1224	1257	10.91	- 10	44	18.		:5/2	
-						400	18	1.64	- MG		- 36	10
al l												

Notice that the actual hours for Mike's assignment "rollup" to the task and the summary task as well. If other resources were assigned to this task, you would expect to see the total hours worked, not just Mike's hours. Similarly, the summary task has other tasks beside this one, and you would want to see the grand total for all those tasks as well.

10 Save and close your project. [JG88]

Rescheduling the Remaining Work in Your Project

Now that you have entered the actual project progress, the next step is to reschedule the remaining work. If you do not reschedule the remaining work, incomplete tasks will not show as variances.

Rescheduling is also necessary when you are faced with a situation where a resource becomes unavailable for a period of time or a crisis arises that requires a delay in your project. Splitting tasks one at a time to show a temporary stoppage is time consuming, but it is necessary to reflect these delays so that tasks and resources can be appropriately rescheduled. Microsoft Project 2019 offers techniques for rescheduling the remaining

work on a project, which we will explore in this section.

- This exercise uses the file **RescheduleWork.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - 1 Notice that several tasks are complete and some—including *Create Statement of Wor k* (Task ID 2) and *Create Project Plan* (Task ID 4)—are incomplete, as indicated by the progress bars on the Gantt Chart. You have just been informed that all work on this project needs to stop for a few days to deal with a high-priority issue. Consequently, you need to have your project schedule reflect this.
 - 2 From *Project:Propertie s* select *Project Informatio n*, set the *Current Dat e* to "8/30", and click *O K*.
 - 3 Let's assume that work cannot resume on your project until September 9. Select the project summary task (Task 0) *Software System Implementation*, and go to *Update Projec t* under *Project:Statu s*. You will be presented with the following dialog box:

Figure 188.	Update Project		
Update Project	Sectors work as complete through: Set 0% - 100% complete	8/50	
	Set 0% or 100% complete only Elemented work to start after:	2/20	
	Por: @ typine project () Selected jacks	OK D	Cancel

The **Update Projec t** dialog allows you to reschedule the uncompleted work for selected tasks or the entire project. In this case, we will tell Microsoft Project to reschedule the remaining work for the project to start on 9/9.

Caution: While it may be convenient to trigger the Microsoft Project scheduling engine to match the actuals to the plan, in using this technique is not likely to reflect reality.

4 In the **Update Projec t** dialog box, click the *Reschedule uncompleted work to start afte r* option, and type or select from the dropdown calendar "9/9." Click the *Entire projec t* option and click *O K* . Notice that all incomplete tasks now have a split in the Gantt bar to reflect the stoppage of work.

Figure 189. Gantt Chart reflecting split tasks that were re-scheduled

	Task Research	a daturat a	Actes +	Sec. 4	A F WITH	1 A M T
4	Fanalise Project Plan and definition	Ash	1.144	0%		
1.	- Define System Dreinsmant	8/28	864	191		1
	Getermine current architecture	.8/26		. 12%		
	Assess promises on the Server	AAA	- 564	10%	1	
10.1	Assess Printer Herdare's	8/28	6/28	180%	1 8	
10.1	Contributiouste with untegrater	8/28	8/28	180%	1 8	
1.0	Complete achitecture (Inft	8/28	8/37	180%	1	
18.	< Candial Section	8/28		- 116		
18	Sand-out Prep packet	8/26	E NA	0%		Banking Banking
15	Constant pre-siteinviews	0/28	8/27	1.00%		
18	Conduct season	8/28	8/25	180%	1 8	
12.5	Wepare staft document	8/28	545	0%		internet George
10	Send out chaft and remain with kep apomory	9/29	ALA.	0%		Bana Barrys
18.	- Determine Additional Requirements	8/26		15		
11	Penalize Additional session busine	8/28	6/28	100%	1	4
	Contributing associate to percently attendees	0/38	N/30	180%		1
38.	Constact Bequirements Sessions	: 80	11 NA	1.0%	1	Barrow, Belleva I

5 Because of the delay in project tasks, Task 5 (*Obtain Approval of Project Plan*) is now scheduled to begin on September 17. But Bernie Frazer has already planned a vacation for that week and will not be able to start until September 26. The other resources assigned to the task will be able to work as scheduled.

To reflect this in your project, split the window from the Gantt Chart view to display the Task Form in the bottom pane. Apply the *Schedul e* details in the bottom pane (right mouse click on the Task Form), and change Bernie's scheduled start date for the task to "9/26." Did this create a split in the task? Why or why not?

Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure	190.
rigure	130.

Split Task for re-scheduled resource

		And Series		-		Appendian (17)
	- 61	Churche Prospect Plan.	8/30	54	:1%	Bergey Betreve Dates, Bernie Faader
	- 8	Ottale Approval of Prepart Plan	54.	- No. 1	3%	And a state of the
	4	Finalize Project Plan and definition	58	.5%	. 175.	
1	- 4	4 Define System Environment	8/36	54	1%	the second star and a
10		Determine convent work/texture	8/30	58	2%	Anny Insighted Control (Instruction)
=	1.	Assess processes on the larver	54	744.	10	and the second s
13	1.00	Assess Permit Hatdowry	8/36	6/31	202%	
	14	Communicate with integration	8/35	8/28	202%	
	11	Complete architecture draft	6/35	8/27	208%	
	1.23	+ Conduct Sension	8/26	50.	1%	100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100
	1.46	Send aut West packets	8/36	54	15	otion(Jaary Higgma, Ted Failer, Julie Paratherard)
	41				- 18	AL - OR DOWN A SAME OF ALL O
	-	Itten lepine in Proce Ren	il Summ	er filmer	in Second	··
	Tape.	#18 + Nuge #17	- 1	ing hert 1	ALC: NO.	+ blogsten 25 G
MACHINE I	R. L. F.	An Experie Hermon March Anter Barrary Tahr Manual Alamira Anter Barrary March	an semplar	- Inter	1000	878 878 () 878 878 () 878 877 ()

5 Bernie was delayed on his trip by weather. Now he will not be able to work on the task until October 2. Change Bernie's start date to "10/2." Did this create a split in the task? Why or why not?

Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 191.			And Bales				The second secon
i igui e 1010		4	Oneste Project Flam	8/30	54.	2%	publication transmit
		+	Others Assertant of Project Plan	4.06	44	- 12	and the second se
Split task gap		1.	Finalize Project Plan and definition	54	54	. 15	No. 1 No. 1 No. 1
Spint alon gap	5	3	4 Define System Environment	8/36	44.	196	the second s
widened for re-	8	4	Outerview served architecture	8/25	54	75	surge it only devid to perford here sigging this incordable Paulicientit
scheduled	12	4	Assess provides on the Server	44.	. 64	14	Between Brindy Seriel II Individual Way
200011200	181	14	Assess Primier Randovere	6/30	\$/38	308%	
resource	1	THC:	Committeete soft imisgrater	B/36	A/35	2089	
		14	Compliate prohibitions draft	8/30	8/17	308%	
		15	+ ConductSetalow	8/36	164	. 1%	A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACT.
		34	Send out Progradien	8/20	54	15	Holes, Ale Paulia with
		41				-78	eanson ger on
		-	Jaken laprend of Proper Plan	er. II Barele	m Dave	-	er (CK:) Cross
		Apr.	8.00 + maps - 644.		techin 1	140 (1/18)	 Bulogeds: Ph (D)
	Tele (099)	11-11-1	The same taxes of the same taxes of the same taxes of the same same same same same same same sam	SE served	1221	100	546 - 1000000000000000 - 1 5460 - 5400 - 540 - 5400 - 540 - 5400

- 7 Mike Goren will not be able to work as scheduled on Task 9, Assess Processes on the Server . He will not be able to start the task until October 10. Apply the Task Usage view and modify Mike's daily work in the time-phased grid so that he now begins his work on "10/10" (leaving the number of hours per day that he will spend on the task the same). Does this create a split in the task in the Gantt Chart?
- Save and close your project. [JG89] 8

When you select **Reschedule uncompleted work to start afte r**, unlinked tasks without progress are not rescheduled. This may leave the project plan in an infeasible situation. A scheduling message will display to alert you so that you can go into your schedule and make changes as needed. Also, you have a great deal of flexibility in scheduling work to restart; you can select any restart date as long as it is after a task's existing stop date (i.e. when work stopped) or actual start date.

Viewing Progress Lines

To create a visual representation of the progress of your project, you can display progress lines on your Gantt Chart. For a given progress date (or the status date of your project), Microsoft Project draws a progress line connecting in-progress tasks and tasks that should have started. This creates a graph on the Gantt Chart with peaks pointing to the left for work that is behind schedule and peaks pointing to the right for work that is ahead of schedule.

Entering a Project Status Date

When you track progress on your project, you may want to specify the date when the actuals were entered, or pick a date that meets management reporting requirements. Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to enter this date as the project status date in the **Project Informatio n** dialog box. The default status date is the current date.

The following exercise uses the file **ProgressLines.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before

beginning.

1 From Project: Statu s click Status Dat e .

ī.

2 Type a project *Status dat e* of "8/14" or select it from the *Status dat e* calendar . Your dialog box will resemble the following:

Figure 192.	Status Date		
Status Date dialog box	Select Date:	8/14	19
	C	CK.	Cancel

Figure 193.

Line Styles

3 Click OK.

Setting Line Styles

The progress line connects to the actual duration of a task. It does not connect to tasks with a start date in the future. It will show progress up to, but not past, the project status date.

4 Confirm that you are in the Tracking Gantt view. From *Format:Forma t* use the *Gridline s* dropdown to select *Progress Line s*. You will be presented with the **Progress Line s** dialog box.

175

5 Click the *Line Style s* tab. Your dialog box will resemble the following:



- 6 Select your preferred *Line typ e*, *Line colo r*, *Progress point shap e*, and *Progress point col r* for the appearance of your current progress line, which will appear at the selected status date.
- 7 Click the *Show date for each progress lin e* checkbox. Now your lines will indicate the dates on which progress reports were made.
- 8 Click the *Dates and Interval s* tab, and in the *Current progress line s* section, select the *Disple y* checkbox and the *At project status dat e* option button. In the *Begin a t* section, accept the **Project star t** default option so that your progress line will reflect the progress made as of the project status date you just entered. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 194.

Progress Line s dialog with appropriate settings

rogress Lines	
Babel and Infloreds time styles	
70.002	F Askep
👙 Akproject gielue date - 🗇 At gument date	Program Brid Delta
Thomas progress lines	and and the particular second second second
Thay Burks I Harris	1.0000
paty a -t	The second
Mar The West	
The Dot Dar Dan	Jeren and M
til vir standard i 172	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Hala	0

Click **O K** . Your screen should look as follows:

Figure 195.

9

1011 1011 ñ, 101 Progress Lines 16 Carterians have named and setting In . w, 18 A of the set of 67 10 10 107 191

Setting Time Intervals

You can designate progress lines to occur at regular intervals. For example, if you set up monthly-recurring progress lines, you will see the project progress for each passing month.

- From *Format*: *Forma t* use the *Gridline s* dropdown to select *Progress Line s*. You will be 1 presented with the **Progress Line s** dialog box.
- 2 Click the *Line Style s* tab and select a different *Line typ e*, *Line colo r*, and *Progress point* shap e for All other progress line s.
- 3 Click the *Dates and Interval s* tab.
- Accept the *At project status dat e* default option button selection so that your project lines 4 reflect the progress made as of the recently entered project status date.
- 5 In the *Recurring interval s* section, ensure the correct options are selected to display progress lines weekly, on Fridays.
- Accept **Project Star t** as the **Begin a t** default option button selection so that your project 6 will display progress lines from the very beginning of the project.
- 7 Click the **O** *K* button. Your screen will resemble the following:

e 196.			0	tion of	nemos como de como en	Denile	Sta:			1941. 1947 - 1947 - 1947	Service -
					College Standard and manager	80 690	215	P6'A	-	~	-
ring				-	· Dat as Sectors in terms and	f Am	25	615	-		
255		e	v	-	Name of Greek and Annual A	221614	10	A1.2	_		-
		1	34	-	And the rest of the line of the second	Sten	17.4	444		1000	
	19.00	-	Ý	-	how hast ave	Vilen.	17	6×	-		100
	1.0		1	-	Current male where legisly	2.1es	2.1	65	-	1.000 (at a	
	2	÷	4	*	conditions are training on a court	1940	20	25	-		
		r		~	a draat in Sevelet	256.4	415	514			
		1.	1	100	and him many parties	- 6m	4.1.1	415	1		100

You have the option to display progress lines in relation to the baseline. When you select this option, the progress line connects to the Baseline Start value if the task has not started and to the Actual Duration value for those that have started.

Figur

Recur progr lines

Calculation Options

Options are available that allow you to use the status date to determine when actuals are applied to a task and where the remaining work for that task is scheduled. To access these options, select *Advance d* under *File:Option s*, and scroll to *Calculation options for this projec t*.

Figure 197.	Calculation options for this project:							
Calculation options	Move unit of completed parts after status date boots to status date Pl And move stat of remaining parts back to status date							
	Mose gast of remaining parts before status data forward to status data.							
	Egits to total task % complete will be spread to the states take							
	🗋 Calculata reukipla critical pathe							
	Tooks are orthout if aloch in loss than or equal to [0] . drys							

The options are:

- 1 Move the end of completed (task) parts after status date back to status date.
- 1a ... and move start of remaining parts back to status date.
- 2 Move start of remaining parts before status date forward to status date.
- 2a ... and move end of completed parts forward to status date.

Option 1a is not available unless option 1 is selected. Likewise, option 2a is not available if option 2 has not been selected.

If *Status Dat e* reads "NA", the date is not set and the current date is used.

Constraints on tasks are ignored if these options are selected, as actual start always overrides a constraint.

The options are not applied when actuals are set on summary tasks.

These options only apply when making total actual value edits, such as task total actual work, task actual duration, total % complete, and % work complete. For example, if timesheet actuals are sent via Microsoft Project Server, the options do not apply; however, if % work complete is sent, then the options do apply.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

- 1. Fill in the blank: ______ is the process of collecting progress information from the project team and entering it into the work plan.
- 2. Fill in the blank: A project manager who is actively managing the plan will always know where the project stands in relation to the _____.
- 3. Tracking progress provides the first opportunity for what?

- 4. As a result of tracking, the project manager can continue to keep the team accountable for what two things? ______ & ______
- 5. Why are Level 1 and Level 2 tracking often used?
- 6. What is at least one major drawback to % complete tracking?
- 7. What was the conclusion of The Hawthorne Time and Motion Studies?
- 8. What information does the project manager using Level 4 tracking need from the team each week?

9. Fill in the blanks: Project Web App represents a(n) ______ approach to Level 4 tracking, so that using it frees the project manager to focus on the _____, rather than on entering the data into the project plan.

10. Tracking is the first step in helping you answer two major questions:

11. How do you access the scheduling options for your project?

- 12. What does the *Updating task status updates resource statu s* option do?
- 13. What does the *Edits to total task % complete will be spread to the status dat e* option do when checked?

?

- 14. True or False: Turning the *Actual costs are always calculated by Projec t* setting on will keep any user-entered or imported actual cost values.
- 15. The options for *Default fixed costs accrua l* are:
 - a. At the start of a task
 - b. Prorated through the task as resources are used
 - c. Accrued (charged to your project) at the end of a task
 - d. All of the above
- 16. What are the two different ways to track progress with Microsoft Project 2019?
- 17. Fill in the blank: In Microsoft Project 2019, Work = _____ + Work + _____Work.
- 18. What five different types of actual task information does Microsoft Project 2019 allow you to enter?

- 5. _____
- 19. What are three different ways of entering actual task data?
 - 1. _____
 - 2. ______3.
- 20. What is the quickest and easiest way to track manually?
- 21. How do you access the **Update Task s** dialog box?
- 22. Fill in the blank: In general, when following the update tasks tracking method, you only have to enter how many value(s)? _____
- 23. What is the exception to only having to enter two values when following the *Update Tasks* tracking method?
- 24. Fill in the blank: Update tasks has limitations when it comes to ______ and _____ variances.
- 25. What are the two (2) possible formulas that Microsoft Project 2019 uses to calculate the percentage of completion and remaining duration, when you specify the actual duration for a task?

26. What are the two (2) possible formulas that Microsoft Project 2019 uses to calculate the % complete and remaining work, when you specify the actual work for a task?

&

27. What is the difference between using forms and views to enter data?

28. A resource has reported that she has performed 8 hours of work on the task so far. How would you reflect this information in a Work Form in a combination view, and what happens to the remaining work value?

- 29. True or False: If you do not reschedule the remaining work, incomplete tasks will show as variances.
- 30. What are progress lines, and where can you display them?

31. What is the project status date used for, what is its default value?



chapter 12

Using Project Web Application for Tracking

- Publishing Project Assignments
- The Project Web Application Home Page
- Tracking Progress Using Project Web App



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Publish project assignments to team members
- Recognize the Project Web Application Home page
- Set up alerts
- Track published projects using Project Web App
- Display My Tasks and My Timesheets
- Make effective use of the Tasks Detail page
- Use the Project Manager's Task Time Approval

H istorically the single biggest weakness in project management software has been the effort required to update the project plan for tracking purposes. Versions of Microsoft Project as far back as Microsoft Project 98 had some workgroup communication tools using e-mail and, later, web-based communication. Tracking via e-mail requires that the project manager becomes or hires a data entry clerk to continually update the plan and enter actuals. Experienced project managers learn that, during project execution, their time is better spent revising and updating the project plan to keep the project on track, so actuals submitted on paper or by e-mail often don't end up being used to update the project plan.

Microsoft Project 2019 is designed to provide broad-based communication via the Internet using Microsoft Project Server 2019. Though e-mail is no longer offered as a collaboration option in Microsoft Project 2019, the *Send T o* command is still available from the *Fil e* menu. The Microsoft Project *Send T o* command is similar to the *Sen d* command in other applications in the Microsoft Office group: it opens a new mail message window where you can compose a message and attach a picture of the active project window.

For effective project collaboration, team members use Microsoft Project Web App to view project plans and report actuals through Internet Explorer. Project Web App communication provides tools at the program and enterprise levels as well, as covered in the preceding chapter. These tools provide executives with information about project status and resource utilization without having to use Microsoft Project.

This chapter will focus on the tracking tools available through Project Web App, and the next chapter will describe the additional features and tools available through Web App.

12.1 Publishing Project Assignments to Team Members

Microsoft Project 2019 uses Project Web App to exchange project information with team members who do not have Microsoft Project themselves. Project managers know that early involvement and participation in detailed planning builds commitment to project tasks and goals; unfortunately, they are often forced into a position of either scheduling face-to-face meetings with busy team members or just telling them what has been decided. The tools in Microsoft Project 2019 support true two-way communication with team members.

The tracking process begins with the project manager publishing assignments to Project Server. We will review how the plan is created and published, and then describe how team members view and respond to the assignments. Finally, we will discuss how the project manager incorporates the information into the original Microsoft Project 2019 plan.

The creation of project assignments consists of four steps:

- **Develop the plan** Put together a list of tasks that need to be performed and create a schedule.
- □ **Add necessary resources** Assemble the team needed to perform the tasks using the enterprise resource pool.
- □ **Make assignments** Create a connection between each task and the necessary resource(s) using the

Assign Resources command in Microsoft Project.

Publish the project – Export the task and assignment information to Project Server.

Once the project is published, team members will access Project Server so that they can use Project Web App to respond.

12.2 The Project Web App Home Page

Project Web App (PWA) is a browser-based SharePoint application that provides access to information on Microsoft Project Server. Project Web App is used primarily by people who do not need the full power and requisite knowledge required by the Microsoft Project scheduling engine. PWA users typically include team members, resource managers, project stakeholders, and other such roles

Team members who do not have, or know how to use, Microsoft Project may need access to the information that will help them do their part in the project. Project Web App was developed to make project information available to team members and to enable them to contribute information to the project using only their web browser. These days, most people know how to browse the web, and the features and uses of Project Web App are easily mastered.

The project manager uses Project Web App as a message center and to collect information about project progress. They can even simultaneously use it in their role as a team member on someone else's project!

Microsoft Project Web App requires each user to have Internet Explorer and appropriate permissions from the Project Server administrator. Project managers and team members automatically have accounts created for them when they are added to the enterprise resource pool.

Viewing Your Home Page:

1 Launch Internet Explorer, enter the Project Server URL in the address bar, and click *G o* . You may also receive the URL in an e-mail, or Project Web App may be added to your list of browser favorites.

Note to users accessing Project Online from Office 365: Refer to the following sub-section, *Accessing Project Online from Office 365*.



Your Home page will resemble the following:

Each person's Home page is unique and has their name in the upper right hand corner. The exact content of the Home page is determined by the role each person plays—e.g. team member, project manager, resource manager, administrator—and the appearance can be modified by the Project Server administrator. By default, all home pages contain a Quick Launch sidepane to the left, which lists the pages and tools you can access.

"Tiles" that help you perform tasks and find options quickly have been around since Project 2013. The arrangement of these tiles on your Home page is called the *carousel* [DC90]. As you can see in the preceding figure, an un-customized PWA site provides two rows of these tiles, with options to *Get Starte d* and *Track your wor k*.

Project Server 2019 continues the use of the ribbon presentation for function selection. Note that the Home page includes a search tool in the upper-right corner.
Accessing Project Online from Office 365

Note: This section applies only to Project Online users (not Microsoft Project Server on-premise implementations).

1 Go to portal.microsoftonline.com to access your Office 365 login screen.

Figure 199. Office 365 login screen



Enter your login information (email and password) and click *Sign i n* to log in to Offic 365. The toolbar at the top-right of your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 200. Office 365 application tiles icon

⇒ =	Office 365	Project
HON	<u>n</u>	

3

2

- **Figure 201.** Office 365 applications list of licensed applications
- Click the Application Tiles icon on the upper-left corner of the Office 365 page and click on **Projec** t.



You should now see your Project Online Home page:

Figure 202. Project Web App



The Project Center

A frequently used link is the *Project Cente* r . You can access the Project Center either by clicking the *Project Cente* r link in the sidebar or by clicking the *Project* s tile in the carousel.

Note: The sample projects in this section have been published to the Microsoft Project Server environment that was used to write this training material. If you want your screens to look exactly as they appear in this book, you first need to publish the appropriate exercise files to a Microsoft Project Server or Office 365 Project Online environment to which you have access.



In the *Project Cente r* , you will see a list of the projects you have permission to view. Notice the fluent ribbon interface has a *Brows e* tab and a *Project s* tab (with function buttons collapsed).

	++>+		21-10-2
Figure 204.	· Photosta	France Contex	372.0
The Project			
Center view	Reported at Reported to Report the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of th	8 max for at text for at a b 9 20 and 20 and 1 1 1 1 1 9 20 and 20 and 1 1 1 1 1 9 20 and 20 and 1 1 1 1 1 9 20 and 2	

1

Click the *Project s* tab to display the ribbon options, which are visible in the following figure.

05.	and a		TUBUR .															
roject enter	Ter:	Dom:	-	142	-	Party and	€.	Q htt	ings	10 Th.	Longo Alinea Sector Longo Alinea	- 14	12	-	-	-	⊡ Mendes Trasalfices	de.
th miect s		14.94	a :		10.00	89417		10.000			00		5.4	64	: 5%		ing Qr	NORT LA

2

In the list of projects in the Project Center, click on the project name *Commercial Product Launch Phase 2* link to navigate to the Project Details page for that project.



Project Details	Commercial Product Launch Phone 2	(]) Statuse Chuckard-in La	st Modified: 3/12/2017 12:51 PM			
page	Project Details					
	Stistegic Impact	Project Details: Commercial P	Product Launch Phase 2			
	Schechile	Project Details				
	Project Site	Troject Details				
	Project Requests	 Name * Specify a name for the Software Development 	Commission Product Launch Phase 2			
	Project Demand Management	Description				
	Business Drivers	Project Scope				
	Business Driver Prioritization	Total Cost	\$500,000,00			
	Project Portfolio Analysis	Total Benefits	\$800,000.00			
	Project Certie	Not Prosent Value Jacrifies the return on				
	Researce Center	Investment for a project over a three year time horiton.				
	Insues and Risky	Annualized FTFs				
	Tuniechewt					
	Tarice	Start *	2/18/2017			

3 Click *Project s* in the ribbon to activate the function icons. From *Project:Navigat e* click the *Project Sit e* icon [🔜] to access the SharePoint workspace for the selected project. The Project Site will open in a new window, as in the following figure:

Figure 207.	No. Com	Commercil P	e Anna coduct Laur	ch Phase	7		
Sample Project Site stored in	Paris Paris/s	head Services	2				
SharePoint	Pro- times	Arayat	25 ke				
	an Select No. 20 Pri - 1 (Mali Rocal Selection	daa 17daytaga	 Cline a data consult la constance substances National substances National Socialitation 	Andre and Andre Anto- Sector Sector Sector Sector		Sancos y . antonado Cantanar Notificar Notificar Notificar	. 6
	Million .	Generated with	No. W. Dessent				
	her to ann A RE AN	0	1 2 1	S	CX.		
		the rest in	Within the	Life Des Blance	Mound	The index and	kop or dis

4

Click on *Project s* on the left-side list of functions to close the Project Site to and return to your primary Project Center view.

Adding an Alert

There are several features on the Project Center page that you can personalize. If you are not already there, navigate to your Project Center (to see how, refer to the opening of the preceding sub-section,

Project Center).

1 In the upper-right corner of your screen, click the settings sprocket and select *PWA Setting s* .

Figure 208.	0	2	Rans can 🥯
	Other the others	67.44	a think it.
PWA Setting s	Project or 2 mp. Strandsaktur	34.75	- p*
	Add an app		
	Strinerit		
	Unitst Bickele		
	Sk withings		
	Grating Stated		
	Sand Feeched.		
	1964 Settings		

2

3

4

You will see a view that resembles the following:

Figure 209.	23	People and Groups + User Information	
People and Groups – User Information view	maganiti Appanitudi Tadas Scienceal Managanitudi Managanitudi Managanitudi Managanitudi Managanitudi Managanitudi	Watcher An Language And Language And Language Accurate defaultion And Language And And Material Accurate Accura	

Click *My Alert s* to navigate to the My Alerts on this Site page. Click *Add Aler t* . Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 210.	My Alerts on this Site + N	ew Alert =
New Alert submenu	(Strain Control of	9 Stor (Papertie) 9 Stor (Papertie)<

Select the *Project Detail Page s* option, and click *Nex t* at the bottom of the page. You will see the New Alert page.

Figure 211.	New Alert =		1
New Alert page	der Te- er der Stellen einen Kannen der Bergenet	hanna 1	(.a.) (.a.)
	Charles Same	An one arminy 1 mm 1 mm and and accord and 3 mm of and accord and	
	maging School of my mount of data	Mar and the data state. ▲ Urbanya ○ Per form annihilary H sharp sharp in a statement (1) Name an anna	

- Complete this page as follows:
- □ *Alert Title* : Project Detail Pages (default)
- □ Delivery Method : Email (default)
- □ *Change Type* : All changes (default)
- □ Send Alerts for These Changes : Someone else changes a document
- □ *When to Send Alerts* : Send notification immediately (default)
- 6 Click **O K** to establish your alert. You will now be notified by email every time someon other than you changes a document on a Project Details page for one of the projects to which you are assigned.

My Queued Jobs

3

5

As requests for action reach Project Server, they take their place in a queue (like the spooler function in a printer). Project Server maintains two separate queues: one for information related to saving, publishing, reporting and OLAP cube building, and another for timesheet information. If you select this option and receive notification that a job in your queue has failed, you can click on *error detail s* for more information. Be warned, however, that what you will usually get is the actual coding associated with the failed action, which may be more detail than you want.

1 Click the *Server Setting s* link in the sidebar to see the PWA Settings page, similar to the following:



Under *Personal Setting s* click see the *My Queued Job s* link. You will see a list of jobs currently in the Project Server queue.

Figure 213. List of jobs in	A landar	6+7×+	teas"s	(water		lute.		i.e.	4
the Project	Allowing and	ACCUMPTON OF		- All Adams	tak metangai sebara taun kesila	Lonal -	4	1	
Server queue	and the s	ALCO DESCRIPTION		Cost Strings	Processing and the second second second	Accession of the second	10.0	*	151000
	a na mayon Salah persalah Salah s	a la constata	(spinoz)	14	der schle der seiner der fer	and the story loads.		ιų.	10 King and

Use the *Vie* w dropdown list to select the job category you prefer (available options are displayed in the preceding figure). Project Server will provide a list of all jobs of the selected type that are currently in the queue.

12.3 Tracking Progress Using Project Web App

Tracking progress has different implications for different roles and groups within an organization. Additionally, different organizations require different levels of detail. Consider the following roles:

□ **Project Manager** – Project managers are typically interested in the progress on tasks for a particular project. They will be concerned with knowing that past tasks were finished on time, that the expected level of work (and cost) is being applied to present ones, that the total work (and cost) is in line with the original estimate, and that they will finish on time.

It is quite possible that the team member doing the work is also working on other projects. The project manager will have little interest in work on someone else's project, provided that work does not interfere with progress on his or her own project.

- □ **Resource Manager** The manager of a department is typically interested in the utilization of his or heldepartment members. Are they fully utilized (on project work or otherwise)? Are they not working because of leave, etc.? If they are working overtime, how is that to be approved and funded? The resource manager may not be interested in the exact project tasks but is likely to be concerned with the amount of each type of work. This will probably have to be reconciled with the original estimates for the number of staff required to meet the department's different obligations.
- □ **Team Member** The person actually doing the work may be concerned with showing that they are carrying out a full day's work or that they are legitimately off work. They would also like reassurance that their managers are aware of their workload and are taking care to balance it out.

Also, senior management is interested in high-level performance statistics, such as the balance of workload between departments or cost-effective use of skilled resources across the organization.

As a result of these different motivations, the people filling these roles often make different choices about what should be reported, making it generally a governance decision to determine how actual time spent by team members should be reported.

The method for reporting time spent on assignments is decided centrally and configured by the Project Server administrator. There are two basic approaches:

- □ Enter time against *task updates* only. The task update option is aimed at providing nothing but task update information from the team member to the project manager(s).
- □ Enter time in a *timesheet* against tasks and non-project (or administrative) time. The timesheet option is aimed at providing use of time information from the team member to the resource manager. This is for a managed reporting period (e.g. a week) and includes non-project work.

Assignments are listed on the Tasks page, which you can access from either the *Task s* link in the sidepane or the *Task s* tile in the Carousel.

The task update entries and timesheet entries can be entered separately and synchronized using the import method. The Project Server administrator can set the Single Entry Mode option on the server, which combines timesheet and task update information into a single entry view.

After the project manager publishes the assignment information, each team member receives an e-mail message with a link to Project Web App (unless this notification is turned off).

In addition to the task assignments from the projects, task updates and timesheets will also display administrative time categories that have been set up by the Project Server administrator.

The following figure shows an example of how the Project Server administrator sets administrative time:

Figure 214. Configuring Administrative Time pape	Administrative Time	*						Second a	+ 0 14 7-4
rine puic	177 (1897) / 177								
	Concerning for an environment of the second	1.00%-0.00							
	strategies and Balling and an and	-1+1	10.0	Sec. 2.4.0	11		87 - 14 - H - H -	P 14	
	the usual database in the another to	Armitalia	1961	NUMY	254	14	110		
	sector first defensions, satisfied and a sector of the sector first se	1 MARINA	1005	100-010	44	12	C		
	and all characteristic lines.	318.4	10.4	Apr: 904	36. L	14	17.5		
	and occur	The region fragment in	Core :	100.215	14	04	E11.1		
		2 (42 Mars)	1022	100.015	100	- 2			

Displaying My Tasks and My Timesheets

Team members can view individual task assignments on their personal *Task s* page, which is accessed either by an e-mail link or from the Home page.

1 From your Project Web App Home page, click *Task s* in the sidebar or click the *Task s* tile in the carousel.

Figure 215. Links to the



A grid view similar to the following figure appears by default, listing basic data about each task, grouped (by default) by project. As is generally the case with PWA views, sections of the view can be collapsed or expanded. You can select a field for sorting by clicking on the column heading.

Figure 216.

My Tasks page with New and Updated tags

	0	Task Name	Stat	Fieldh	Work	Actual Work *
	13.	+Planning Window: Completed	1/5/2015	7/29/2015	438h	438h
		+ Project Name: Company Web Site (Agile)	1/5/2015	12/2/2015	125h	125h
		Concept Creation	1/5/2015	9/24/2019	12h	\$2h
		System in Use	12/1/0015	12/2/2015	22h	226
		Acceptance Test	5/30/2015	8/4/2015	32h	32h
[]		Requirements Specification	1/15/2015	10/29/2015	59h	39h
		Project Name: Company Web Site 2	1/5/2015	7/29/2016	109h	169h
		System in Use	7/29/2016	7/29/2016	OH .	CH
		Acceptance Test and	A/26/20151	B/20/2018	401	404
	-	Concept Creation	1/5/2015	10/8/2015	57h.	57h
		Requirements Specification	1/15/2015	2/18/2016	72h	726
		- Project Name: Router Benchmark System	8/3/2015	9/24/2015	144h	144h
		Distribute lessons learned	8/3/2015	9/24/2015	1441	1446

2

Click on the *Task s* in the ribbon to reveal the function buttons. From *Tasks:Perio d* click the *Select Perio d* icon [] to access the **Select Perio d** dialog box, where you can specify the timesheet period you would like to see.

Note: The Project Server administrator can control which time periods are available for display. For example, time periods in the past may be closed and therefore cannot be updated. The same may be true for time periods beyond the active current accounting period.

Your view will resemble the following:

Figure 217.	Select For ed	×
Select Perio d dialog box	Turnet and Result. 77 (2400 (14) (98,0010)) 323 (96,0210) - 51,0020 (98) 325 (96,02006) - 050200 (6) 326 (96,02006) - 050200 (6) 327 (97,02006) - 05020 (6) 328 (96,02006) - 05020 (6) 329 (97,02006) - 05020 (6) 320 (97,0	
	211 24 241 42000000 212 24122016 44122016 213 24122016 44122016 213 2412016 11232016 213 2412016 11232016 215 24064 11232016 215 112 1123206 420000 16 215 112 112206 4201000 215 112 112206 4201000 215 112 112206 4201000 215 112 112000 41000000 215 1120000 41000000 215 112000000 215 11200000 215 11200000 215 11200000 215 1120000 215 112000 215 112000 21	

- Click **O K** or **Cance** *l* to close this dialog box and return to your **Task** *s* page.
- From *Tasks:Displa v* click the *Lavou t* button [] , and then select *Gantt Char t* at follows:

Figure 218.	
Selecting the Gantt Chart view	Ganth Chart Ganth Chart Charts In the Earth shart view
	Tamphased Data Display the data in the Tringshould view.
	Sheet Display the data in a table format.

3

4

Notice the commands on the ribbon include **Zoom I n**, **Zoom Ou t**, and **Scroll to Tas k**, each of which is familiar to Microsoft Project users. Other team members, however, might need an explanation of the meaning of a Gantt Chart and the use of these tools.

5 From *Tasks:Displa y* click *Layou t* and then select *Timephased Data* to return to your original (default) view.

The ribbon includes selections for filtering and grouping displayed tasks, as in the following figure:

Figure 219	My	Assignments	-
View options	No	Filter	
		All Incomplete Overdue Tasks Newly Assigned Completed Task	Tasks d Tasks ks
	T _K	No Filter	
	Y	Custom Filter	

Depending on the level of the reporting detail for the organization, some fields will be grayed out where data cannot be changed. You can enter the appropriate Actual Work values for the selected task as in the following figure:

Figure 220. Entering actual work

	ø	"Mit Hour	Saat-	26.00	200	Jerm Anton	24 Aug 7046 1	5 Sec 622	ED- Jun	20,371	1000	TUDY	420
1	10	- Ramon & Madeur Campolited	12724	0192016	22.06	1786						-	
		unaque tanta funçais Matrice piglia	15795	18/20145	6%	12%							
Π.		lay way unader-	2.322	rient.	34	14211	20:	10	(N)	÷ 3	4	21	29
Π.		April - College	121227	108291	- 10.	18th						~~	100-
Ш		As related TAL	63(727)	94211	45.	30	000						1.1
11		Registered to Medicality	11221	19942014	400	124	W.	.0	M	66 - Y	÷	94	25
		-Lingent Six on Longoury Web Sila C	45.65	Did.A.	1.09	0.6							
11		April 1 - Aut	Anatotia	198.1.1.	M.	100	1.12						
U		Astronom Pro	A.27.0528	COLUMN 1	- 4%	Sec. 1	25	ib	88	A.	20	54	1.4
LI.		Annapp Taxater	73.0914	1987244	10.	dar.	36	B	28	26 - S	0	5h .	24
Π.		Basic Demonst Traditioning	11099.8	5 87 W	100	100	140	10	iii .	26. 3	0	10	16
		+ laged he as Bude Ander at System	ALMINS.	ALMAN .	P?h	1/16							
11		Fish was broken and	21000	324110	111	diate -	34	30	26.1		0	59 J	246

You may also change the Remaining Work value if appropriate. This is sometimes necessary, since the Remaining Work value is automatically recalculated after entering your actual hours, so you may notice that the newly calculated value is too low (you estimate the task will take longer) or too high (the task will take less time to complete). For example, if the timesheet still shows there are remaining hours after entering your actual hours for an already completed task, you can manually change the remaining hours to "0."

Remember to click *Sav e* after entering or changing information in this view.

Figure 221.

Remaining work ("ETC")

	÷.	WARE DO	241	1 high	Stele .	ZARNO!	for many North	The contrast	Ve Mix	114.411	1000	7646.0	11029
		- New Type I have be tagented	2900	109,78 6	1.00	404	14						
		- Tarrel Tar a Compa a Pel la la Multi	LAKE.	LUDGES.	LCh .	Mer.	Vi.						
		Secure Simon	Same.	Shives.	60.	28	24	W	14	40	æ	24	Dec.
-		Term with a	100/191	12611255	S (9)	2/9	10-2						
		Viccioni Int.	648.0.44	1.128.	44	28.	W.G						
-		Repairments Spy Fallent	14962241	810.05F	100	10	(A) (1	1	2	n :	26	28
		Project Rome Chaptery Art Tes 2	2020	10420 4	10%	12.4	A						
=		Selection and	33,02	36.233	10.	0.	82						
-		Partylener in Char	Edut.	hereiter	144	40	101	-4	- Q		44.	10	6
-		CONDER C HER DRA	10.01	Marchi	10	600	000	M.				de .	
-		Theorem a stopped while	Sec. 1.	10.000	146	14	4.4	140 mm	100	76	86 2	24	Dr :
		waight the university Broute and System.	BOKL.	\$34,325	1.4	10%	\$3.	200 - C					
		E as in responsible to the second sec	BATCH!	14/10/01	110	128	(A)	1.4.1	Ar	20.	0	25	5er .

Click on a task name to see a detail page for the selected task. Here, a team member can enter additional task information and comments. Again, remember to click *Sav e* after enterin or changing information on this page. The Tasks Detail page will resemble the following:



6

	<u>8</u>			
Region logicales Region logicales Salacon record	Requirements Specificario	0		
Value allert	fasse fasta			
Al done falses	Here and accelerations of the metric and	an factory.	1.16.16	
10 Y - 16 10 1		Tend Loss	16	1.1
(Dictor)		the second close	ALL R. P. S.	
Adjust roles		tel Pranti to		
Berner Course		Aug.	\$1,039	11
Trent and Read		Brocks.	50.00K	1
The March		Balance of Alar.	a .	
Trate				
Philippen r a	Rep- Day Progen			
Same #	description and sector special devices a	VICTOR SCIENCE 147 DOLLAR SCIENCE		
dert storm		Action of the Provide State of the Action in		
1.116		Look State State (1972), - 10 Nam Aske State Co 10 Nam Aske State Co 10 Nam Aske State Co 10		

Functions and information on the Tasks Detail page for a specific task include:

- □ **General Details** View and update basic task information such as total work, percent complete, start, finish, and remaining work
- **Recent Task Changes** View the history of task changes, updates, and approvals
- □ Attachments View, add, or edit related information such as documents, issues, or risks
- □ **Contact** Contact your project manager, others assigned to this task, or project team members
- □ **Related Assignments** View related assignments with enterprise resources assigned. To view contact options, click on the resource name
- □ **Notes** Free-form text area where you can add, enter, and view notes related to the task
 - Once task information is updated on the Tasks Detail form for a specific task, users can submit the updated information to the project manager by clicking *Sav e* and then *Sen d*. To submit updated information, from the Tasks main page select *Send Task Status*. To do so,

from *Tasks:Submi t* click the *Send Statu s* icon [] and select either *All Task s* or *Selecte Task s*.



7

Timesheet Page

1

Project Web App includes a separate timesheet function that can be connected to an organization's accounting system. Many organizations also like to have a timesheet approval process in place, potentially delaying updates the project manager needs, so these functions are now separated. Users can update information on the Tasks or Timesheet pages first and import the data from one location to the other.

From the Project Center, select a project by clicking in the empty white box to the far left of the Project Name.

E	where many				
Figure 224.	百合 長 💈	🔹 📓 🔍 Q 🖣 🖫	The set		11 3
The Project	the part matter that the	Remarkes Specie & Des Specie -	midwelly side		Pages tan Bud
Center	white	Langes	Lia.		Contract (1999)
Genter	200280305				
	waters of the same	0 New Court	a Heatelean	Conductor	Strengther Health Free
	Project Domard		ALC: NOT STREET		I COMPANY IN
	construction.	End into you programmer			
	Doub meds 019yers	PH Approx Hill Spannin			
	decision from	50 Of Center Upgrade	110 MAS	G .	
	A a birden	The second second to all and the	add 1		
	Ballion Denter a	5 Question refet estator enti-		- Q	
	Jinahda	Contants 1 Bening Design and Employmental		0	
	and the second second	SI Cars Certar Relocation		6	
	Praject San Jen	Composited on Property		0	-
	Repaired Dense	 An annual statistical er un distatistical 	111	d'	
	Deuter and Fible-	C-center on to bloggers		0.	ő
	Incredient	The strategies in the strate of the strategies o			

From the Quick Launch sidebar, click the *Timeshee t* link. Your screen will resemble the following :

	in mark in	*			10.01 (4.5.5)
Figure 225.	22	Timestest			Scottion (2)
Timesheet	red a.	()		nal y cel e ec	
	141	The second states in the second	late and remain	forest me	and an arrest of the second
	T. station	IT HARMY ALLYST	acres (nut rima	2.8
	Harri Ini	11 minute municipal	in all	Ar A Paint	30.
	aller of the second sec	0 ·- ·· ·- ··	* mail 1 mail	mad travi and	142.4
	All and the second		- Harrier Condes	Res. A.A	
	Service .	. 17. 5/11			

3

4

2

Click the *Timeshee t* tab to view all Timesheet ribbon options.

Figure 226.	pix.e	A1:	MESPEEL	3962	¢.	
Timesheet ribbon options	-	The set	11 Ali	C.		Maint Parkit
	.9.0	rit .	Tariat		Period	

From *Timesheet:Perio d* click the *Select Perio d* icon where you can select one of the predefined options.



5 Alternatively, click *Select Perio d* to view the **Select Perio d** dialog box.

Figure 228.

Select Perio d dialog	Ner heat accessionsi(<u>, ora</u> tin <mark>a</mark>)≣	*
	3	
		n 144

6 In the **Select Perio d** dialog box, select a date in the period for which you want to report. Click *O K* . A table of your tasks will appear, similar to the following, pre-populated with your assignments for the selected period and with administrative tasks pre-defined for the organization.

Figure 229.	() the state of th	on the late and getters of both	IT I Tand of Renad scalars to the	ana kosan ina	4
0	Pagetined	tan merupa commen	straing and a second	Sealym-	Artists annuals
Table of tasks	T Installants	Terms Indentical	Iterited	ana	
rable of ability			115-5-5-1	Petrol	1.68
	T Available	conception to be	theolog	458	
			Contraction of the second s	Owned	-104
	The lateration of	at many and	and a start of the	Alter	
	- The acceleration of the	and and a state of the	and a labor and a	manint	
	TT American	and the second sec		4/54	
	11 ACCREMENTATION OF	100 Mar	the last -	rand	
	Tel commente			Actual	
	1) 4/months	venter	vagene	Tank	
				104	
	Contraction and and a second			(Internal	10%

7 Use the options in *Timesheet:Tasks:Add Ro w* to select additional tasks not displayed or, if permitted, to specify a new Personal Task.



8

If your organization does not use Single Entry mode for task updates and timesheets, you can import the values from the timesheet to the task updates view using the *Import Task* functionality. To do so, select *Task s* in the sidebar, and from *Tasks:Task s*

click the *Impor t* icon [📑] to see the Import Timesheet page.

Figure 231.	Import Timeshe	eto		1.000	aa p
Import Timesheet page, top portion	La checha Jacobia di Martinia La checha di Martinia Martinia di Martinia Martinia di Martinia Martinia di Martinia Martinia di Martinia Martinia di Martinia Martinia di Martinia Martinia Martinia	lina na Ngantana ang katangga			188 998
	Proceedings of the state of the	al son Lad Back Mark - garden begren production Marine and all an	154 744 744	- 355.5 1-05529 1-01-05	2

9 Use the *Timeshee t* dropdown arrow to select the timesheet period you want to import. Then, preview the current task status as well as the number of hours that will be imported from the timesheet. Next, click the *Submi t* checkbox if you want to submit the previewed tasks to your manager. Finally, add any desired comments, and click *Impor t*.

Another important function accessed through the Timesheet page includes the following:

□ **Replace Actual with Planned** – This is used when the time to be reported closely matches the planned work. The planned values are duplicated in the Actual Work fields, and the user can edit them to the correct values. This function is accessed via *Options:Tasks:Import*.

When all Timesheet entries are complete, and you are at the end of the reporting period, click *Timesheet:Submit:Sen d* and then click the *Turn In Final Timeshee t* option to forward the timesheet to your resource manager. This action closes the timesheet to new entries.

Task Time Approval

1

2

3

Once a team member submits actuals, the project manager reviews and accepts or rejects the data and updates the project plan.

Project managers are notified of pending approvals via the Project Web App home page. By default, the *Approval s* tile in the carousel notes the number of approvals that are pending:

Figure 232.

One update requires the project manager's approval



To approve or reject timesheet updates, click the *Approval s* tile or the *Approval s* link the Quick Launch sidebar. You will see a list of items awaiting your approval, similar to the following:

Figure 233.

Task Updates page



On this page, you have the option to select one or more of the entries in the table, as well as *Accept*, *Reject*, or *Preview Updates*. *Preview Updates* shows what the impact on the project would be if the selected updates were accepted, as in the following example:

Figure 234.	Task Name	Periodus	Duration	6/23/2013 T F S S M T W T F S
	< Próduttiaunch	18,756	19.56	Course of the Owner of the Owne
Previewing	Read the note for an	0d	0.0	•
updates	identify the launch to	0.758	0.758	a
	Oetermine sales obje	0.5d	0.5d	And and a second se
	Define laundt goals (0.3d	1.256	F1
	identify channel part	td.	10	-
	identify retail partner	td	1d.	-
	identify online oppor	1d	1d	-

- 4 You will notice the Approval Preview page opens in a new window. You can switch between the Approvals window and the Preview window, making changes in the former and refreshing the latter to see the effect of different approval scenarios.
- 5 Actuals represent reality, so the project manager will generally accept this data. The exception, of course, would be obvious errors, like 40 hours' work reported on Monday. To accept (or reject) some or all of the updates, click the *Accep t* (or *Rejec t*) icon under *Approvals: Action s* for the selected entries in the *Approva l* table.

Figure 235. Approval:	PDHI HINDRA									
	× × 1	View Distances	Na MBP Na MBP	Sectors in says		a fei Diama				
Actions		5.0	244	Japitarya		100				
	Projects	- 127	Instituted faire	lue at	Road	Lastate Take-				
	Approveds Taska	B	Think or Uppillade	Delive louch port	Poriettand	6 Taskupdate				

You will see a **Confirm Approva l** dialog box, similar to the following, where you

can enter comments for your team members if you wish.

Figure 236.	Confirm Approval	
0	type account of page land sections indexed	
Confirm		
Approva l		
dialog box		
dialog box		

7

8

Click O K to confirm the update approval.

Any entries that are still waiting for approval or rejection will remain. If there are none, you will see the following message: "There are no new approvals to review at this time. If you have published your plan and still do not see approvals, have your resources submit updates from 'Tasks' or 'Timesheet.'"

As in Project Server 2010, task updates are applied to the project through processing on the server.

If you have the project checked out in Microsoft Project Professional at the time you are accepting updates to it, the updates will not be applied until the project is checked in. You can, however, see the *Updat e* job queued in Project Web App(*Server Settings:My Queued Job s*).

Once the project is checked in, you will see the updated actuals when you next open Microsoft Project Professional or Project Web App.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

1. True or False: Microsoft Project 2019 cannot use Project Web App to exchange project information with team members unless they have Microsoft Project themselves.

2. - 5. Match the step listed in the left column of the table below, to the correct description from the right column, by entering the letter that the step corresponds to in the blank line.

2.	Develop the plan	A. Assemble the team needed to perform the tasks using the enterprise resource pool.
3.	Add necessary resources	B. Create a connection between each task and the necessary resource(s) using the Assign Resources command in Microsoft Project.
4.	Make assignments	C. Export the task and assignment information to Project Server.
5.	Publish the project	D. Put together a list of tasks that need to be performed and create a schedule.

- 6. What are the most common features of Project Web Application used by project managers?
- 8. What will you see in the Project Center?
- 9. How do you access the SharePoint workspace for a selected project?
- 10. How do you access the My Settings options?

11. How do you add an alert in PWA?

- 12. Fill in the blank: As requests for action reach Project Server, they take their place in the
- 13. What are the two basic approaches for reporting time spent on assignments?
 - 1. _____ 2.
- 14. What does the task update approach provide?
- 15. What does the timesheet approach provide?
- 16. Which page lists assignments, and how can you access it in PWA?
- 17. What does Single Entry Mode do and who can set it as an option?

18. Why would you want to change the Remaining Work value in the My Tasks view?

- 19. What are some of the things that you can view and update in the General Details section of the Tasks Detail page for a specific task in PWA?
- 20. How do you submit updated information, from the Tasks main page?
- 21. What are some of the benefits of the timesheet function of PWA?
- 22. What function on the timesheet page should you use if the time to be reported closely matches the planned work, and how can you access it?
- 23. What is the final step when all timesheet entries are complete when?
- 24. How can the project manager review and accept or reject the data and update the project plan?
- 25. How do you see what the impact on the project would be prior to accepting?



- Organizing and Viewing Information in Project Web App
- Web-based Projects
- Team Builder
- Resource Engagements
- Risks, Issues, Deliverables, and Documents
- Project Details
- Publishing a Task List in SharePoint
- Reporting
- The Business Intelligence Center
- Project Web App Review Exercise



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Understand basic Project Server security
- Create an enterprise project from Project Web App, including the use of SharePoint tasks lists
- Organize and view information in Project Web App
- Use Team Builder from Project Web App
- Request resource engagements from the project manager's end
- Manage resource engagement requests from the resource manager's end
- Manage non-project time
- Use the Resource Center to display availability vs. capacity and manage resource allocations across projects
- Use the project sites (workspace) to access, edit, manage, and report on risks, issues, and documents
- View and update Project Details

T he tracking features of Project Web App 2019 are extremely valuable, since they help overcome one of the great frustrations in using older project management software. As a specific configuration of SharePoint for Project Management functions, Project Web App includes many standard SharePoint features that have been designed and set up for project management use.

One of the most versatile aspects of SharePoint is its list management capability. This chapter describes some of the more common uses of this functionality.

13.1 Organizing and Viewing Information in Project Web Application

In the previous chapter and this one, we are discussing the exchange of assignment and progress information between the project manager and team members using Microsoft Project Web Application. Projects are managed in organizations and use organizational resources, which means executives and resource managers need information about project activities and resource utilization.

The primary sources of such information are the Project Center and Resource Center pages in Project Web App. The information you see in the Project Center and Resource Center is based on the security setting established by the Project Server administrator(s).

Overview of Project Server Security

Microsoft Project Web Application ships with eight pre-defined groups: Team Members, Team Leads, Resource Managers, Proposal Reviewers, Project Managers, Portfolio Managers, Executives, and Administrators; additional groups can be created by an administrator. Individuals are assigned to one or more groups. Each group has predefined permissions which govern what they can and can't do in the application.

Note to users accessing Project Online through Office 365: Your instance of Project Server is usually hosted in an arrangement known as a tenant. A tenant is a separate instance of Project Server that is cohosted with other tenants (typically users from other organizations that are separated from your instance). Office 365 is designed with additional layers of security that protect access to your organization's information from users in other organizations. As a result, your default groups may be set up differently. Refer any questions about this to your organization's Project Online administrator.

Groups are given access to categories, which contain objects such as projects and views. The combination of groups and categories defines the security for information in Project Server. For example, resources in

the Team Member group given access to the My Tasks category (the default for team members) will see only the Project Center views given to the My Tasks category by the Project Server administrator; they will not see the *Resource s* link at all on their individual Home pages.

Resources in the Project Manager group will see their own projects (those they have published or are assigned to) in the Project Center page and can view assignment information in the Resource Center.

Project Web Application Views

The content and format of views in Project Web App is defined by a Project Server administrator and cannot be changed by users, just as enterprise views in Microsoft Project cannot be changed by project managers. The significant difference is only data appearing in a Project Web App view can be used for filtering and grouping, whereas all data in Microsoft Project is available, whether visible or not. For example, you can filter the data in the Entry Table in the Gantt Chart by cost, even though cost data is not visible.

This means that, especially in the early stages of a Microsoft Project 2019 implementation, solid communication between administrators and users is critical. Administrators of course work to provide the information and organizational tools needed, but often this effort requires estimation on their part. If required information isn't available, contact your administrator.

13.2 Web-based Projects

As we learned in the previous chapter, clicking the *Projects* link in the Quick Launch sidebar, or the *Project s* tile in the carousel, takes you to a list of the enterprise projects you are authorized to view. The Project Center page provides links to a multitude of functions and activities. In this chapter we will attempt to group these functions logically and to provide a complete description for each.

In addition to web-based projects, this chapter will describe reporting, status reports, risks, issues, deliverables, and document management in Project Web App.

Note: Your sidebar options and the overall look and feel of your Project Web App views may differ slightly from those in this section. This is dependent on the permissions your Project Server administrator has granted to you.

Project Center

2

For this exercise, you will need to launch Internet Explorer and connect to Project Web App. 1 From your Project Web App home page, click the *Project s* tile in the carousel or

select the *Project s* link in the sidebar. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 237. Project Center

Figure 238. Project Center ribbon options



Click the **Project s** tab to see all **Project s** ribbon options, including the following groups: **Projec t**, **Navigat e**, **Zoo m**, **Dat a**, **Timelin e**, **Shar e**, and **Project Typ e**.

man: facility dans dans dans termini			Q. 19	100 4000 m	tantes - tantes -	12	10 m
Cartan Car	the de	target	200		-	10.000	1995

Following is a summary of the available editing options in the *Project s* : *Project* group:





Clicking the *Ne w* icon found in *Projects:Projec t* provides you some options:

- □ *In Project Professiona l* Launches Microsoft Project 2019 so you can build a new project plan
- □ *Enterprise Projec t* − Takes you to the **Basic Inf o** dialog box where you enter summary project information; once you click *Sav e* , this information is saved as a new Enterprise Project



Figure 241. Creating a new enterprise project (web page 2)

1.2 Create a new project

Project Request Inform	ation	
Name*		
Gescholion		
Sinney Coner		
Project Score		
Eucliness Mend Decor prior Dechar the help bathour benefits aspected from the protect		

Clicking the *Ope n* icon found in *Projects:Projec t* provides you, by default, four options for opening an existing project:

Figure 242. *Projects:Projec t* group options, with *Open* options expanded



- □ *In Browse r* Opens the project in Project Web App for viewing or for editing if the project is already checked out to you; this is the same as if you just clicked on the project name in the Project Center view
- \Box In Browser for Editin g Opens the project in Project Web App for editing
- □ **In Microsoft Projec** t If you have the Microsoft Project Professional client on your personal computer, opens the project for viewing (Read-Only)
- \Box In Microsoft Project for Editin g If you have the Microsoft Project Professional client on your personal computer, opens the project for editing

The edit functions noted above include the ability to access the project as read-only or to update in either Project Web App or Microsoft Project Professional.

Note: Update functions are dependent on having permission to update this project. You will also be unable to edit a project if it is checked out to someone else.

Add SharePoint Sit e is the final option in the *Projects:Projec t* group. This option allows you to create a new project in Project Web App from an existing tasks list. Your project will show up in features such as reporting and resource availability.

In the *Projects:Navigat e* group you will find:

Figure 243.

Projects: Navigate group options



- □ **Build Tea m** Allows resource managers, or other users with appropriate permissions, to create a team for a project; they cannot assign resources to project tasks but can add them to the team
- □ **Project Permission s** Takes you to the Project Permissions page, where you can set permissions for a selected project; you can give users permission to view or edit the project
- $\Box \quad Check in My Project s Takes you to a page where you can check in stranded enterprise projects; note that this is not project specific: all your checked out projects will be listed$

The *Projects:Zoo m* group options help you define the timescale displayed on your screen.

Figure 244.

Projects: Zoo *m* group options

- Asom Zoom Sond to Note:
 - □ **Zoom I n** and **Zoom Ou t** Allow you to show a smaller/larger time increment on the timescale
 - □ *Scroll to Projec t* –Move the timescale to the area on the Gantt Chart containing the bar for the selected project

The options shown in the *Projects:Dat a* group dropdown menus provide tools to help you isolate the data you need.

Figure 245. Projects: Data group options

Fil.	ully Vevi	Sunnary	
10	Titler:	Custors Titlet	
- and a second	Et Graup By:	No Group	
	p	ata .	

- **Outlin** *e* Provides options for adjusting the level of detail you wish to display in the \Box projects listed in the Project Center
- *Vie w* Allows you to customize the appearance of the Project Center list
- *Filte r* Allows you to select built-in filters, create a custom filter, or turn on Auto-filter
- *Group* **B** *y* Groups projects by any field in the selected view, to three grouping levels; *Clec All* returns you to the default no group.

Other Project Center features of note include:

Figure 246. Additional	Add	100	Sector boot	to Pirz Dinewiti Dal		Ower	
options	Timeline		Da.		Show?Kite	Project Type	

- Add Projec t and Add Task s Adds projects and tasks to the timeline, just as in Microsoft **Project Professional**
- *Export to Exce l* Exports the data displayed in the grid to Microsoft Excel \square
- **Prin** *t* Prints the data as it is displayed in the grid
- *Show/Hide Subproject s* Displays subprojects in the Project Center; if you have a master project, this will display its associated subprojects
- Show/Hide Time with Dat e Changes the display for all dates to also include time, as in th following figure:

Figure 247.	0	Project Heres	Been 28%	dam-	"Hats	Qual 1	alth Schoolure Health	Gudger Heart
	3	Amound 18 *Upgrade		SIMPLET BUT AV	4/26/2020 4:40 764	4	9	12
	5	Construction on May equip ment		5-28-20UT 6:00 AV	9-15-0301-30-40-484	0	0	0
Sho w Time	2	Limbred Himming Dasigners: Implementation		SOMOTO SOLLAN	HAD DONNER AN		49	42
with Date	. M.	Common August State 1		ADDODANE AV	STOLETING NO	0	Ú.	
	2	ACCompation		213 G017 COD +0+	6-T/2018-1(0) FM			1

- *Change:Project Typ e* Allows you to update the enterprise project type associated with the project, including the workflow, pages, and custom fields
- Clicking a column name sorts the projects by the entries in that field in ascending or descending order.
- Clicking a project name opens a Project Details page where the user can see a series of predefined views of data for that single project. The commands in the toolbar are similar to those in the Project Center.

Figure 248. Commercial Product Launch Phase 2 Project Details page

Commercial Product Lauruh Phasa 2	() Status Orected-In La	st Modified: 3/12/2017 12:51 PM
Posject Details		
Strategic Impact	Project Details: Commercial	Product Laurichi Phasa 2
Schedule	Project Details	
Project Site	1.000 C.	
Project Requests	 Name * Specify a name for the Software Development 	Commercial Product Launch Phase 2
Project Demand Management	Description	
Business Drivers	Project Scope	
Butkness Diffier Prioritization	Total Cost	\$500,000.00
Project Portfuliu Analysis	Total Benefits	\$300,000.00
Project Gester	Net Present Value Identifies the relate on	
Resistance Cambon	insubmant for a project over a time way time horizon.	
Tours and Roke	Annualmed ETEr	
Timesheet	Millionitari Lits	
Tasks	Scart -	2/18/2017

- \Box To exit the Project Details, click on *Project Cente r* in the left navigation links.
- □ Clicking the empty box to the far left of the Project Name column allows you to select that row's project. This is necessary when you're performing functions on a specific project.

Figure 249. Selecting a project

 \cap

0	Pogect Name		Health Trend	Overal Health	Schedule Health	Eudget Healt
51	Valce Recognition Product	111		0	۰	0
50	famource Assignment (Cita/I)	-		0		
52	Dynamics CRM Deployment EMEA	***				<u> </u>
10	Stausch and Racquet Ball Eye Wear	+++				0
-	General Ledger (GL) currently update		÷e.	0	0	9
Ξ.	Biothermal our heating system for helmats			٠		۲
83	Expand raw material acquisition vendor list	-	-	0	0	0
514	Health Assessment Reporting Tool	++0		0		0

 \Box Clicking the *Brows e* tab displays a *Search this sit e* field, as displayed in the following figure. This functionality allows you to search for content across the site.

Figure 250.	\subset	\supset							
Project	[mars Main]							100	-17 HOU (11 SEAR
Center	Pice Pice	oject (enter						50	**************************************
Search	Contractor	-					1	1	
1001	An an Instant	S	-			P anaz	+	21	a busicedays
	Recently, Arriva	Control of Annual State		0	-	A YAGA	1474991 06397	ME:	Linear C

13.3 Team Builder

1

In many organizations, the process for determining the team that should work on a project is separate from the process that defines the tasks in the work breakdown structure. There are team building functions in both Microsoft Project Professional and Project Web App.

- For this exercise, you will need to launch Internet Explorer and connect to Project Web App.
 - Click the *Projects* link in the sidebar to navigate to the Project Center page.
 - 2 From the Project Center page, click a *Project Nam e* to open the Project Details page for that project.

Click the *Projec t* tab to display the *Projec t* tab options.

Figure 251.	IRCM	m r	THE	PAGE					
Projec t tab options	En an	Save	Cime	100 H	Bulo Team	Documenta issues A Risks	Delventores	De.	
	Project				Pag	e .			

3

4 From *Project:Navigat e* click the *Build Tea m* icon []. The resulting view (similar to the following) will display the current project team (if any) for the selected project and the resource pool.

Figure 252. Build Team page

23	Build	Team: I	Produ	uctlaun	ch =					Jacobie Contraction	•	-M
Carrow .	100	trian bert	-		(instantion)	Training and		-			-	
	1.1.1	tas wet	P14							11	mano-	-
	0	. Aint Deat	these -	in.		ting course	day likes			- 0	Roma Description	·
Treese .		-0-0.01000	-			name is and	1000001000		1000	10		-
report printing.	- 64	and documents	1010	340		All statements	Not shown				100.000	
mandan	101	Sector Autor	40.04	144						0	Approduction in the	-
Concentration of the second se		ingenerated in	(40.04						-	- 11	burnering.	
	11.	Design Kings	011			Renge the Ar.	(poral front)			12	Adultion .	-
100		marks takin.	alter -	. Ann		Noning Schools	manip kinds -			1.0	Autorities and	i and
10-10 10-100.	1.44	And the stationer	100	Auto-						11	boost based	
Street Providence	1.181	called Talenting	(++)			July Tarrey	Jake Trends 1			10	late .	-
A CONTRACTOR OF		allenants	4000	Aug.		tollar total.	bally party			112		
	64.	manual description	49,14	- Am-		Maria Arrent	Vision barried					
aven .	101	States of Decay	dest .			Esternal Barris	Ashering Farms					
Market Market	- P.	10.0 100.0	400	Aug.		has worked	"Automation"					
	10	The second	1945			Teer Select	See and					
A 107.040	100	The shakes	-			Trans Franker	The second					

From this view, you have the following options:

- \Box Ad *d* Adds selected name(s) from the resource pool to the project team; the selected names will become grayed out in the resource pool
- □ *Remov e* − Removes selected name(s) from the project team
- □ *Replac e* Replaces the selected name from the project team with the name from the resource pool; if the team member is assigned to any tasks, using *Replac e* assigns the replacement resource to those tasks
- □ *Matc h* − Filters the displayed list of resource pool names to show only those with the same selection attributes as the selected project team name
- □ *Clear Matc h* Clears the filter from *Matc h* to display the entire resource pool

Select the names from the Resource Pool to be added, from the Project Team	See See See See	jilen Mar Sasaki	Ni Neorine	Decto Are See	-	
	Property.		Remaining Harrish	Tipe.	Aut -	Barcanto Bana Banking Type
be removed, or	all the second		- Type: Work	Hat:	110	ingineering Committeet
he from each to	14580	11	Juni 10ho 4	www.		restsector timestal
replace the Team member.	Tinefred.	M	Borrier Frazer	Work .	- Ballery	in footien forentet
	count and plats	14	meth coockraas	(NOOR)	14/16	relin tierney conveitant
	Recoulum	1	thuriness Analysis	More		Manufacturing Convertine
	That a firmuch	11	Onekper	Web	The 1994	Statuting Constant
	inera regioni	11	George tribity	30048		Advantation Committee
	20.0000		therey Mayba	Wett .		Dunkert Massage Dermittant
	Drive Library		In Gootson	201wb	10	Doublet Support Dimensional
	Divise Percellusion	10	John Tiamey	8fortt		Seles Correction
	Profitie Andrew		Millio Dower	WHAT		
		- 11	Print Bentley	Wolt		
	ACCESSION OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIPR	11	Nebecca Jums	World		
	Terrine Tertings	- E1	Test Haley	Wol8		

Once you have built the appropriate team using the functions noted above, click the *Save & Clos e* option that is under *Team:Tea m*.

13.4 Resource Engagements

A project's initiation and planning stages may include an evaluation or approval step before a project is ready for execution. Resource planning is a helpful technique when developing a rough estimate of the

resource load and cost of a project. These estimates provide high-level resource demand information at the project level.

Resource engagements [DC91] is the way project managers and resource managers come to agreement on resource allocations. The resource engagement feature substitutes the resource plan feature you might know from older versions of Project Online or Project Server (pre-2016).

Checking Assignment Attributes

Before using resource engagements, resource managers have to assign resources that require approval to projects.

You can use the Resource Center to see if a resource requires approval. (We will cover the Resource Center in much greater detail in the sub-section titled *Resource Center*.)

¹ To access the Resource Center, click the *Resource s* link in the Quick Launch sidebar of the Project Web App Home page.

0	
The Resource	
Center	

Figure 254.

How Street,							10 mm	1 15 10 10
P2	Reso	urce Center				lie	1144	À.
Prop. A.	1.0	warden a s ^{ar}	2	Desive. Val	1.07.046	Derik.	la si esi the	244
Tada	10000	Mr. Mar.		- 69				work :
	12.	764 C 78-10-3	145	3.0		08	Report Procession	104
and we		Electronic V. algan	1.00	18		-05		VN4
Report.	1.1.1	Sole attainy	18.	14		56	June J Malley	West .
	1.1.1	Sha Ballip	- 19th	der.		190	Pro Ballio	Ven
AF 1 11 1 1945		Manufal Course	10° -	340		-	Association .	200
	11	a subsecc		\$4.4		144		-
	1	Ender LITTING	114	166		20	A DESCRIPTION OF	100
	1.71	App. Caupitors	1,307	186		140	A 21 Magnitude	100
	111	101 C. 10	1.9	16.5		SQ	100.5.00	Arris .
	1.11	un dans	200	144		×	in them	An
	+ 117	Service on	125	16-		14	Specificant.	Web .
	1.11	Tile f.	155	b.		140	38-T.	Ven.
		August in case	19.	145		24		Vel.
	111	Internet and	90.	144		100	1 \$400-1-1 (MS	200
	1.3	date along to		250		190	03-Mc-0	~

- 2 Under the *Editin g* tab, click *Edit Resourc e*. This will bring up the Edit Resource page.
- ³ Under Assignment Attributes, you will find the *Resource requires approval for all project assignments toggl e*, as show in the following figure:

Figure 255.	Assignment Advibutes	
Property to		Resource requires approval for all project assignments
define if resource requires approval		 ✓ Resource can be leveled Base Calendar: Standard ✓
		Committee V

Note: The Resource Engagement option will also need to be activated by your Microsoft Project Online administrator under *Server Settings* .

Resource engagements look and operate differently depending on the user's role. The following exercises will show how to request, assign, and manage resource engagements from both ends.

Resource Engagements from the Project Manager's End

Creating Requests Using the Task and Engagement Inspectors

This exercise uses the file **ResourceEngagement.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.

From *Task:Vie w*, click on the arrow next to *Gantt Chart* and select the *Resouce Pla n* view. 1 you have, for the selected project, existing resource engagements or migrated resource plans, you can see their status.

Figure 256. Viewing resource engagements and their status

tab

-	Task	Restance	Report	E topact	New 6	Marphile Cornec	t Corner	Drgepirretti	U felt milet	A 104 ANA
	1	¥.c.r	Califi	÷ļi	1 - 73	-	With Markan T	98.2 A	105 105	田
Gaut Chat Vite	Pacie	of Farrot Farmer Distant	8.7.1	u 🔉- ret	A	2 (+) = (50	tiza	Schubbell	nana kope steduo Taka	et Mean
> 4	6									
	0	hare	. Preper	el: "(Person .	Preposed. Nacional +	Engigere Sutar +	Datata	Princes 201 30.541	
r	- 0	+ Elea Bashay Mon C		Mon 06.02.17 Pri 30		100%		Prop. Max Unita Com. Max doits	100%	307% 200%
	a, This second in		This second was added to the 17 E		FH 21.62 (8 - MAN	Constituted	Prop. Max linits	100%	101%
		propert her ause a	entated and					Com. Max Units	100%	300%
		approved by a Te	pourte Mara	1945				Prop. Martintia		
								COTI MAX 01112		

When in Project Professional, the *Engagement s* tab is available, as shown in the next figure.

Note: Resource engagements are only available on Microsoft Project Professional 2019 or Microsoft Project Professional for Office 365, connected to Project online or Project Server 2019. Project Standard 2019[DC92] does not support resource engagements.



2 Now it's time for the project manager to do the planning and assign resources to tasks. The project contains one engagement for user *Elea Bailey* and two simple tasks. You build your team from the enterprise resource pool. On the *Resourc e* tab, click on *Add resources:Build* Team from Enterprise...

Or add the resources to your Resource Sheet view as displayed in the Project resources list below

from Enterprise		110	44 	2 A 4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	L E Ea		ter Drait		The second secon	ling Options Causting Overallocation	
	**	0	lina Mala e l'ar	- ture Install Televi		Arthus (Darrys)		Rahl Tener Anno for Address according to the project	hengense (Chile (C Nagest Wells Opp		Resource Researce
	1		*	NoR1 Text2	÷.,	Sector Second		We wante covert Web Apple are the	ore to Person conversed		Dice Belley
					10	Manufacture					

3 Select two more resources, both requiring approval.

Figure 259. Build Tea m dialog for a given project

Nate of Proceeding Place of Place				
Nationg House of the second that the second seco				
Automation and a second to a second t				
Interview of the sector with a sector wit				
All for anyonic card in a card the event of the card that Annual interview of the card that and an anyonic card the card that Annual interview of the card that and any of the card that any of that any of the card that any of th				
Control of the second of	M	manual .		
And hair Tere fairs Tere fai				11110
Some for The Large Tex Large T				
Omege for The large of forward prime of prima of prima of prime of prime of prima of prime of prime of prim				
December of features of features December of features Dece				
Para Janey Anney Calendro New Hales Mare Hal	1	Plateres	for the second	1 mart 1
Inters Colors InterScolor Description Inters Colors Inters Colors Description Inters Colors Inters Colors Description	11.000	(Bai Bale)	Careford	1.80
Party Face Party Face Equivalent (pr Notar Hone 0 0 0	Lafrenza	Les Cuttres	Contention	P1
	100000000000000000000000000000000000000	New Areas	Constitute of	184
	Annes .			
(man -)	1 + 44.8.00			
(and)	L MARKED CO.			
	Lines.			
> 1.000 million	(LONG BALL)			
			-	properties.
			An and a second se	All Control Co

4 Assign *Elea Bailey* to the first task. Since she is already committed via a resource engagement, there is no specific action to perform.

Now assign *Leo Cullen* to the second task. Notice the warning message on the indicators column: An engagement is required for this resource.

Figure 260. Engagement error indicator

			and there is	repart that						
	1.	BCopy Stars	Fairler B X U	0-A-5	2	Man ex Took Repetiting Inschols	Varia	Alea kound		5 . C
×		Consecution	e (19	10 U.H	States			300		
7. 4	180	Callie								
	0	Tak Moda w	Tast Owner		. Batter	din	Sec	monetari -	Kevener Haves	
1.8		100	 Install Telecom 	and Network	104	Mon 06.02.	Ri 17.02.17			_
1	-	10	tasks:		44	NOT 00 12 1	thu0412.17		Eles Bailey	
20	+÷	105	Task 2		60	Fet 10.05.17	7617.02.17	1.	Leo Cullen	1.0
		 In respective factor and write an experimental and record at with an addington. Sight of the Set option. 		t. L						

5 To resolve this problem, right-click on the icon and select *Fix in Engagement Inspecto r*.

Figure 261. Opening engagement inspector

	Test Descent Descent <thdescent< th=""> <thdescent< th=""> <thdesc< th=""><th>4 0 00 000</th></thdesc<></thdescent<></thdescent<>	4 0 00 000
3.4		
	O there - the there -	Denter a
1.00	- Install Talassen and Naturark	194
1	Taik 1	40
1	Interaction Interaction Interaction	81
	The in Imperson of Superior Department	
	A Cartie	
	Rt. Cestion	
	EL Jura Para Ignicia.	
	ng gaata faa	
8	Broot Task	
5	Epiden Taoli	
\$	Sterfights Taili	
	Marvella kiteriale	
	and a laborator	
	25 Autor Neurope	

6 The engagement inspector opens in a pane on the left side of your screen. Click on *View engagement conflict in Task Usag e*.

Figure 262. Engagement

inspector pane with mouse over View engagement conflicts in Task	Lib Tall Donne Gent Chart- Wire Dishaad	Calles N J M Fr	- ju - ju - de - de			Freedort Mark on Track - Keepert Links Flanchisate	Q Tell Mercual Johnsh	Area what points
Usag e	* X A Tast 2 Some of the assignment for this task are not fully covered by engineered.	×	0	18 19 - 1	faat Hanna • Install Telecom ar Yask 1 Task 2	nd Network		Durthen - 1 Dd 6d
	ACTEME Were engagement conflicts in Task Usage Ware engagement conflicts	ir Task Unig						

7 The Task Usage screen will display with *Leo Cullen* highlighted and a message in the Inspector pane that says "This task assignment is outside of the boundaries of an engagement. This means the assignment of *Leo Cullen* on *Task 2* is not covered by a committed resource engagement.



Tell Tell Renate	Report 1	Read		Extraprist Connect	hereal	Q. fot one what provert to the
Batt Dati Terral Patient Terral Patient	Celler B [[]] S F	- 0 -	•		dark en Treck - Inspect Links Institution	An and a second
Inspector **	**	0	Task.	Test Name	Well + Date	er a fart a fare a
This have acceptent in a stability of the hour clarine of an angagement.	10	E	¥. ¥	• Install Telecom and • Telk 1	80h 10d 12h 47	an 06.02.17 Fri 17.02.17 Apr 06.02.17 Thu 09.02.17
	18	+	-	Elect Dolley # Task 2	45h 6d	Apr 06.02.17 Thu 09.02.17 Fit 18.02.17 Fit 17.02.17
ACTUNE.		•	-	Lep Culler	494	format 12 for 12 ALL
Create and save rare repagareant for this any private subserve.						
Annige the task to a although the summer a						

Note: The indicator for "This task assignment is outside of the boundaries of an engagement" [🚸] displayed above on the Gantt Chart view, is not displayed on the Resource Plan view.

8 To create a new engagement, you can right-click on the icon and select *Create New Engagemen*. t . Alternatively, you can click on the button *Create and save new engagement for this assignment's resourc e* on the inspector pane.

Figure 264.

Creating a new engagement using right-click method

S CAM	North P	vigent News Description Connect Nerva → pa → 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 1
len fan d'Annafann len Universit	* [8] #	A A S 2 0 = O → hallon to be the second
A lastate		O has a fait from
This task assignment is sublide of the boundaries of en- ergagement.	1	 Finital Telecomians 60 Finital 1
40000	-	Elea Dolley 33
State and set the set of the set		A Crute New Inspectation SA Regions Remarks X. Spar Cal Ng. Server Sale
35 Ange Senat Sen	NOTION OF	Di Seni Tran Janis. Segli Inigeneti Diffuenti Diffuenti
		Carlaters

9 Set the engagement information following the example in the below figure. Enter the comment "Need Leo on this project to perform Task 2" for the resource manager who will review the request. Click *O K*.

Figure 265.	Engagement Information	-11-10-13-
Engagement	Besource: Leo Culten	
Informatio n	Description	
dialog with adjusted	Start: Fri 10.02.17 . Eniste: Fri 17.02.17	
	Allocate Resources by:	
Information	gasts 100%	
	O Work	
	Comments:	
Engagement Informatio n dialog with adjusted information	Need Lee on this project to perform Task 2	Cancel

10 The request is created as draft and needs to be submitted. Click on *Submit my engagement for revie w* .



11 After the request is sent, assignment status is updated to "Proposed."

Figure 266.

Submitting

engagement

Proposed
engagement

IN Tes Insur	Beast	frint in	-	Revel	Q-Telline interpretation (
E Xu	CHER.	+ 11 +	*****	Mark of Fredkin	* = = =
Garts Factor of Torrut Fa		0-A-	\$30 =0,	Inclusion (Minutly Alto Instant Mase Schedule Informatio
View Optewei		one u	Stretus		Tanka
Inspector	* X X ¥				
A Ara Cultur		O list	. Tek Hare	Wok Tent	
There is a people and	- E	-	+ Install Telecom and	80h 10d	on 06.02.17 Fri 17.02.17
the approved that would be the appropriate Sometrie		-	4 Teck 1	325 4d	Ann 06,02.17 Thu 09,02.1
reces to approach is appeal	62		Dep Dodey	325	Aun 06.02 17 Thu 00.02 1
in protection that this assignment a	e (2)	* *	a Task 2	48h ed	Fn 10/02 17 Fn 17/02 1
an one of the		+	teo cullen	494	H100212 H11/021

Note: If you check on the *Resource Pla n* view, you can see the "Proposed" status. The note (icon on the indicators column) contains the comment you set on the engagement request.

Note 2: There is no need to publish or check the project in for the request to be sent.

Manually Creating Requests

1

In addition to the Task Inspector tool, a project manager can manually create a request for a resource engagement.

- Go back to the Resource Plan view, and click on *Engagements:Add Engagement* .
- 2 The **Engagement Informatio n** dialog box pops up. Fill in your request with the resource name a description if required (this will be displayed into the Name field on the input table), start and finish dates, and finally the requested units (percentage) or work. You may put a comment for the resource manager who will review the request.
- 3 Click **O K** . The resource engagement is created with a status "Draft."

Figure 268. Resource engagement created with

status "Draft"

	0	Name	 Proposed Start 	Proposed Finish	Proposed MaxUnits +	Engagemei Status +
3		 Nieve Fraser 	Mon 06.03.1	7 Fri 10.03.1	7 50%	
	1		Mon 06.03.	17 Fri 10.03.1	7 50%	Draft

Select the newly created resource engagment, and click on *Engagements:Submit:Submit Selected Engagement s* (in this case, you can also choose to *Submit All Engagement s*).

file	Tada	leaste	lopos	Figer	View	Department	e Cannet	Ŧe	erter T	igig	estert).	V Tell he what
10	d	E .	-	1							CHILLEN ALL	ower marrie
Add	Betrech	Salamit Scope	a Acela Ingere	a lotar Art	reter							
N.570-3	- 11	D. Salara	All Equiper	116	i b							
Inspe	don	D Sint	Seatted Dog	agements	100							
Pillinge F	Children .				Submit on	lý the sele	nd ingig	ninti	for writes a	nta	nineval, L	Territoria (
				0	Flarne	-	litet	+	Pireati	-	Marthen .	Sinus +
740.004	nocted		- 12		· Nieve Fr	NUME	Mon DB.	03.17	fn 10.0	1.17	508	6
				0			Mon 06	03.17	Fr! 10.0	112	505	e Drog

5 The resource engagement status is updated to "Proposed."

Creating the resource engagement from the Task Inspector or manually does facilitate the request creation, but the amount of work requested is spread evenly across date ranges. You can decide to split the work differently by manually creating the resource engagement.

Before submitting this resource engagement, you can edit the proposed work or proposed max units by using the Timephased Data view.

Figure 270		0	See	- net -	in secondari	Marking -	inter a s	Drum.	ш	1		1700	
- iguic =, 0.	87	1	A NUMBER OF	V018-67.37	H13086417	10		(Republic VARIANSE)	16%	- 201	585	5005	- 94
Resource			30000000000					LOCK MALE VICES					
engagement:								Prop. encik			. 17	148	
Original andit of		-9 #		Advisouru /	111100017	36%	were -	#120 MAR U.W.B	10%	14%	50%	2006	M
Original split of								COPP MINI MARE					
work								wipp more	49	191	10	28	
Eiguno 271		0	Harris	- int -	hanna a	Propinsi Mariana a	ingaperte .	, Sean	10-144 1.7 10				
Figure 271.		0	Names	 Balance Marcoll, 01, 01, 17 	Pro 10-49-11	Propings Marchine +	inquiprine ,	Tanan Wegi Mas (1915)	10-1447-1-7 14 100%		- 20		
Figure 271. Resource		0	Parries • Native Preser	 Basi + Marc 08.03.57 	Pro particular da	Propinsi Sile line - JAC	inquines .	Senan Neuga Maar (Jord) Carris, Maar (Jord)	10 hay 17 10 hay 17		- 20	19	
Figure 271. Resource		0	Name 4 Nation Presso	 Imposed - Marcol.03.37 	No (B-45.1)	Propinsi Marcinette et Jack	liquines .	Saman Neugi Maar (Jord) Corra, Maar (Jord) Anaja Milark	(0-base 1.) 10 10 00 00	- 	- 20	7. 19. 40.	
Figure 271. Resource engagement:		0	Narra 4 Textool Phaseer	 Impound a Marc 08.03.17 Marc 08.03.17 	Pro 10-45-17	Tractions Similarity -	Suppose Same	Tanah Nogi Mas (Avit) Care Mas (Avit) Nogi Wolf Prop Mas (Avit)	10-144/1/ 14 100%		2 10% 10%	7. 15. 26. 16.	
Figure 271. Resource engagement: Updated split of	8	0	Narra 4 Textool Phaseer	 Impound • Main 08.03.37 Main 06.03.37 	Pro State State	tinina tinina Jack	trappers base +	Toman Nogi Maa Uviti Care, Maa Uviti Waqi Wule Prop, Maa Uviti Care, Maa Uviti	10 hair 1.7 10 m 10 m 10 m 10 m	1 0 0	2 105 105	2. 15 26 15	

Note: An indicator [] appears for that says "This engagement work contour has been edited..." You then have to submit the resource engagement request as usual.

The Resource Manager's End

•

The request is sent from the project manager to the resource manager, who will accept or reject the request using Project Online. Note that there is no individual resource "owner"; all resource managers are able to review any resource engagement, no matter who the resource is.

Figure 272. Resource Requests This exercise continues use of the file **ResourceEngagement.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.

1 As a resource manager, go on the Resource Center. Let's say you want to see resource requests for *Leo Cullen*. Click in his cell, then click on *Resource Request s* under *Resources:Navigat* (

	E String Minerous - E ♥ B String + Ø Profile (na - p-y)	inde boars Tracting Tracting of the	n Satur atras	
14.54	Fecular Name*		6	Valation de la constante de la
The second se	+ Type: Work			owniningspretials :
140.7	Dealer to		174	*
Recurosi	D Jame Sate		271	140
Actoria	M testates		7/2	1467

2 The list of requests and their status is displayed, which you can view in either the Sheet or Timephased Data view. The previous request for *Leo Cullen* for the *Install telecom and networ* project is pending approval with a "Proposed" state.

man 1	think with								0-	1.2
1 10		Ě.		. Arec	A A A					
Anna	ta l	esta la	cailli							
100			4	10.0	Read of the local division of the local divi	Name of Street	they !	Countral for	Summer in	· 2
in the second			Bandunte Herner Une Gellen				Page 14	Mark .	ATTOM:	-3475341
1000			· A Report Sound Party and Research				Pageret	BOTH	34127987	DIMONT.
		T .	the second s		second data for and how the	"Report of strength	Subcommittee	adaria .	and the second s	100000000000000000000000000000000000000

view)

Figure 273. Resource engagement requests (Shee t

Figure 274. Resource engagement requests (Timephased Data view)

MONE SUS	AD-ENS O	PERSONAL PROPERTY.									
🚫 🚫	100 AC	-	X	Shee	Trattant	i∰sien ¥jiden	ingager and Dela Kalifikai	4	An A		
1 jacon	lines Desi	Contra 1	rijage se d		Dama	fit, party pr	Cestim-Shoup Tem		Seller Hang	ine of special	
Angers .		R	source	Reg	uests						
Paper avera		1	1	0	Heater Alexa					2,94,201	1 2/15/2011
8-0-0-0-0					200 BRAN	100000000		Prap	AreW asso	<u>1</u> 21.	10%
				- 1	Sessaree No	ING THE COL		Com	rettted Work	ðh	401
POPP13		- 11			022000	19000000	1000	Prop	esed Wark	ðh	401
· eteriment					- Project u	stan resocan	a and resources	Con	darW kettin	354	105
A PRILING					11100			Prop	ceed Work	69	409
			-		er tan			(int	with West	86	10.41

3 You can see request comments by ticking the checkbox for the proposed resource and clicking *Engagements:Edit Engagement* . This will bring up the **Edit Engagement** dialog box with comments at the bottom, as in the following figure:

Figure 275.	Edit Engegement	*
Edit	Theorem and	risimilier .
Engagemen t	Parameter *	
dialog	Project ¹ (select policies and therein)	M
	ner" ENNER ID	
	- map *	
	Advantation (#1999) China 2006 Sec.	
	energy factors (Filler) Need and on the properties perform Fight 2	Link far
		1000

You can also update resource names, start and finish dates, and allocation information. Note: the picklist for resource names contains only resources you have selected on the Resource Center before clicking on resource requests.

4 The Capacity and Engagements Heatmap allows you to see the discrepancies between resource capacity and committed engagements.

Figure 276. Capacity and Engagements Heatmap	ten Task eitbar eit?	Barrow an Shareb Ba Quantum Star	na n	1 (1) (1) 1) (1) 2) (1) 2) (1) 2) (1)	i kitet (mjali	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		54 100	c→
	 Security Security and the properties of the media operation of the security of the media operation of the security of the media operation of the security of the								
	Redourner	Brail and Driving	E-(-#F	HERMEN STATES YO	-Sector 1	30.56	7 5478	II (1MH1047	COMPARE.
	Press.	1 Hinter Pennet			110	10	30	1.00	1.0
	1.101100	Ended Process and Network			Asr.	<i>a</i> -	A8.5	0	.19
		. Exprop Deployment for emploteers			35		10		n
		Libra Monte			14	M1-	Α.		100

In this example, we see that Nieve Fraser is not available to work on the project Laptop Deployment for *Employees*, but Ulrike Alvena, who has the same role, has some availability in this period.

5 You can swap the two resources, either by editing the engagement or rejecting this one and creating a new one. (From Project Online, resource managers can create new engagements by clicking on *Add Engagement* under the *Engagement* s section of the *Engagement* s tab.)

Figure 277. Add Engagement
	ALC: 10.1							iyais:	$h\pi s >$
÷ 1 10	Autor State		An A		and and a second				
inger og det.			toestie	38.2.000	Popula	-	ont	for Long to +	to collect
944-14E			Paraceter Form, Harry Form Paraceter Former, Harry Former, Tourset	1			Do-mail and	3878	18182
(PAP)		1.U	disc limit		Instal Thread and Holmody	time of the	Sec. and	424	4/500-9
1.000	20	-	Charles Lange and Salay and Adams	-			The second second	1	14,59.0

The screen to create a new engagement has all of the same fields as the one to screen for editing existing engagements, as you can see in the following figure:

agement	Demonstra *	Unite diarra	Protonen a requirert ser
	A STREET		65
	Project"	Lightsp Deployment for employees	2
	Description		
	1944 ¹	3(6/2017	
	Weids 7	3/13/2012	
	Allocate resoluted by "	#tals O'Week (1926	
	Greentr		
	Replacing Nieve or	r dela project	
	-		

When you select a proposed engagement, *Accep* t and *Rejec* t actions become available on the ribbon under *Engagements:Updat* e.



6 Click *Rejec t* . You will be prompted with the **Confirm Rejec t** dialog, which offers an opportunity to add a comment for the project manager who made the request.

Figure 280. Confirm Rejec t dialog with comment box

ontirm Reject	
Optional - provide a comment ao	that others reviewing your decision will have more information.
Comments: As discussed, replaced by Ulrike	on this project
-	
	DK Dr Caro
	14

Resource engagements can have any of the following states:

- Committed (i.e. Approved)
- Proposed
- Draft (this only occurs when there is an engagement that hasn't been submitted yet)
- \square Rejected

aft ma to

Note: You should be careful not to confuse the state "Committed" with regards to a resource engagement and the resource's booking type "Committed." A "Committed" resource engagement is an approved engagement. A "Committed" resource booking type (default booking type), is used for a resource you are 100% sure is availability.

On the other hand, a "Proposed" resource's booking type, is used when you need to remove the planned workload from various calculations like portfolio optimization. This booking type is also used to remove the tasks from the resources' My Tasks page (a best practice for closed projects) and to prevent the system from sending automated emails when the project is published.

Returning to the Project Manager's View

1 Return to the Resource screen on Project Professional 2019. Note that you can see the rejected engagement for Nieve Fraser and the new one for Ulrike Alvena, which is already committed.

Figure 281. What the project manager sees after resource	10 a		Angeneri Angeneri	Southan Property Prop	Van Loo	##694E	Laws.	legeçesen, 2	Taliya aketa	no carl to Au		
manager replies	18.4	81										
to requests		0	Here	maintative	Terminal and	Superior +	1419-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1	0.040				14
	200		+ sep Cultert	No12208.17	Mot 27.03.17	202%		Prop. Max to use there. Max to dis			10/%	1000
		4		Man 20.01.27	Man 27 53 37		Connibled	Page Martinia			109%	ince
	87		+ Norve History	Verbullt	N113.03.37	3.0%		Prop. History See. Vio Dels	18.0	145		4000
				Man 06.01.17	PY1752.17	1064	(3g/acted	Prop. Max three Long Max Dents	1001	706#		
	- 30°,		#18mg Abrea	Verbin 17	Build \$5.12	2.45		Pag-Merlins	1100	1994		
	8	4		Man DEAL 22	REAL	ARN	Loversites	Prop. Max Units	100%	2,0%		
	100 C							TOOL Mat DORS	1.00.00	1.0.1		

From a Portfolio Analysis Perspective

There are no big changes related to an assessment of resource capacity for the sake of portfolio analysis. When setting your portfolio analysis, you must be careful on how calculating resource utilization is defined. Note: In Project 2019, resource utilization is defined from Project Professional, on the Project: Project

Informatio n form. This is a change from Project 2013 and earlier, where resource utilization was set when defining the resource plans.

Figure 282.	Propert Information	ton for Laptop Deployme	off for analisis	W)			10.0
Calculate	Start gate:	Mon 06.03.17		Cyrrent date:	Sen 0	18417	
Resource	Erish data:	Milei 27 876 87	120	gatus date:	144		
Utilization from:	Schedule from:	Project Start Date		Calender	Stand	and .	
	All tanks begen as soon as possible. Browity 200 😇 Calculate Resource Obligation from						
	Project Plan	in in					
	Contact Pield Name					i -	

The options are you can *Calculate Resource Utilization from:*

- □ **Project Pla n** Resource workload is defined from tasks assigned to the resource in the project schedule.
- □ *Resource Engagement s* Resource workload is defined from resource engagements (committed or proposed).
- □ **Project Plan unti** *l* This is used for rolling estimates. You will use resource workload defined from tasks assigned to the resource in the project schedule until the specified date (e.g. end of first phase) and resource workload defined from resource engagements for other parts (e.g. phase 2).

Note: By default, resource utilization is calculated from **Project Plan**. Hence, if you have set resource engagements, you must manually select **Calculate Resource Utilization from Resource Engagement s** in order to use it. Otherwise, the resource utilization from Project Plan is used.

Request Reminders

Another feature in Project 2019 is request reminders. This gives you the option to receive reminders via email upon every resource engagement request for selected resources.

1 In the Resource Center, select any resource. Under *Resources:Share and Trac k*, click *Reques Reminders:Subscribe to selected resource s*. A pop up will confirm your subscription has been updated.

Figure 283. Request Reminders

44	0	55.	-	RL.	deven	# Sectors		Distant lander	12.	-	1053		ini.	45
10	-	~		크	¥ ×	HI-38"		Ele seri	100	10		-34	14	- 7
144	Marg.	EQ5	UPP1	(Assess	Panaly	1359		L There and the	1000	100	den acco	Allgariets	Harang	ABC-M2
a.t.	, tiya	10				i e		Stan ¹ (b			141 54.00 45 074.44	alberton Jale	ranian dadinida,	los!
Approver			50	societariet				1.8	All shada	arbentons el n	00,100	10		
		1.1	 Type: Work 						No					

2 Now you need to enable the email alert and the frequency. Navigate to *PWA Settings:Manage My Resources' Alerts and Reminders:My Resource Request s*.

	My Resource Recuerts			
My Resource	the letter and implicit events with bits to provide as	Hescarce Dequects		
Requests	thermal interactive counter consists of all resonances in their interactive experiment providences for Consistent with monocenes you we addressibled to from Tarotum Carities.	🗹 Send a revolution attract pending resource respects (Every	9 09	¥

3 Set the frequency of email alerts

Figure 284. Setting reminder frequency	My Resource Requests that is a summarized with the second	Resource Becauch Section would be about pending resource requests Dway Octobe Becay any Every any Every any
	(by Associate Escape). The determinant response remains a data is provide the original remains response for the form or path of all providence you have severe remains which previous the O page which response you are advected to from European Darks.	Theorems Requests Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requests (Servy) Image: Send a numerical school granding resource requestschool granding resource requests (Servy

Note: In order to use the request reminders feature, notifications should be turned on, on the *Additional* Server Setting s page.

Figure 285.	Notification Email Settings	
Notification email settings	Determine whether users can subscribe to alerts and reminders.	Turn on notifications

Managing Non-project Time

Non-project time refers to activities that have an impact on the resource capacity but are not related to a specific project—e.g. vacations, operational duties, sales, training, sickness.

There are three main options in order to manage non-project activities:

Creating a separate project – You can create a stand-in project, then create a new task assigned to a specific resource to depict this non-project activity.

Figure 286.	Task More	+ Tsik have	· Duration	• 3M •	7940 -	Fridecessor +	ficiente Namet +
Managing non-	10.	+ Non-project Time 2017	15 d?	Man 02.01.17	Fri 28.04.17		
project time into	-	+ Vacations	55 d.	Mon 13.02.17	Fri 28.06.17		Contract Constant
a project	10	Leo Winter breek	50	Mon 13.02.17	Pn 17.02.57		Leo culles
schedule	102	Elea Eanler vecations	10 cl	Mart 17.04.17	Ort 28.04.17		Clea Balley
	101	+ Training	1.07	Mon 82.01.17	Mon 02.01 17		
	102	Dinke: PM using MS Project 2036	1 : 1?	Mon 02.01.17	Mon 02.01.17		Ultike Alvena

- *Creating resource engagements* The resource manager can create a new engagement for his/her resource to depict this non-project activity. This is a good way to manage recurring tasks, such as operational duties (e.g. application support, help desk). The exercise below will demonstrate this option.
- Using Administrative Time in timesheets A resource can set time in the future when filling in their timesheet. This can be found a category defined as Administrative Time. Note: This category work type must be set as "Working" if you want the time reported here to have an impact on the resource's capacity.
- *Manually updating individual calendars* You can also update individual resource's calendars for non- \square work time, such as vacations. This is our least recommended option, as it is not ideal for big companies with a lot of resources to manage.

Creating Resource Engagements to Manage Non-project Time

In this exercise, we will use the second option outlined above (creating resource engagements) in order to manage non-project time.

1 Create a new engagement by clicking *Add Engagement* under *Engagements: Engagements*.

Figure 287. Creating new resource engagement from

	1.45		121242	I PROVIDENT	Cabler St.	10.000 AM 10.000 AM		1102.247	1000	100
00	1204		1000		"Water	0.0000010436			-	1.1
	1	and the second second			Title:	We filter	+	-90-	-474	-9.71
and4 (2014)	L'interester in properte	ment lingsgament	Sere.	285	- Witterster	Custors Group		CAMIN	ras griments	Farmy
194.6	K Harley	(mid)	1.18	ing the c		(1.4			March N	
	Add Engegene	16 E								
Projects	And an Openand			11.54						

- 2 In the **New Engagemen t** dialog box that pops up, put "Leo Cullen" under **Resource Nam e**, and fill in the remaining fields as you wish. Click OK.
- 3 Navigate to *Availability:View s* and click on *Resource Utilizatio n* to see the following screen



4 Similar to what we did as on the project manager end, we can edit the resource engagement request's work distribution manually. First, select the *Timephased Dat a* view in the *Engagement:Displa y* section.

EROWSE DISACTIONS OFFICIE											
 3 3 3 3 4 /ul>	Mi sti ister	dott Unobard	n∰, since ♥ Note	indigment onlik Na fike	*	200	34	-11			
Quidate-	Drasgement Orgagement Drasgement https://www.co	Cata Q	(Er samera	Curren Grees.	- 18	Certer	All gaments Margates	Planning			
Розная Арраняз	Resource	Requir Unique t	head Data In the slate in the timephased		-						
	(julik: Anopel Aniser (julik: Projects Approvess	O O Solid Solid <thsolid< th=""> <thsolid< th=""> Solid<td>Image: serier /td><td>Image: solar /td><td>O O</td><td>Image: solution of the soluti</td><td>Image: solution of the soluti</td><td>Image: solar /td></thsolid<></thsolid<>	Image: serier	Image: solar	O O	Image: solution of the soluti	Image: solution of the soluti	Image: solar			

5 Input new values for your resource engagement request.

		- Restort Fire works Store 1917	Proposed Work			18		
		+ Project Non-project (Inte 2017	Converteed Work	11	- 23	48	- 0	
-		100 B 100	Proposed Work					
-1 secolen	182 1.4840h	Committed work	1			1.5		
-	1. 1.	TRADE ALCO NO.	Proposed Work	31	31	. 21	21	
21	recramp %	Foreighted work	11	100	45	111		

Repeat step 3 to see your changes reflected in Resource Utilization. 6

Figure 288. New resource engagement, as displayed in the Resource Utilization report

Figure 290. Updated Resource Engagement work request

Figure 291. Resource engagement updated in the Resource Utilization report



Now, Leo Cullen is assigned to tasks in the Laptop Deployment for Employees project and has a resource engagement for his operational duties linked to the *Non-project time 2017* project.

Resource Center

2

3

4

The Resource Center lists all enterprise resources you are authorized to see, as configured by the Project Server administrator.

This information can be presented in a variety of ways using the *Vie w* options found on the *Resource s* tab. This view menu contains the views prepared by the Project Server administrator, including the default All Resources, Cost Resources, Material Resources, and Work Resources views.

- 1 As we covered at the beginning of this section, you can access the Resource Center by clicking the *Resource s* link in the Quick Launch sidebar of the Project Web App Home page.
 - Click the **Resource** *s* tab at the top of the screen to display all **Resource** *s* tab options.



From *Resources:Dat a* click the *Vie w* dropdown list to view all pre-defined resource views.

Figure 202	SEWE FINANCE												
Default		G	(日 Sector	1144 1144 1144	All Resources All Resources All Resources Ser Cost Resources	0	Caleded Seconda The with Second		- inter	Sko.et		-	Al-
options	Proteiner,		Proteinal Autoacce Records Cynlam		the addition	Paul and Duto 1		i ingeli					
	Project2			1	Wet Manten		10.		11	66	1 Cherror	Out 1	0mD

Note: The *All Resource s* default is another way of describing a view without a filter applied.

- From the *Vie w* dropdown list, click *All Resource s* .
- 5 From **Resources:Dat a** click the **Group B y** dropdown list and select **Generic** (to separate generic resources from named ones). Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 294.

All Resources view with generic resources grouped separately

	Educe Read	100	deciariini	total Ada and	heik	Family 1742	1.10
	· Grantin for		No.		Mes .	A CONTRACTOR OF	-
	Public Manuals	11440.5	100		No	200 Block And	wo.k
-	renard Araby	191	No.		14	in Accel Didation	10.16
	One Service	1.54	No		Me	Craftelley	40.4
2	Fire addit Alfranzi	1.181	first)		284	manufacture (Christel)	Mark.
	Kong Collins	170	Ka.		Me	in my Codew	bb.dt
-	Inter Straphent	1ec	fp.r		36	mui Majaren	64-6
-	(-+-2) di-+	17.	8.3		36	113 Octo	10.0
	Lach Gragieren	181	No.		Ne	utch Gelyton	line
-	Mary Hules	102	Bei,		36	Poler Palar	65.0
	Diffe Forsite	120	R-2-		Me .	O-InFerrie	Mode
_	Latar address.	100	101		16	For same years	5510
	Color Atomic	171	N-5		Merce	18 de Avere	10.0
	- Generic Yes		ina .		THE	- Service AC	work
=	But ways the signal	1191	No.		Yes .	-	No-b
	3" Menagar	134	102		768		Weth.
-	Analysis Winterpre-	195	der.		45		100.0

6 In the *All Resource s* view, check several boxes in the column to the left of the Resource Name column to select the associated resources, as in the previous figure.

Notice that the ribbon contains similar commands as those available in the Project Center, as well as the commands *Resource Assignment s* and *Resourc e Availabilit y*.

Resource Assignment *s* takes the user to the Resource Assignments page. You can view the assignments of one resource or a group of resources. The default summary view presents the resource assignment(s) in a Gantt Chart format, although you can also select a Timephased view.

Figure 295.

Resource Assignments

Resource Assignments page with Gantt Chart

Yan Neve	Vions.	Early, sing way	TWTPT	S MIT WIT F	4*//T/> 8 8 /J 7 H T
- Descurve Name: Bee Balley	1525	2528		1.1.1	
+ Project Name, Install Telecom and Hersork	Sen	Sth			
(Ref.)	24	218		2	
tek (*A	6.1.			
· Project Name Laplace Deployment for coupleynes	181	SWI			
Tiel 3	181	14			
· Project Mane, Nav-project Fire-221.7	325	ach			
Cite Darse valuefors	409	80e			
Teseurce Name Leo Calles	2525	2026	<u> </u>		
· Project Neural Install Telecom and Network	100	50h			
No. /	4.26	1.4		A DESCRIPTION OF	
Lede 2	-6-6	4-3	1		
 Project Name, Laptop Deal synemt for employees. 	481	625	b		
Tud. 2	406	401	1°		
Froject Neine Hors-project Time 2017	611	646			
Lis webbed	438	409			
Laro Service Deals	24	248		1 30	
Personal Water New Press	185	350			
 Engest Name Install Information Hotwark 	336	261			

Capacity Plannin g allows you to examine availability of one or more resources by selecting one of the five standard views: Capacity and Engagements Heatmap, Resource utilization, Resource Utilization by project, Remaining Availability, and Work by Resource.

To access these view settings, click the *Vie w* dropdown arrow found in *Availability:View s* .

Figure 296. Capacity planning view options

we -	Buston	N How	 the number	1246	- 5	the street	100	15	-2.	12
Permanan (Billation)	E Transmission	Test	 in the state	-0%		Apr take for interview?	Separate Second	No.	Restant.	Abundan
Records URGatters		Here	. 19	and and		ttatu kange	17.64		-managere	
Basevene LARcasser by Dep	ed.									
Remaining pushability										
Mark by Relations										

The timescale can be adjusted using the *View Option s* selections in the lower-right corner of the view. The Assignment Work by Resource view shown in the following figure presents the data in both a histogram and a grid format. If multiple resources are selected, the view is color coded.

Figure 297. Capacity planning: Capacity and Engagements Heatmap

Aniaria Ingenerati	N33/001	Appenditory.	3/16/2011	2010-001A	ALCOUP.	378300
Eins Salley	100	-	100	10.000	104	Of the
Install Telecom and Network	de:	- 09	- der	09	i dik	08
Lapsop Deployment for employment	(Br	100-	de:	08-	(the	0b
Les Cullen	-	381	-	140	- 100-	ORC .
captop Lingstryment for write/openic	(the	01	1981	09.	100	10
Man-peoplet files 2017	40	08-	- 081	Abr	108	08
Nieve Fraser	100	-	- Marco	201	100	- 101
Laptop Displayment for employment	100.	10 C	-	10		10.
Utithe Alvera	100	81	1.000	-	1.00	
European Displacement for windowsee	48	- 281	181	28	10	10.1

The following figures provide examples of additional Capacity Planning view options:



Figure 300.

Capacity planning: Remaining Availability 120000

.

.

.....

*

.....

-

-

-

•

.

-

.

im (MIL)





Conclusion on Resource Engagements

To recap the process of working with resource engagements, here are the four steps you'll follow:

- 1 The resource manager sets resources requiring approval to be assigned to projects on the Resource Center (Edit resource page).
- 2 A project manager can request a resource.
- 3 The time-phased request is done in Project Professional 2019 or Project Professional for Office 365.
- 4 It can contain a percentage of resource work required or a set of hours for the period.

The resource manager reviews the request and accepts or rejects it. Note that engagements aren't fully editable. Depending on the change required, the request should be resent by the project manager. The resource can start working and the "contract" is signed.

Here are some additional takeaways regarding resource engagements:

□ Project managers manage resource engagement in Project Professional, while resource managers use only Project Online.

- □ As was the case with resource plans, engagements don't impact project schedule.
- □ Generic or named resources can be requested using resource engagement.
- □ Resource managers can also create resource engagements without a previous request from a project manager.

Note: *Resource engagement s* feature is activated by default on all new Project Online tenants. If you have an existing tenant, you can decide when to activate the new features (activation is done on *Server Settings:Additional Server Setting s*). For an on-premises installation, options will be available when migrating to Project Server 2019. When activated, published resource plans will be converted into engagements, and the old resource plan view will be removed.

Resource engagements and resource plans cannot cohabitate in a single tenant.

Figure 302. Resource	Project			ø
engagement activated, (<i>Resource Pla n</i> button has disappeared)	BROWSE PROJECT	PAGE TASK OPTIONS PAGE Documents & Risks Project Permission Site Team Deliverables Navigate	n Previous Pa	Next 99

13.5 Risks, Issues, Deliverables, and Documents

Project Web Application 2019 includes other tools that extend the usefulness of project plans throughout the organization. Teamwork is critical in most projects, and the ability to view and work with project plans can be very helpful in building team involvement and commitment.

Project managers quickly learn that agreement is easy to get but commitment can be hard. It's especially difficult in matrix organizations where the importance of a project manager's good will to a person's career isn't as clear as their line manager's. If you could only keep one of them happy, whom would you pick?

When a project is published, a project workspace is also created, along with tools to manage risks, issues, deliverables, and documents. These will be described in this lesson.

Project Sites

SharePoint can automatically create a project site when a project is published. The project site provides a focus for project-related functions as well as a cyberspace warroom, which allows for the project team to work together. This is especially useful when true co-location is not possible.

- □ For this exercise, launch Internet Explorer and connect to Project Web App.
 - 1 Navigate to the **Project Cente** *r* . Click a Project Name from the list to go to the Project Details page for that project. From **Project:Navigat** *e* click the **Project Sit** *e* icon. Your screen will resemble the following.

Figure 303. Project Site home page

Aralpez de do an 17 days ago art basis art bart basis art basis art basis art basis art bar	
	ana feren
ANI Dell'Italia ell'Italia ell'Italia ell'Italia elle elle della d	

Just as your Project Web App Home page contains items specific to you, the project home page contains items specific to the project, which can be shared with all members of the project team. When a new project is first published, the project manager is prompted to create a project workspace for the project. This workspace is created from a template setup as part of enterprise configuration, so all workspaces initially look very similar.

Project sites enhance project team collaboration on projects. Project managers can quickly update themselves on what's going on in a project, and team members can see how their work fits into the overall context. Through project work sites, team members and project managers can access and share data, documents, and communication. By default, the main project workspace page provide access to the following functions:

- □ Visual timeline of the project's tasks
- □ Complete task schedule for a project
- □ Library for storing relevant project documents
- □ Notebook for quickly capturing and organizing information about the project
- \Box Shared calendar for team events
- □ Ability to connect to the Project 2019 client application
- □ Ability to connect to Project Web App

As you can see in the preceding figure, the main window provides sidebar options, as well as typically including tiles that provide access to pages that allow you to customize, share, and brand the site. This page by default also allows you to add documents and other information to the site, including links to other webpages of interest.

Functions accessible from the Project Site main page include the following:

- □ **Documents** Allows you to add, edit, view, track, group, and share project-related documents, workflows, notes, and other electronic artifacts
- □ **Tasks** Allows you to add, edit, view, track, and annotate project task-related information. Provides a space for team "action items" that are important but not shown in the project plan itself
- □ **Calendar** Shows the current month (by default), day, or week with project-related meetings, events, deadlines, etc. that have been added to the project
- □ **Project Details** Links to the Project Details page, which provides a summary of basic project information (e.g. project name, description, start, finish, owner); also links to the Project Site, Build Team, and other resource-related functionality, and project-related documents, issues, and risks
- Deliverables, Risks, and Issues Provides access to sites where you can add, edit, view, and track project-related Deliverables, Issues, and Risks.
- □ **Site Contents** Provides access to all documents, site assets, calendars, issues, tasks, risks, deliverables, and other information related to the project; the *add an ap p* tile also provides the capability to create new items to this page.

Figure 304.	1 mil	True That	90		4 million (1990)
Site Contents page	10	6 		 andali and an analysis of the second and an analysis of the second sec	Control (many) haven
		Contraction Contra			later

Risks, issues, deliverables, and documents can be managed from the project SharePoint workspace or from Project Web App. In the following exercises, we will work with them from the appropriate location in Project Web App.

13.6 Project Details Page

1

You can use different routes to get to the same point or access the same data. This occurs frequently in SharePoint, which is useful because you may need to access the same information while doing a variety of project management activities. The trick is to recognize that the information itself is the same, though you've accessed it through different paths.

Navigate to the **Project Cente** r and click on a project in the table; for this example we clicked **ProductLaunc** h. You will see the Project Details page for this project:

Commercial Product, (1) Status Overked-in Last Modified: 3/12/2017 12:51 PM Learnth Phase 2 Project Details Project Details: Commercial Product Launch Phase 2 Strategic Impact Schedule Project Details Project Site. Nama * Commercial Product Lounds Phase 2 Specify a name for the Software Project Raspuests Development Project Demand Description Management Business Orivers Project Scope Business Driver Total Cost \$500,000,00 Prioritization Total Benefits Project Portfuliu \$806,000,00 Analysis Net Present Value Project Cervier Identifies the return on insubment for a project over a Residential Camber three your time loostums Tossan and Risks Annualized FTEs Tinesteet Start * 2/18/2017 Tasks

2

From *File:Navigat e* click the *Project Sit e* icon to navigate to the Project Site for your selected project, where you can access links that include *Document s*, *Task s*, *Calenda r*, *Project Detail s*, *Issue s*, *Risk s*, *Document s*, and *Deliverable s*.

Figure 306. Project Site options for ProductLaunch project

Figure 305.

page for

details

Project Details

ProductLaunch,

with high-level

	Ers pre Sulverser	é		
noo nama he day day a na f	ur-eine dae T7 ceys wys	25 kly Observe a daget og Stateste Stateste Stateste Stateste Stateste Stateste Stateste Stateste Stateste	Everyment set (Second Everyment av Everyment Everymen	Subjects Subjects Subjects Subjects (Subjects) (Subjects)
4	SNOT WE MAY	латия черкте		

Issues

Issues are events, often outside of the project, that might have an impact on the project. Circumstances such as contractor bankruptcy, new legislation, or changes in management could affect a project, even though they are external to it and are usually not considered as part of issue management. These often appear by surprise during the lifespan of the project and must be managed in some way. Previously, issues were often (and sometimes still are) tracked and managed using Excel spreadsheets attached to or stored with the project file. Now, SharePoint provides a convenient location for issues management as a seamless part of the project database.

- Navigate to the Project Site for a project—*Biothermal ear heating system for helme t* in this case (see Steps 1 and 2 immediately preceding this section).
- 2 From the Project Site for this project, click the *Issue s* link in the sidebar to see the project's Issues page.

Figure 307. Issues page for Biothermal ear heating system for helmets 1

23	Isotatis a	Harrison - Ara
inan Toraboli Dair aib Taos	Construction and the second of	
Lueb Guidbles Inne Brit Debraits ate	n har og mind 20 samter – a forstand har en storigt i statssport forfatter ander 1. An Anna an Naka Alamana – Har faller Britsen Billion, Britsen af Stats 2. An Anna an Anna an Anna Alamana Billion a Billion af Statsson af Statsson af Statsson af Statsson af Statsson	811 91.04

Click the plus sign by *new item* to add an issue to the list. Your screen will resemble the following:



- 4
- Enter data into this screen as follows:

- □ *Title* (the only required field): "Does not have experience with this product"
- □ Owner : "QA Hub"
- □ Assigned To : "QA Hub"
- □ Status : "Active"
- □ *Category* : "Category1"
- □ Priority : "High"
- □ *Due Date* : "8/1"

Note: Your training environment may be configured differently. Select options that are appropriate in your environment. Your Project Server administrator can configure many of these values to reflect your organization, such as Status, Category, and Priority.

5 From *Edit:Commi t* click *Sav e*. Your new issue will appear on the Issues page for your project.

Figure 309.	Torbury or heating system for heating of 2000 data ISSUES 10		1ac+41 m -
New issue	The second	e p angust to hore more Do Code ID Admin (U righ	Graces the One set
	2 Detrikceptories Texting Retriggents	III in Online III) Arbon (2) Medium	dir Geographian Salahan - Sa
	 Bost software equilation with the product to 	- dries Dvies diam	III CANNOT ATTAIL TOW BY

Click the **Project** *s* link in the sidebar to return to your Project Center page. An icon will notify you that there are issues associated with this project:

Figure 310.

6

3 4

Issue(s) indicator in the Project Center

19/218 4	Door.	Dett		10070	218	201100
医副盘运	dictrianal calhading system for hands		16		0	۲
Sidden	con to six the teach contricted with the s	444	-14	0	0	
C project.				0		

Now that there are issues associated with your project, you may want to link the issues with a specific task that each impacts. The method for linking list items—such as issues, risks, or deliverables—to a task in a SharePoint task list or enterprise project plan has changed for those accustomed to versions 2013 and earlier. This is due to changes made to the architecture of SharePoint Server and Project Server in the last release.

To link an issue to a task in your project plan:

- 1 Again, navigate to the Project Center and click the *ProductLaunc h* link to see the Project Details screen for your project.
- 2 Toward the top of the left sidebar, click the *Schedul e* link. You will see the Schedule page for *ABC Integration* .

Figure 311.		uncieł.	_		(pringer		1.1	S. 1
-	-			(a	CALIFORNIA COMP	with the solution of the		
ABC	3 . Mr. Ukr.		in int	ちんこく	045	Langer, MD Sup. 27	C S A STR	 Source XP House Xalls Source Xalls
Integration	1 3	· Kaupo da	- 10-	salese.	10040017	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(1997) - Contract (1997)	1997 2 04 (2019)
integration	100 W -	samble prove a	Q	Sec.	1. 60.26	1 82		
Schedule page	1 1	tree a regardage in	64 U	156.64	15(63(2))			
1 0	4 5	And Containers 1	851 2	2.6710	24/20			
		10.10.00 Welling J.	10 1	C.Str.St	S. Sec. 34	1		
	c 75	Accessight [2]	12	1581101	11061027			
	1 1	Catalysis Series v 1.60	1.164	dente.	440615	P		
	N	- NOPEL 0	(Altor in the	See. B	all in the	i han a second		
	1 A 1 A 1	· Codyn 18	M I	COLORE	ENGINEET.	100		
	1000	CONTRACT OF	A	7.8-34	26.711	9528		
	11	Strais mi d	ALC: N	obsette	101004/			
	0. 7.	Service 11	121.00	YA, 200	100.00	Adverter .		
	11. 12	i Tuning 24	1264	915192	0/4/5/12			

- Select Task 10, *Design* , by clicking on the Task Name.
- Click the **Option s** tab, and from **Options: Link T o** click the **Related Item s** icon, as in

following figure. You will see the Task Detail screen for Design and order final packaging.

Figure 312.	SICKUS PRO	IRT	MALE TASK	OFTICAL			
Options:Link to:Related Items	Especto Boot Shaw	Restord Rests	Project Sum Time with C Show M	imany Tasa Jalia dia			
Figure 313.	jalang obs	8 dayte	4) 				
Task Detail screen for	The landstate	-					
Design	from the second		this arrest is a	- 1946 for addied through Dispert Web-2	a briven		
	Dettomotty		Tel: News	Design		See also	
	Eader		Hart Delay	321.629(7		d Delp	
	Colorisie		D14 D384	101101017		H verification with the	
	Property		Automotion .	Mark Party/Par			
	Populationale		Without .	0.90			
	Baches		Aviated ches		ADD REAMER PROF		
	make.		Contraction of the		2740 A 2814 A		
	728.85		lines were				
	She Carletty		Content Type: Tax	and the second second second	and the second s		
	P. 01013465		Lang model and a land	COUNT HIS 2N In Name Account	Dete		

5 In the Task Detail screen shown in the preceding figure, click ADD RELATED ITE M It is in the resulting Select an Asset page that you can link issues (and other list items) to tasks in your project.

Figure 314.	Quest Links Attractional Ma	-	C. Surgicial consideration (Sec. 1997) International			
Select an Asset page	Converted Facility Report C	-	The second secon	version compared compared compared compared compared compared compared compared compared compared compared compared compared	1444	100
	same (a) improvements					+ +

6 On the Select an Asset page, scroll down the left navigation list and find your project name. Click the *Issue s* link under *ABC Integration* to see the Issues associated with that project.

Figure 315.



Out to shill be an

Click the link for the issue you would like to attach to the task. You will be sent back to the Task Details page for the linked task, where you will see that issue is now linked to this task.

Figure 316.

7

Issue

successfully	Task Name	Design and order final packaging	
linked to task	Start Diata	7/9/2013	
	Due Date	7/10/2013	
	Assigned To		
	₩ Complete	076	
	Related Items	🗋 Packaging materials not available	
			ADD RELATED (TEM
	DHOW MORE		
	Content Type: Table Created at 4/23/20 Last modified at 4/	l 13 9:16 AM: by	Date

8

You will be returned to the selected task and will see the issue linked with the *Design* task.

ssues linked to			1		
	Los rata	posts.		048.4.50	
Design task	Start Oxee	2/13/2017		Cents	
	Due Date	3/0/2017		Nendo: X late with d.	- 1444
	Assigned To	Mark Torry, the			
	% Complete		3		
	Holalad Iters	Di Uter Accestance Petition Participante			
	a summer of the		DO SELATED DEM		
	SHOW MORE				
	Context Lanc-Tax				

Risks

Risks are usually inherent to projects themselves. They may involve unavailability of a critical material or skill, lack of experience on the part of the project manager or team, the use of new or untested technology—the list is almost endless.

The Risks page interface resembles that of the issues page, which we just reviewed. The major difference is that *Probabilit y* and *Impac t* are new fields relating to Risks, and each is a required field.

Also, instead of *Discussio n* and *Resolutio n* threaded discussion boxes, Risk fields include *Descriptio n* , *Mitigation Pla n* (how will we decrease the probability or impact or both?), *Contingency Pla n* , and *Trigge r* (what will tell us that it's time to activate the contingency plan?) fields. Items can be linked to the mitigation or contingency plan, or they can be flagged as affected by the risk or as triggers. Documents can also be attached to a Risk entry.

As with issues, if a risk is assigned to you, you will see a reference to it on your Project Web App issues and risks page, accessed from the *Issues and Risk s* link on your home page sidebar.

Figure 318.	0			Sec. 10.11
Project Web App issues and risks page (risk	Issues and Risks			
circled)	Supplication a	0.04	Budgered .	(Second)
	Petroleum			
	tidas.			
	Inguittaire 4	ana -	Transpool 4	200000
	An individual and a second	1 N.		a

You will also see a link to it on the Project Center page:

Figure 319.

Project Center page with risk assignment highlighted

1

3

	0	Que.	Project Name	198	kalth Trend	Overall Health	Schedule Hosten
1		150	ABC integration		+	0	٩
1	1 2		The Carbon State and a street of the street	-	+	0	0
2	0	Cade the protect.	a contract the rock appealed with the		44		۲
1	5 1		мел сопровля населят эле счиворны	•		0	

Navigate to the Project Details page for *ABC Integration* , and from *Project:Navigat e* click the *Risk s* [] icon. You will see the Risks page for this project.

Figure 320.	Risks @	1 40	nuws.					
Risks page for ABC Integration	⊕ ne	w item or	edit this list					
	All Dama	10 Active	Rala Al Court Rala,	THE EX IS N	ý2			
	× 0	- P1	20	Acceptable	14.9	TENT	Course -	$\Pi + (5.4)$
		Count= 1						
		1	Corruitem Resource Availability	🔲 🗆 Sir Gan	(I) Actors	38	(i) Criegory)	

2 Click the plus sign b y *new item* to add a new risk to your project. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 321.

New risk entry screen

B 6.3	7	
	The new	
(e.e	and best	
100	-	
alter a	1.000	Today a barbor of prival and brain-
deniine .	Angling 12	representation and a statistically and
eter Caciado		a second s
4.000		10 mpa 20
College Miles	10000	Company W
Table .	incide.	ET 11 44 19 10 10
PERMIT	and solve of	
pr (marine)		
	manuf 1	1
101000		When the probability of the probability of the probability of the party
	1004	
		The suffragment thank if what is hard, freeze

Enter data into this screen as follows:

- □ *Title* (required field): "New risk"
- □ Owner : "John Tierney"
- □ Assigned To : "John Tierney"
- □ Status : "Active"
- □ *Category* : "Category1"
- □ *Due Date* : "8/1"
- □ *Probability* (required field): "50%"
- □ *Impact* (required field): "2"

Note: Your training environment may be configured differently. Select options that are appropriate in your environment. Your Project Server administrator can configure many of these values to reflect your organization, such as Status, Category, Probability, and Impact.

4 From *Edit:Commi t* click *Sav e*. Your new risk will appear on the Risks page for your project.

Figure 322. New Risk

Risk	aunch (S ©	▲ TDL DVS					
() nev	item or	edit this list					
Ali fizma	All Active	PRIVES AB CTOOL	d Ride 🚥	Final an item		,p	
× 8	0	the	Auxignes Yu	Status	Epour!	Category	Due Oste
	Count= 1						
	t.	New risk W	John Tier	ney (1) Active	1.13	(1) Category1	8/1/2013 12:00

Click the *Project s* link in the sidebar to return to your Project Center page. An icon will notify you that there are risks associated with this project.

Figure 323.	0	Project Name		Health Trend	Overall'Health Schedule Health	
	E3 10 A 102	Acconstration			.0	
Risks notification	10 gamma	Wate Ward as Babis adjession	+		3	0
	Cicke project	re conto southe rate associated with the	1-1 2/1-1	**	8	

Editing Issues and Risks

5

The value of managing issues and risks in a project site is that team members collaborate in their recognition, assessment, tracking, and resolution. Maintaining the status of each open issue and risk is part of the work of the people to whom they are assigned. Team members review and update their issue and risk entries via the project workspace. Reviewing their statuses is a regular part of project management.

Team members view their issues and risks by clicking the *Issues and Risk s* link in the sidebar of their Project Web App Home page:



The Issues and Risks page resembles the following:

Figure 325.	Issues and Risks			family did you
Issues and Risks page	haus			
lusks page	Armsteinart	A14	magarial	(bad)
	Frida			
	Property and a	Pres-		1,0000
	Productioners			

Clicking the project link takes you to the Issues page or Risks page for that project, where you can edit the issues or risks lists. You can edit any of your issues or risks by clicking *edit this lis t*.





(+) new item or edit this list ρ All Active Risks Edit this list using Quick Edit mode. All Items an item

You will see your list (in the case of the preceding example, the list of issues assigned to you) in editable table form, similar to the following figure. Edit the list options as appropriate, and then click *Stop editing this lis t* to save your changes and return to the original (issues or risks) list.

Figure 327.	Risks o	
Stop editing this list	Mage of Array thes Rel. All here all breaches All Occurd Male Induscher	P
	at a lite segment	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		the trianal is vicential

List Management

As a project manager, you are responsible for the effective operation of the project team. An essential part of this is the simple and regular communication of information between team members. As well as your normal leadership functions, you may also choose to adjust the configuration of the tools used for communication, particularly SharePoint. The organization will typically set default methods that are deployed through project workspace templates, but you may have the ability to adjust these templates to make team operation smoother and more efficient. Examples of common adjustments include defining list columns and views.

- Navigate to the Project Site for ProductLaunch. 1 2
 - Click the *Issue s* link to view the list of issues associated with the project.

Figure 328.	Arra apaters of minister SSLRIN re					(Seekingerse	- ,
<i>Issue s</i> selected	★ maxilen of still v d We want of the state of the state of the state of the state of the st	10 Ang ath	-	10 B	Servi-	3.416	
	1 V shake showing a supervise substance 2 Analytic basic resume room for showing a substance 3 Strategies resume room for showing a substance	Surdeau ere (Listemer Haain Sural Dual	T Nasi T Nasi T Nasi	at modula Harmonia Karinga	ti boyot Historyot Liberyot	SCHEROCAR RACERCERAR READERERAR	

3 Click the *Lis t* ribbon to reveal the function icons. From *List:Setting s* click the *List Setting s* icon [116] to navigate to the Settings page for this issues list.

Figure 329.	Issues - Se	ettings		
List Settings page	La Municipalita Name Wab Anthras Generations	lanas Argunapapapanide turat status an Perlama Mita terage sta	ent personality president programment production and an antiper programment of the personal statement of the personal stat	d follow the program of balance from they to thread,
	General Millings		An resource and Userage Parts	1216-0-2010
	 Soft Name, Alex Strenuting unit Advance with Advance large Range without Software without Software without 	etter kolonisatet Tegratingi Terratur and est terra te te	 Danis Poj kji Special sa krespisov Saranguns for first kit. Handhas Serlingi Linkeplan Serlingi Strangen Alfraditation and Report do Latinge Serlingia and report to party satinge 	+ Mil-annege

Selecting Versioning

One of the options for lists and documents is versioning. This means that previous copies of entries or documents are stored, though only the most recent version is generally displayed. Versioning is useful if there are multiple people making entries against a particular item, and you need to refer back to an earlier draft. You should only select Versioning when you are certain it will be needed. There is a danger that the SharePoint storage demands will expand rapidly if this function is used indiscriminately.

1 To work with versioning, go to the list Settings page (shown in the previous figure) and click the *Versioning setting s* link (in the *General Setting s* section).

You will see the Versioning Settings page, where you can select the appropriate level of version retention.

	odt anogotian 🕜 IIII (8.83					
Figure 330.	Settings - Versioning Settings					
Versioning						
Settings	Content Approval Sound y of where safe device out thinger to an output that a board even in the output state and the output of board event state and the output of board events to output the output of the events of the output of the output of the events of the output of the output of the events of the output of the output of the	Securie content approximation administration denset Chines 18: 44				
	Rev Vector / Mory	Deade a veteori aschinte Voriebilan dari milari milari bil?				
	esert non este en entre la contrata esert non este este a la contrata est Loorn about ne olors	 Vec (B) Net Optionally limit, the manifest of vectors to require Keep the to loan quantum st vectors: 				
		 Keep drafts for the following maintain of approved versions: 				
	Einith Rem Decurity					
	Define all the end of the sector states of the test of the been at the sector sectors are well, of the sectors and the sector states carticles that its latent states proceeding who are new and oak prats.	who should see durft froms in this light # Any sear vite can read turks Only users who can est dense Only users who can est dense Only users who can approve itering and the author of the benig				



Defining a List Column

2

energy and

1 In the *Column s* section of the list Settings page, you can click a column to be redefined or select the *Create colum n* option to make a new one.

Figure 331.	31. A polary scheme internet or stout each term in the list. The following column term can each with use later				
Columns	Ophanes (Back Source)	Inc	feautest		
section	111w	tingle in elufted.	4		
	Mecifica	Cuts and finia			
	Crowlod	Data and find			
	OATEL	Penon or Group			
	Average + = T=	Person or Group			
	that its	Choice			
	Calegory	Choice			
	Printly	Choice			
	Tau- Date	Date and Dime			
	Concentration	knottple lover of text			
	Resolution	Multiple lines of text			
	Bolizied Revis	Relates Users			
	Croated By	Person or Group			
	exist Hest Ry	Petson or Singup			
	P Cardo colores				

· Cydele column

* Activen ording steedorm

- Column ordering
- 2 Clicking any attribute in the *Column s* list will take you to the Edit Column page, where you will be presented with a list of field attributes (appropriate to the field type, which cannot be

changed) for the column you selected. Edit these attributes as appropriate.

In the following example, we are changing the *Titl e* field to have a maximum of 100 characters.

Figure 332.	ALC Interpation 🕜 BOT USKs	
i iguit 002.	Settings + Edit C	olumn 🛛
Edit Column		
page for Titl e	Warrie und Type:	teraniciane
field	Type a memo for this column.	life
		The type of information in this to us on it.
		Single law of text
	Additional Column Cettings	<i>vexipien</i>
	South independent for the source of Information yes activated.	
		Hequire that this column contains information:
		8 Ver O Mr.
		O Ver 8 No
		Matematication of characteric
		X X
		eclast value
		🔅 Test 🗍 Calculated Online

3 Scroll to the bottom of the screen and click *O K* to save the changes. Return to the list Settings page.

Defining a List View

1

Lists can be displayed in different layouts and with different parameters. They typically have one or two default views, depending on the type of data being displayed. For instance, one of the standard views for a calendar list is a monthly table, while a group discussion list has a threaded discussion view. You can create your own view to display relevant information.

To define or edit a list view:

From the List Settings page for ProductLaunch, click the *Create vie* w link located at the very bottom of the page. You will see the View Type page:

Figure 333.	Settings - View Type a	
View Type	trout a new light	
page	The Manufacture View Manufacture Control of States and	The second secon
	THE Communities and the second	The second states of a second state of the second point of a present allows of these as been to be ready used to be.
	$\overline{S(\lambda)}$ denote their type of the term in the spectra that we have the full λ	Same data a transford traiger in order a second de fair fai allo againtea act a containe é ferrative.
	and hors as alloting view	
	 Additional Accession of the Other Additional Consequent of College Additional Consequent of the Other Additional of Consequent One Detection Additional of Consequent One Detection 	
	 All Taxas Insure Stitution at Lance 	

2 On the View Type page, click the view style that best suits your needs. For this exercise, we clicked the *Standard Vie w* link, which took us to the Create View page for this type of view.

Figure 334.

Create View page (for Standard View)

Settings - Create View o			
			0 (inter
lane .			
na concepto de las citerios destrictorias de la beleción de la concepto de la concepto de la concepto de la con Inguier forma	No. De		
	Citago (ta tha dallad inee ta politik alem (mig)	
ules.			
the first spin-flat meaned for insulin actions to be insu	Dine Dine Pyr	tentiji Le a Personal Mero Hed Hero, ang Hidensiak Perspirit yan it	÷
	*1.00	ara Notal Yango A lakal ngi dal aksisisi kaji kaji ta oranj	The Local
4 Colomo			
and a long of the basis of the termination of the second to have been also been by page to only the second of the second s	Date	Column Name	Prolition Proof Left
	2	0	
	4	the labor is in a short see.	a 19

- 3 The Standard View presents data in a traditional table format. On the data entry page in the preceding figure, enter the following information:
- □ View Name : "New ProductLaunch List View"
- □ *View Audience* : Select *Create a Public Vie w* so that anyone using the site can access the view.
- □ *Columns* : Select the default Column Names for this view (*Attachment s*, *I D*, *Titl e*, *Assigned T o*, *Statu s*, *Priorit y*, *Categor y*, and *Due Dat e*).
- 4 Toward the bottom of this View Definition page, you will see sections for additional view parameters, such as *Sor t*, *Filte r*, and *Grou p*. Accept all of the default values in thes sections.

	a bar	
Figure 335.		Have R
Sections on		• []] the box of the second se
bottom of view definition page		$ \bigcirc \prod_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \max_{\substack{ i \in [0, N, M, L, i, M] }} \min_{i \in [0, N, M, L, i, M]} $
		They call by the solution
		1909 - 260
		Barbara and a second seco
		 III these lients in presenting units III II. II. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I
		\square bot only by specified minor plining top introgram below inter
	a trie	
	Size of other the new motion are an apply prepare of the new private private To the constraint reaction track on the other set of the starts of the characteristic of the starts. The first of the starts of the sta	8 III Bread States of Kinester
	Septiments for data have been as a finite set.	(1) IIII Store (Service) and all in the balances in Face.
		Boose the traves which to been formed in the

- At the bottom of the view definition page, click *O K* to save this view.
- 6 Click the *Issue s* link in the sidebar to navigate again to the Issues page for your project From *List:Manage View s* click the *Current View* dropdown list to select the view you just defined, as in the following figure:

Figure 336.

Newly created issues list view

5

Mex Quick Stat	Create Vew Modify View - Create View Managete Up Managet View	Al terra + Portuget
Nonie Documents	()	Public Al Active tosues Al Disset tosues
†anks Calendar ₽roject Detai	ب د	All haves Assigned to Me All issues Opened by Me All issues Owned by Me
Recent		All Portpones issues New Productuaunch List View

Documents

Document libraries are used to store, organize, and share documents with people. By keeping documents in a central location, everyone who needs one has access at any time. You can also sync documents to your local computer so you have offline access to them.

Projects usually include documents, such as a project charter, statements of work, and closeout reports. Project Web App 2019 uses SharePoint to manage project documents.

Document libraries can either be shared by all who use your Project Web App site or can be specific to a project. In this section we will discuss how to view, edit, and add both types of libraries.

Shared Document Libraries

1 At the top-right corner of all Project Web App, you will see a *Setting s* [🔯] icon. Click this icon to see the following options:



Note: The options you see may differ slightly from the list in the preceding figure as well for following Project Web App settings, according to the permissions the Project Server administrator has granted to you.

2

In the *Setting s* options list, click *Site Setting s* to see the Site Settings page for your Project Web App site, similar to the following:

Figure 338. PWA Site Settings page

Site Settings Users and Permissions Look and Feel Reople and groups Design Manager Site permissions Title, description, and logo Access requests and invitations **Device Channels** Site collection administrators Navigation Elements Site app permissions Change the look Import Design Package Navigition Web Designer Galleries Site columns Site Actions Site content types Manage site features Web parts List templates Enable search configuration export Reset to site definition Master pages Thene **Delete this site** Solutions Composed looks Site Collection Administration Recycle bin Site Administration Sealch Result Sources Regional settings Search Result Types Language settings Search Query Rules Site libraries and lists Search Schema User alerts Search Settings

Project Web App

The Site Contents page provides a series of tiles that identify and provide links to all lists, libraries and other apps associated with your Project Web App site.

3 Suppose you'd like to change the look of your Project Web App pages. To do so, click *Change the Look* unde r *Look and Fee l*.

You will see a page that offers a variety of options.



You can also select *Title*, *Description*, *and Log o* to customize your page for your organization.

Figure 340.

4

Title, Description, and Logo page

Site Settings - Title; Description, and Logo

This and Description	Tite
iyokanina and deordofion for your dia	Fraject web 4d2
	Description
	С
Logic and Decorption Associate stage with the site. And an optimal the optimality for the The The Decorption for a logic with a without the	Recit Logo (Recit Logo Core 4, it is (Recit Corected at
 - example 7 layout ideages/lagogit you need may the gap resolition that a radio more it front and Weisserses. 	/stoc/petr/Stockets.po-logo-color_jpg
	project
	enter a description used as alternative text for the pictu
	Purject Assistantis Derzio Site in MS Clicus

You can enter your company name or department in the *Titl* e to change the display on all Project Web App pages

Figure 341.				
Change Project Web App title		Site Settings - Title, Description	on, and Logo	
	Projust, Rakaj karka	Tile and Depolphe #		
	Notice Theorem 1 Management	(φ) (φ) δ ε, σε δια τ η δεταγολογία για το φ	brown units in an antimeters of commu	
	from to Cin.+	Logic and Tester from Assessed to go with the role. And an upde sale carefyings for the assess that The the Tester have made relation orders for assessed if by outer respectively from such that provide the to the contact on conversion result bits around	2 Stanig Ser.	
	authorse of the wide production			
	era est e artículo e se jest			
	Project Canifest		Teach Long	
	Techages Certar		TALING MARKER I HAR , ARCHUST	
	to a sum tools.		Searcher of contraints and a market	
	(Inscrime)		project	
	1853		activities .	
	Weinstay		·	
	Soft in an entry		- smart a second for pixed at absorb when the first data we	
	Same Setting		 Bend Available (1) was first a 20¹ J = a 	
	C	C is a last O K to conclude the characteristic		

6

5

Click the **O K** to apply the changes

Project-Related Document Libraries

The project owner has the ability to create and manage the document library for each specific project.

- 1 From your Project Web App Home page, click the *Project s* link in the sidebar to navigate to the Project Center.
- 2 Click on the project *ABC Integration* to navigate to the Project Details page for the project. From *Project:Navigat e* click the *Project Sit e* icon. Note the *Document s* section toward the bottom of the screen.

Currently there are no documents in the default documents library associated with *ABC Integration* .

Figure 342.

Documents for ABC Integration

				- 1371
(inclus)	13 44	Suparting		
cue h	Colesare Analysisser Longian march. 112 (2000) 100, 11 (2000)	Entering No-subjective	Carlos Agrecios Sen Ericolati	
1 Seit.	Generative professions	Langung Ser Associate	Los ang Aw 30-com	
	Carl, to prefer the second to During the second to	An existence of the second sec	Les ling. All to Machine	
Newsleed			• Comments (f) ±	
Experiment in	The intervention of the state of the structure is reasoned		 2 mill 41 million contraction 	
			"I be ald the thirdely used robits	<u>,</u>
			👔 Secular M The Medic Law operation	
			火 - Ander 21 - Agent and the Charter	
			🗐 - en idale log e subse of isolgie meet aller th	
			E to date V-trape and stars the area	

Adding Documents to a Document Library

To view the documents in a document library, you can either click the sidebar link to the library or the appropriate tile on the project's Site Contents page. For the purposes of this exercise, from a project's Project Site (in this case *ABC Integration*), click the *Document s* link in the sidebar.

Figure 343.	D Shart	ABC Integration			16 rea
Default document library for <i>ABC</i>	inner (nerene) Ref	Environmente	5		41.702°68
Integration	transi Roman Jacob Materia	ur (h. 1974) B. Tenerski Armanki de	Folded -	Point & Lo	144(1-1
	Sala cur ar de . Angestar tar	 Frequence St. Traditional consideration Frequencial Constants and American Statistics 	the an energy	on ser Karstan	
		 Transition Are President and a consideration of the Theorem 2012 Programming across and the programming across and the programming across and the theorem 2012 of the programming across and the programming across and the programming across acros	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ter and destant	
		Strange (Charling the Classic sector)	···	By They	

1

2

Click the *Upload* icon to add a new document to the document the library.

Elaura 244	- Cheven Minds Uprind				ices
Figure 544.	CI + M.Valaschickehonige + In Va	man of INI Mehodology & Tangkata		I had begins	- P
Upload file to	Dijania + - Nortobe			Et di	
document library	Grantes Dountack Dountack Dountack Dountack Condition Dountace Dounta	DATA Strary Inspense Parameter Parameter	e an e topet de protocol de p	Jarourity Talan	
				Detro (*	4.1.

To create a folder in your library, from *Files:Ne* w click the *New Folde* r ico to see the **Create a new folde** r dialog box.

Figure 345.	Create a res	- loun		-	×
Create a new folde r dialog box			- Sec	-	

8 Name your new folder and click *Sav e* . The newly created folder will appear in the library.

Figure 346.

New folder in the library



10 You can view and upload files to a folder in the same manner as you view and upload folders to a library.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

1. What is the difference between opening the project using the *In Microsoft Projec t* function and the *In Microsoft Project for Editin g* function and for both of these to work, what do you need to have?

- 2. What option takes you to a page where you can view and check in all of your checked out projects?
- 3. The options in which groups, help you define the timescale displayed on your Project Center screen?

4 - 7: Match the group option listed in the left column of the table below, to the correct description from the right column by entering the letter that the step corresponds to in the blank line.

4. Outline	A. Categorizes projects by any field in the selected view, to three category levels
5. View	B. Allows you to select built-in filters, create a custom filter, or turn on Auto-filter
6. Filter	C. Provides options for adjusting the level of detail you wish to display in the projects listed in the Project Center
7. Group By	D. Allows you to customize the appearance of the Project Center list

- 8. How can you sort projects by the entries in a particular field?
- 9. How can you open the Project Details page from the Project Center, and what can the user see after it's open?

10. What does clicking the empty box to the far left of the Project Name, in the Project Center, allow you to do, and why would it be necessary?

11. What do you need to do in the Project Center if you want to search for content across the site?

- 12. Which of the following has team building functions?
 - a. Microsoft Project Professional
 - b. Project Web App
 - c. Both a and b
 - d. None of the above
- 13. What are the options available from the Build Team view of PWA?
- 14. What does the *Matc h* option in Team Builder do?

- 15. What can the default summary of the Resource Assignments view be used for?
- 16. What are the four standard Resource Availability views?
- 17. True or False: A "Committed" engagement means the resource's booking type is committed [DC93].



chapter 14 Variance Analysis, Plan Revision, and Project Communication

- Variance Analysis
- Plan Revision and Scope Management
- Project Communication Principles



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Understand variance analysis and apply these concepts in Microsoft Project
- Perform root cause analysis for unfavorable variances
- Comprehend the project management principles of plan revision and scope management
- Understand how to plan, manage, and apply change control principles for project scope changes
- Identify project communication principles
- Define the elements of a meaningful status report, communications planning considerations, and the concept of the communications management plan
- Close a project

14.1 Variance Analysis

Variance analysis is the process of identifying and understanding differences between current progress and the initial baseline estimates for a project work plan. Variance analysis is an important aspect of project control because the process highlights potential trouble spots in an evolving project.

Overview of Variance

Here's a quote that can help conceptualize the importance of tracking variances.

"Question: How does a large software project get to be one year late?

"Answer: One day at a time!"

--The Mythical Man-Month: Essays on Software Engineering by Fred Brooks

Types of Variances

Favorable versus Unfavorable Variances

In project management terms, a variance is the difference between the anticipated state of the project and the actual state at a given point in time. At the beginning of the project, when the planned schedule, budget, scope, etc. have just been calculated, the actual state and the predicted state are exactly the same —i.e. there are no variances. This is the point at which the project should be baselined.

As time progresses, the execution of the project may not follow the plan exactly. For example, if a task starts later than it was scheduled to start, there is a difference between the baseline start date and the actual start date for the task. The actual start date is later (a larger number) than the baseline start, so the difference between these two dates is a positive number—i.e. there is a positive variance. As this example illustrates, a positive variance is unfavorable. In this case, where a task is late to start, subsequent tasks may also be delayed, and the recalculated schedule may show a finish delay.

All values captured as part of the project baseline information can be compared with the current schedule's value. You may have variances for work, start, finish, duration, and cost. In each case, a positive variance is unfavorable and means that the current schedule is greater than the baseline value. On the other hand, if tasks are completed earlier than scheduled, or with less effort or less money, the corresponding variance would be a negative number and would be regarded as favorable.

The most common work plan variances (work, cost, start, and finish) measure the difference between the current estimate and the original baseline estimate. If tasks are being completed late or in excess of their original work estimates, the project manager should look for trouble signs regularly to be sure that the plan is revised to adjust to the day-to-day realities of the project. If progress is not as expected, the project manager has to figure out how to revise the plan to extend the scheduled finish date, adjust

resource assignments, or reduce scope.

The values in the current work, cost, start, finish, and duration fields are usually modified through the tracking process. As team members report unexpected changes in the plan, the current values will diverge from the original baseline values, causing variances.

Summary of Variance Types (using Microsoft Project field names)

			Ava	ilable In:
Variance Name	Calculated as:	Task field?	Phase field?	Resource field?
Work Variance	(Current Work – Baseline Work)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Cost Variance	(Current Cost – Baseline Cost)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Duration Variance	(Current Duration – Baseline Duration)	Yes	Yes	No
Start Variance	(Current Start – Baseline Start)	Yes	Yes	No
Finish Variance	(Current Finish – Baseline Finish)	Yes	Yes	No

It's important to note that variance calculations in Microsoft Project require baseline data. If there is no baseline, there will be no variance.

The two tables that follow illustrate how Microsoft Project automatically generates variances to the baseline based on the application of actual progress information.

Figure 347.	Current	Field	Baseline	Field	Variance (Current-	Field
Before applying			estimate)		original)	
actual progress	Work	40h	B. Work	40h	Work var.	Ûh
	Actual work	Ch	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Rem. work	40h	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Cost	\$4,000	B. Cost	\$4,000	Cost var.	\$0
	Start	11/5	B. Start	11/5	Start var	Cd
	Finish	11/9	B. Finish	11/9	Finish var.	Сd
	Duration	5d	B. Duration	5d	Duration var.	0d

Figure 348.

After applying actual progress

Current Estimato	Field Content	Baseline (original estimate)	Field Content	Variance (Current- original)	Field Content
Work	56	B. Work	40h	Work var.	16h (unfav.)
Actual work	24h	NA	NA	NA	NA
Rem work	32h	NA	NA	NA	NA
Cost	\$5,600	B. Cost	\$4,000	Cost var.	\$1,600
Start	11/6	B Start	11/5	Start var	1d
Finish	11/14	B Finish	11/9	Finish var	2d
Duration	7d	B. Duration	5d	Duration var	2d

Interpreting Variances

"Those who say they can perform project control without comparing project performance to a baseline do not fully understand the meaning of project control."

-Harvey Levine, Project Management Using Microcomputers

Finding Trouble Spots in the Plan with Variance Analysis

Variance analysis is key to addressing critical questions for the project manager, including:

- \Box Can the remaining work be performed by the end date?
- Do estimates need to be adjusted based on current variance trends?
- □ Are resources arriving as scheduled?
- □ Are schedule bottlenecks preventing tasks from starting and completing as planned?
- □ Which tasks or resources require additional attention to get back on course?

Looking for trouble

One of the key questions resulting from variance analysis is, "Will the project still finish on time?" One of the key indicators is the total remaining work for the entire project.

Consider this example: There are 10 months left on the project, 10 people assigned full-time, and 18,000 hours of remaining work; will the project complete on time? One person can comfortably perform about 130 hours in a month, so 10 people can perform 1,300 hours in a month and 13,000 hours in 10 months. In this example, it looks like the 18,000 remaining hours will not be completed by the target end date.

Date	Project Work Variance
10/8	50 hours
10/15	100 hours
10/22	200 hours

What if you look at the work variances each week and they keep getting worse? Consider this example:

If the variances are worsening each week, your estimates may need to be adjusted. What happens if resources arrive late? Your work variances may be acceptable, but what will the date variances look like?

Other Considerations

Note the way that start and finish variances are calculated: they use the current estimated date, not the actual date. This means a task that has not started yet can create a variance, but how?

There are two primary ways to make sure your plan remains dynamic and up-to-date: rescheduling

unstarted, late tasks and rescheduling remaining work on in-progress tasks. These rescheduling processes help you avoid stagnant work plans, a common problem for late and overbudget projects.

An Example

Field	Value
Baseline	1000 hours
Actual Work	500 hours
Remaining Work	500 hours

- □ This project was estimated to be 10 months in duration. It is now 8 months into the project.
- \Box What is the estimated vs. actual burn rate?
- □ How many hours of actual work should have been consumed?
- □ How many hours have been consumed?
- □ Based on the current burn rate, what is the estimated total duration of this project at completion?
- □ What would we see if we looked at the start variances for this plan?

The current estimated work for this project is 1,000 hours (500 actual plus 500 remaining). The baseline is 1,000 hours, so this project is in good shape, right? But the project was supposed to be 10 months in duration and 8 months have already passed. There's obviously some kind of problem, but we don't see it by looking at the work variance (which is zero hours).

What's the Problem?

- □ Assume a constant resource load on this project. If the total baseline work is 1,000 hours, how many hours should be used per month on a 10-month project? (100 hours)
- □ How many hours have been consumed to this point? (500 actual hours)
- □ How many hours should have been consumed to this point? (8 months times 100 hours per month is 800 hours)
- \Box How many hours are really being consumed per month? (500 hours \Box 8 months = 62.5 hours per month)
- □ At this rate, how long will this project take to complete? (16 months)

Another Example

- \Box The current date is 2/15. Five tasks were scheduled to start on 2/1, but have not.
- \Box What is the start variance for these tasks?

2/20 Current

a an and an an an an an an

What's the Problem?

If a task does not start when it's supposed to, it will not create a variance unless it is re-scheduled. The task in this example's baseline start is 2/1, and its current start date is 2/1, therefore its variance is 0



The task has to be re-scheduled before there is a variance. What if the task is re-scheduled to 2/20? Now its baseline is 2/1, but its current start date is 2/20. A variance of 19 days will be calculated (assuming all days are working days).
It might be tempting to wait until actuals start arriving for the task, since an actual start date will override the start date (reality always wins), creating a start variance. The problem is, by the time actuals begin to arrive, it may be too late to do anything about the variance. Remember, the sooner you can identify and analyze an unfavorable variance, the greater chance you have to mobilize effort to recover and the more options you have.

14.2 Plan Revision and Scope Management

"I come from an environment where if you see a snake, you kill it. At General Motors, if you see a snake, the first thing you do is hire a consultant on snakes."

- H. Ross Perot

Preserving the Integrity of the Plan

Creating and publishing a project plan is only part of a project manager's duties. Another key function is maintaining the state of a project plan so that it continues to show an accurate picture of the project as time passes. This is where maintenance of the project plan is important. It must reflect not only that time has passed, but also that some work has been done on tasks. It must also account for the fact that there may have been changes in how reality actually turned out compared with what was anticipated when the plan was originally created.

If a project is in trouble, it's important to remember to use the plan to manage the project—don't deviate from the plan, change it! Depending on the type of problem you are having, there are different strategies you'll need to employ to get your plan back on track. The bottom line is that something needs to change *in the future* if you are required to deliver on-time and on-budget with high quality and all expectations met.

Tools can help the project manager revise the schedule, but first you have to know what will work for you on this project in your particular situation. Changing the work plan is not as easy as simply changing scope, schedule, or resources. There are usually some pretty limited options; for example, your sponsors don't want to cut scope, the schedule is not negotiable, and resources (people, machines, and money) are limited. Some project managers fail to recognize the need to adjust one of these factors and end up compromising quality.

Getting Concurrence

Before the project manager can revise the plan, there are often project sponsors that must approve your revision strategy. This is a situation where a project manager is often forced to make trade-offs. Some examples of trade-offs include:

- □ A cheaper resource can help the project stay within budget, but the work estimates may increase due to lack of experience of the cheaper resource.
- □ A scope reduction may help, but you are probably sacrificing some of your objectives to stay within schedule and budget.
- □ Adding lead (overlapping tasks) may appear to shorten the schedule but often increases the risk of missing the schedule because of the possible need for rework.

The unfortunate reality is that serious oversights in the SOW or plan will significantly reduce the chances of completing the plan according to all of its original expectations.

Why Plans Should Be Revised

"Management must have a purpose and dedication that must have an emotional commitment. It must be built in as a vital part of the personality of anyone who truly is a manager."

- Harold Geneen, IT&T

When can a plan be changed? Minor plan revisions can turn into major revisions that require the project manager to ask for more funding, to redefine the project scope, or to re-baseline the plan.

Stage-limited commitment [DC94] provides for re-planning at the end of each phase. If this expectation is set properly, the project manager may have the opportunity to make major plan revisions at every major

milestone.

Sometimes the project manager has to accept the reality that unfavorable variances are continuing to mount and the trends cannot be reversed. This situation should force a major re-think of the overall project SOW and a new plan to deal with the problems before the project fails completely. Communication is critical at a time like this. The project manager must let management and the sponsors know what's going on and why.

Variance analysis records should be maintained to provide good documentation for why the plan must be modified.

Aggressive Revision

How can the project manager avoid these problems?

Project plans must be regularly and aggressively revised to keep them in line with current activities. Drastic changes to the plan are often the result of too much time passing between the project control cycles of tracking, analysis, and revision.

Strategies for Plan Recovery

Plan Recovery Using a Tool

The advantages of using software for this process include:

- □ Project management tools can help with "what-if" analysis.
- □ Multiple options can be rapidly generated.
- □ Output can be summarized for management presentation.
- Data can be extracted to answer very specific questions.

Crashing the Schedule

When the project manager is presented with the need to make drastic changes to achieve the original schedule, project management tools can help investigate strategies quickly.

Some ways a tool can help you visualize the effects of plan revision include:

- \Box Changing the critical path
 - Adding or breaking links
 - Adding more tasks to the critical path by including tasks with small amounts of slack
- □ The possibility of displaying multiple critical paths
- □ Adding lead or lag time to tasks
- □ Decreasing the task duration
 - Adding resource(s) to effort-driven tasks
- Decreasing a resource's work on a task
- □ Reducing scope
- □ Deleting tasks
- □ Using Risk contingencies
 - Drawing upon "buckets" or a management contingency line
 - Assigning overtime work

All these strategies are simply ways to visualize what could be done; actual solutions require stakeholder support and agreement.

The Foundations of Change Control

Effective scope management makes two important assumptions:

The project manager has made it clear what the scope is.

A sound approach to change control highlights the importance of the definition document, specifically completion criteria.

Strict scope management also requires adherence to the deliverables acceptance procedure.

Change requestors acknowledge that their request is out of scope.

This second crucial assumption relies on the communication and acceptance of the change control procedure at the start of the project.

Even when these two assumptions are valid, scope management requires a tenacious attitude from the project manager.

Project managers sometimes become overly concerned with client satisfaction when they are asked to make "free" scope changes. Effective project managers manage scope well by knowing how to say "no" with a smile; perhaps more importantly, effective project managers know how to say "Here's what it will cost, is that OK?" with a smile.

Planning for Change

A project manager can avoid the worst effects of project change by being prepared. Some strategies include:

- Anticipate probable changes on the next project. This may mean being more rigorous when developing the work package descriptions or including additional risks in the list.
- □ Have an explicit change management process. This may include process documents such as:
 - Project Change Request (PCR)
 - Change Order
 - Change Authorization
 - Contract Amendment
- Define, plan for, and track project and management reserves with management. These may be represented as a "bucket of hours" or a contingency budget.

With a change management process, it should be clear that a change request is not the only step. There needs to be an impact assessment; approval for any change in schedule, budget, scope, or quality; and a formal update to the plan.

Impact Analysis

When project managers are presented with requests for change, they are usually asked to estimate the impact of making the change. A common set of questions might be: how much will it cost and when can I have it?

Since the project manager can anticipate that changes are inevitable, s/he can also anticipate that requests for impact analysis are inevitable. As a result, the project manager needs to load a task in the plan and allocate hours for "analyzing the impact of change." For a plan with 2,000 hours of project management time, the impact analysis might be allocated 10%, or 200 hours of time.

Each time a request for change is submitted, there will be a budget of hours to perform the impact analysis without adding to the overall cost of the project.

If your project sponsor resists a line item for impact analysis, you might need to inform your sponsor that even impact analyses are out of scope. Yes, you do charge for estimates!

Summary Change Control Procedure

Following is a sample change control procedure:

- □ Change request is completed by team member or user and submitted to project manager for evaluation
- □ Project manager and primary client contact approve change for impact analysis.
- □ Project manager records time spent on analysis and reports impact (price, schedule, scope)

and recommendation for approval or disapproval to client.

- □ Out-of-scope changes are recorded and deferred, if possible.
- □ In-scope changes may have to be added to work plan immediately.
- □ In- or out-of-scope changes may be disputed and sent for arbitration in extreme cases.
- □ Approved changes are recorded and signed by project manager and client to indicate approval.

Crossing the Line

This procedure should be adopted early in the definition stages of the project. The expectation that scope will be tightly managed must be set from the beginning.

A good project manager will quickly condition the project team and project sponsors to the idea that scope changes will be tightly managed and will not be implemented without a formal, written procedure.

There are a variety of ways to keep change control in the front-and-center of attention:

- \Box Introduce it in the SOW
- □ Review it at the project kick-off
- Devote a section to it on the status report, such as in the following figure:

Figure 349.

Project Status Report for July

Example status
report with a
section on
change control.

Sample Change Control Summary Section							
This section of the July status report summarized the Project Change							

Total PCRs Submitted for Analysis	Total PCRs Approved for Analysis	fistal PCR Analyses Completed	Total PCRs Submitted for Approval	Sotal POIs Approved	Total PCHs Implemented
15	10	7	4	3	2

14.3 Project Communication Principles

The Elements of a Meaningful Status Report

The project status report is a regular project management deliverable. Therefore, its structure should be communicated in the deliverables guideline of the SOW, as follows:

- □ Summary
- □ Planned accomplishments for this period
- □ Actual accomplishments for this period
- □ Explanation of differences
- □ Major tasks planned for next period
- □ Issues / Concerns / Recommendations
- □ Project work plan trend analysis (often displayed graphically)
 - □ Cumulative task summary
 - □ Work variances (see Section 14.1: *Variance Analysis* for a refresher on variances)
 - □ Start variances
 - □ Finish variances
 - □ Week-to-week trends (gaining or losing ground)
- \Box Change control summary
- □ Financial summary / cost variances

Project Communication Planning

There are several important questions about communication that a project manager must consider as part of the project planning process:

- □ What information does each stakeholder or group of stakeholders need?
- \Box When will they need it?
- □ What's the best way to communicate it to them and what tools are available?
- □ How and how often should we review the communication plan for effectiveness?

Most project communications planning is done as part of the early project planning phase, since that's when communication begins to become necessary. It is tempting but dangerous to assume that decisions made in the very early days of the project will remain true and useful as the project matures.

Communications Planning Considerations

Communications requirements – Communications requirements include the type and the format of information required by all stakeholders. The project manager should also consider the value of the information needed. Since communication requires resources, those resources should only be spent to communicate information when doing so bolsters project success (or poor communication prevents it). Other issues that might be necessary to consider include:

- □ Project organization and stakeholder positions
- **Technical disciplines and departments included in the project**
- □ How many people will be involved and where they will be located
- □ External communication (e.g. likelihood of public interest)

Communications technology – The available communications technologies can range from hallway conversations to formal meetings, from simple written items to online project plans and data. Some factors the project should consider include:

- Does project success require having frequently updated information constantly available, or would regular written reports do?
- □ Are necessary communication systems already in place, or should implementing those systems be part of the project?
- □ Will project participants require training?
- □ Is the available communication technology in the organization likely to change during the project; how might that affect the project?

Constraints – Constraints in this context are factors that limit the project manager's options. Are there information security needs or contract provisions that might limit the team's choices?

Assumptions – Assumptions are factors that must be considered real for planning purposes. Assumptions involve risk, but unrecognized or unstated assumptions greatly increase that risk.

Communications Management Plan

A communications management plan is a part of the overall project plan that includes:

- □ The methods which will be used to collect and store needed information; these should also cover updates and corrections
- □ A description of what information (status reports, schedule, technical documents, etc.) will flow to whom and what methods (written reports, meetings, etc.) will be used to distribute the information
- □ A description of each item of information to be distributed, including the format, content, level of detail, and conventions or definitions to be used
- □ A schedule showing when each type of communication will be produced
- □ A description of the procedures to be followed to get information between scheduled communications

A plan for reviewing and updating the communications plan as the project progresses As with many of the plans we've covered to this point, a communications management plan may be formal or informal, highly detailed or broadly framed, depending on the needs of the project.

Administrative Closure

The Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge includes *administrative closure* as part of the project communication process. Administrative closure consists of documenting project results for formal acceptance by the sponsor, client, or customer. It includes collecting project records, ensuring that products meet final specifications, analyzing project success and effectiveness, and archiving such information for future use.

Administrative closure activities should not be delayed until project completion. Each phase of the project should be properly closed to ensure that important and useful information is not lost.

The overall purpose of administrative closure is two-fold. One critical issue, of course, is formal acceptance of the project (or phase of the project) by the project client. Some form of documentation that the client or sponsor has accepted the product of the project should be prepared and distributed to management and team members.

The second purpose is to support continuous improvement of the project process within the organization. Being good at what we do is always easier than getting better at what we do. A major way to do that is to have some form of "lessons learned" process, beyond the usual terminal project report. The most effective approach is a face-to-face meeting among the project team where team members focus on what they have gotten from the project experience that is worth keeping for their own use and sharing with other members of the organization. This helps overcome the natural resistance to the "report card" approach, which is far more common in organizations.

The real issue isn't how did I do on the project (because I can't change that); it's how will I use this experience on my next project?



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

1. What is variance analysis?

not re-scheduled.

- 2. Fill in the blank: In project management terms, a variance is the difference between the _______ state of the project and the _______ state at a particular point in time.
- 3. In project management, what are the most common work plan variances and what do they measure?

- 4. What are the two primary ways to make sure your plan remains dynamic and up to-date?
- 5. True or False: If a task does not start when it is supposed to, it will create a variance when it is
- 6. Fill in the blank: The project plan must reflect not only that time has passed, but also that some has been done on tasks.
- 7. Who usually must approve the revision strategy before the project manager can revise the plan?
- 8. What are some examples of trade-offs that project managers may be forced to make?

9. What are some of the ways that project management tools can be used as part of the plan recovery strategy?

10. What are some ways a tool can help you visualize the effects of plan revision?

11. What two important assumptions does effective scope management make?

12. Effective project managers manage scope well by knowing how to say what word? Explain.

13. What are some strategies that a project manager can implement to avoid the worst effects of project change and be prepared?

14. What are some ways to manage stakeholder expectations about scope change?

- 15. How should the project status report be structured?
- 16. What is the overall purpose of administrative closure?



chapter 15

Presenting Project Information with Microsoft Project 2019

- Communication Options
- Using Tables, Filters, and Views
- Defining and Using Custom Fields
- Communicating Project Information
- Exporting Project Information



At the end of the chapter, the reader should be able to:

- Describe the communication options in Microsoft Project, especially as it pertains to options available to format the Gantt Chart
- Effectively create, utilize, and modify the tables, filters, groups, and views features available to display meaningful project information
- Sort information in views
- Define and use custom fields
- Communicate project information as it pertains to the dashboard and visual reports available in Microsoft Project
- Know how to set up and manipulate the information in dashboard and visual reports
- Export project information

I n earlier chapters we've discussed the importance of updating project plan information with actuals and updating the plan itself to reflect the results of work done and changes in scope. For this information to be useful, you must be able to easily display the information you need and be able to present it to project stakeholders, often in the form of status reports and progress reports. These presentations require organized data and graphics, so this chapter will discuss the presentation options available to users of Microsoft Project 2019.

15.1 Communication Options

One presents information with Microsoft Project 2019 using one or more of the following options:

- □ Capture what is on the screen in a format that allows the user to paste the image directly into a Microsoft Word or PowerPoint document or as an image that can be sent as a picture to stakeholders. Recall the *Copy Pictur e* tool discussed in Section 9.5: *Taking a Picture of Your Gantt Chart*. This approach is a major avenue for reporting graphics.
- Display a view containing the information you need.
- □ Print the information, or a selected set of information, on the screen to prepare hard copy reports.
- Export the data to another application for manipulation or to prepare electronic reports.

Options with the Gantt Chart View

The Gantt Chart is a relatively simple picture of your project. Since it is a calendar bar chart, it is easily explained, even to someone who is unfamiliar with the format. The last version of Microsoft Project made the Gantt Chart even more visually appealing by adding three-dimensional texturing and enhanced colors to the calendar bars, as well as cell background formatting to the table portion of the view.

The standard Gantt Chart presentation can be modified in several ways:

- The **Bar Style s** dialog box is the quickest way to make extensive changes to the Gantt Chart.
- □ The *Format Bar* ... button allows users to change one bar at a time.
- Drawing on the Gantt Chart allows users to add notes and explanations to the calendar field.

We'll examine these three approaches in the following exercises.

Using Bar Styles to Change the Appearance of the Gantt Chart

The **Bar Style s** dialog box (which can be accessed from the *Forma t* tab on the ribbon or by right-clicking the Gantt Chart itself) provides a great deal of flexibility in formatting the Gantt bars and the attached text on a Gantt Chart display.

As mentioned earlier in this book, you can display interim plans on your Gantt Chart. The following lesson

explores how this can be done using the **Bar Styles** dialog box.

Displaying Current, Interim, and Baseline Plans on Your Gantt Chart

By comparing a task's baseline to its plan in the Tracking Gantt view, you can see how a task's actual schedule compares to its original estimate. If the project is only one week old, then this comparison might be sufficient. But suppose we are three months into the project and would like to be able to see the current situation, as well as the baseline and forecast for the remainder of the project.

Microsoft Project 2019 gives you the capability to save interim plans as well as baseline plans. An interim plan [DC95] is a snapshot of your project's scheduled start and finish dates at a specific point in time. You can save up to ten interim plans. By presenting the baseline, a dated interim plan, and the current updated plan, you can show the evolution of the project plan since project execution began.

- This exercise uses the file **InterimPlan.mp p**. Open this project before beginning and ensure you are in the Gantt Chart view.
 - 1 From *Project:Propertie s* click *Project Informatio n*, and in the **Project Informatio n** dialog box, set the *Current dat e* to "6/26."
 - 2 Switch to the Tracking Gantt view.
 - 3 You would like to save a snapshot of the plan as of today (June 25 [of the current year]) and display it on your Tracking Gantt Chart for a future management presentation. From **Project:** Schedul *e* use the Set Baselin *e* dropdown to select Set Baseline You will be presented with the **Set Baselin e** dialog box.
 - Select the *Set baseline* option button. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 350.	Set Basoline	-						
Set Baselin e dialog	@ Set baseline							
box	Baseline Jast saved on 3/18							
	🕐 Set interin glan							
	Grow Scheduled Mark/Finish	10						
	pros StarticFendul	1.4						
	Eptre project Selected Josks Roll up baselines To yel commany tasks Down outbacks into selected commany	o taixa)						
	Heb OK	Cancel						

5 6

4

Click **O K** to close the dialog box.

Apply the Baseline Table: *View:Date:Table* dropdown and choose *More Table s* .

Figure 351. Applying the Baseline Table, part 1

	anter anti-	Attelit Part og a - Project
Sec	-Tennet	Q Teller and provide task
Trace Street	i valitinge i - valitinati - Vano -	1) See- China See guid- 7- Outron T Rockman - Des Talanse II: Antonia - Des Canon Orio East a 10 Wytersen
estate 3	to rise Tall	Web and Cast Over Ewel: look (larger
5/16	3/1	Fell fo
5/6	6/28	Sam
5/4	529	D(3)
2/30	2/2	2. * h *
4/2	672	setucite in
6/13	6/25	Traciditie
6726	625	
1.17	2/24	
2/3	628	
6/25	367	N 11 1 2
3/3	7/14	111Ek
1/24	10'23	21 Doute Layer
1/20	3/34	The Store Facility of the strength of the stre
1/34	8/35	Mar Laws

Click on **Baselin** *e* table then **Appl** *y* . 7



11 Now apply the Tracking Table (*View:Data:Trackin g*). Enter following Actual start dates:

i.	Task 3: 5/12
ii.	Task 4: 6/3

iii. Task 5: 6/12

Figure 353. The Tracking Table

Figure 352.

Applying the

2

	Task Name +	Art. Start =	Act. Finish	÷
1	 Software System Implementation 	5/12		NA
2	≠ Build Project Plan	5/12		NA
3	Create Statement of Work	5/12	5	/29
4	Obtain approval of Statement of Work	6/3	6	/12
5	Create project plan	6/12	6	127

12 Now apply the Variance Table (*View:Dat a* then choose *Varianc e*). Note the difference network the start date and baseline start. Also, note the difference between the finish date and the baseline finish.

The Variance Table

	Ser.	Tokine and the second second	Line of a	na 3	1640	Tax.		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
	15	s setting a system of short specifier	11		10		arry aday	
28	-	a advertise the	14.1	MI		1. 16.	any idea	
	5	stream it in one distant	412	49	43	40	1 1 1.44	mental Print and All States of the
-	5	And the paper sector in the rest of Wester	47		4.54		the dame	and the second se
. 4	1	find a de	413		4.7		1 June	A manufacture of the second seco
. 4		Provencientation and terms	6.28	201	178		ton line	
	-	Stills receptored dis operations	6.3	201	12	8.2	Para Stars	
	2	* - alexander a distance	14.20	. in	4.5	No	Cara Adam	
	1	Laters in Prevent States	14.2		1.1	the second	CT.1 4141	Test State
-	-	110000711 110.009 101.00	14	1. 11	100		621;1.408	*
-		andre notice and de lange	1.1	6. 44	2.	534	1017 4600	*
-	S	arrange in general in stinutes	de	6. 540	1.1	6 500	+*** 48M	4
120	5	To see the rest of the second	120	1. 14	1/54	(1414)		4
	1	A Case of a self that had,	379		N 4	6.415	In y day	
- 28	1	A dations on	3/22	2. 29	- V-4	0.0825	to a date	4
14	-	the courty appoints.	3.58	211	124	5.2	Sec. dam	
÷Ŧ	-1	Co deals a de miner	315	- 14	120	7:11	Sec. dam	
14	-	As destance on	. 2.1	1911	1.22	6. 67	Cases drives	
1.0	les .	And and a start of the start	10.00		6.24	- 1 A	1111414	

13 Apply the Tracking Gannt view. Then, choose *View:Zoo m*, and from the *Timescal e* dropdow choose *Week s*. Note that each task has two Gantt bars. Also, note that the bars are separated for each task. What does this mean?

Figure 355. The Tracking Gantt view

	int	11 N		- 4.4	ted. bare	£1.	÷.,	24.	the states	2 2 4	140.10	1	- w 0. 2.
1.1	0000	a mean years species	10	- 14	1.14		stray	49.4				1	
14	- C	a sublemp nation	20	de	1.94	11.00	1.000	1.444	172			1.16.	
		And J.F. Logistics, Mails	1540	128	14	198		64.4.	and the second second	101		The state	
- 19	-	Southers and all altern set	47	122	2.8	17	1.10	4.4.4		and the second	- 19K		
- 71	1	TRAFFIC TO AND SHOT	2.6	100	100	1000	-the	10.00		1.14	-	- 100%	
1.22	10.0	arrente projekt plan ande seder	dist.	1.00	4.4	160	100	14.41				- P-R-	
1.14	-	A life caref dans, light	106	158		1.000	1.00	als.				- fax	
	-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	254	1.2	30	1104		44			-	-	1.00
6.2	-	Terraria terrarian had	1.5	10	10	199	1.14	18.1					20/7-00
100	1.00	Construction of the second sec	1	1.	. 14.7	100	4.00	49.1					and the second sec
\$ 11	1	the state of the state of the state	25.50	:30	200	2.5	1.10	144				122.1	Printer and the
	-	mana a labor a data at	152	:22	2.8	730		44					() () () () () () () () () ()
1.14	-	C Deterts Todaynet Tertacabe	-	1.20	1.50	100	1.000	A hear					
- 14	-	a interplant and the state	Sec.	30	-014	190	S. STA	49.1					111 To 11
- 37	1	ABORT STATEMENT	342	200	1000	100	1.10	10.00					Party Ave
		Lond and proceeding	154	.7%4	2.8	740		44.44				1	them of the
1.17	1	Survival accepted a para	100	67	.50	1.00	1 Gen	1.44				1	
- 18	-	Turkey of the stat	124	25	14.0	. 24	40.00	44.0					
- 11	10	- increase had do margin	1	10	1.00	20	1.10	44.					

Now investigate how the Bar Styles are configured on the Tracking Gantt view. Right-click in the Gantt Chart (in the white area) and select *Bar Styles* from the menu that appears. (Alternatively, from *Format:Bar Style s* click the *Forma t* dropdown to select *Bar Style s*). Your screen will resemble the following:

Annen and Withmann	and the second s	WWW.coWitcomound	50 minute of the second	and the second second
1		Normal Networking Solt, Artist Mathematics Normal Networking Solt, Artiste Nat. Man.	C. ETack Ref.	Test Inch
Task Progress	-	Norwal Noncritical Active Not Idam ally	E EARLIN MINT	Campleterthenugh
MARLINE TAKE	40	Hormal Noncritical active Manually Sche-	t-taikilart	Takk Kiele's
"Mamual Split	100	Normal Split Active Manually Scheduled	t Tauk Start	Task Fields
"Metsel Progress		Normal Acercitical Active Manually Sche	Li Actual Start	Complete Through
Mart only	1	Manuals Scheckled Flaceholder (Slart)	1 Taole Shart	7464 3591
Finick-cally:		Uknusity Interduled Flaoritoider (Frailt)	1 1/Teck Histolt	Task Kimidi
Autoritica		Action Meanweils, Scheduled Edeparture der 1	Anarda Bols Perhansanan	(iiiiiiiiiii
Rangime 1gtff		Normal Not Rephylicit	L Baceline Start	Banding Proch
2012 B (2011 PA	•	Mélerdone Nut Placebalder	1-Task Hields	Took Fields
Eastine Miedzne	Tor.	billectore Active.htot Placefullitier	5 Baurline Finish	Basaline Finish
lad Bet				
24		More	191	
2444		- stages	· Mag	
3er		- Infant III	· lpe	
Calles I		ton Marine	- cost	

13 Save your project. [JG96]

Viewing the Gantt Chart Bars without Resource Names

Microsoft Project allows you to customize and control almost all aspects of information presentation, including views, formats, and layouts. By default, the Gantt Chart shows resource names next to task bars, but you can change the names to initials or remove them completely as you desire.

□ In this exercise, we continue the use of the file **InterimPlan.mp p** from the previous exercise. If you did not perform that exercise, you can use **InterimPlan_Inst1.mp p** from your exercise directory.

1

Figure 356. Bar Styles dialog box

- 1 Apply the Gantt Chart view, and from *Format:Bar Style s* click the *Forma t* dropdow and select *Bar Style s*. You will see the **Bar Style s** dialog box as before.
- 2 Select *Tas k* in the *Nam e* column, and the *Tex t* tab in the bottom half of the dialog b
- 3 Select *Resource Initial s* from the *Righ t* dropdown list. Make this change for both the Critical row and the Task (non-critical) row. Your screen will resemble the following:

Fox. m Aster States distance. Chen Tan Tanàn Tao ng Caling ang Katilan Bang ang Ing Tang Caling ang Katilan Bang ang Katilan Katilan Sang Katilan Bang Bang ang Ing Tang Katilan Bang Bang ang Katilan Katilan Bang Bang Sang Bang ang Katilan An reasonable No. 10 and and a state 20.551 Two shed . Textart Test Test Orbert Linkson strad Sect Constantines net inte L JIKSSIT Konsen (de ende diff dit er om Fra mar merende sidvative mer de alla se tà tra división sea canar y in in the Tel fari Conditionition ind wegwit rian of Trus Tell and Su Televial Program ive your like and called in the same by deter L establish Task 1 wold ta na jiyi ta'atu Abumidy Nome Nonofi talatina Me Int - a 1.80 Constaat Proop Teal State Teal State , scale Cart Nith only et an de foil enders fan brûkter (Clar). Waarde stratigiet Anterstolder Heisen 5.42.41 L arctriti lat - Mar de Sek y de Uf ar is is en ander Ted find base for sir 15 Ave. 124 1.0 Server and Longo ÷ 16 In at 4000

Click *O K* . Your screen will resemble the following:



5

4

Save and close your project. [JG97]

Changing Bar Style or Color

Along with the drawing tools, changing the bar style or color can be used to communicate information. Let's say that the assessment task involves an outside contractor, so you would like to highlight it for the next management review.

- In this exercise, we continue the use of the file **Reports.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open **Reports_Inst1.mp p** from your exercise directory.
 - 1 Right-click the bar for Task 11, *Assess printer hardware*. From the dropdown list, select *Format Bar* ... to see the **Format Ba** r dialog box:

Figure 359.

Figure

Bar styles

Figure 358.

with initials

Task bars

357.

(Text)

Format Bar dialog box

		Format	Bar		
Bar Share Bar Te	a)				
Start		Midde		but	
pupe	4	Shage	4	Shaus	
brei	*	Pyttern		type	÷
Dolon	v	Cglori	v	Cojor:	-
Sample					
			Resou	rte Nemes	
Hab			Enst	06	Diricit

2 Select a new *Colo r* for the task bar and click *O K* to save your change. Notice the new color for the bar for Task 11.

The *Format Bar* ... option allows you to change one bar. You can also change several at-a-time, just as the *Bar Styles* ... option changes all similar bars (task bars, summary bars, etc.).

3 Save and close your project. [JG98]

Analyzing Variances in Your Project with Microsoft Project 2019

Keeping your project under control requires that you periodically look for tasks that are not progressing as originally planned. Once you have begun capturing your project's progress, you're ready to analyze plan variances.

Microsoft Project 2019 *automatically* calculates the difference between current progress and original estimates. Microsoft Project places the result into five different variance fields, as follows:

- \Box Work Variance = Work Baseline Work
- \Box Cost Variance = Cost Baseline Cost
- □ Start Variance = Start Baseline Start
- □ Finish Variance = Finish Baseline Finish
- Duration Variance = Duration Baseline Duration

You may find it easier to remember these by thinking of the Work field as current estimated work and the Baseline Work as original estimated work. The Work Variance is then the *difference* between the current estimated work and the original estimated work.

The same holds true for the four other variance fields listed above.

When using Project Web App to collect actual hours of work, Microsoft Project assumes the first day actuals were entered on the actual start date. This is one reason % complete can be so misleading; Microsoft Project assumes the task started when it was supposed to and took the originally calculated or planned number of hours to complete. The only way to get accurate variance data when using % complete tracking is to manually populate the actual start and actual finish fields, or the actual work fields.

Any time the current estimated values are higher than the baseline values, the resulting variance will be a positive number. As we covered in Section 14.1: *Types of Variances*, this means it is unfavorable.

There are several ways to locate unfavorable variances in Microsoft Project. If none of these are suitable, we can always build new tables and other tools to help isolate trouble spots, as described later in this chapter.

Comparing the Baseline to Actual Data

Project baselines and actual data can be displayed graphically in charts or numerically in tables.

Displaying Project Statistics

The Project Statistics summary gives you a high-level overview of how you are progressing against the baseline. You can see a comparison of the current (or scheduled), baseline, and actual values for each of the five main value fields (i.e. start, finish, work, cost, and duration). You will also be able to see

variance for the start and finish dates.

1

This exercise uses the file **VarianceAnalysis.mp p**. Be sure this project is open before beginning.

From *Project:Propertie s* click the *Project Informatio n* button to see the **Project Informatio n** dialog box for your project.

Figure 360.	Project Informat	ion for WarranceAnalysis'				
Project	Start gate:	8623		Current date:	3/18	
Informatio	Einsh date:	7/18	+	Status date:	NA	
n dialog	Schedule from:	Project Start Date		Calendari	Standard	×
	All ta	sks begin as soon as possible.	Priority:	500 🕀		

2 Click *Statistics* ... at the bottom-left of your screen to see the **Project Statistic s** summary for your project, similar to the following:

Figure 361. Project Statistics summary

and the second	Start	- march		Finish
Current		2/26		7/18
Baseline		2/26		7/13
Actual		2/26		N/
Variance		0d		0,714
	Duration	Wat	rk.	Cost
Current	102.71d		2,066h	\$103,250.01
Baseline	102d		2,030h	\$101,449.96
Actual	26,54d		6504	\$32,500.00
Remaining	76.17d		1,416h	\$70,790.01

Notice this project summary data includes % duration complete and % work complete.

3 Click Clos e .

As vital as presenting project information is, we first have to locate it and organize it in a way that the receiver can use. Microsoft Project 2019 offers so many ways to organize information that some users are overwhelmed and have difficulty using Microsoft Project effectively as a presentation tool. The remainder of this chapter will examine how to organize and present project information useful to project stakeholders.

15.2 Using Tables, Filters, Views, and Groups in Microsoft Project 2019

Most project views include a table. A table is a set of formatting instructions that tells Microsoft Project which data fields (columns) you want displayed on the screen. The default Entry Table, for example, contains the ID, Indicators, Name (always Task Name), Duration, Start, Finish, Predecessors, and Resource Names fields. The default Cost Table contains the ID, Name, Fixed Cost, Fixed Cost Accrual, Cost (always total cost), Baseline, Variance, Actual, and Remaining (cost) fields.

Microsoft Project 2019 provides seventeen predefined task tables and ten predefined resource tables. If none of the standard tables meet your needs, you can create a new table or modify an existing one (be sure to give it a different name). When you save your project, your new or modified table is saved with the project.

If the new table would be useful to other project managers, the Project Server administrator can import it into the Enterprise Global and make it available for all enterprise projects.

Selecting the Right View

In order to clearly understand the concepts presented in this chapter, it is critical that you understand the guidance offered in Section 3.3: *Navigating in Microsoft Project 2019 Views*.

As we covered in Section 3.5: *Finding the Right Information*, a view is simply a set of formatting

instructions that tell Microsoft Project what you want to see on the screen. Selecting the default Gantt Chart view, for example, tells Microsoft Project you want to see a calendar bar chart on the right, a matching table (by default the Entry Table) on the left, and a list that includes All Tasks (the default filter).

Microsoft Project 2019 contains a variety of views, including sheet views, chart and graph views, and form views. Examining them will provide ideas for different presentations of project information.

The six most commonly used ones are shown in the decision tree in 3.5. For tasks, the Gantt Chart and split Gantt Chart are very useful; for resources, the Resource Sheet and split Resource Sheet; and for assignments, the Task Usage and Resource Usage views. Microsoft Project 2019 automatically opens other views for you (for example, custom tracking views when you set up the tracking method to be used for the project), but remembering these six views will save you valuable time.

During project execution, the Tracking Gantt Chart becomes another useful view you should remember.

These seven views, along with several new dashboard views (discussed later in this chapter), will meet most of your information presentation needs.



If your organization wants to use equivalent views to those above for all enterprise projects, they should be created by the Project Server administrator and named "Enterprise [name of the corresponding default view]." If Project Server contains views, tables, and so on with the same names as the ones used locally, you will constantly be asked to rename or replace your local items to avoid conflict.

What Type of Information Are You Looking For?

Each view in Microsoft Project displays a unique combination of project information. The trick to using Microsoft Project effectively is first to know what type of information you are looking for, and then to know which view you can use to find this information. Once you are in the correct view, you can adjust the display to see the exact information you require.

If no view exists that comes close, you can create your own. Again, please see Section 3.3: *Navigating in Microsoft Project 2019 Views* for a detailed overview of this subject. The following exercises will explore how these views work with enterprise (published) projects.

Standard Views

1

For this exercise, launch Microsoft Project 2019 and connect to Project Server. Open **Task+ResourceWorkload.mp p** and publish it to Project Server.

From *Task:Vie w* use the dropdown arrow to select *Task Usag e* . Choose *View: Zoo* , *Timescal e* dropdown: *Week s* . Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 362. Task Usage view

		10	144	- terthe contract of a state	+200 -> +0.4	1.775	1000	1.0.00	ALC: N		1000	2022.01	394	CHECK 1	
	18	100	5	A Solite are System ing energetics	10451-07	6.41		52,6	0/10/W.	11.78	1.10	140	1.46	the -	- 3404
		-	-	A said Baye & Ba	100.000.00	4. A.		- 61	- web	Her	1.11	100			
			×.	 Y and B do in the Way. 	145 m. 15	Ret		10	454	1.814		_			
				Mar Prairy	15.00	A'm t		224	1/34/60	- 56	_				
				and services and the	- *****	2. 21		1.0							
				v8164, 1000	,25.92	9,24+		145	1.00%						
	1.18		-	 Wear opposite Real as its Way. 	a' 10 L	Gat.				12					
				The Price	200	Cat				- A.K.					
2				A desired and	5 fee	4041				- 54					
1					0.5m	0.90				- 0					
- 5	204		11	- CHERCELETERS	22744 L	2.21				- 68	1.00	.14			
- 0				Adv. Strates	$G \sim$	Nat				- 44	624	420			
				A first official	19.00	1.181				***	154	414			
				2001 (1909)	171504	6.701				114	476	15/6			
		1	-	a subman expensal of presson plan.	A 1948 V	0.941						+4			
				1001100	12.40	4,281						1.0			
				Prima dia an	12 %	Nas						120			
				AniAnn	18.44	Wat						114			
	. 4		15	Budepreip an the ba-	1.00.1	Wat.									
	1.18			a setter constant second		2.40	1					4.4			1.00

The Task Usage view presents the task list just as in the Gantt Chart view, but it also shows resource assignments for each task. The right side of the view is a timephased grid, which lists the planned work for the project by default. Other fields may be added or substituted in the timephased grid, and the timescale can be changed just as in the Gantt Chart view.

- 2
- If you are looking for resource information but aren't interested in task assignments, from *View:Resource View s* click *Resource Shee t*. Your screen will resemble the following

Figure 363.			0	Featurities *	ine.	- Waterel - hat do - thing	- His - askin-	the -1	- that is a	8ii +
0		1		labo trenery	Web	1	10.04 (\$10.00)	aletter.	Stattmored.	Stormal.
		15	-	Selector Participation .	Work	R	the CASSAN CONSTANT	aught.	\$1,31 proceed	division .
Resource			+	Bernie Hugor	WER.	R	unit Somunyhr.	Sumple:	Sourcessoured	branchine .
Sheet view		4		Second Ready	WOR	6	santi Somunybe	southr	Sum Franked	because
			٠	iterate investored	WORK	.0	nets semanyly	sumhr	SUB Proceed	because
		1	٠	kar Higher	WOR		house page and	50,00/hr	\$0.50 Promped	Standard .
			٠	Willie Gonesi	Work	W	10055 \$800000/hr	\$0.000hr	\$3,00 Prombed	Standard
	5	10	•	Ad in Posticousie	Wark	1	10010.5090.00/hr	\$0.00/hr	\$0.00 Promited	Standard
	3			Techining	Wark.	T	0005 S100,00/hr	30.00-hr	\$3.30 Promited	Surced :
	DUPER	31		Wary Demington	Wark.	ĸ	00015 SJ00.00-Pr	50.00-hr	\$3.30 Promited	Starcard

The Resource Sheet view presents both generic and specific information about enterprise and local resources. Although task assignments are not shown, over-allocated resources are flagged in red boldface with an alert in the *Indicato r* field.

3 If you require a more detailed resource view but would like a static (rather than timephased) view, from *View:Split Vie w* select the *Detail s* checkbox. You will see the Resource Form view in the lower frame with the Resource Sheet in the upper frame, as follows:

		0	Witness in Street		and + Non + suchast	-	and a second second second
Figure 364.	1.0	John Terrent	Allor 8		100N \$100.08/hr	38.08/he	Still Proteined Illambert
During	1.4.1	Rebecce Burns	Mort	W	100N \$308.08/hv	58.00/14	Still Provided Thereford
Resource	= 1.4.4 ·	Barris frazer	Mint		14000 \$2000.00/hr	30.00/84	Statt Provided Variant
Sheet over	夏 47 4	George Brooky	Werk	6	1004 5100.00/hr	\$8.08/9+	Still Persied Review
Docourco	25 12 4	Earld Crustered	Werk	10	10010 5800008/94	\$80.00/94	Still Provided Standard
Resource	2	kown Hagglins	March.	¥.	LINOIS SHORE HORE	\$8.00/8+	SLIK Provated Manshed
Form	3 1 4	Mile Gross	Werk	14	1000.5300.00/hr	\$0.00/84	\$6.00 Provided Thermood
	- 1 A - 1	halle Parelleviski	Web	8	10010 3000.00/14	\$0.00/hr	St III Prototoid Standard
		Test Holes	Work .	3	100N \$100.08/hr	38.08/14	Still Proteined Itlansfert
	-	Annual	thet	346 -	TRAM, PSAMA AND AND	through a	Will Describe Resident
	Cores.	Publick Burn	later (*) a	an	freizen .	Res .	
	Canity		Date:	C. Rended		XX16 - 11	
	100	10 10 20 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	B Drive		1920		
	B	AT SOOR ADMINE IN	and + gala.				
	S Desired	and the best base		Contraction	w. Newman and Jame	and Prop. 4	
	2 1031	Strong 2 (Contractioner) of the	Mark, 200			100-1 H	
	and the second s	Receipt a creation of the	and the second second			4.00	
	10.0 -1	twoon is donter approval of a	rent par	10.0	m	8/18.	
	368-1	tysour 20 million application	atten soupe atten	1	#1 31.31	8140	

This view provides the "big picture" about resources in the upper window and details about an individual's tasks in the project in the lower window. For enterprise projects, the Resource Form includes the total work, costs, and schedule for all activities on Project Server under the category Other projects and commitment s .

) NOTE	Remember, when you are in a split-window (combination) view, only half of the window is active. To make any changes, click the pane that you want to edit before typing. Clicking the appropriate pane confirms that your keystrokes and mouse clicks affect the pane you wish to modify. Notice that changes made to enterprise resources, other than changes in the open project, will be lost when the project is saved and re-opened. Enterprise-level resource information must be changed in the checked-out Enterprise Resource Pool by an administrator
	Also, it is best to <u>remove the split view before applying a new view</u> unless you wish to maintain a split window view of your schedule.

If the resource-based information you are looking for requires task assignments with 4 details over time, remove the window split (double-click the line between the two panes), and from View: Resource View s click Resource Usag e . Choose View: Zoo m , Timescal e dropdown: Week s .

Figure 365. Resource Usage view

	1.00			1223		2264				0.0407				1.16773	ALC: NO
	0	- Annual and	ALC: NO	2.44	12	11	H	- 1.0	164.7	Re.	123	341	1.92	1236-5	TET
2		a providence	AND MALE	15.98	1.041	1. 1.10	- 44								
		bar farmers d'anni	and free	1.10	1.21	14									
		Scheme and the two states	444	5.92		14									
		the way to de	40%	Net		204	NA								
		" "many on ord day metalan		Note:				0.00							
		de dae prepart de	31%	1.44							- 12h				
		 Amari Wani, Amaria Sango 	C2 %+	Nah										411	
		The manufacture restriction of commu-	24.	5.65											11
		+ Selected By Inc.	1.2 10.	524		140		- 28						14-	1.22%
		Cell's Cells resi 2 Mais	27.51	152											
		DEDINATION OF STOLEN AND A CREW AND A CREW	1.00	ASE .		12									
		many sector store	30.5/8	850		24	100	1947							
		Construction of the property sector	1.901	5.46				1.0							
		Antipe automated and a support	at her	1.95										0.95	
		W	19.942	10.98											114
2		a lavela de se	-res here	5.08	100	1.16	- 10	188	1.04		1.00				
		yawa a was shown	4644	NO	- 20	- 54									
		The same of the description of	44.	Web.											
		The house of the	40%	Web.		2.4	120	140							
		Schule and the section of the sectio	34	W.ab				198							

Just like the Task Usage view, the Resource Usage view lists a resource's assignment to all other projects in total hours, along with the planned work for the tasks in the open project. Another advantage of the Resource Usage view is that it always begins with the local resource *Unassigned* —a handy listing of tasks in the project that have not yet been distributed to the team.

5 From *View:Task View s*, use the *Gantt Char t* dropdown to select *Tracking Gant t*. This shows you the critical and non-critical tasks, as well as progress against those tasks. This view is truly comprehensive; it shows estimates, actuals, and baselines all on the same Gantt Chart.

As shown in the following figure, the top half of each bar represents the current estimate, with actual progress represented in a solid color and the remaining estimate shaded. Also, the bottom half of each bar represents the baseline. Finally, critical path tasks are represented in red, and non-critical tasks are blue.



Customizing Tables

1

In the following set of exercises, you will modify an existing table, create a new table based on an existing table, modify its layout, and apply it to your project.

Modify an Existing Table

 \Box This exercise uses the file **TablesandViews.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.

- You should be in the Gantt Chart view with the Entry Table applied. Suppose that you would like to see start variance information along with the defaults for a progress report. Move the divider to the right until you can see the Finish column.
- 2 To add the Baseline Start column between the Start and Finish columns, right-click the Finish column header. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 367. Column commands menu

		0	Victo	+ Tuknane	- Gunties	- 51817	Ander
	E		100	 Software System Implementation 	Si dega	2/22	7/22
	1		100	- Duild Project Plan	23 deys	2/20	3/39 44 552
	100		-	Create Statement of Work	13 days	2/23	30.25
	4		-	Ohmin approach of Statement of Work	1.024	6/16	Area and a
	4		-	create project plan	8.640	20.1	\$125 the mar ad
	4		-	He wave project plan with team	lung	3/25	3/29
	10		-	Obtain approval of project plan	0 ciero	3/25	3/22
15	4		10	 Finalize project plan and definition 	24 days	3/30	5/2 × 10 × - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
8		٠	-	Oversite System Revaluation	12 \$ 194	2728	->d A 54-
2	10.		-	sietemune sument andi recture	N Mayor	4/17	2000 A 100 mm.
5	14		-	Assets and estes on the server	5.04 45	4/14	alize (D Deid Setsings
8	14		-	Association fractionale	3 (195	4/27	8/2 In Latentiets
	-10-		-	Commanicate with Integrator	Iter	5/2	5/2
	14.5	13	100.	a Correlate artitlaris na draft	12 damas	6/5	

3

Click *Insert Column* to see the Column Name dropdown list.

Figure 368. Column Definition dropdown list

Figure 369. Table with new column

	(Tyre Column Name)	
íń.	Lines .	
	adde	
5.06	sh Complete	
2014		
6100	A Cost	
12.4	Canter	
fills.	(Panka)	
12140	al Overtime Cost	
50.4	d Chevrone Mark	
A12.80	d Start	
271.42	a weik	
6274		
12.22	Altracifitte (Livesprice)	
104	a more that has a second	
anig	neront Dalay	
8-1 M	and the state	
Attlg	ner ont Units	
1.604	ine tranger cost	
Bax(教育 教育的 化化学学 化合金	
1408	Ine Coll	
Eloci	an Delas and Prints	
I KN	ine Deliversbie Start	
Report	ios Doctorio.	
Land	ine Ertimeted Dunwton	
1994	and the state of the state	
Sax.	ine Eritmeter Start	
E NO41	ine Elicisti	
200	an Pard Soc	
E aprel	Ine Fixed Cart Account	
Ser.	an Auto	
Ease!	Inc Mode	
8.904	and delightent	

4

5

From the Column Name dropdown list, select *Baseline Star t* . Your screen will resemble the following:

	0	vale -	laitmine -	- U	reserve	- 393		datalise statu	- 160	
+		- C	 Software System implementation 	55	dep	2/27		2/25/2013	7/12	
		-	- Duild Project Plan	23	days.	2/22	3	2/35/2013	3/28	
160		-1	Greate State mem of Work	13	daye -	2123		2/26	2715	
+		-	e thread appointed of stratement of work	13	114	8.284		42.54	2/11	
2		-	itaisite project ekai	8	in.	5/11		\$2.8	10.00	
40		-	Berts viproject plonwith team	23	11	3/15		3/25	2/22	
1		-	Obtain approval of project plan	De:	ana -	2/22		3/20	2/22	
		-	- Finalbe project plan and definition	34	daya	1/10	3	3/29	5/2	
10		-1	Online Ayreen Provincement	12	days .	2,91		3/29	8,114	
明		-	tertromine calend authorities	10	isp.	4711		4/20	40.1	
11		-	Assessment sets on the Server	(4)	ing.	4/58		2/25	41.8	
11		-	Assess printer herdevare	30	10	4/17		4.528	8/1	
84		-	Contenunicate with Integrator	11	in	5/2		\$/1	5/2	
14.		-	- Complete architecture draft	32	days.	\$/1		5/2	6/4	
18.		-	Conduct Service	6.0	inye.	\$45		42	6716	
11		-	Nendout propipation	13	y to	5/11		200	N/m	
-12	+	-	Conducting on Converse	1.	16	5/32		\$23	2/28	

Save your project. [JG99]

Inserting a column works well as a temporary way to view data, but you may not want to make extensive changes or re-use the "temporary" table for every upcoming progress report. A more effective approach is to start with an existing table that is close to what you want. The following technique could also be used to start with a "blank sheet of paper" to create a table.

Copy and Customize an Existing Table

In this exercise, we continue the use of the file **TablesAndVie w s . mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open **TablesAndViews_Inst1.mp p** from your exercise directory.

Since there is no table that shows all five types of variance, you have decided you want to create one. The Variance Table comes closest, since it has start and finish variance, so that seems like a good place to start. 1

2

From *View:Dat a* select the *Tabl e* dropdown and click *More Tables* You will be presented with the **More Table s** dialog box:

Figure 370. More Tables dialog box

Figure 371.

Table Definition dialog

More Ta	bles	×
Tables @Taik Desource		
Barekne Constraint Dates	. *	Ben-
Cest Delay		gar.
Earned Value Earned Value Cost Indicators		
Entry Fiscal		Qrganizer
Mygerlink, Rollug Table	÷	
[20	Apply	Centoel

With the *Tas* k option selected, select the *Varianc* e table and click the *Copy* ... butto You will see a **Table Definitio** n dialog box similar to the following:

fred lane	mp-may	184	Junju 184	meader (happing	1ed Vicence
Tan Koolo Sane Dat Pergin Realting Vant Security Party	553333 55333	d Mi Toli Kaner H H H H	111111111	*****	
Outs most Distant		Brenheight 1	10	97	em.).

- 3 In the *Nam e* field, overwrite the existing text with "Complete Variance."
- 4 Select Baseline Start and click the *Delete Ro w* button. The Baseline Start row will disappear from the **Table Definitio n** dialog box.
- 5 Delete the Baseline Finish row as well.
- 6 Select Finish and click the *Insert Ro w* button. A blank row will appear above the Finish row.
- 7 Use the *Cut Ro w* and *Paste Ro w* buttons to move Start Variance between Start and Finish.
- 8 Click in the blank cell below Finish Variance and select *Duration Varianc e* from the *Fiel d* dropdown list.

.

- 9 In the *Titl e* field for Duration Variance, enter *Duration Va r*.
- 10 Repeat step 9 for Cost Variance and Work Variance. Your screen should resemble the following:

Figure 372. Completed Table Definitio n dialog box

	111111	Cold Statements				pro-resources of	3
Test Nation Said Valuets Read East Valuets East Valuets Dat Valuets Not Valuets		10 10 11 15 15 10 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16	Re Tec	unge title unt unt Unt Contes Contes	Fander Wasping Inn Inn Inn Inn Inn	Ted Wagping Ko Ko Ko Ko Ko Ko	
bergrout Detail		Double of the	1.8	8			
et jaar too satano 21 gate aayaat toodar ooo toogate							

11 Click **O K** . The **Complete Varianc e** table will appear in the **More Table s** dialog box. If you would like to see it in the short list of commonly-used tables, click the *Edi t* button and, in the Table Definitio n dialog box, select Sho w in men u .

J7J.		
te	Indian (6) (Fit: C.Steamon	
e table	Eastine Consister addition	Sev-
Table	Constraint Dates	£dt.
g box	Delay Canted Value	<u>C</u> opy
	Earlied value Cost indicators Earlied Value Schedule Indicators Export Hypotink	Qrganiter
	Apply	Core

Figure Compl Variar in Mo s dialo

> NOTE

You can specify how date fields are displayed in the table. If you keep the default option under the date format, it will use the format as defined under *File:Options:General*

Confirm that the *Complete Varianc e* table is selected in the **More Table s** dialog box and click 12 *Apply* . Your new table will be applied to the Gantt Chart view. Save and close your project [JG100].

Viewing Variance Data in Tables

The following exercise uses the file **VarianceAnalysis-2.mp p** . Ensure this file is open before beginning.

The following set of exercises steps you through the process of viewing cost, work, and schedule variances.

- 1 To view cost variances in your project, use the *Gantt Char t* dropdown under *Task:Vie w* to apply the *Task Shee t* view to your project.
- 2 From *View:Dat a* use the *Table s* dropdown to select the *Cost Tabl e*. Notice the Cost Table includes the Cost Variance field and other cost-related fields that show how the Cost Variance was calculated (i.e. Baseline Cost - Cost = Cost Variance).

Figure 374. Cost Table applied

	Section	Antes +	÷.,	S. 1 da. 4	tes + m	-	Shiel in		10 1	lars at en
	· Indexe table - plane dates	30.0	Benter	3,22,000 (1	ICLINE.	84,710.00	111 105.00	INCOMPANIES.		
13	· Boor & Tape 1 Blue	50.00	1.00	50,010	31,000 00	\$254.00	Second	SQUEED.	SUAT DOLLAR	
1	time second second second	(max)	100	9.00	(1, 100 a)	5-1	2,004	Caster	m Willemaße Gene	Permitter
4.7	Oild approved a line and a line	11.00UD		0.121.02	11.300.00	10.000 00	10.000,000	20.30	and the second second	d have
*)	A reacting of card place	Sec.	1000	5.5	20,000.000	\$25.4-11	2.000	12,500.00	1	allo, desperivitions and not for an
1.1	and the major play state state	- Aller	- 198	5.9121	Ti, same	3.11	2140	(001.1)	148	Hydefie indevinationals with
	Collar up and diptrices also	3640	- B.,	6.6	AUD.	10.00	Ka	20.00		and been been been been been
	 Tradic Soly (Tar's 1 and calls came 	50.00	20	Shine	(IRANAR)	96,350-00	34.00.00	ST-COMP.	1	
42	a inferior months indiminant in	No. 1		358.00	(any state)	3/2	\$1.71.00	Public I		and a set of the set o
6.7	Dying play many of an Mill States	11.301.00	- 45	0.12 2	Monut	12,526-52	N.G	4,90.00		
н.	Companyation in Sector	56.00	10	Kinn	2000.00	A com	2.00	\$1500.00		Rouse
ц	- Among the stress of entropy	 Series 		SO111	2010.00		200	C. (01) 11		
11	 A transition with trapping 	. 6640	- B.	0.522.02	11.004.00	. 6.2	. MAK	4440.50		
44	· Den viele and discussion is all	30,00		Mark	121000.00	8.405	2.00	111250.00		
11	Londan unase	See.		SHOT	21 (100 00)	5.601	100	ALC: NO		
11	General Anti-	Manager		0.19.40	21 Amage	10.000	Note	6,66,55		

3 To view work variances, from *View:Dat a* use the *Table s* dropdown to select the *Wor k* table. Notice the Work Table includes the Work Variance field and other work-related fields that show how the Work Variance was calculated (i.e. Baseline Work - Work = Work Variance).

Figure 375. Work Table applied

			2					an in the second second second
2	a surface and an arritration of the	100.00	inter .	un line	10.0 M	a contra		AN 14 41 1 20 41 - 14
-	- Labi P. des. Bai	Di a	1116.1	Of las.	41.4	dia.	174	r
- 4	Taxa a class free of the Deck	1.00 14	Lot a		25.11	4144	70.5	any simple research and second and
C 4.	a same approvement can reveal should be	A.10.	-		12.10	1.000	1.00	infrage solutions for rule starfages
- 4	4 . em	105 m	1103	No.	150 .	Min.	MA.	management and the party of the second second
0.6	Orrest a container of these	2.4	12.0	* mar.	24.4	(The s	20.8	
2	I shar approve strate en stea			and a	100	1.011		and the second sec
14	All will reprint an and the	61.18	Sile-	This is	22.0	ioi ha	124	4
	Do inclusion invite new -	10. 1	101.1	T and	22.4	10 Inc	10.1	
0.44	CONTRACT OF ADDRESS OF AD	100.000	14.25	144	19.4	10.001		
1.12	BATTAR PATTE AT MARK	43.00	1.84		2.0	and here	- A	
- 11	manage and others	22 4	201-5	T in .	2.4	Mis.	24	1
2.4	NOT TRADE AND TRADE OF	50112	100	1.44	212	20.003	- 10	1
1	a supplementation or defa-	60.17	sailer.	A los	1.15	- and her		8
24	Service In the	277. 4	2012	20 in.	2.4	Tilla.	24	1
	The first set to the	22.1	0.01	1.44	2.5	(Chei)	. 28	1

4 To view schedule variances, go to *View:Dat a* and use the *Table s* dropdown to select the *Varianc e* table. Notice the *Varianc e* table includes the Start and Finish Variance fields and other schedule-related fields that show how the Start and Finish variances were calculated (i.e. Baseline Start - Start = Start Variance and Baseline Finish - Finish = Finish Variance).

Figure 376.	1	al - Sel as all da a share all a	38	(7)	173	121	lde:	HMAN	Tell of the property.
	121 194	an Antonetar	4.		1.00	450	100	11. 11. 11. 11	
Variance Table	-	Cash Burnarin Mar	241	1.16	104	2.1	160	ing.	a group to be to be taken The
applied	-	and in proceeding that in the second second		-	1.4	10.7	10.000	175	in desire relation to material states
appneu	10 M	A mail of the state	- 1+14	1100	24.00	673	T 10	MWT.	hanness and the second s
	-	in an interfactor of the st	12	10	12	42	2540	1.2.5.1	nan in dessare de
	1.14	the constrained of particular	AL N.	400	1	6.1	10.00	made	a here
	100	 Paulia provide a sector tall o a 	90	TAN .	12	6.2	200	ILC.A.	15 16
		and the system a programming	w -		10	 Convil 		111110.0	1
	1 M 1	Selvation and characteristic at	14	1-10	196	155	1.00	1126.1.4	
	- -	Assessment and a series of the series	14.0	1410	1.110	- 56	2.2.268	11.17.16.1	
	1111	A stars growthin dama.	5.50		2.4	45	45 0	search,	
	1.1	Control advertillity advertige	2480	>10	270	52.	M.Lease.	ILC.A.	19
	1. 14	and regime and research in the		1417	74		A LEWIS OF	10.00	13
	10.00	Contraction de	5.8	214	1.00	4.75	Acres	Met A.	5

Close your project.

Filtering Project Information

5

A filter is a set of formatting instructions that tells Microsoft Project which rows to display on the screen, in the same way that the table determined which columns are on the screen. If your project is especially complex with many tasks and resources, filters can help you organize your information and display a specific range of information at any time. For example, you may want to see only the tasks on your critical path, project milestones, or tasks that have not started yet.

Microsoft Project 2019 provides pre-configured filters for viewing specific task and resource details. If these filters do not match your needs exactly, you can modify an existing filter or create a brand new one.

In addition to standard filters, Microsoft Project 2019 offers AutoFilters which are visible in most sheet views.

AutoFilters

AutoFilters enable you to locate a specific type of project data quickly and efficiently. By default the AutoFilter tool is activated for each column that appears in your project table. When a particular criterion has been selected from an AutoFilter dropdown list, the dropdown arrow and column title will have a filter symbol to the right. Each type of column has a different set of AutoFilter options.

- This exercise uses the file **Filters.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - Apply the Task Sheet view to the project. 1
 - 2 From *View:Dat a* click *Table s* , and from the dropdown list select *Cos t* . Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 377. Task Sheet with Cost Table

		Tark Hares	had -		ten Get w	Taceline -	FURNO +	Attail +	Beniri-
	1	 Software System implementation 	sion	Emplated	122,001.01	\$109,250.01	\$18,758,00	\$42,500,00	ser, sonar
	1	 Build Project Plan 	\$0.00	Dad	\$30,200.00	\$22,700.00	\$7,500.00	\$38,900.00	\$3,300.00
	3	Greater Statement of Work	\$1.000	end	85,93110	\$5,800.00	\$2.00	Si uno	200.03
	8	Obtain approval of Statement of Work	\$2,000,00	End	\$6,201.00	\$1,200.00	\$5,000.00	\$4,200.00	\$0.00
	5	O calo project plan	\$0.00	tini	\$1,6572.00	\$15,000.00	\$2,500,00	\$15,000,00	\$1,500.00
	1	Review project plan with team	\$0.00	Fnd	\$1,201.00	\$1,200,00	\$0.00	sincian	5200.00
	1	Obtain approval of project plan	\$0.00	Dist	\$2.00	\$0.03	\$5.00	\$0.00	30.00
	8	 Enables project plan and deficition. 	\$5,00	Fod	50,04100	\$40,050.00	\$6,000.00	\$10,000,00	\$25,350.01
Ξ	2	Define System Drwitpretent	\$0.00	Erst	\$16,050.00	\$16.050.01	\$0.00	\$15,600,00	\$8,450.01
漢	10	Determine buildn't architecture	\$2,540,00	End	\$5,593.00	\$6,000,00	\$2500.00	\$2,00	\$2,000.00
3	53	Astess processes on the Server	\$6,00	End	\$7,532.00	\$1,000.00	\$3,500.00	\$5,41	\$7,990.00
8	12	Assess printer fundwars	\$0.00	tanl	\$1,000.00	\$1,000,00	50.00	\$0.00	\$2,000.00
	11	Computisate with integrator	sivan	Find	\$3,001.00	si,ano.ol	\$5.00	seven	\$2,000.00
	14	 Complete architecture draft 	\$0.00	Dal	\$37,250.00	\$12,000.00	\$5,250.00	\$0.00	\$37,220,00
	34	Conduct Service	\$2,00	End	818,5010	\$12,300,00	\$1,251.00	\$2.000	\$15,240,00
	16	Send out prep packet	\$4,000.00	End	25,500.00	\$1.500.00	\$1,000.00	\$0.00	\$5.500.00
	11	- Conductions interviews	\$0.00	End	25,000.00	\$2,000.00	\$2,00	\$0.00	\$2,000,00

- 3 From *View:Dat a* use the *Filte r* dropdown to select *Display AutoFilte r*. Note: this opti is applied by default.
- Click the AutoFilter dropdown arrow in the Baseline Variance cost column, select 4 *\$1,500.0 0*, and click *O K*. The Baseline Variance cost column will filter your project data for all tasks that have an estimated cost equal to \$1,500. Note that the Baseline Variance column header has a filter symbol next to it. Your screen will resemble the following:





4 Again, select the Baseline AutoFilter dropdown, click *Select All*, then *OK*. The column's original data will reappear.

) NOTE

A caution when using AutoFilter: it is possible for an AutoFilter selection to be active, yet the field on which the AutoFilter applies may not be displayed on the screen. In this case, it is not obvious why some tasks are not being displayed. A good practice when working with AutoFilter is to periodically deselect and reselect the AutoFilter option. This has the effect of removing any forgotten, residual AutoFilter selections.

Creating a Custom Filter

1

6

This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p**. If it is not already open, please open it now.

From time to time, the predefined filters in Microsoft Project 2019 will not meet your specific needs. In these cases you can customize filters to select the information you want to display.

- Ensure your project is open in the Gantt Chart view with the Entry Table applied.
- 2 From *View:Dat a* select *New Filte r* from the *Filte r* dropdown list. You will see the **Filter Definitio n** dialog box:



Fite: Det no on in 'Fiters'				Ē	
Nerse: Starts on or after 6,00				Show e	anere:
Cyc.Row Copy Row 2	siz turn [jmeri flum	Quete P	ww.		
And/Or Field Name	Te	g		nues).	14
Start	is great	er than	6/11	69/3/3	<u>1</u>
Shale related summary roles		Ť	Apply S	NR	ncel

- 3 In the *Nam e* field, replace the existing text with "Starts on or after 6/11."
- 4 From the *Field Nam e* dropdown list, select *Star t*.
- 5 From the *Tes t* dropdown list, select *is greater than or equal t o*.
 - In the *Value(s*) field, enter "6/11" and click *Appl* y . Your new filter will appear in the **Filter s** menu dropdown.

New filter in *Filter s* dropdown menu

Figure 380.

(Shi kigh ight) - Timetoak	4 9
Service Minds	+ 7
Curtore	
VD We Critical	
Genuiting	
Kay minutanay	
Later tada	
Makel theory	
Minimum Back	
The an area and	10
Unit work van	
Jos Finish Velanne	
Halt-In	
(Hall F Rail)	
Arts+Tacic	
Completes Tesks	
Critical	
Dete Storger	
incompilia i saka	
CADE TRUBIN	
Milatarka	
Summary Tecor	
Takfuga	
Tarics With Literated Durits	ens:
KegReone-	
S CARRIS	
Y blea Fiber	
T Mora tabeu	
Tr. Baptay Apta Film	

7 Select this filter on the **Filter s** dropdown menu. All tasks that are scheduled to start on or after 6/11 are displayed. Note: Only summary tasks that independently meet the filter criteria are displayed (in this case no summary tasks are displayed).

	.0	Adobi + faik	Anator 1	Brabe -	that a	ranii.	0.5.5.4	T W T P 8 1.34	1.00.013
040			Londuct requirements sessions	30 days	148.9/13/18	Tue 6/25/13		A way Semilegian	
18		-	Document system requirements	3 days	3ue 6/25/13	Tue 1/2/23		*	Mary Peret
-		-	Circulate initial requirements chaft	0.45 days	700 W2015	Weet 2/3/25			-
30		*	Document name from waytowy	125 days	Wed 375/33	Nov.3/8/18			*
108		-	integers firmi draft	L25-days	Tue (/%/33	41/06/5 baw.			

Creating a New Filter by Copying an Existing Filter

This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open **Filters_Inst1.mp p** .

One easy way to create a new filter is to use a similar or related filter as a foundation for the new one.

- 1 From the *Filte r* dropdown, select *[No Filter]* to clear your filter.
- 2 From the *Filte r* dropdown, select *More Filters*
- 3 In the **More Filter s** dialog box, select *Starts on or after 6/1 1* and click *Copy*
- 4 In the *Nam e* field of the **Filter Definitio n** dialog box, replace the existing text with "Starts on or after 6/11 and finishes before 7/31"

A filter can contain more than one condition; the *And/O r* field determines the relationship of the various criteria. If you select the value *An d*, then both conditions must be true in order for the task or resource to be displayed. If you select the value *O r* , either condition can be true and the task or resource will be displayed.

- 5 In the second row of the *And/O r* column, select *An d*.
- 6 In the same row, select *Finis h* from the *Field Nam e* dropdown list.
- 7 In the same row, use the *Tes t* dropdown list to select *is less tha n*.
- 8 In the same row, enter into the *Valu e* field "7/31." The **Filter Definitio n** dialog box will resemble the following:

ting filter	Bares: Starts on-	or after 6/11 are	d finishes befor	re 7/51			2 Show i	ngmu	
ed and	Differ:			÷	~			26	
ified	GytRow	Copy Row	Entre Row	[nsert Row	Delete Ro				
	Andron	Field Nan	e	Te	st.	1 1	aloeos-	+	
	And Finish			is great is tess	er than than	6/L1 (7/31		3	
	Employed					k			

Click Save .

9

Select this filter on the *Filter s* dropdown menu. Your screen will resemble the following: 10

Figure 383. 201 11 **** 100 10 25 - A Service and the service of the s Combined filter 34 n mit de la salaria 1. de la selar da 14 results NOTE THERE IS NOT THE CAR, I THE SHOP 10

Figure 38 Filter appl

11 From the *Filte r* dropdown, again select *[No Filter]* and save your project <u>[JG102]</u>.

Value Lists in Filters

When you created a filter in Microsoft Project 2013 or earlier, the *Value(s)* field did not allow you to choose values from a pick-list. For example, if you had defined the Text 1 field to include a pick-list with the values of A, B, and C and wanted to create a filter that found all tasks with the letter A in the Text 1 field, you would have had to remember what value you want to filter for and typed it into the *Value(s)* field.

This wasn't too hard to manage if your value pick-lists were simple. However, with hierarchical fields, remembering exactly what value to enter into your filter could be difficult. In Microsoft Project 2019 you can use a pick-list to select the value(s) for your filters by entering the custom field in the *Value(s)* area.

Filters can be specific or interactive. Interactive filters prompt you for information during the process, so you can specify criteria for each search.

Creating a Custom Interactive Filter

The predefined interactive filters that ask for information in Microsoft Project may not always meet your requirements, so you may want to create a custom interactive filter.

- □ This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open **Filters_Ins t 2 .mp p**.
 - 1 Confirm you are in the Gantt Chart view with the Entry Table applied.
 - 2 The date range filter you wrote earlier was useful, but you have decided it would make more sense to be able to re-use it by entering the "Starts after" and "Finishes on or before" dates. From the *Filte r* dropdown list, select *More Filters* You will be presented with the **More Filter s** dialog box.
 - 3 Select the *Starts on or after 6/11 and finishes before 7/31* filter and click *Edit* The **Filter Definitio n** dialog box will appear.
 - 4 In the **Filter Definitio n** dialog box, change the *Nam e* field to "Starts on or after and finishes before".
 - 5 In the *Value(s)* field for the *Star t* line, type "*Enter the start date*"? (*include the quotation and question mark after the double quotes*) and in the *Value(s)* field for the *Finis l* line, type "*Enter the finish date*"? The text contained within the quotes is what you will be prompted for when the filter is applied, and the question mark tells Microsoft Project this is an interactive filter. Your screen will resemble the following:

eractive filter finition	Barre: Starte Exter:	on or after and fin	iches before			in Sh	ow in ge	nia.
	Cut Raw	Sony Row	won strett	Jusert Row	Delete Roy	e)		
	And/Or	Field Nar	e i	Te	st	Valuesa		
	Stait			is great	erman	Enter the start date?		3
	and a sub-trans-					Λ		

6 Click *Sav e* . In the **More Filter s** dialog box, ensure the new filter is selected and click *Appl y* . You will be prompted to enter a start date; enter "6/11" and click *O K* . Notice that there is a dropdown calendar you can use to select the date, if you prefer.

7

You will be prompted to enter a finish date; enter "7/7" and click $O\ K$.

You will again see only those tasks that meet the selected parameters. Your screen will resemble the following:

 	- 1999	at Parish	Whi AUR 606 707 000
a days.	8/33	a/m	Same decage in statuted Crewters
e-days	4/32	8/28	Antonial George Stoke, Owin
didays.	8(23)	1/8	distanti ander Vennen
3 day	2/8	zia.	Anto Tarm
	e days d days 3 days	a days 6/23 a days 6/23 a days 6/23 3 day 7/5	- NUT -

Save your project. [JG103]

Applying a Highlighting Filter

8

9

2

By default, whenever you apply a filter to your project, the tasks or resources that do not fit the filter criteria are hidden. However, if you want to view all of the tasks in your project and simply distinguish which tasks do and don't fit the filter, Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to apply a highlight filter to your tasks.

- This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open **Filters_Ins t 3 .mp p** .
 - 1 Ensure you are in the Gantt Chart view with the Entry Table applied. From the *Filte r* dropdown list, again select *[No Filter]* to provide an unfiltered view of your project.
 - In *View:Dat a* click the *Highlight* dropdown list. You will see the following options:

Eiguno 206	Salament Bernish 9.74a
Figure 386.	Distant
	30-Wy Calue
Tiabliah 4	400907590
Hignligh t	Lay or letter see
dropdown list	to a train
1	Marbid - Non-mmary
	blow as She h
	Horn or enotion 3/3
	Storts on an share State and Finisher Defore 7 (1)
	station of the Contraction of the
	Starts on an efter and it signed before
	It at kory
	Ont target Alls and
	Rolline .
	The (Babilish)
	datum trodes
	Complete Tarks
	Level and
	Easter Flamott.
	In complete Tailor
	Let Loty
	Million tori al
	familiarity Today
	Test fleners
	Tests With Entropeded Completes
	Chaine Sciller and
	di thui-antina
	and the other states where the
	- 30%) #a 5 x 11 x 7
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

- 3 Click the *Starts on or after and finishes befor e* filter.
 - When prompted, provide a *Start dat e* of "6/2" and *Finish dat e* "6/30."
 - Tasks that meet the established criteria will now be highlighted, as shown in the following figure:

	0 2.	- Arabari	Sec.		See.	a se a ser a la service as a
Figure 387.	11 7	- CORDER SPECT OF A DESIGNATION	-		- be	
5	1. 3	· Balli Provid Plan	BOILD SHE	54E 1118	4.0	studie behave ter
Highlighted	118	Contractor of a distance of a No. 4 O a loss - and Materia copiet place intention	1.441 10-144 14-144	193 244 145	5H 10 44	In the rest and
ldSKS	1 2	Courte contract of a state of a s	Ida-	-	+3 	1 <u>1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 </u>
	·	En tradición En trader - a tradición en la la la m	Phase ada		21	
		And Antonio States and Antonio Antonio Indeal and Antonio	149.	148	20	
	4. 2	 Construe or defects on a official statement 	ILN-CPH	109	-	
		Sant of party and General party and	12.	101	žu	2 January 10
	1 3	Provide a labor and	Cales.	21	4.U	The second se
		1. Vite his sector with with the sector of the sector o		1007		

⁶

4

5

From the *Filte r* dropdown list, again select *[No Filter]* to restore the original

appearance.

Save your project. [JG104]

Microsoft Project 2019 has additional uses for the filtering function. For example, the **Assign Resource s** dialog box includes a *Resource list option s* feature that includes a filtering capability. Resources can be filtered by their availability to work a certain number of hours, or they you can use a number of built-in resource filters.

Project Web App views offer many of the same filtering options, with the exception of interactive and highlight filters.

Sorting Project Information

7

By default, Microsoft Project 2019 displays the tasks and resources in your project from lowest to highest ID number. You can sort tasks or resources by other criteria such as task name, deadline, and resource name. Sorting can add value when you need to see tasks in a particular sequence.

Sort the Task List

- □ This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open **Filters_Ins t 4 .mp p**.
 - 1 Apply the Task Sheet view to your project and then apply the Cost Table.
 - 2 From *View:Dat a* use the *Sor t* dropdown to select *by Cos t*. The summary tasks in yo project will be sorted by descending cost and the tasks within each summary will be sorted by descending cost.

Sort by Multiple Fields

- 3 From *View:Data* use the *Sort* dropdown to select *Sort By...*. You will see the *Sort* dialog by
- 4 Choose *Cos t* in the *Sort b y* dropdown.
- 5 Next to the *Sort b y* field, select the *Ascendin g* button.
- 6 From the *Then b y* dropdown list, choose *Duratio n* and select the *Descendin g* button.



6

Click *Sor t* . Your screen will resemble the following (insert the Duration field next to the Total Cost column to see how the dual sort works):

Figure 389. Sorted by ascending cost and descending duration

100	3Auto	Contraction I	Stat 69-11	244 1 14	Seat Sea. 7.	\$6.00 C	- 10.0 (A) (2.0 (a)	041.0-0-	Per 1 mil 1 mil 1 mil 1 mil 1 mil 1
+ 12	 Set as a single state of set of a second set of a set of set of a set o	Carlot dates	39.50 54.7	Finitian	2.11 (0.0)	SCORES, SECOND	11.2012	1000002	
n	Zon and an own warm on all on panel by the approximately	-10	39.50 Gall	14	100	38,50 (mail.1)	20-32 51 -	20-00	
1	 A second data of a second secon	1.11	39.35 54.1	1.2	21 (2005)	11.090.50	80 KG 51 T	30-22	an same damp
ii.	An and the second side	Sec.	20.55 54 1	1.0	21.000/00	11.00.30	20-22 5-11	20-24 5-11	Interior Rendfuld of
1.1	Colde a more president a su president a filment a su approximité	and a	39.30 56.1	1.0	210000	14.000.00 (2,000.01	2016 511	20.02	International Array of
+	 B. 12 decides decompose of repetator 	Orielana .	19.30 Sa.2	8.4	SUC ADDRESS Trans	112.9000 56.71	#1040.00	CHURD-CC	STEVE STRUCT
à.	And an inclusion of the second statements are an example of the second second	220 cm	30.50 54 1	1.1	21 101/0 27,1000	11390.55	30-00 5-11	300-2	
1	The market training Met.	2.4m	11/00.00 MA-1	10	21,000	11390.00 SAUGURA	DUNC IS	96,200-00 (man:	11
14	A Complete and Allocation and all A containing the researched	and the second	39.50	1.4	Sta Autom	111.000.00	HL1010	10-00	demar bur brit dan Lucar main
1	The second state of the se	inte .	1000.0	1.4	11 (00.00)	1000.00	10/00 10	20-20	 Standard Contraction States

Note: You may wish to insert the Duration filed to validate your results.

- From the *Sor t* dropdown, select *by I D* to restore the original task order to your project. 7
- 8 Save your project. [JG105]

Grouping Project Information

Grouping allows a project manager to view tasks or resources in pre-defined or customized "sets." Grouping creates new summary tasks to show rolled-up totals. Microsoft Project 2019 allows you to group based on assignment fields as well as tasks or resources in Usage views. The dialog box has a checkbox option for Group assignments, not Task s (in a Task Usage view) or Group assignments, not Resources (in a Resource Usage view). All assignment timephased fields are rolled-up to summary tasks except for Cumulative Percent Complete, Over-allocation, Peak Units, and Percent Allocation.

- This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open Filters_Ins t 5 .mp p .
 - Apply the Task Sheet view with the Entry Table selected. 1
 - 2 From *View:Dat a* use the *Group b y* dropdown list to select *Duratio n*. Your screen should resemble the following figure:

AL 14 14 14 15 15 15 AT - 131 - 511 - 114 Figure 390. 1.9 となるにつきの語 Project grouped 論 1 head init by duration 1111 4 and the local section in the の語を見 10.0 10 「日本四次」 1 144

- From *View:Dat a* use the *Group b y* dropdown list to select *[No Group]* to restore the original view.
- Apply the Resource Usage view.
- From *View:Dat a* use the *Group b v* dropdown list to select *Resource Group*. Collapse assignment information for each resource so that all assignment are hidden (Hint: Click the black triangle next to each resource's assignments). Your screen will resemble the following figure:

		14				1	diarie:			Indones	- C.		54.70.41	
Figure 391.		.0	Seease-Harr	14	101.0	Red I		.995-0	-746	318	100	1.0.0	13.0	264
Recource Licado			P. Sump Herbilton			Work				CI 00				12
Resource Usage			- Draip II		3,000.005	White		13,259	33(38)	191.471	175 526	207.528	80.759	15.221
view grouped by	- 4		* Jahn Tichney		311.8711-	When .		8.251	36.071	STARK.		34.831	20.30	
resource group	- 1		* Colores Faire		3724/h	(10.11)		68	38,955	4.674		14.84	91.01	
	1		A ensities ensite		2051/205	WHE -		16.2.7	0.101	0.00	56h			
	281		A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL		10.40	Work				201	2013	178.78	10.0	100.228
			* Mike Corem		202.5 km	When.				521	57.5h			
			* Stock Managements		3,537 101	8541				176.474	201.621	403.231	385-69	20.221
	- 4	+	* Sirvings Bandy			Wall.				51414	112.0.0.	108.540	(5.31	59.255
	1		 Taliz Availanetti 		trea be.	work				10	240.0	14.2d		
	+	۰.	Equild Convertient:		330 818	work				1.79	21.13	178.176	.93.357	367
	1.0		Teditalay		102.5 km	Work					40.03h	33.40h	1.00	
	×.		* Wery Darketon		120 11.	(Stat)							3201	

6 7

3

4

5

Grouping can be customized just like filtering and sorting.

Apply the *Gantt Chart* view. From the *Grou p* dropdown, select *New Group By* ... to the **Group Definitio n** dialog box:

Figure 392. Group Definition dialog box

Hars Giau	p.1		Z has n	gini
	Telchane	Dels Sae	Greet	Ŀ
Simply	Stat	24	Antering	1
Then by		-	£ ~~	1
TORY SY.			12	1
an ang	Calibri -C of, Begular		- 1 <i>0</i> 0-	
Tel ivigi Şiktori	Calify of st Regular			
tel (kop) Sitters Dobre Sit	[falle: /f. of, Begular		- 1 <i>m</i> -	
Deliningo Siltions Delinin Silt Network	[faller of of Begular		- 1 <i>m</i> .	
Tel rompi Sitters Datas Gra Yesse see	(falbe of st. Begular		- 1 <i>11</i>	

Click in the *Field Nam e* column in the *Group B y* row, and select *Star t* from the dropdown list. Click *Appl y*. Your screen should resemble the following figure:

E:			m	- Table Sales	Column 1	Sec.	1.000	and the star has not not not not be all had b
Figure 393.				- I MARE US AN	-8108-1	4.00	10.00	
	10.0	10.1	10.0	- Depart Subsection of plant	4.07464	1/18	10.00	man bis brood (Fightmenting Josh Teacher)
				+ 3mm 1919	44	441	100	He has bit
	100	10	-	citetale assertial of Disaccount of Statil-	3 may	4/64 -	19734	and when the same the same the same times a
Tasks				a data labor	10.000	1.14	19.07	6 Bar A11
			-	interest paint	an owned and	6/12	-12.00	The second secon
grouped by				11 1000-001	40.000	4.4	15.00	and ballan
8 - F 5		10	-	denies provide with their	(1shim):	41	14231	100 Bankin Karlandelanderscharter bie
start date				a stand and	DOM: N	440	100	1 10/141
			-	Services by some disascences.	al des	472	0.00	annual interaction interaction
				A Base Alle Stationary and		4.00	400	
		44	-	initial approach of propertyles.	distance of	4.00		Bate
				+ Real 104		4.8		(press) (press)
			-	Debalence constant, as	1.000	50	302	Ballings / Seringe 1
				1 800 925		4/84	1946	
	111.		-	Artes/personal pr//w mexe-	3.0108.0	14/12	1629	here.
				1 (Aut 185)	- 44	6/12	1410	
	- 10		-	As an a rest in the local of the	1.0.000	6/18.1	16284	
				- man light	CM STATE	100	- 10294 .	
			-	Contractions with Integration	Adapt	6,04	1528	

10 From the *Grou p* dropdown, select *[No Group]* to return to the original view and save your project. [JG106]

Microsoft Project Server/Project Online Grouping Styles

Project Web App views also offer grouping as a tool to clarify and evaluate the information contained. The Microsoft Project Server administrator can set colors for different grouping levels in the views as well as set the color and font style of the text displayed inside the cells.

Defining Custom Views

9

If none of the views included with Microsoft Project meet your needs, you can create a new view or modify an existing one. When you save your project, your new or modified view is saved with the project. In the following exercises, you will create a new single view and a new combination view, a split-screen combination of two single views.

Creating a New View

- □ This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open **Filters_Ins t 6 .mp p** .
 - 1 From *View:Task View s*, click *Other View s* and then *More Views* You will be presented with the **More View s** dialog box.

2

In the **More View s** dialog box, click *New...* to see the **Define New Vie w** dialog box.

Figure 394.	Define New View						
Define New View dialog	© Single view	entre					
	2Mp	DK	Canoel				

3

Ensure the *Single vie w* default option is selected, click *O K* to see the **View Definitio** dialog box.

Figure 395.
View Definition
dialog

View Del	Inition in Filters	Jostf/	1.5
Name	Cost Variance		
Sgreen	Task Urage		•
[able	Cost		
Groups	No Group		•
Enter	Cost Greater Th	wm	
✓ Hight ✓ Shine	ight filler in menu		
tiel	p	OK	Cancel

- In the *Nam e* field, replace the existing text with "Cost Variance." Δ
- 5 From the *Scree n* dropdown list, select *Task Usag e*.
- From the *Tabl e* dropdown list, select *Varianc e*. 6
- From the *Grou p* dropdown list, select *No Grou p*. 7
- 8 From the *Filte r* dropdown list, select *Cost Greater Than*
- 9 Select the *Highlight Filte r* checkbox so that Microsoft Project distinguishes your filtered data from the rest of the data in the view.
- 10 Select the *Show in men u* checkbox so that your new view will be easy to access from the *Vie* w ribbon.
- Click **O K** . Confirm that **Varianc e** is selected in the **More View s** dialog box. 11
- 12 In the **More View s** dialog box, click *Appl y*. Enter "5000" in the interactive filter box (**Cost greater tha n**) that appears, and click *O K* . Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 396.		Salaran D	- 0.84	11.14 - 14 - 14	ton a	tend Con -	Jost in	Sector + South +	
	1.0	 actuals with various various of 	312-341-687	\$10.0	monented	1.8.2.8.11	904, 2 a a	Seconda Signation	20,000
	1.1	a han free dit as	41.98 4.0	ford		\$80.7 W 20	\$12,300.00	1720010-00808-008-00	53, 913, 91
Variance	- 64	 Create Statement of Work 	6.02 (87,8	5000	015	2.33(4)	\$5,000,00	2010 55 100.00	Second
custom		Las Area	ACCOUNTS OF			\$1,200.00	.ana	\$100 - \$3.00.0	
cinglo viou		Setace Aver				\$1 690 67	51,908,90	50'08 31,908.96	20.00
single view		ATS SPECIAL		verse ar	1-12-17	Scenar	10,753	940 MARA	(35.3
		4 Challengers what Submarked Wark	33.61	\$5,000.00	Drt	\$6,200.00	\$1,303.90	53.000.00 \$4.300.00	50.00
	5	MAR ANG S	100107			Sealan	145.8	\$40 /453	12.2
	2	S.desco.Assir				\$430.00	Sert de	\$0.03 SACE 30	53.30
	5	Lercin, 15247				Section 20	10.0	Sec. Sec. a	50.A.
	8 1	d Divide page later.	19/0 1	Ford	8+4	\$17.8 m 21	114,814.8	\$1,530 PT \$15,310 IT	\$2,410.00
	ê	John Terney				2400.33	55,000.00	3030.03 55.000.00	callo da
	3	6 danse Room				9.30 %	31.24.2	0034-31323	5040
		2 artis Caper				25.400.30	25.000.00	\$000.30 58,000.00	5833.00
	1.1	 Kéw zwampet plan with two 	2471340	\$440		128.01	8.448	9.4-1 54-0-8	54-1-0
		Asis Tionley				\$430.60	5403.00	\$0.00 5809.30	5203.00
		APERICO ALVEL				Searco	245.5	SAN JANA	2353
		Bash/Assa				\$430.63	SACE OF	\$0.00 SNOLW	5005.00
	1.14	Citizen approval of project plan	2068	Suus	515	A 10	Sau	240 52.00	. Sam
	1	a finder neget jahr anter bedant	41.27 6.0	Annt	C. Bart	\$00 F 10 F 1	#1, P1.0	************	******

13 Save your project. [JG107]

Creating a Combination View

- \square This exercise continues use of the file **Filters.mp p** from the previous exercise. Alternatively, you can open Filters_Ins t 7 .mp p .
 - 1 From View: Task Views click the Other Views ... dropdown and select More Views ...
 - 2 In the **More View s** dialog box, click *Ne w* .
 - 3 In the **Define New Vie w** dialog box, select the *Combinatio n* view option button and click OK.
 - In the **View Definition** dialog box, replace the existing text in the *Nam e* field with 4 "Resource Allocation Diagram"
 - 5 From the *Primary Vie w* dropdown list, select *Resource Usag e*.
 - From the *Details Pan e* dropdown list, select *Resource Grap h*. Your screen will 6 resemble the following:


Click OK, confirm that *Variance Diagram* is selected in the **More View s** dialog be and click *Appl y*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 200			0	Branner Marer	Co. Welling	1.00	Invent.	14.1	1804	areyaet Apr	i. Da		ABCARSI B	**
				# On short	10	West	1				10000	1000		14
Resource	100	1		 John Tierrey 	212 57 10	Wate.		11.225	34.772	-0.0	14 11	15.61	35.12	
Allocation	1	-1		1 10 1 Country of Coun	20.5712	73.71	1	. d.	10.001	24.781		72.00	6.3.8	
Diagram	-		1	I DATE & Resp.	342.1710	Mary.		1.091	181194	25481	\$7.58	1185	1000	011000
Custom	1	1	۰.	IF O BOX'S BOOK	and but	WHY		1.00		- Wash	112,377	LIBLAR	4164	14, 217
(Custom	2	1	+	1 hir Audennis	1743-811	See				11.784	100 0110	15.0 +		
combination	-	1.4		 Dawle Crewforth 	330 km	Were	1			324	55 528	273, 171	\$ 13	208
view)		1	+	1 Kon Miggins.	217 hu	direc-	1			140	100.315	115119	3.00	12 211
(12017)		1		a MacGaur	00.045	2001	1				1000			
		1					14 044 H	142	-	7-10-4	16	10	14/04-14 24	5.2
					1995.	1								
	IN CASE			George Boody	10%	į.,				_	-			
	L.													
	and a			2	***	8								
					First Hade	, ä	-	- 1	-		12.9	12.08	-	12-08
					f wet få ale	2	— ,	-1		1 -	12.4	(2.08	C.8	

8

7

Save and close your project. [JG108]

15.3 Defining and Using Custom Fields

There are two major categories of custom fields:

- □ **Local custom fields** These are fields that can be set up by the project manager within a project plan and shared across other project plans using the Organizer and the Global.mpt. We will cover the Organizer and Global.mpt in greater depth later in this chapter.
- □ **Enterprise custom fields** These are fields set up by the Project Server administrator that can be used across all projects that are saved and published on Project Server.

This chapter focuses on the use of local custom fields.

- For this exercise, launch Microsoft Project 2019 and connect to a valid Project Server account. Open the **ABCIntegration.mp p** . Check out the project.
 - 1 From *Format:Column s* click the *Custom Field s* icon [11]. You will see the **Custom Field** dialog box:

Figure 399.

Custom Field s dialog box

ntom Fiel	45				-
Task.	E Resource	E Project	Type:	Text	
Field			e Neci in		
Health (Er	derprisel				E
Overali St Risk/Bisue Task Billin Task Com Workstree	itus (Enterprise) (Enterprise) g Type (Enterprise) wents (Enterprise) im Lead (Enterprise)				
Berinne	Desete	Last Feeling	o Entergrade	- Innor	. Field
Distant.	Wo				
	in Set	er ormennen (dy areta	2 No	Polueti	
e Cota 🔅	Graphication	dicators			

Notice that *Tas k*, *Resourc e*, and *Projec t* fields are available. A custom Task field will be assigned to every task in a project; a custom Resource field will be assigned to every resource; and a custom Project field will be assigned only to the project summary task (title). Project fields are applicable only as enterprise tools.

2 Click the dropdown arrow by the *Typ e* field to see the related options, per the following figure

T '	Type:	Text
Figure 400.	Mar.	Cast
<i>Type</i> dropdown list		Duration Pasian Plag Number Start
		Cartings Code

Most of the field types are self-explanatory: *Cos t* fields contain costs, *Dat e* fields contain dates (including the Start and Finish fields), and so on. Two fields, however, may not be self-explanatory:

- □ *Fla g* fields are yes/no fields used to mark any kind of status. They are *N o* by default and c be changed to *Ye s* to mark the task, resource, or project.
- □ **Outline Cod e** fields are hierarchical fields used to describe something like the location of a task or resource. The outline format allows you to specify information such as country, state, and city in a geographical or location description.

Notice that the commands below the window allow you to rename a field (which then displays the field both by its generic name and by the new name in field lists) or to define the contents and presentation of information. We will explore these options later.

- 3 In the **Custom Field s** dialog box, ensure the **Tas k** option is selected and select **Numb** from the **Typ e** dropdown list. Note that all Enterprise fields of this type (Number) are listed, as well as the local fields (**Number 1**, **Number 2**, etc.). You cannot change the details of these enterprise fields here, but you are able to see their parameters.
- 4 Next, from the *Fiel d* list, select *Number 1* and click *Renam e*. You will see the **Ren Fiel d** dialog box.

Figure 401.	Rename Field
0	New name for Mumbert's
Rename Field	Numbert
dialog box	OK Cantol

- We want to use this field to assign a hazard level to tasks involving flammable or toxic 5 materials, so in the **Rename Fiel d** dialog box, rename **Number 1** as **Hazar d**, and click **O F**
- Note that *Hazard (Number 1*) now appears in the list of available fields in the **Custom Field** s 6 dialog box. The Hazard level will be assigned as follows: 0 indicates no known hazard, while 3 indicates a hazard requiring the highest level of safety precautions. To allow users to properly assign a Hazard level, ensure the *Hazard (Number 1*) field is selected, and then clic *Looku p* to see the **Edit Lookup Table for Hazar d** dialog box.

	in the second	Construct Date for Manual	
Figure 402.	() inspectate		
Edit Lookup Table for	37 No. (60. (94.)) 	>	н
Hazar d dialog			22
box			1
	Barba Accessing in Street,	100.	
	(primer) (artane (primer) (artane (primer)) (primer) (prim) (primer) (prim) (pri		_
	29	Parel Instan Inter-	(Der

- 7 In this dialog, enter 0, 1, 2, and 3 in the *Valu e* column, using *Ente r* to move from one ro the next. You can also add descriptive information about each of the values noted. This additional information is not saved with a project but may be useful at the time the selection is being made. Because we want the default value for the *Hazar* d field to be 0, click *Use* a*value from the table as the default entry for the fiel d*, select 0, and click *Set Defaul t*. Now click *Clos e*, and then click *O K* to accept the changes made in the **Custom Fields** diale box.
- 8 In the Gantt Chart view for your sample project, right-click the column header Duration and select *Insert Colum n* . From the list of fields, select the new *Hazar d* field as indicated in the following figure:

Figure 403.

Selecting the Hazard field

_					
	0	Task Modi •	Task Name	[Type Column Name] Styrt	
1		-	* Scope	Hazard (Text1)	10
2.	٠	-	Determine project scope	Health Trend (Enterprise)	
3	٠	-	Secure project sponsorship	Hide Bar Utsterlick	
4	٠	-	Define preliminary resources	Etyperitnic Address	
5	+	-	Secure core resources	Hyperiink Firef Hyperiink SubAddress	
£.,	8.5	-	Scope complete	w	
7		-	Analysis/Software Requirements	Ignore Warnings	
-8	٠	-	Analysis	Indicators In Editors Category (Enternoise)	
3		-	* Design	Britake Type (Enterprise)	
10	+	100	Design	Late Finish Late Start	
11	1	-	 Development 	Level Assignments	
12			Development	Leveling Datay	
11		-	4 Testing	Life Cycle Matus (Enterprise) Link of Fichels	-
	_		1 V.0. (62) (7)	ATTING OF TRADE	

Notice that if you scroll through the field names, you will also see your new field listed as *Number 1* (Hazard), a result of renaming the field.

If you insert a new column in this manner while in an Enterprise view (such as the Enterprise Gantt Chart view) that has been defined in the Enterprise Global, Microsoft Project will warn you that these changes won't be saved. The normal Gantt Chart view, however, is local and not defined in the Enterprise Global—you can modify it at will. Changes will be saved as part of your local Global.mpt.

9 The new *Hazar d* field will be inserted as a column in the Entry Table. Click the dropdown arrow in the *Hazar d* cell associated with one of the tasks to see the values you established, as in the following figure:

Figure 404.		0	- Made	+ Techno	Recent		finare.	* 221	
	1.1		10	# Sorpe			3.13d	2/13	
Dropdown	2	٠	105	Determine project songe	Courses-		D.5d	2/12	-
values for	3		-	Secure project sponsorship	1		0.44d	8/03	_
custom Hazard	- 6	٠	-	Define preliminary resources	1		0.410	2/14	
field	3		-	Service cone resources	1.12		0.44d	2/15	
11010	1.05	-	-	Score complete		_	fvi .	2/16	

A Project Server administrator can make a local field an enterprise field. It's generally considered a best practice to first create a field and make sure it works correctly in a project, and *then* add it to the enterprise global.

10 Re-open the **Custom Field s** dialog box, select the field you just created (Hazard) and click Adc *Field to Enterpris e*. If you are an administrator, you will see the **Add Field to Enterpris e** dialog box, which asks you to confirm or edit the *Field Nam e* and the *Lookup Table Nam e*

Figu

Figure 405.	11	
8	Eductive name for th	is field and lookup failte
Add Field to	field None	mask d (Monibert)
Enternris e	goolean Table Name	Haland (ManiberT)
dialog box		ox

11 In this case, there is no look-up table so the *Looku p Table Nam e* should be deleted and left empty. Click OK. Microsoft Project will confirm the field has been successfully added as an enterprise field to Project Server. Note: Generally only administrators are able to add custom fields to the enterprise.

In addition to custom fields, administrators can create filters, tables, views, and base calendars at the enterprise level by modifying the checked-out enterprise global.

Cancel

To use any new enterprise global features, changes to the Enterprise Global must be saved and the project must be checked in; you then must exit from and re-start Microsoft Project to refresh the cached enterprise data. It's easy to overlook this feature and think you have not successfully changed the enterprise global when the new field you just created can't be seen!

In contrast to some of the earlier versions Microsoft Project, all types of custom fields are now available for use in portfolio management.

The Organizer and Sharing Custom Objects

Microsoft Project 2019 enables you to share custom objects between projects through the Organizer. The simplest and easiest way to distribute your custom objects to your other project files is to copy the objects from your individual project file to the local Global.mpt file. The Global.mpt is a file that Microsoft Project uses as a template to store a master copy of all your custom objects.

Once you copy objects into the Global.mpt, your custom objects will be available to every one of your existing and future project files; simply applying the format will automatically copy it into the project from the Global.mpt.

Objects	Availability
Views, Tables, Filters, Calendars, Reports, Custom Fields, Groups	Generally, any changes you make to views, tables, filters, calendars, reports, and forms are "local" and only occur in the active project file. When you open a new project file, it only contains the native Microsoft Project defaults for those elements, which are saved in the global file.
Import/export maps	Conversely, any changes you make to import and export maps are global, in that the changes affect the global file and apply to all project files on your computer. When you open a new project file, it contains your customized import and export maps.
Visual Basic modules	Changes you make to Visual Basic modules can be either global or local, according to your preference.
Format settings	When you change format settings (such as bold, italic, color, or bar shape), those settings apply only to the active project file and not to other project files on your computer.

Using the Organizer, you can also manually copy customized objects from one open project to another. For example, if someone sends the Project Server administrator an .mpp file with a new custom table or view, the administrator can easily copy it into the checked-out Enterprise Global (making sure that the name does not conflict with the defaults) to make it available to all enterprise projects.

To access the Organizer:

1

2

Open a project that is published to Project Server and click the *Fil e* tab to see the following options (*Inf o* is selected by default):

Figure 406.	\odot		- Mittingsforwige - Pop	of Francisco	22.63
Info page	64	Info			
	1 1	ASCINGS C+1-MW+1	2507 Roject Assement - M. Michaell Project - Michaell Project (PDI - Socione Mer - Proje	critth-income	
	111	San and a second	Permit scars Desite officient distribution program	Project Inform Nation Function Table from Table from Table from	COO 1 DECRET WOODE New Yorke
	111	Alongo Alongo	Project Web App Accounts (Manifelia: franciata Conversion at One Data	Nation Units Last Monkhood Register Colombus Princips Tracking Medical	Yolay Yolay Baadarii Baadarii Baadarii Baadarii
	Andrea Frankris Genere		Organize Global Template Westman, upot, and also assume because proverties and the plotal treatment	Project Colors Spinst Colors	Packa:

Click the **Organize** r button, and from the two available options, select **Organize** r. You will see the **Organize** r dialog box:

Figure 407.	Organizer			1.50
Figure 407. Organize r dialog box	Ciganose Vienni Reporta Mostales Tables P Global (+ non-cached Enterprise): Ciganose 00-Sipping tasks Bor Rollup Calendar Cost overnan Cost overnan Cost overnan Cist overnan	itters Colored	m Maga Pietah Groups ABCbriegration.mpp Gantt Chart Ganta with Taseline Resource Sheet Taseline Resource Sheet Taseline	
	CUSTOW- Resource Assignment Description Network Diagram Detail Gantt Gantt Chart Gantt With Timeline Lake start Gantt Uate tasks Laneling Gantt	-	Detr	2
	Views agaitable at:		Views available in:	
	Global (+ non-lasted Enterprise)		A8Ontegration mpp	
	Storen (+ Hookadied Erkelbise)	•	Accinegration hop	

- 3 Select the tab that is appropriate for your needs, and use the *Cop y*, *Cance l*, *Renam e* and *Delet e* buttons to change the objects available in the Global.mpt (to all projects) and the current open file.
- 4 Alternatively, you can access the **Organize r** dialog box in several other ways, including the following:
- □ From *View:Dat a* click the *Table s* icon, and from the dropdown list select *More Table s* .] the **More Table s** dialog box, click *Organize r* .

Figure 408.

More Table s dialog box

hadilla	1 New
Complete Variance	- Jame
Constraint Cates	Fdt.
Uzian	
Catried Value	Luss.
Father Wakes Cost Indicators	and the second
False	Organites.
Depert	
it petink	×

□ From *View:Dat a* click the *Filter s* dropdown arrow and select *More Filter s*. In the **More Filter s** dialog box, click *Organize r*.

Figure 409.	More filters							
8	ztias 🖲 🗛 Ogewane							
More Filter s	ATLAN	4	Even.					
dialog box	Cooplete Miestones Coopleted lasts		71K.					
	Cost System France Cost Overburget	12.	j.tav.					
	Control of the second s		Digeniter					
	In Program Taski Innorphere Taski Lane Substances		divit					
	Late / Overbudget Tarka Aasigned To	*						
	Puttyn .	set.	Canoul					

□ From *View:Task View s* click the *Gantt Char t* dropdown arrow and select *More View s*. I the **More View s** dialog box, click *Organize r*.

Figure 410.	More Views					
8	Урекс					
More View s dialog box	For Folius Catendar Descriptive Network Disgram Distal Santf	~	tien.			
	Ganth Coart		1			
	Ganta with function Leading Ganta Milestone Date Rollup Milestone Rollup		grgeman.			
	Multiple Baselines Ganti My Task Londing					
		φpie	Concel			

□ From *View:Resource View s* click the *Team Planne r* dropdown arrow and select *More Vie s*. In the **More View s** dialog box, click *Organize r*.

Figure 411.	Mote Views								
- guit inti	Mean:								
More View s dialog box	For Folia: Colendar Desceptive Network Diag	· Even.							
	Grad Lavon Grad Cran Gardi with Innetine Design Santi Milestone Ratup Milestone Ratup Milestone Ratup Multiple Bachine Ganti My Takk Lavol Inc	Cres. (grpanan.)							
	_	Apple Curret							
	5	Close the project	t.						

15.4 Communicating Project Information

Reporting on various aspects of a project is a key project management function.

Microsoft Project 2019 offers a comprehensive set of preconfigured, visually-appealing and informative reports that can be shared with others. This out-of-the-box reporting capability can be further improved by a robust custom report building functionality that is integrated with Microsoft Excel.

To see an overview of the reports-related functions and types of reports available in Microsoft Project 2019, open Microsoft Project and click the *Report* tab:

Eiguno 410	FILE	TASE	RESOURC	T HP	ORT	PROJECT	VEW) () () () () () () () () () (FORM	AT .
riguite 412.	193	50	1	100	5	100	-	Des.	10	11
Overview of the	Company	New	Danhissenth	Residurt.ez	Centre	Jin Program	Getting	Custom	Recent	Vinual
<i>Report s</i> tab	Projects	Report -			4	8.0	Started -			Reports.
	Project				View R	igratta				tipiot.

In this section, we will first review the various preconfigured reports that are available in Microsoft Project 2019, and then we will discuss how to edit, customize, and share them to meet your unique needs.

Exploring Preconfigured Reports

□ This exercise uses the file **Dashboards.mp p** . Ensure this file is open prior to beginning. In the *Repor t* toolbar, preconfigured reports fall into four categories: Dashboards, Resources, Costs, and In Progress.

Note: The image on your screen may differ slightly from the screenshots shared in this exercise, unless you make modifications to the data.

Dashboard Reports

1

From *Report:View Report s* click the *Dashboard s* icon to see the available reports in this category.





Dashboard reports provide information over the entire project duration, including summary tasks, critical tasks, project milestones, cost, and schedule information. These reports present data that allows you to quickly assess project status in different areas.

The default reports included in the *Dashboard s* dropdown are as follows:

□ **Burndown report** – Compares planned, completed, and remaining work on a chart that updates automatically as you change project data; this report provides a visual, up-to-date project status. Though these reports are particularly useful in agile project management, they are helpful regardless of project management methodology.

To access a Burndown report, navigate to *Report:View Reports:Dashboards* icon, and select *Burndow n* from the dropdown list. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 414.

Burndow n report

BURNDOWN



□ **Cost Overview report** – Shows the current cost status of your project and its top-level tasks; fields available include planned costs, remaining costs, actual costs, cumulative costs, baseline costs, and percentage of completion. This report is especially useful as you work to keep your project within budget.

To access a Cost Overview report, go to *Report:View Reports:Dashboards* icon, and select *Cost Overview* . Following is a sample Cost Overview report:



□ **Project Overview report** – Shows how much of your project is complete, tasks that are late, and upcoming milestones

To access a Project Overview report, go to *Report: View Reports: Dashboards* icon, and select *Project Overvie w*. Following is a sample Project Overview report:

Figure 416.	PROJECT OVERVIEW	Alexandrian and Alexandrian an	0.000		an (1.5 m) (
Project Overvie w report	46%	1	ater da	Jan	R 7			
		10.07071-010						
		Tanton and		100	3/249	Same	O	1000
		1000 A 100	**	*		10	25 101 105 10 101 101	- 24
			52	~	1.00(1			52
		are for any	136	171-	- der		selecter of the breaking of all the selections of the selection of the sel	M.)

□ **Upcoming Tasks report** – By default, shows work that has been accomplished in the current week, the status of other tasks that were/are due this week, and the tasks due to start in the coming week

To access the Upcoming Tasks report, go to *Report:View Reports:Dashboards* icon, and



select *Upcoming Tasks*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Work Overview report – Provides work statistics for all top-level project tasks showing percent complete and what is still to be accomplished; similar to a work burndown report To access the Upcoming Tasks report, go to *Report:View Reports:Dashboards* icon, and select *Work Overview*. Your screen will resemble the following:



Resource Reports

2 From *Report:View Report s* click the *Resource s* icon to see the available reports in th category.

Figure 419.



Resource reports provide details about the work status of all project resources, as well as more specific resource assignment information.

> **Over-allocated Resources report** – Shows the actual and remaining work for all over-allocated project resources; also includes a link to the Team Planner view, where you can work to resolve these over-allocations

To access this report, go to **Report: View Report s** : **Resource s** icon and select **Over***allocated Resource s* from the dropdown list:

Figure 420. OVERALLOCATED RESOURCES



Resource Overview report – View the work status of all project resources to determine how much work is complete and what is still to be finished

To access this report, go to *Report: View Report s* : *Resource s* icon and select *Resource Overvie w* from the dropdown list:

RESOURCE OVERVIEW Figure 421.

report

Resource Overvie w report



Cost Reports

3 From *Report: View Report s* click the *Cost s* icon to see the available reports in this category.



Costs reports provide a full range of cost information, including budgets for all tasks over the entire project duration, tasks and resources that are over budget, earned-value information for all tasks, and costs per task displayed for one-week periods.

□ **Cash Flow report** – By default, shows the cost (including cumulative cost) of all top-level tasks by quarter; customizable, like most other pre-configured reports; you can display other costs and other time periods.

To access this report, go to the *Cost s* icon under *Report:View Report s* and select *Cash Flo w* from the dropdown. Your screen will resemble the following:



□ **Cost Overruns report** – Displays the cost variance for all top-level tasks and people assigned to your project; also shows where actuals exceed baseline costs.

To access the Cost Overruns report, go to the *Cost s* icon under *Report:View Report s* and select *Cash Flo w* from the dropdown. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 424.

Cost Overrun s report

COST OVERRUNS

Tall (2217 N/A SAC) Deliver the division	(1946 ann 1774 a				ten en real hief de fonction Director et de set de contrat contacteur					
5	iner time	• yen open te fonns					 ,	!/		
News.	To Davidg Male	(Tel.)	- feeders	lost.	Tel 1	. Instru	I Traine Gal	Salverer		
and descent	1.1.1	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	(m)	ALC: NO	sale Taxes	\$1,716.60	11 142.31	121115		
Service former	arc.	1211102	inti cas	00 100.21	Environ & res	55,459,60	92,409,31	Rec. SA		
					for a base	30.100.00	50.085	ismus.		
					dau ga Basty	EXC SHE IT	119 305-00	1.,011.07		
					dir Pendanana	SUMMO	\$2.536.00	\$996.00		
					Deute Crantha	1017 100 41	111.122-03	CM 0.		

□ **Earned Value report** – Provides information about earned value, variance, and performance overtime; displays a comparison of costs and schedules to the baseline, which helps you determine if the project is on track

To access the Earned Value report, go to the *Cost s* icon under *Report:View Report s* and select *Cash Flo w* from the dropdown. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 425.	EARNED VALUE	DC	ADMP	BCMP
0	EARNED VALUE	\$81,195,04	\$9.829.41	\$12.281.48
Earned Valu e	Tarwed value management helps you quantify the performance of a grouper. It compares costs and schedules to a baseline to determine if the project is on track.	,,		
report	Ethe charts that't book (gift, rocke are your how out a haveline, angigeed coast: to takk ar resources, and settened progress.	00000 11 11 12 11	ערפיע נרפיע נרפיעי איפיע פיני ערפיע נרפיעי אטע אטע	1. BATED SHALLE GOVER THAT by properformance tables have all one the stream rithms. If scenar range (ECIIII) is higher than an oracear's when (ECIIII), it higher than an under configure. If plane and also (ECM) is higher than an under configure. The stream of a scenario configure. The stream of configure tables are stream of configure. The stream of configure tables are stream of a larger transmission and an under order.
		янарата яколосо 4ж.лесо 4ж.лессо 4ж.лессо 4ж.лессо 4ж.лесо	פרמי מי פי פרמי מי מי מי מי פי פי 	VARIANCE OVER TWE I fast and abrefative in cost for the project lines of on status miss. (If it complete these, the project is core backget, If 97 is pandine free the project is behind abrefate.
			ינו פינוי מימי מימי מימי מימי מימי מימי פינוי מימי מימי מימי מימי בא	INDEXIS OVER 18 MIC face and absolute performance index, for the project based on titles, mice, The grower the importance index, the ensure so unbedde and cost using the project.

Resource Cost Overview report – Shows the cost status of resources (people, material, and cost-types) assigned to your project; cost details appear in a table, and cost distribution information is presented in a chart

To access the Resource Cost Overview report, go to the *Cost s* icon under *Report:View Report s* and select *Cash Flo w* from the dropdown. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 426.



10.0.0.00

401,500,00

□ **Task Cost Overview report** – Shows the cost status of your project's top-level tasks; just like the Resource Cost Overview report, cost details appear in a table, and cost distribution information is presented in a chart

STRAM

To access the Task Cost Overview report, go to the *Cost s* icon under *Report:View Report s* and select *Cash Flo w* from the dropdown. Your screen will resemble the following:



In Progress Reports

4

software second

\$1.00

20,000,000

SALARS

From *Report:View Report s* click the *In Progres s* icon to see the available reports in this category.



Progress reports provide detailed task information regarding critical, slipping, and late tasks, as well as the

status of project milestones.

□ **Critical Tasks report** – Presents the status of all tasks on the project's critical path Remember: A delay in a critical path task will cause the schedule to slip.

To access the Critical Tasks report, from *Report:View Report s* click the *In Progres s* icon, and from the dropdown list select *Critical Task s*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 429. CRITICAL TASKS

Critical Task s report

All and a second s	- 241		h Lowodern	Forther Street	Instance instance
Failer, other, payrithmen	жж	•7	386	12.94	lativ Transajõeksus Garazzenia Roser
Owingrowskilpaparpin .	37	40°	-	\$	
Onlingen veletjenjergin Garaktina se Pasantah konyaar	nin.	45	-04	20101	George Anvelg/Sectel George Californi Higginge
Presses double or unsere	32	ALD -	M	Eases.	Canaca Bradej Canal Conviere Jean Higgina
Ватал й влортика	12	A,74	34	1616.4	lator Tieren, George Senty, Kelonen Senty, Kelonen Senty, Kelone Kelonen

□ **Late Tasks report** – Shows all tasks that either started or finished later than their scheduled start and finish dates and that aren't progressing as planned

To access the Late Tasks report, from *Report:View Report s* click the *In Progres s* icon, an from the dropdown list select *Late Task s*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Figure 430. LATE TASKS



E-112	- 14	their		I fermitide item	the state of the state
A	128	1.62	494	4.04	inte Dancy (1902) door Lans Santa Association

ntana Vellerin - Alain dala vica Alain territori - Alain Providia

□ **Milestone report** – Presents the status of all project milestones, including if they are late, due, or completed

To access this report, from *Report:View Report s* click the *In Progres s* icon, and from the dropdown list select *Milestone Repor t*. Your screen will resemble the following:



□ **Slipping Tasks report** – Shows all project tasks that are taking longer to complete than expected (actual finish date is or will be later than baseline finish date)

To access the Slipping Tasks report, from *Report:View Report s* click the *In Progres s* icon, and from the dropdown list select *Slipping Task s*. Your screen will resemble the following:

Slipping Task s report	SLIPPING TASKS						
s report	1826.	Internation officer	desta a	ine site.			
	135	100	72	and the	1.000	are delay seen	- Anna and a state of the
	***********************	Constant war die as		22	34	***	nie Groege algeme Standgene Gweligti
		Series and states of the	10	47	156	-31-1	Min Transfilmeri Marsferin Rom
		Challengy resulted in part plan	14	610	æ	160	
	an an air air an	Pay of Alexandra Bardian Maria	48	674	116	10,0-	Sorge and pictor Notice Social Social Sectors, size Sectors, size

Creating a New Report

At times you'll find that the available reports don't meet your organization's exact needs. Microsoft Project 2019 offers several report templates that help you to create your own reports.

- \Box This exercise uses the file **Dashboards.mp** p . Ensure this file is open prior to beginning.
 - 1 From *Report:View Report s* click the *New Report* icon to see a dropdown list with all available report templates.



New report templates: *Blan k* , *Char t* , *Tabl e* , and *Comparison*



Creating a Chart Report

From the *New Repor t* dropdown list, select *Char t* to view the Chart template. A **Rep**(**Nam e** dialog box will appear, similar to the following, prompting you to name your new report (it is named "Report 1" by default), as in the following figure:

Figure 434.		99 	Report Name	
Report Nam e	Jame	Expert 3	DK.	Gancal
dialog			QK.	Cancel

2

3

Click O K to accept the default entry. Your new report based on the Chart template wil appear, similar to the following:

Figure 435.

New Chart report



The chart-based report, by default, shows Actual Work, Remaining Work, and Work fields for your project. Use the *Field Lis t* on the right side of the screen to select the fields you want to view and compare in the chart and to further customize the chart to suit your needs. Instruction around report customization is provided later in this section.

Creating a Table Report

4

From *Report:View Report s* click the *New Report s* icon, and from the dropdown list select *Tabl e*. Name your table in the **Report Nam e** dialog box and click *O K* to see your n report.

Figure 436. Table report			Report 2		1	Field Life Sales - Free - Field - Field - Free - Field - Fiel	Field List * * Take Assess		
	Namea Dashboards	Start 2/26	Finish 7/20	% Complete 46%		Harts Ball Facal Formation			
						Film Some Ry Follow Land Land Sy	At Tata Rolling Paper Serve Data Harri Huchart		

As you can see, by default this report shows project information that includes the Name, Start, Finish and % Complete fields. By default, this report shows only data at the Project Summary task level (we will cover modifying default settings in the *Customizing Reports* sub-section of this chapter). Just as in the Chart report, you can use the *Field Lis t* on the right side of the screen to customize the table to suit your needs. The *Table Tool s* tabs at the top of your screen (*Desig n* and *Layou t*) provide the ability to further customize the table.

Creating a Comparison Report

5

From *Report:View Report s* click the *New Report s* icon, and from the dropdown list select *Compariso n*. Name your Comparison report in the **Report Nam e** dialog box and click *O K* to see your new report.

Figure 437.

Comparison report



Comparison reports, by default, show two identical Chart-based reports showing Actual Work, Remaining Work, and Work. You can use the *Field Lis t* selections to customize one chart, for the purpose of visually comparing one to the other. We will cover modifying default settings in the *Customizing Reports* sub-section of this chapter.

Creating a Blank New Report

6 The final New Report available is essentially an empty screen, where you can create a report "from scratch." From *Report:View Report s* click the *New Report s* icon, and from the dropdown list select *Blan k*. Name your new report in the **Report Nam e** dialog box and click *O K* to see the foundation for your new report.

Figure 438.	WHE WEAT UP IS IN	
Blank report	ange Stepen Line and Ind Back Stepen Line and Ind Back Stepen Ste	
	Report 4	

Click the *Report Tool s* tab functions (shown in the preceding figure) to add images, shapes, charts, tables, and text and to your report.

Note: When you create a custom report, it will appear in the list of available custom reports. To access this list, use the *Custo m* icon in *Report:View Report s*.



Customizing Reports

In the preceding section we explored the various preconfigured reports and templates that are included with Microsoft Project 2019. Of course it's likely that you'll want to further customize some of these reports to best meet your organizational needs. Using built-in customization options, you can change the specific data that appears in a report as well as its overall appearance.

Changing the Information and Look of Reports

1

- This exercise uses the file **Dashboar d s** .mp **p** . Ensure this file is open prior to beginning.
 - From *Report: View Report s* click the *Dashboard s* icon, and from the dropdown list cl *Project Overvie w*. This report (which by default shows how much of your project is complete, tasks that are late, and upcoming milestones) will resemble the following:

Figure 440.								
Project Overvie w report	PROJECT OVERVIEW		et er ka	in the second	и. 1			
		-		1.00		Contraction of Contraction	1.000	11/1907
		in the second	*1	2	-6.19	10	10.001.001.01.01.01	-
			52	2	1.0011			52
		are deser	136		- 100		access with a first state of set Weight and the access of a set of set Rector	M.

2 Click inside the *%* **Complet** *e* chart in the upper-right portion of your screen and note th Field List sidepane that appears on the right side of your screen. It is within this sidepane that you find the tools to customize the data appearing in the selected report component (chart in this case).

Figure 441.	Field Lis	6	×
	Tasks Fac	nowing its	
Field Lis t	Select Catego	579	
sidepane	ш.		
	Select Fields		
	 Corr Duration Norme Planter Scorp Corple SCorple SWeek 	n Sec Angelsje Ke Secrefiska	
	File-	latur"r.b.	
	Group By:	NeGraup	
	Gattine Love	Jest7	-
		These lives	write .
	Sar. By	No Sort	

10

- 3 When you click on a chart or table, notice that three buttons appear to the right of the chart, as follows:
- Chart Elements []: Click this button to easily add, remove or change chart elements, such as the title, key, gridlines, and data labels. You will see a list of elements, with a checkbox to the left of each. You can use these checkboxes to add (or remove) elements to your chart.

Figure 442.

Chart Element

s dialog



□ **Chart Styles** []: Click this button for quick access to tools that allow you to change the style and color scheme for your chart. By default, the *Styl e* tab is selected. Use the scroll bai to view and select alternative chart styles. Select the *Colo r* tab to alter the chart color(s).



□ **Chart Filters** [^T]: Click this button for quick access to tools that allow you to customize the data points and names that are visible on your chart.



4 When you first clicked on the chart, the Field List sidepane and three additional formatting buttons appeared on your screen. Additionally, two more tabs appear in your toolbar, the *Chart:Desig n* tab and the *Chart:Forma t* tab.

Figure 445. Chart:Desian	- dari Milian - Pegalian dini tari Satawakang-Pegés Nakabu a Pagat Peges Ver Senga <mark>Senga</mark> Tarun Qitelaraha peranama da	
options	Unt. for the Lat. Lat. Hat. Het.	
Figure 446. Chart: Format options	H & S. S. S. Same Starter States Manual Annual States and States a	

Note: Similar toolbars appear when you're working within a table— *Table:Desig n* and *Table:Forma t*.

5 Now that we've reviewed the most useful customization tools, let's update our chart. Currently the chart reflects only the *% Complet e* field. In the *Select Field s* section of the Ta Field sidepane, uncheck the % *Work Complet e* checkbox. Your chart will now resemble the following:



Click the *Chart Element s* button (highlighted in the following figure), and from the 6 list that appears click *Legen d* . A legend will appear on your chart, identifying the fields represented.



By default, this report only shows the status of top-level tasks. To expand the tasks represented, in the Task Field sidepane, use the dropdown arrow in the *Filter* field to select *In progress task s* . Note the change to your chart:

Figure 449.

7

Change the chart data	Tield Lis Tolo Pr Select Drive	t ~ X suus- xy	
	10	+	i.
	School Hodin Con Con Con Con Con Con Con Con Con Co	t ende Type en terlen terlen terlen ter	
	Пан	In Fragment, T	
	Security.	No Group +	1
	0.dec.awd	Leve 2 *	
		E Shak Himming	
	Sort By	No Seri +	Ê

8 From *Chart Tools:Desig n*, click one of the available design options to change the style of your chart.

Figure 450.

Chart design

Gerkowite A	minet Portica Milatori	way Well	BENON TOOLE	EMERIDO.	MAT			
-		1	-	-	-	-	-	 100
			CONT	men :				1014/11

- 9 Let's change our focus now to the Late Tasks table component of your Project Overview report in the lower-right of your screen. Click your cursor within the table to activate the table customization options. The Field List sidepane will remain visible, and the *Chart Tools:Design/Forma t* toolbar tab will change to *Table Tools:Desig n* and *Table Tools:Forma t*.
- 10 Select *Constraint Dat e* in the Field List sidepane to add this field to your table.

Figure 451.								Tield List + ×
Adding a field to a table	unal fair, sala		-	Line				- Taolo Porsiona
	244	**	943		1	fallantin (m	marile P	Select Rolds
	areater .	iù.	17	LiCuty.	-	in all anny feiture Same and party	a	are sites
	Constant and the second	15	15	177	20		*	_ Crowed
	Lattice was in	200	20	-marge		angerenade marriran ages	•	dia ca
	Repried Sector	10	7.0	t des	2	Second conduct confering angles	•	Sun
	A real map cont.	190	96	- 44	·**		•	In silve
	Selection and	505		100	20	A, official System Arrow Administration (Lands) Management (Lands) (Lands)	10 A	Tubergoli Prokar Sava

11 Perhaps you'd like this table to reflect the status of all critical tasks, rather than late tasks. In the Task Field sidepane, use the dropdown arrow in the *Filte r* field to select *Critica l*. Now this table will reflect the status of all critical tasks:

Figure 452.

Critical selected in *Filte*



12 Unfortunately, the title still says "Late Tasks." Click on *Late Tasks* —it's a text box—and change the text to read "Critical Tasks: Tasks that have been identified as critical tasks."

Note: By default, the Project Overview report displays task information. If you'd prefer to view resource information in the various report components, click the *Report s* link at the top of the Field List sidepane.

13 Save and close your project. [JG109]

Getting Started

The Getting Started functionality provides some helpful information about how to begin using reports. Its purpose is primarily to provide a high-level tour about existing reporting capabilities.

The *Getting Starte d* icon, also found in *Report:View Report s*, provides access to some useful functions, including the following:

□ **Best Practice Analyzer** – Can be used to identify potential issues with your project, such as tasks to which no resources have been assigned



□ **Create reports** – An introductory sampling of a dashboard report, covered in more detail earlier in this section

Figure 454.

Create dynamic reports

Create dyna	amic reports	
Here's your project shaka. To a	er hers inpurts what the "higher" Ge hers the skinss	
26%		ļ,

□ **Get started with Project** – Provides an overview of the help topics available as you build your project. As an example, click on the *Organize Task s* link, and you will be presented with additional help topics to help you build a project plan.

Figure 455.

Get started with Project Welcome to Project 2016



□ **Organize Tasks** and **Share with Your Team** – Also provide help topics that can assist you as you buil a project plan

Figure 456.			Weecome		2	Огранията	Costa Reports
Organize Tasks		Get	organi	zed, s	save	time	
		Add task d Set daskin a N dang	etals no otwo detes in	get interfer ch	ture of how	ALC REPORT	Measure progress Se a base the to took private over time
	en nos	Ted Made	Lab Nor-	Databas	28441	Dalah (
	3	1.45	Test 1	it days.	35/10013	559859	* b.
	3	-	- Test 2	ties	24000	3/9/3/2	
		-	(laje)	2.694	1/10/2013	1/11/0010	
		17	1001	3 days	Streams	snearts	
			Add start	dates for	your tasl	cs	

Figure 457.

Share with your team

To see more information about the tasks list and Sed suppring cluk File > 1x60	
Seed suppring clark File > Indo	
These from the second	
Diff. SpanPoort	

Note: Every dropdown list in the *Report:View Report s* section of the *Repor t* toolbar (except *New Repor t*) provides access to every other available report (pre-configured or custom). Click *Mor e Reports* ... in any of these lists to access the **Report s** dialog box, where you can select from any of the available reports.

Figure 458			Reports		7 ×
Report s dialog box	Castom Bathments Resources Casts in Program Setting Started New Report Recent	Burndown Upcoming Tasks	Eost Overview Work Dverview	Project Overview	
	-			Sence	Cancel

Sharing Project Information

1

As we've discussed, Microsoft Project 2019 provides several tools that help you share the project information you've gathered with team members and stakeholders. You can print current report views, save report information as a PDF file, and copy the information and then paste it into other Microsoft Office tools. Custom report templates can also be saved using the Organizer so they are available to others.

Printing a Current Report View

This exercise uses the file **Dashboards.mp p** . Ensure this project is open before beginning.

- From *Report:View Report s* click the *Dashboar d* icon, and from the dropdown list click *Project Overvie w*. The Project Overview report will appear on your screen.
- 2 From the *Fil e* menu, click *Prin t* to view the **Prin t** dialog box, resembling the following:

Figure 459.

Prin t dialog box

· · · · ·	REDUCT OVERVIEW	
inte: 0		[seprender]
S un the training of the train	20%	1282223
h a capita		SOLOADS
ni-ça	10 10 10	Second Second
manage of the second second		
4 <u>* 1</u> 0 <u>8 2</u>		Elizabethe and a
1 Practice Science of		and the second second
3 2 4		
- Martin		

- 3 Use the *Printe r* dropdown list to select the printer you'd like to use. In the *Setting s* section you can define the look of your printed report by selecting the paper size and orientation, and also by determining how much of the report you'd like to print (All, or just a selected page range). Note: As you change settings in the **Print** dialog box, the display on the right provides you with a current preview of your selected options.
- 4 Click *Prin t* to print your report.

Capturing Report Information in a PDF File

Report information can also be saved in a PDF format and then shared or printed as needed.

5 Return to your Project Overview report. From the *Fil e* menu, click *Save A s* to access the **Save A s** dialog box. Navigate to the location where you would like to save the file.



6

In the *Save as typ e* field, use the dropdown list (as in the preceding figure) to select *PDF File s* and click *Sav e*. The **Document Export Option s** dialog box will appear:

Figure 461.	Document Export Options	10
Document Export Option s dialog box	Publish Range S Al S from 2000 - 10 2000	-
	Include Non-Printing Information V Document properties V Document Showing Markup	
	PDF Options	
	OK I	Çancel

7

Click O k to accept the default options in this dialog box. A PDF file containing your report information will appear in the location you assigned it to in step 5.

Copying a Report

Microsoft Project 2019 makes it easy for you to copy report information into other Microsoft Office tools.

8 Return again to your Project Overview report. In the *Report Tool s* section of the

toolbar, click the *Copy Repor t* icon [] unde r *Design:Repor t* . The report data you just copied is stored in the clipboard.

- 9 Open a new blank document in Microsoft Word (or any other data presentation tool). Place your cursor within the new document, and from *Home:Clipboar d* click *Past e* to paste your report data into the Microsoft Word document.
- 10 Close your project.

Custom Reports and the Organizer

□ This exercise uses the file **Dashboards_Inst 1** . **mp p** . Ensure this file is open before beginning. The Organizer allows you to add custom objects (reports, fields, calendars, tables, views, etc.) to your local Global template, where these objects are then available for use across all of your projects. In order to make these objects available on Project Server, contact your Project Server administrator to update the enterprise Global template.

To copy a custom report to your local Global template:

1 From *Report:View Report s* click the *Custo m* icon to see the custom reports you created earlier in this section.



Figure 463.

2

Θ

181

-

Accessing the Organizer

Figure 462.

Custom reports



From *File:Inf o* click the *Organize r* icon to see the **Organize r** dialog box.



Figure 464.

Organizer dialog box

		Organizer		
Views Reports Modules Tables	Filters Cale	ndars Maps	Fields Groups	
Global MPT)			Dashboards_instil	
Bar Reibap Calendar	1		Gantt Charl Gantt with Timeline	1
Descriptive Network Diagnets Detail Gantt		Copy ++	Resource Porte	
Gantt Chart Gantt with Timeline		Canod	Task Sheet Task Usage	
Leveling Gentt Nélestorie Oote Rollup Mélestorie Rollup		Regards.	Timelere	
Multiple Baselines Gantt. Ny Taok Leveling. Network Disaran		Baleto		
Relationship Diagram Resource Allocation		Нер		
Resource Form Resource Graph	4			
Views agailable in			Views available in	
Global WPT	÷.		Dashboards, Inst1	. W

3

Select the *Report s* tab.

Figure 465.

Organize r dialog box with *Report s* tab selected

		'Dashboarm_InutY'	
0		Buindown	1
	<u>C</u> oey>>	Get startest with Project Organize tacks	
	Cancel	Report 1	
	Rejate	Report 2 Seport 3 Report 4	
	Quiete	concerning tasks	
	tielp		
		Conver Cancel Regame Delete Jetp	Carrott Region 2 Carrott Region 2 Carrott Region 2 Regions. Delete Upcoming Tasks

The list on the left side of the Organizer shows reports in the Global template, while the list on the right shows reports in the current project.

- 4 Select *Report* **1** (the custom chart report you created) and then click the *Cop* y button to move *Report* **1** to the Global template. *Report* **1** is now available to all of your projects.
- 5
- Click *Clos e* to close the Organizer, and then close your project.

15.5 Exporting Project Information

In addition to presenting project information within Microsoft Project, Microsoft Project data can be exported into other applications with additional reporting capabilities using the reporting functionality.

Visual Reports

Along with the *Report s* functionality we just reviewed, the *Repor t* toolbar includes a *Visual Report s* icon. This functionality provides access to Excel and Visio report templates to prepare graphic reports.

In the following exercise, you are in the middle of a project that is scheduled to end on October 1. You were asked to prepare a status report for management as of the end of last week, June 21 (of the current year).

- This exercise uses the file **ExportData.mp p** . Be sure this project is open before beginning.
 - 1 From *Report:Expor t* click the *Visual Report s* [] icon. Your screen will resemble the following:

itiating a	Schulle and a	
isual Report	stars report transmite interforms. 2 Neuros Clauses (2) Historical types Taccharmany Accounts James (2) Accounts (1) Acco	
	Shart and of gauge data to include in the report where	
		10/19

Notice this dialog box lists the currently available templates on the *All* tab—which appears by default —and shows a sample of the selected report layout in the smaller, right-hand window. You can also create new templates or edit existing ones to define the structure of the report.

- 2 Select each of the available templates, and you will see a preview of the sample report in the **Create Repor t** dialog box.
- 3 With the *All* tab selected, choose the *Baseline Cost Report* and click *View*. Excel builds a local Online Analytical Processing (OLAP) cube file and Excel will open and present your data in an Excel PivotChart or Visio PivotDiagram. Your Microsoft Excel screen will resemble the following:



4

Click in the chart to see the PivotChart Fields sidepane, which you can use to adjust the presentation.

Figure 468.

PivotChart Fields sidepane

to state of a far add	to report. C	ş
each		÷
 X: Values I.d. As buddles 		F
Acces Use	dame Work	1
Actual Wo	*	
📋 State ine 1.	adiget Coot:	
T Lape brie 2.	dual study	
	and at some	
Z Develop C	24	
Evelor (za vel	1
Tanalas C Tanalas C Tang Partis between Tang Partis between Tang Partis	ut nt mebion II agrence	
E Daneline C Trovine W Cong for Da Bergener Work y Color, *	anne bekov Hill segaretser 17. heljes	
Envelop C Stor for the Second Theory Color, + Worky Color, + E. Add (Comparis-	zer tek Historiek Z. Wies	. 2
Envelop C Sverige II Sverige	La de	4 4
Envelop C Transfor II Transfor II Transfor	La vila II segmetrice II segmetrice I vilaes L vilaes Seetre V	

- 5 In the PivotChart Fields sidepane, highlight the *Task s* checkbox and click the adjacent dropdown arrow.
- 6 In the **Select field:Task s** dialog box that appears, click the plus sign left of the Project Name to reveal the phases and tasks that comprise the WBS. Clear the task *Build Project plan* by deselecting the check box, as in the following figure:

Figure 469.		-	PivotChart P	ields - ×		
Modified Tasks list		1	Lind die fwelde tot add 1	to spot		
1151			beach D			
	Select Sold:		- □ Taoks + ⊡ Taoks	-		
	 Šeri A to Z Šeri Z to A More Seri Optional 		Task 1 Task 1 Task 2 Task 3	0		
	The Oraclete Sour Loke Label Elsen (Dise Filters	:	* 🗍 Time T Wester C	rastelog		
	Search Tark	p +	T LEAR	III Legend (Secret)		
	Gelect All Gerhhouric Discherouric Discherouric Discherouric All Software System Emplementa	tion	Weekly,Cole . *	ΣWinn +		
	- Software System Impierry	entati	= Aric/Esteport	37.303es		
	() Zhadecought plan and	i della	Teala *	Baseline C *		
	III IV Complete architecture de IIII IV Send out dott and rece	n vit		Actual Lost * *		
	* * OK Care	e i	🖂 Defentaçout Upu	an Venne		
		_	NM: 12 33	+ # #20		

Click O K to remove the empty column in the preceding figure. Your screen will now resemble the following:

Figure 470.

7

Modified Visual Report view



8 At the bottom of the Pivot Chart, click the *Assignment Usag e* worksheet tab to see the corresponding tabular data. You also can click the plus sign left of the Project Name to reveal the phases and tasks that comprise the WBS

Figure 471. Assignment Usage Pivot Table worksheet tab

1 12	Б	1.	p			10
 WHEE CREAK 	A	F				
S 2 4 min 1 4 Tanto de 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	ri Lois, J 1975 - Antonio Serie Antonio -	n e 2 Malar popular and stand	unit 5 Color System Frakeward Frank va contra strakas a Alifeita (2004) and the Sector Alifeita (2004) Same a contration of the Same a contration of the Same a contration of the Same Same a	144 1 4 10 47 1 4 10 47 1 4 10 47 1 4 10 47 1 2 10 47 1 2 10 47 1 4 10 47 1 2 10 47 1 4 10	Cont 9 - Cont - S 6 - Sect - S 5 - Sect - S 5 - Sect - S 8 - Sect - S 8 - Sect - S 8	A set Se A set Se A set Set Set A set Set Set A set Set Set Set A set Set Set Set
		stan ut dan weser to be waar	Coded press server Coded press codes Coded codes Codes and Code Codes and Code	1 1.000 1 1.000 1 1.000 1 1.000	5 0.000 0 5 0.000 0 5 0.000 0 7 000 0 7 000 0	i saci
E Landore VIL	Transit (The other 1 mov)			1 1 30	1 522 5	1000
by Many July				7 . 5	N	4.7 Mil. 10
2000	And genuers Usake					

9 Note that you can add currency signs as you can with any Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. Also, if you click on a task name within the chart, such as *Finalize project plan and definition*, a list of available PivotTable fields appears on the right, and the native PivotTable formatting capabilities available in Microsoft Excel are enabled in this worksheet. For more information regarding formatting PivotTables in Excel, please refer to Microsoft Excel online help.

Figure 472. PivotTable Fields sidepane

Instant Auss - Annal Andreas - Aginar Annal Tari Tari Annal Annaisin Annal Annaisthaistria Annaistria Annai Annal Annal		5 83 <u>4</u> 9	A Contraction of the second se	L / A	Perform Fails
7 montes	(* San 1) Tombien spins logenation Schem System semenator St	(1997) Marine and population and address Marine and address and a Marine and address and the population of the state of the state and the population of the state of the state of the population of the population of the state of the state of the population of the population of the state of the population of the populat	Not 3 Detail Space (Sciences) Assess process and factors for any science of the Term month of the State of the month of the State Control of the State Contr		
i dan	Argenting. 1		4		And the second s

10 From the *Fil e* menu in Microsoft Excel, click *Clos e*. You will be asked if you want to save

the Excel document. If you click *Sav e*, you will save this report as a Microsoft Excel Workbook. Click *Don't Sav e* and return to Microsoft Project.

11 Again, open the **Visual Reports – Create Repor t** dialog box (*Report:Export:Visual Report s*), and at the bottom click *Save Dat a* . You will see the following dialog:



Notice that you can save a pivot table with data specific to this project or save an Access database of the data for reporting purposes. You can also modify the contents of the report by using the *Field Picke r* tool. There are several different cube types built into the Visual Reports tool. These generally include the types of data in the corresponding Microsoft Project reports and are shown in the following figure:

a second s	
Voud Reports Seve Reporting Date	10.31
Swee Reporting Cube	
To save an OLAP cobe that contains reporting or choose a cabe <u>below</u> , and then disk Save Cabe	data for the active project, a
Tare Urage	
Text Unipe	Cald Picket
Resource Usage Antigenerate Usage Task Summary Resource Summary Antigenerat Summary	Sur Cate.
To save a Wiccool's Access database that confa- the active project, citch Save Calabase.	in all reporting data for
	Seve Quarters.
1 ges 1	Goas
	Visual Reports - Save Reporting Oute Swet Reporting Cube To have an OLAP sube that contains reporting choose a cube game, and then this Save Cube Tark Unique Resource Unique Antigeneem Unique Tark Summary Resource Summary Antigeneem Summary Subsection Summary Contemport Summary Contemport Summary

12 Choose the Task Usage pivot table type. Then click the *Field Picker* butto n to see the available and included fields in this cube.

Figure 475. Field Picker tool

Million Reports - Field Ficker			100
The following field, are publicle in the task Usage pertomance, select tester theo to ciclens ons	oute theory is the season	owar (a neoderrada) igan	. Forted
Selection			
Analysis Fields		Selected Heats	
60 Actual Daration Actual Daration Actual Frank Actual Frank Actual Frank Actual Frank Actual Start Daseline Cumulethe Work Baseline Extinuized Partine Baseline Extinuized Partine Baseline Extinuized Partine Baseline Extinuized Partine Baseline Extinuized Partine Baseline Extinuized Partine	* 	Actual Cost Actual Costine Work Actual Week Societic Bodget Cost Bootine Cost Bootine Cost Gentine Cost Gentine Cost Gentine Cost Societic Trabit Societic Work Bootine Stat Bootine Stat	•
Select Curton Fields			
Annualed Fib Release Budget Half (description) Budget State (description) Budget State (description) Budget State (description) Cartil	red > + lg mm (< Regree //)	and the period	*
Canto Canto	•		
HURY		(and)	(alie)

- 13 Click *Cance l* to return to the **Save Reporting Dat a** dialog box. Click *Clos e* to return to the **Visual Reports Create Report** dialog.
- 14 Save and close your project. [JG110]

Note: Some of the visual reports can also be rendered in Microsoft Visio. If you look at the icon next to each report name you will see that the Excel and Vision icons indicate which type of output will be rendered from each visual report.



End of Chapter Quiz Questions

1. Which function enables formatting the Gantt bars and associated text labels on the Gantt Chart?

- 2. Fill the blank: By comparing a task's baseline to its plan in the ______ view, you can see how a task's actual schedule compares to its original estimate.
- 3. How can you set the Current Date for a project in Microsoft Project?

4. What are the two ways to change the bar style for a Gantt Chart?

5. How would you insert the column Baseline Start to the left of the Start column in the Entry Table?

- 6. True or False: Microsoft Project allows you to customize and control almost all aspects of information presentation, including views, formats, and layouts.
- 7. Fill in the blank: Microsoft Project 2019 _____ calculates the difference between current progress and original estimates.
- 8. What are the five different variance fields that Microsoft Project automatically calculates, and how are they calculated?

9. How do you get accurate variance data when using % Complete tracking?

- 10. Fill in the blank: Any time the current estimated values are higher than the baseline values, the resulting variance will be a ______ number. This means that any variance greater than is considered ______.
- 11. What can you see using the **Project Statistic s** dialog?

12. What is a table?

13. What can you do if none of the standard tables meet your needs?

- 14. What are the most useful views for tasks?
 - _____ & _____
- 15. What are the most useful views for resources?

_____ &_____

16. What are the most useful views for assignments?

_____ & _____

17. What does the Task Usage view display?

18. What does the Resource Sheet display?

19. What does the Resource Usage view display?

20. How would you show the critical and non-critical tasks, as well as progress against those tasks, using a comprehensive view that shows estimates, actuals and baselines all on the same Gantt Chart?

- 21. True or False: There is no table that shows all five types of variance.
- 22. How to do you display the Variance table?

23. How can you display cost variances in your project?

- 24. How can you display work variances in your project?
- 25. How can you display schedule variances in your project?
- 26. Fill in the blank: The Variance table includes the ______ and ______ variance fields.
- 27. What are filters in Microsoft Project, and when would they be helpful?

- 28. How would you sort by multiple fields?
- 29. Describe the Group by function:
- 30. How do you create a new view?

31. What are the two major categories of custom fields and who usually sets them up?

32. What is the simplest and easiest way to share your custom objects to your other project files?
33. What are the four categories of preconfigured reports on the *Report* toolbar?

_____, _____, &_____.

34. How can you create a new report from a template?

35. What does the Visual Reports function provide?

36. How can you access the visual reports?

Concluding Remarks

The Human Touch

In Section 6.2: *A Caution on Automated Project Management Tools*, we said that "A fool with a tool is a faster fool." It's important to bear in mind, though, that the theory we covered is also insufficient.

The theories referenced serve as generalized best practices for what should work most of the time, under ideal conditions; however, the most common adjective used to describe projects is "unique." There's a reason why project management is done by humans and not by automated robots; it takes an experienced, nuanced human touch to combine the theory and the technology and apply them (or don't, as they see fit) to the unique needs of every project.

The other essentially human qualities that organizations require from their project managers is healthy dose of leadership and judgment. A project manager's grasp of theory can be tested and proven through exams that result in hard-earned certifications, such as PMI's Project Management Professional (PMP). However, when project managers meet resistance, the theory can be put to the test, often to the point of triggering project failure.

Project management is the art and science of continuously re-synching the plan to the new realities in the face of these points of resistance. Project leadership and judgment are the keys to success in the battle to save projects in the real-life situations where there's a strong refusal to accept bad news, organizational politics that are set up for failure, and challenges with an embedded culture that's threatening to send a project off the rails.

This book only covered how to put your project in the best position to succeed, but good project leaders embrace the reality that some projects will fail. Project managers often use this realistic foresight to uncover trouble sooner and take proactive measures to get the project on plan or close enough to plan to save it from failure. However, sometimes it is best for project managers to come to terms with the fact that the project realities have been so far separated from what was initially planned that is it time to declare that it's time for the project to "fail faster."

So as comprehensive as this text is in guiding you to use Microsoft Project 2019 to manage your projects, know that much of the skills transcend what was discussed here. And also know that sometimes even the best of efforts are futile, and the best thing a project manager can do for a project destined to fail is to "face the music" and move on.

Happy trails on your project management journey!



Index

Actual cost, 309 finish date, 313 start date, 309 work, 309 work and dates, 321 Actuals entering, 313 Approach, 75 Assigning resources to a recurring task, 235 Assignment units, 183 Assumptions, 75 Backing into the schedule, 76 Baseline setting a, 244 viewing, 246 Business plan, 74 Calendar base, 102 options, 101–2 Change control summary procedure of, 431 Change order, 430 Collocation, 128 Communications management plan. See integrated project plan Communications planning, 126, 433–34 Completion criteria, 75 Constraints, 113, 210 clearing of, 217 hard, 215 task, 212 Contract amendment, 430 Cost baseline, 129 Cost planning, 200 Crashing the schedule. See schedule: crashing of Critical path, 228, 231 as an estimate, 119 calculation of, 118–19 Customer as a stakeholder, 31 Deadline dates, 217 Decomposition, 80

Definition document, 74 anatomy of, 75 Deliverables, 28, 113 guidelines of, 75 Dependencies inter-project, 290 Document libraries, 412 Duration changing of, 197, 198 fixed, 193 versus effort, 122 versus work, 122–23 Effort versus duration, 122 Effort driven tasks, 194 **Enterprise** project creating, 266 Enterprise resource management, 284 Enterprise resource pool, 284 Estimation of tasks. See tasks: estimation of Executive summary, 75 Fast tracking, 28 Fields custom, 474 Filter customized, 462 highlighting, 467–68 of tasks & resources, 461 Gantt chart, 115 Gantt Chart presenting data, 443 Go to next overallocation button, 237 Hawthorne Time and Motion Studies, 306 Historical informa tion, 113 Impact analysis, 431 Indent button, 143 Integrity, 427–28 Interim plans, 249 Issues, 399 Lag, 158 Lead time, 158 Leveling, 123-24 Link tasks, 153 Load leveling. See leveling Master projects, 299 Maximum units, 183

Methodology, 27, 29 and planning, 112 Network diagram, 228 **Objectives**, 75 Office 365, 336 Organization chart, 126 Organizational influences, 32 Organizer, 479 Overallocation, 123–24 PCR. See Project Change Request Performing organization as a stakeholder, 31 Picture copy, 252 PMBOK, 23, 34 Priority, 97 Processes, 33 closing, 33 controlling, 33 executing, 33 initiating, 33 planning, 33 product-oriented, 33 project management. See project management: process of Product life cycle, 29 Product-oriented processes. See Processes: product-oriented Program management, 299 Progress lines, 324 setting style of, 326 time intervals of, 326, 327 Project publishing to Project Server, 276 Project Center, 339 Project Change Request, 430 Project charter, 74 Project life cycle, 28 **Project management** process of, 33 tools of, 26 Project management process, 24 Project manager as a stakeholder, 31 identification of, 77 Project Online, 14, 336, 363 navigating to, 337 Project phases, 28 Project plan

as a reference, 111–13 **Project Server** connect to, 264 publishing a project to, 264, 276 security overview, 363 Project status date, 324 **Project Web Application** alerts, 341 Home page, 335 list management, 407 Project Center, 339, 364 project site, 396 Team Builder, 370 timesheets, 345, 350 **Projects** consolidated, 295 master, 299 Proposal, 74 Recognition and reward systems, 127 Recovery, 429-30 **Recurring** task assigning resources to, 235 Reports cost, 488 create new, 492, 494 custom, 498, 509 dashboard, 483 in progress, 492 printing, 507 resource, 487 visual, 511 Resource management enterprise, 284 Resource notes button, 182 Resource overallocation resolving, 236 **Resource** types cost, 284 material, 284 work, 284 Resources budget, 285 capabilities of, 120 classification of, 284 determining required, 123 generic, 284, 288 local, 285

Revision, 428–29 Reward and recognition systems, 127 Risks, 403 Rule of 80, 114 Schedule crashing of, 429-30 Scheduling effort-driven, 194 Scope management of, 430 planning of, 78–79 statement of, 78 Scope of Work. See statement of work Selection criteria for, 76 methods of, 77 Sort, 469 Staffing management plan, 126 Staffing pool description, 126 Stakeholders, 31 Statement of Work, 74 summary schedule of, 113 Statistics, 450 Status report, 432–33 Summary change control procedure. See change control: summary procedure of Tables cost rate, 204 customized, 451-59 use of, 459 Task recurring, 232 Task dependencies, 153 Task scheduling, 168 Task types and scheduling, 161 Tasks estimation of, 122–23 summary, 169 without deliverables, 115 Team Builder, 285, 370 Team Planner, 191 Template for a work plan. See work plan: templates Timesheets, 345, 350 Tracking options, 312 seven levels of, 307

Training, 128 Units changing of, 192 fixed, 197, 198 Update tasks dialog, 313 Variance, 422 favorable versus unfavorable, 422 interpretation of, 424–25 Variance analysis, 449 viewing variances with tables, 459 View bar, 62 Views, 52, 452 custom, 472, 470-74 selecting the right view, 452 standard view, 453 Visual Reports, 511 Work changing of, 193 fixed, 192 interrupting, 189 remaining, 309 rescheduling, 321 results of, 81 versus duration, 122–23 Work breakdown structure, 113 with the Gantt Chart, 115 Work Breakdown Structure building a WBS, 137 editing, 144 import Excel task list, 148 outline numbers, 147 Work plan templates, 112



About the Author

Gus Cicala is the president, CEO, and co-founder of Project Assistants, a regularly published author on project management, and an acclaimed speaker. He graduated cum laude from the Wharton Business School and has over thirty years of project management experience and thirty-five years of information technology development and consulting expertise.

In his 21 years since founding Project Assistants, he and his team have served their clients, based on the mission to "Deliver the Future into the Present." Project Assistants fulfills their mission by ensuring the success of their clients' vision working with the PMO's expectation to ensure better, faster, & more cost-effective projects.

Project Assistants support their clients through two primary services offerings. The first is PMO definition, deployment, and adoption, which includes Microsoft Project EPM implementation. The second is project management staffing and full-time placements.

In addition to writing this publication, Gus was a contributing author to the third edition of *Expediting Drug and Biologics Development*. He was also a contributing author on the topic of project leadership for *The Keys to Our Success: Lessons Learned from 25 of Our Best Project Managers*.

Gus' articles on Microsoft Project are routinely published, including in the Microsoft Project Users Group, Macmillan's Que book series: Special Edition: Using Microsoft Project, and Microsoft's own Step-by-Step guides for Microsoft Project. He was a long-standing member of Microsoft's product advisory council and an active member of the Microsoft Partner Research Panel, both of which had a say in the very features, functions, and distribution of Microsoft Project.

In Gus' personal life, he has been married to his lovely wife, Susan, for 37 years and enjoys much of his free time at their Christmas tree farm in Shaftsbury, Vermont. Gus & Susan raised four adult children and now have five grandchildren (so far). Gus owns & flies a Piper Arrow as an instrument rated private pilot. He is the former president and active Board of Directors member of the Limen House, a non-profit organization dedicated to turning around the lives of recovering alcoholics and addicts in Wilmington, Delaware. Gus is also one of the founders of the rapidly growing social entrepreneurship program at Malvern Prep.



www.linkedin.com/in/guscicala/



www.projectassistants.com guscicala@projectassistants.com 800-642-9259



[DC2] Index [DC3] **GET HELP FROM GUS ON NUMBERING! [DC4] Index [DC6] index [DC7] index [JG8] Saved this as SampleProject_Inst1 [JG9] I saved as SampleProject_Inst3. [DC10] INdex [DC11] index [DC12] index [DC13] Index [DC14] Index [DC15] index [DC16] index [DC17] index [DC18] index [DC19] index [DC20] index [DC21] index [DC22] index [DC23] index/glossary [DC24] index/glossary [DC25] index/glossary [DC26] index/glossary both of these [JG27] Decided to skip saving it as a unique file (Your Initials_PanTransConference). It is not used outside of this chapter, and will not be saved to Project Server. [DC28] Index/glossary [DC29] Index/glossary [DC30] index

[JG31] No need to save an Instructor file as no changes were made to the original exercise file. [DC32] Index/glossar [DC33] Index/glossary [JG34] Did not create an instructor file as this file is not used again in the book. [DC35] Index/gloss all of these [DC36] Index/glossary all of these [DC37] Index/glossary [JG38] Saved as TaskScheduling_Inst2 but don't think I need this in the exercise directory [JG<u>39</u>] Saved as MeetingTasks_Inst1 [DC40] Index/glossary 3 terms [JG41] Saved as ResourceAssignment_Inst1.mpp [JG42] Saved as ResourceAssignment Inst2.mpp [JG43] Saved as ResourceAssignment_Inst3 [JG44] No need to save – this portion of the file ended just as it began. [JG45] No need to save – no changes. [JG46] Saved as TaskTypes_Inst2 [JG47] Saved as TaskTypes_Inst3, but probably not needed for exercise file. [JG48] Saved as AssignmentUsage_Inst1 but probably won't use this again. [JG49] Saved as ResourceCost Inst1 [JG50] Saved as ResourceCost_Inst2 [JG51] Saved as ResourceCost Inst3 [JG52] Saved as ResourceCost_Inst4.mpp. [DC53] Should we just have them do this in the preceding exercise and save those settings so that we don't have to cover these methods twice? [JG54] Saved as ResourceCost Inst5.mpp [DC55] If you want to keep the sentiment of the ending of this paragraph without repeating yourself, you can say something like, "hard constraints cause even more unpredictable behavior when set, which is why Microsoft Project does not automatically set it for you. [JG56] Saved as ProjectScheduling_Inst1 [JG57] Saved as ProjectScheduling_Inst2 [JG58] Save as ProjectScheduling_Inst3 (but not needed again in the book) [DC59] Answer key [DC60] Change answer key appropriately [JG61] Saved as CriticalPath_Inst1 (but probably not needed again) [JG62] Saved as RecurringTask Inst1 [JG63] Saved as RecurringTasks_Inst2.mpp (probably not needed again) [DC64] Index [JG65] Saved as ResourceWorkload_Inst1 [JG66] Saved as ResourceWorkload_Inst2. [JG67] Saved as ResourceWorkload Inst3 (not used again?) [DC68] Index [JG69] Saved as SetBaseline_Inst1.mpp. [JG70] Saved as SetBaselines_Inst2.mpp [JG71] Saved as SetBaseline Inst3 (probably not needed again) [JG72] No need to save a new file, project is unchanged. [DC73] 4. September, 5. 1/30, 7. No, 8. If you choose to level only Julie, other resources will not be effected. 9. No. Some of Julie's tasks were rescheduled to a later date, but because you leveled within available slack, by definition the critical path does not change, so the project

finish date will not change.

[DC74] This answers previous question

[[]DC75] Scrunched spacing and abbreviated Microsoft to get it all to fit in the white space

[[]JG76] Need a better or new image? Maybe we need a picture that explains how calendars, resources, tasks, etc. are stored in enterprise? Next steps: Ask for Jim's opinion. Schedule some time to look at this with Gus. Send Gus a note to do this. Sent to Jim on 5/8.

[[]JG77] I saved this as SaveAsDemoJBG

[[]JG78] I saved the project to PWA as SampleProject_Inst3JBG

[[]JG79] Saved as SampleProject_Inst4JBG

[[]JG80] Saved as ConsolidatedWidgets_Inst1

[JG81] Saved as WidgetInstallation_Site1.mpp_Inst1 [JG82] Saved as WidgetInstallation_Site1_Inst3.mpp [JG83] Also saved as AllConsolidatedWidgets_Inst1.mpp [JG84] Jim, please review this exercise closely during the technical edit. Gus is not sure these steps are accurate. [DC85] Index [JG86] Saved as TrackingOptions_Inst1 [JG87] Saved as TrackingOptions_Inst2.mpp [JG88] Saved as TrackingOptions_Inst3. [JG89] Saved as RescheduledWork_Inst1.mpp [DC90] Add to index [DC91] Index/glossary [DC92] Is this still true? [DC93] More resource engagement questions [DC94] Index this term? [DC95] Index [JG96] Saved as InterimPlan_Inst1.mpp [JG97] Saved as InterimPlan_Inst2.mpp [JG98] Reports_Inst2 [JG99] Saved as TablesAndViews_Inst1.mpp [JG100] Saved as TablesAndViews_Inst2.mpp [JG101] Saved as Filters_Inst1 [JG102] Saved as Filter_Inst2.mpp [JG103] Saved as Filters_Inst3.mpp [JG104] Saved as Filters_Inst4.mpp [JG105] Saved as Filters_Inst5.mpp [JG106] Saved as Filters_Inst6.mpp [JG107] Saved as Filters_Inst7 [JG108] Saved as Filters_Inst8.mpp [JG109] Saved as Dashboards_Inst1.mpp. [JG110] Saved as ExportData_Inst1